

REPORT TO NSW HEALTH INFRASTRUCTURE

ON DETAILED SITE INVESTIGATION

FOR PROPOSED NEW WARRAWONG COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTRE DEVELOPMENT

AT 85-91 COWPER STREET, WARRAWONG, NSW

Date: 22 December 2023 Ref: E34300PT2rpt3

JKEnvironments.com.au

T: +61 2 9888 5000 JK Environments Pty Ltd ABN 90 633 911 403





Report prepared by:



Katrina Taylor Associate | Environmental Scientist

Report reviewed by:

Brendan Page Principal | Environmental Scientist CEnvP SC



For and on behalf of JKE PO BOX 976 NORTH RYDE BC NSW 1670

DOCUMENT REVISION RECORD

Report Reference	Report Status	Report Date
E34300PT2rpt3	Draft Report	12 September 2023
E34300PT2rpt3	Final Report	22 December 2023

© Document copyright of JK Environments (JKE)

This Report (which includes all attachments and annexures) has been prepared by JKE for the Client, and is intended for the use only by that Client.

This Report has been prepared pursuant to a contract between JKE and the Client and is therefore subject to:

- a) JKE's proposal in respect of the work covered by the Report;
- b) The limitations defined in the client's brief to JKE; and
- c) The terms of contract between JKE and the Client, including terms limiting the liability of JKE.

If the Client, or any person, provides a copy of this Report to any third party, such third party must not rely on this Report, except with the express written consent of JKE which, if given, will be deemed to be upon the same terms, conditions, restrictions and limitations as apply by virtue of (a), (b), and (c) above.

Any third party who seeks to rely on this Report without the express written consent of JKE does so entirely at their own risk and to the fullest extent permitted by law, JKE accepts no liability whatsoever, in respect of any loss or damage suffered by any such third party.



Executive Summary

NSW Health Infrastructure ('the client') commissioned JK Environments (JKE) to undertake a Detailed Site Investigation (DSI) for the proposed New Warrawong Community Health Centre at 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW ('the site'). The purpose of the investigation is to characterise the site contamination conditions. The site location is shown on Figure 1 and the investigation was confined to the site boundaries as shown on Figure 2.

This report has been prepared to support the Review of Environmental Factors (REF) for the proposed Warrawong Community Health Centre development, with regards to Chapter 4 of State Environmental Planning Policy (Resilience and Hazards) 2021 (formerly known as SEPP55).

JKE has previously undertaken several phases of investigation at the site and within the wider hospital property. A summary of relevant information from these investigations is included in Section 2.

The project scope for the Warrawong Community Health Centre includes:

- Demolition of existing Building D, Building E, and Building H, along with nearby retaining walls, gazebos and pathways;
- Construction of a new building (part single storey and part two storey) with a gross floor area of around 2,000m², to accommodate a number of community health related services;
- Alterations and additions to carparking and access, including expand the south carpark; and
- Ancillary infrastructure and works, including service connections, landscaping, and signage.

There is an existing childcare centre operating in part of the site and it is unclear whether this land use will also form part of the future development/use of the site.

The aim of the DSI is to characterise the soil and groundwater contamination conditions in accessible areas of the site in order to assess site risks in relation to contamination and establish whether remediation is required. The DSI objectives are to:

- Assess the soil and groundwater contamination conditions in accessible areas;
- Assess the potential risks posed by contamination to the receptors identified in the Conceptual Site Model (CSM); and
- Inform the preparation of a Remediation Action Plan (RAP).

The scope of work included the following:

- Review of existing JKE project information;
- Review and update of the CSM;
- Design and implementation of a sampling, analysis and quality plan (SAQP). The SAQP was prepared prior to the commencement of the DSI and is attached in the appendices;
- Interpretation of the analytical results against the adopted Site Assessment Criteria (SAC);
- Data Quality Assessment; and
- Preparation of a report including a Tier 1 risk assessment.

The DSI included a review of existing project information, a site inspection, soil sampling from 24 boreholes and groundwater sampling from five monitoring wells (three new and two existing). The following potential contamination sources were identified at the site: fill material; use of pesticides; hazardous building materials (former and existing buildings and structures); fuel storage onsite (AST); and off-site fuel storage (upgradient former USTs).

The boreholes encountered fill materials to depths of approximately 0.2m below ground level (BGL) to 3mBGL, underlain by silty or clayey residual soils. The fill contained inclusions of igneous, ironstone, and sandstone gravel, latite and igneous cobbles, concrete and brick fragments, clay nodules, ash, slag, bark chips, tree roots, and root fibres. There was no fibre cement fragments/asbestos containing material (FCF/ACM) identified in any of the bulk asbestos quantification field screening samples during the DSI. However, the investigations at the site have identified sporadic occurrences of ACM in/on soil.



Potential health-based risks associated with asbestos in/on fill/soil are considered to be low, however further investigation is required following demolition and further risk assessment is required once this data is available. Ecological risks from fill soil were assessed to be low and acceptable.

JKE is of the opinion that potential risks associated with groundwater at the site are low in the context of the proposed development and are not indicative of site contamination that warrants remediation.

Remediation of the site is not considered to be required based on the current dataset. However, given the identification of asbestos in/on fill/soil at the site, the sampling limitations (i.e. sampling from boreholes instead of test pits), and the spatial data gaps (i.e. sampling not undertaken beneath the buildings and structures), a RAP is recommended for the proposed development so that risks remain low and acceptable. We consider that it would be reasonable to include the requirements for further investigation within the RAP because a large portion of this work will need to occur after demolition. Additional details of the proposed development will also be required to carry out the risk assessment (e.g. details of buildings/structures being retained or demolished, proposed building footprints and finished floor levels, earthworks levels, locations of car parks and landscaped areas etc).

We anticipate that as a minimum the RAP will include a contingency for remediation of asbestos in soil, that will include the removal/off-site disposal of contaminated fill where practicable. In our opinion the scope of remediation will not need to extend to groundwater in the context of rendering the site suitable for the proposed development.

We are of the opinion that the site can be made suitable for the proposed hospital development provided the following recommendations are implemented:

- 1. Prepare an AMP to manage asbestos in soil risks in the context of the on-going use of the site as a hospital. This AMP will need to remain in force until the redevelopment occurs. Grass coverage across the site appears to currently be in good condition, and it is recommended that the grass coverage is maintained under provisions of the AMP;
- 2. Given ACM has been identified in the fill/soil and on the site surface, an Licensed Asbestos Assessor (LAA) should be engaged and complete a walkover surface clearance inspection. Upon successful completion of the walkover inspection, a surface clearance certificate should be provided for the site;
- 3. Preparation and implementation of a RAP. The RAP is to include requirements for a post-demolition investigation(s) to adequately address the data gaps discussed in Section 8.3 of this report and outline a contingency for asbestos in/on fill if found at higher concentrations;
- 4. Should the post-demolition investigation identify additional contamination that requires remediation outlined in the RAP, an addendum RAP/Remedial work Plan (RWP) must be prepared and implemented;
- 5. Preparation and implementation of a construction-phase AMP; and
- 6. Preparation of a validation assessment report for the remediation works undertaken at the site.

If not already undertaken, a Hazardous Building Materials Assessment (HAZMAT) must be undertaken for the existing buildings/structures at the site prior to the commencement of demolition work.

JKE consider that the report objectives outlined in Section 1.2 have been addressed.

The conclusions and recommendations should be read in conjunction with the limitations presented in the body of this report.



Table of Contents

1	TRODUCTION 1	
	1.1 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT DETAILS	1
	1.2 AIM AND OBJECTIVES	1
	1.3 SCOPE OF WORK	2
2	SITE INFORMATION	3
	2.1 PREVIOUS JKE INVESTIGATIONS	3
	2.2 SITE IDENTIFICATION	4
	2.3 SITE DESCRIPTION	5
	2.4 SURROUNDING LAND USE	6
	2.5 UNDERGROUND SERVICES	6
	2.6 SUMMARY OF SITE HISTORY INFORMATION	6
3	SUMMARY OF GEOLOGY AND HYDROGEOLOGY	8
	3.1 REGIONAL GEOLOGY AND SOIL LANDSCAPES	8
	3.2 ACID SULFATE SOIL (ASS) RISK AND PLANNING	8
	3.3 HYDROGEOLOGY	9
	3.4 RECEIVING WATER BODIES	9
4	CONCEPTUAL SITE MODEL	10
	4.1 POTENTIAL CONTAMINATION SOURCES/AEC AND COPC	10
	4.2 MECHANISM FOR CONTAMINATION, AFFECTED MEDIA, RECEPTORS AND EXPOSURE PATHWAYS	11
5	SUMMARY SAMPLING, ANALYSIS AND QUALITY PLAN	13
	5.1 DEVIATIONS TO THE SAQP	13
6	SITE ASSESSMENT CRITERIA (SAC)	15
	6.1 SOIL	15
	6.2 GROUNDWATER	17
7	RESULTS	19
	7.1 SUMMARY OF DATA (QA/QC) EVALUATION	19
	7.2 SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS	19
	7.3 FIELD SCREENING	20
	7.4 SOIL LABORATORY RESULTS	21
	7.5 GROUNDWATER LABORATORY RESULTS	22
	7.6 AIR MONITORING RESULTS - SUMMARY	24
8	DISCUSSION	25
	8.1 TIER 1 RISK ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW OF CSM	25
	8.2 DECISION STATEMENTS	27
	8.3 REVIEW OF CSM AND DATA GAPS	28
9	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	29
10	LIMITATIONS	31



List of Tables

Table 2-1: Summary of Previous Investigations and Relevant Findings	3
Table 2-2: Site Identification	4
Table 2-3: Summary of Historical Land Uses/Activities	6
Table 3-1: Summary of Subsurface Conditions	8
Table 3-2: Summary of Field Screening	9
Table 4-1: Potential (and/or known) Contamination Sources/AEC and Contaminants of Potential Concern	10
Table 4-2: CSM	11
Table 5-1: Laboratory Details	14
Table 6-1: Details for Asbestos SAC	15
Table 6-2: Site Specific Soil Parameters – Fine Grained Fill material	16
Table 6-3: Site Specific Soil Parameters – Fine Grained Natural Soil	16
Table 7-1: Summary of Subsurface Conditions	19
Table 7-2: Summary of Field Screening	20
Table 7-3: Summary of Soil Laboratory Results – Human Health and Environmental (Ecological)	21
Table 7-4: Summary of Groundwater Laboratory Results – Human Health and Environmental (Ecological)	22
Table 8-1: Review of CSM and Data Gap Assessment	28

Attachments

Appendix A: Report Figures Appendix B: Laboratory Results Summary Tables Appendix C: Borehole Logs Appendix D: Laboratory Reports & COC Documents Appendix E: Report Explanatory Notes Appendix F: Data (QA/QC) Evaluation Appendix G: Field Work Documents

Appendix H: Guidelines and Reference Documents



Abbreviations

Asbestos Fines/Fibrous Asbestos	AF/FA
Ambient Background Concentrations	ABC
Added Contaminant Limits	ACL
Asbestos Containing Material	ACM
Australian Drinking Water Guidelines	ADWG
Area of Environmental Concern	AEC
Australian Height Datum	AHD
Acid Sulfate Soil	ASS
Above-Ground Storage Tank	AST
Before You Dig Australia	BYDA
Below Ground Level	BGL
Benzo(a)pyrene Toxicity Equivalent Factor	BaP TEQ
Benzene, Toluene, Ethylbenzene, Xylene	BTEX
Cation Exchange Capacity	CEC
Contaminated Land Management	CLM
Contaminant(s) of Potential Concern	CoPC
Chain of Custody	COC
Conceptual Site Model	CSM
Data Quality Indicator	DQI
Data Quality Objective	DQO
Detailed Site Investigation	DSI
Ecological Investigation Level	EIL
Ecological Screening Level	ESL
Environment Protection Authority	EPA
Fibre Cement Fragment(s)	FCF
Health Investigation Level	HILs
Health Screening Level	HSL
Health Screening Level-Site Specific Assessment	HSL-SSA
International Organisation of Standardisation	ISO
JK Environments	JKE
JK Geotechnics	JKG
Licensed Asbestos Assessor	LAA
Lab Control Spike	LCS
Light Non-Aqueous Phase Liquid	LNAPL
Map Grid of Australia	MGA
National Association of Testing Authorities	NATA
National Environmental Protection Measure	NEPM
Organochlorine Pesticides	OCP
Organophosphate Pesticides	OPP
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons	РАН
Polychlorinated Biphenyls	PCBs
Per-and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances	PFAS
Photo-ionisation Detector	PID
Protection of the Environment Operations	POEO
Practical Quantitation Limit	PQL
Quality Assurance	QA
Quality Control	QC
Remediation Action Plan	RAP
Review of Environmental Factors	REF
Relative Percentage Difference	RPD
Site Assessment Criteria	SAC
Sampling, Analysis and Quality Plan	SAQP
State Environmental Planning Policy	SEPP

JKEnvironments



SSA
SPR
SPT
SWL
ТВ
TRH
TS
UCL
USEPA
UST
VOC
WHO
WHS

Units

Litres	L
Metres BGL	mBGL
Metres	m
Millivolts	mV
Millilitres	ml or mL
Milliequivalents	meq
micro Siemens per Centimetre	μS/cm
Micrograms per Litre	μg/L
Milligrams per Kilogram	mg/kg
Milligrams per Litre	mg/L
Parts Per Million	ppm
Percentage	%
Percentage weight for weight	%w/w

JKEnvironments



1 INTRODUCTION

NSW Health Infrastructure ('the client') commissioned JK Environments (JKE) to undertake a Detailed Site Investigation (DSI) for the proposed New Warrawong Community Health Centre at 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW ('the site'). The purpose of the investigation is to characterise the site contamination conditions. The site location is shown on Figure 1 and the investigation was confined to the site boundaries as shown on Figure 2.

This report has been prepared to support the Review of Environmental Factors (REF) for the proposed Warrawong Community Health Centre development, with regards to Chapter 4 of State Environmental Planning Policy (Resilience and Hazards) 2021¹ (formerly known as SEPP55).

JKE has previously undertaken several phases of investigation at the site and within the wider hospital property. A summary of relevant information from these investigations is included in Section 2.

1.1 Proposed Development Details

The project scope for the Warrawong Community Health Centre includes:

- Demolition of existing Building D, Building E, and Building H, along with nearby retaining walls, gazebos and pathways;
- Construction of a new building (part single storey and part two storey) with a gross floor area of around 2,000m2, to accommodate a number of community health related services;
- Alterations and additions to carparking and access, including expand the south carpark; and
- Ancillary infrastructure and works, including service connections, landscaping, and signage.

There is an existing childcare centre operating in part of the site and it is unclear whether this land use will also form part of the future development/use of the site.

1.2 Aim and Objectives

The aim of the DSI is to characterise the soil and groundwater contamination conditions in accessible areas of the site in order to assess site risks in relation to contamination and establish whether remediation is required.

The DSI objectives are to:

- Assess the soil and groundwater contamination conditions in accessible areas;
- Assess the potential risks posed by contamination to the receptors identified in the Conceptual Site Model (CSM); and
- Inform the preparation of a Remediation Action Plan (RAP).





¹ State Environmental Planning Policy (Resilience and Hazards) 2021 (NSW) (referred to as SEPP Resilience and Hazards 2021)



1.3 Scope of Work

The investigation was undertaken generally in accordance with a JKE proposal (Ref: EP58856PTrev1) of 28 June 2023 and written acceptance from Savills acting on behalf of the client of 3 July 2023. The scope of work included the following:

- Review of existing JKE project information;
- Review and update of the CSM;
- Design and implementation of a sampling, analysis and quality plan (SAQP). The SAQP was prepared prior to the commencement of the DSI and is attached in the appendices;
- Interpretation of the analytical results against the adopted Site Assessment Criteria (SAC);
- Data Quality Assessment; and
- Preparation of a report including a Tier 1 risk assessment.

The scope of work was undertaken with reference to the National Environmental Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure 1999 as amended (2013)², other guidelines made under or with regards to the Contaminated Land Management Act (1997)³ and SEPP Resilience and Hazards 2021. A list of reference documents/guidelines is included in the appendices.

² National Environment Protection Council (NEPC), (2013). National Environmental Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure 1999 (as amended 2013). (referred to as NEPM 2013)

³ Contaminated Land Management Act 1997 (NSW) (referred to as CLM Act 1997)



2 SITE INFORMATION

2.1 Previous JKE Investigations

JKE has undertaken several phases of investigation on the wider hospital property, including at the site. Relevant information is summarised in the table below:

Investigation phase	Relevant findings to the site
PSI, JKE 2022 ⁴	JKE previously undertook a PSI across the site and southern portion of the wider section of the hospital property in 2022. The PSI 2022 included a review of site history information, a site inspection, soil sampling from 37 boreholes and groundwater sampling from three monitoring wells. Of these locations, 28 boreholes and two monitoring wells were located within the site. The following areas of environmental concern (AEC) were identified and are applicable to the site: fill material; use of pesticides; hazardous building materials in former and existing buildings; one above ground storage tank (AST) on site; and fuel storage just south/south-west of the site boundary, including two underground storge tanks (USTs)(see Figure 2). The USTs were understood to have been previously abandoned in-situ.
	The boreholes on the site encountered fill materials (i.e. historically imported/placed soils) to depths of approximately 0.3m below ground level (BGL) to 2.6mBGL, underlain by clayey residual soils and/or latite bedrock. The fill contained inclusions of igneous, ironstone, sandstone and siltstone gravel, shale fragments, slag, concrete, brick and metal fragments, coal, ash, and root fibres. There were no fibre cement fragments (FCF)/ asbestos containing materials (ACM) identified in any of the bulk asbestos quantification field screening samples. One surficial FCF was encountered on the site surface during the site inspection, however this was found not to contain asbestos.
	Asbestos as ACM was detected in one soil sample on the site (from BH12) at a concentration above the health screening level (HSL) site assessment criteria (SAC). Total recoverable hydrocarbons (TRH) were encountered in groundwater from both monitoring wells on the site at concentrations greater than the site specific assessment criterion. The TRH detections were considered likely to be associated with a medium-heavy fuel source such as diesel or kerosene. Copper and zinc were reported above the ecological SAC in groundwater.
	 The PSI 2022 recommended an asbestos management plan (AMP) be prepared and implemented for the current land use/operations, in addition to further investigation via a DSI. The PSI also recommended the following: Prepare a SAQP for the DSI; Undertake a DSI in accordance with the SAQP; and Develop and implement a RAP based on the combined findings of the PSI and DSI. Any requirements documented in a RAP are to be implemented and the site is to be remediated and validated.
PSI, JKE 2023 ⁵	JKE previously undertook a PSI across the western portion of the wider section of the hospital property in 2023. The PSI 2023 included a review of site history information, a site inspection, soil sampling from 15 boreholes and two monitoring wells across the western portion of the wider hospital property. The following AEC were identified: fill material; use of pesticides; hazardous building materials in former and existing buildings; and fuel storage in a down-gradient section of the wider hospital property (this is the same fuel storage as noted above for the PSI 2022).

 ⁴ JKE, (2022). Report to Health Infrastructure on Preliminary Site Investigation for Proposed New Warrawong Community Health Centre Development at 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW. (Ref: E34300PT2rpt DRAFT, dated 10 November 2022) (referred to as PSI 2022)
 ⁵ JKE, (2023a). Report to Health Infrastructure on Preliminary Site Investigation for Proposed New Warrawong Community Health Centre Development at 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW. (Ref: E34300PT2rpt DRAFT, dated 20 March 2023) (referred to as PSI 2023)





Investigation phase	Relevant findings to the site
	None of the PSI 2023 boreholes were positioned on the site. The boreholes encountered fill materials to depths of approximately 0.2mBGL to 4.5mBGL, underlain by clayey residual soils and/or latite bedrock. The fill contained inclusions of igneous, ironstone, sandstone and siltstone gravel, shale fragments, slag, concrete, brick and metal fragments, coal, ash, and root fibres. There was no FCF/ACM identified in any of the bulk asbestos quantification field screening samples.
	Asbestos (as asbestos fines/fibrous asbestos - AF/FA) was detected in surface fill/soil at one location, and in deeper fill at two other locations. All asbestos concentrations were below the SAC. Copper and zinc were reported above the ecological SAC in fill/soil, and in groundwater, copper and zinc were reported above the ecological SAC.
	As a duty of care, and to meet the requirements under Clause 429 of the Work Health and Safety Regulation (2017), an AMP (for asbestos in/on soil) was recommended to be prepared and implemented for the current land use/operations at the hospital property, in addition to further investigation via a DSI.

An SAQP⁶ and investigation AMP⁷ (attached in the appendices) were prepared for the DSI.

2.2 Site Identification

Current Site Owner (certificate of title):	Health Administration Board
Site Address:	85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW
Lot & Deposited Plan:	Lots 21 to 29 & Lots 50 to 53 in DP23670 and part of Lots 36 to 41 and 49 in DP23670
Current Land Use:	Hospital
Proposed Land Use:	Continued use as a hospital/community health centre
Local Government Authority:	Wollongong City Council
Current Zoning:	R2: Low density residential
Site Area (m ²) (approx.):	11,560
RL (AHD in m) (approx.):	21-30
Geographical Location (decimal degrees) (approx.):	Latitude: -34.4863511 Longitude: 150.8790082

Table 2-2: Site Identification

⁶ JKE, (2023b). Report to Health Infrastructure on Sampling Analysis and Quality Plan for Proposed New Warrawong Community Health Centre Development at 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW. (Ref: E34300PT-SAQP, dated 26 July 2023) (referred to as SAQP)

⁷ JKE, (2023c). Report to Health Infrastructure on Asbestos Management Plan for Proposed New Warrawong Community Health Centre Development at 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW. (Ref: E34300PT2rpt-AMP, dated 26 July 2023) (referred to as AMP)



2.3 Site Description

The site is located in the eastern half of the existing Port Kembla Hospital, in a predominantly residential area of Warrawong, and is bound by Cowper Street to the north and Fairfax Road to the east. The site is located approximately 400m to the north-west of Kully Bay (on Lake Illawarra).

The regional topography is characterised by a south-east facing hillside that falls towards Kully Bay. The site is located mid slope, locally sloping to the south-east at approximately 10° to 15°. Parts of the site appear to have been levelled to account for the slope and accommodate the existing development.

JKE undertook a site walkover as part of the DSI on 17 August 2023. Key observations are summarised below:

- The site and wider hospital property was occupied by Port Kembla District Hospital and included buildings, car parks and internal access roads and footpaths as well as landscaped/garden areas;
- On site there were three interconnected buildings of one to three storeys. A childcare centre was located on the western side (ground floor) of the main site building and included a fenced off play area (generally grass covered with some paved pathways). The buildings were of an age indicative of housing hazardous building materials (i.e. asbestos and lead containing paint);
- On the north-east side of the main building was an asphaltic concrete car park and access driveway which led to Cowper Street in the centre of the northern boundary and to the south of the main building was a gravel covered car park access via the one way driveway through the site from south to east;
- The site was entirely unfenced. Surface scouring observed at the site indicated minimal erosion and appeared to be due to surface water and wash away of surface soils at the interface between paved and unpaved sections of the site;
- A 1,000L AST containing diesel was observed in the south-west of the site (refer to Figure 2). No odours or staining on the surrounding ground surface were noted in the vicinity of the AST during the inspection;
- On the wider hospital property to the west of the site boundary and west of the AST, the area where the abandoned USTs were inferred to be located was observed to comprise a section of asphaltic paved car park and no odours or staining on the surrounding ground surface were noted in this area during the inspection;
- Fill material (igneous gravels, concrete fragments, etc.) was observed at the site surface in areas of scouring indicating that some filling had likely occurred at the site for levelling purposes. In the east of the site, a narrow grass covered soil bund (approximately 0.5m in height) extended in a north-south direction;
- Surface water flows would be expected to flow to the east in keeping with the localised fall of the site. Excess surface water would either be expected to infiltrate the unpaved areas or into the stormwater pits observed across the site. These pits would be expected to discharge into the local stormwater system; and
- Outside of building footprints, carparks and paved areas the site was generally grass covered, with a number of medium to large trees in the south and north-east section of the site. No obvious signs of vegetation stress or dieback were observed.



2.4 Surrounding Land Use

During the site inspection, JKE observed the following land uses in the immediate surrounds:

- North Residential properties beyond Cowper Street;
- South The wider hospital property and residential properties beyond Fairfax Road;
- East Residential properties beyond Fairfax Road;
- West The wider hospital property, including USTs to the west.

JKE is of the opinion that the USTs located on the wider hospital property to the west of the site may be a potential off-site contamination source due to the proximity of the tanks. We also note that TRH was detected in the onsite groundwater samples (MW4 and MW5) collected for the PSI 2022, though the source of these impacts was uncertain.

2.5 Underground Services

The 'Before You Dig Australia' (BYDA) plans were reviewed for the investigation in order to establish whether any major underground services exist at the site or in the immediate vicinity that could act as a preferential pathway for contamination migration. Major services were not identified that would be expected to act as preferential pathways for contamination migration. Local underground services (i.e. those note shown on the BYDA plans) are expected to exist within the hospital and these may require further consideration depending on the findings of the DSI and assessment of any applicable fate and transport mechanisms for contamination.

2.6 Summary of Site History Information

A time line summary of the historical land uses and activities is presented in the table below. The information presented in the table is based on a weight of evidence assessment of the site history documentation and observations made by JKE during the Desktop.

Year(s)	Potential Land Use/Activities
1926-1961	On-site:
	Vacant land.
	Surrounding Area:
	Predominantly vacant initially; and
	Ongoing development for residential use
1961-onwards	On-site:
	 Ongoing development of site for hospital including construction of buildings, pathways and vehicle access (driveways and car parks);
	 Demolition of building in south of site circa 2012 to 2016 (where existing gravel covered car park exists);
	 Some filling of the site may have occurred for levelling purposes and around services;
	 Use of pesticides beneath buildings and around site;
	Use of AST for diesel storage; and
	 Hazardous building materials (i.e. asbestos and lead in paint) may have been used in former and/or existing structures.

Table 2-3: Summary of Historical Land Uses/Activities



Year(s)	Potential Land Use/Activities
	Surrounding Area:
	 Ongoing development of surrounding area for residential and hospital property;
	• Hazardous building materials (i.e. asbestos and lead in paint) may have been used in former and existing structures. A building was demolished to the south of the site (existing car park location) between 2012 and 2016;
	 Installation of USTs on wider hospital property; and
	 Installation/abandonment of petrol USTs and infrastructure. The tanks were reportedly abandoned circa 2003.



3 SUMMARY OF GEOLOGY AND HYDROGEOLOGY

3.1 Regional Geology and Soil Landscapes

Regional geological information reviewed for the previous investigations indicated that the site is underlain by Dapto Latite Member, which typically consists of Mafic basaltic-textured latite, aphanitic to porphyritic with crystalline groundmass, vesticles mostly as elongated stringers parallel to flow, sporadically infilled with carbonate, and sporadic columnar jointing.

A summary of the subsurface conditions encountered during the PSI 2022 (which includes some boreholes located to the south of the site) is presented in the following table:

Profile	Description
Fill	Fill was encountered at the surface or directly beneath the pavement in all boreholes and extended to depths of approximately 0.2mBGL to 2.6mBGL. Boreholes BH1, BH2, BH3, BH12, BH13, BH14, BH31, and BH33, were terminated in the fill at a maximum depth of
	approximately 1.6mBGL. The borehole logs recorded this as being 'refusal on obstruction in fill', however, it is possible that the refusal occurred at the base of the fill, on-top of the underlying bedrock.
	The fill typically comprised silty clay, sandy gravel, silty sandy clay and gravel with inclusions of igneous, ironstone, sandstone and latite gravel, sand, concrete, asphaltic concrete, terracotta, brick, plastic and metal fragments, geofabric, slag, ash, roots and root fibres.
	No odours or staining were recorded in the fill material during field work. FCF was encountered on the surface at BH26, though this was later analysed and was not found to contain asbestos. No FCF/ACM was encountered in the fill material during fieldwork.
Natural Soil	Natural silty sandy clay and silty clay residual soils were encountered beneath the fill material in boreholes BH15 to BH19, and extended to depths of approximately 0.4mBGL to 2.4mBGL.
	Neither odours nor staining were recorded in the natural soil during fieldwork.
Bedrock	Latite bedrock was encountered beneath the fill material or natural soils in boreholes BH4, BH5 and BH11 at depths of approximately 0.4mBGL to 2.6mBGL
	Neither odours nor staining were recorded in the bedrock during fieldwork.
Groundwater	All boreholes remained dry during and on completion of drilling.

Table 3-1: Summary of Subsurface Conditions

3.2 Acid Sulfate Soil (ASS) Risk and Planning

The site is not located in an ASS risk area according to the risk maps prepared by the Department of Land and Water Conservation.

ASS information presented in the Lotsearch report indicated that the site is located within a Class 5 ASS risk area. Works in a Class 5 risk area that could pose an environmental risk in terms of ASS include works within 500m of adjacent Class 1,2,3,4 land which are likely to lower the water table below 1m AHD on the adjacent Class 1,2,3,4 land.



JKE note that the site is located at an elevation of approximately 21-30m AHD and residual soils were observed during the fieldwork conducted for the PSI 2022. ASS is not usually associated with soil horizons above 5mAHD or residual soil profiles. Based on the available information, it is unlikely that ASS would be disturbed as part of the proposed development, or that the proposed development will likely lower the water table below 1mAHD on adjacent Class 1, 2, 3, or 4 land. An ASS management plan is not considered to be required.

3.3 Hydrogeology

Hydrogeological information presented in the PSI 2022 indicated that the regional aquifer on-site and in the areas immediately surrounding the site includes fractured or fissured, extensive aquifers of low to moderate productivity. There was a total of 74 registered bores within the search buffer of 1,000m. In summary:

- The nearest registered bore was located approximately 1,105m to the north-east of the site. This was utilised for monitoring purposes;
- The majority of the bores were registered for monitoring purposes;
- There were no nearby bores (i.e. within 1km) registered for domestic, water supply or irrigation uses; and
- The drillers log information from the closest registered bores typically identified fill and/or clay soil to depths of 12m-14m, underlain by sandstone and shale bedrock. Standing water levels (SWLs) in the bores ranged from 1.2mBGL to 12mBGL.

Aspect	Details
Groundwater Depth & Flow	SWLs measured in the monitoring wells installed at the site ranged from 1.17mBGL to 7mBGL. Groundwater RLs calculated on these measurements ranged from 25.41mAHD to 27.32mAHD.
	Groundwater flow was inferred to be towards the south-east.
Groundwater Field	Field measurements recorded during sampling were as follows:
Parameters	- pH ranged from 7.06 to 7.86;
	 EC ranged from 568µS/cm to 846µS/cm;
	- Eh ranged from 22.4mV to 24.1mV; and
	- DO was 0.7mg/L in both wells.
LNAPLs petroleum hydrocarbons	Phase separated product (i.e. LNAPL) were not detected using the interphase probe during groundwater sampling.

Table 3-2: Summary of Field Screening

3.4 Receiving Water Bodies

Surface water bodies were not identified in the immediate vicinity of the site. The closest surface water body is Kully Bay (on Lake Illawarra) located approximately 400m to the south-east of the site. The bay is considered to support a marine ecosystem and is down-gradient from the site.



4 CONCEPTUAL SITE MODEL

NEPM (2013) defines a CSM as a representation of site related information regarding contamination sources, receptors and exposure pathways between those sources and receptors. An iteration of the CSM for the site is presented in the following table and is based on the site information (including the site inspection information), the review of site history information and previous investigation findings).

4.1 **Potential Contamination Sources/AEC and CoPC**

The potential contamination sources/AEC and CoPC are presented in the following table:

Source / AEC	COPC
 <u>Fill material</u> – The site has been historically filled to achieve the existing levels. The fill may have been imported from various sources and/or could have been placed during earthworks using site-won material from within the wider hospital. ACM was identified in fill/surficial soil during the PSI 2022 at one location (BH12 in the western section of the site). 	Heavy metals (arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, nickel and zinc), petroleum hydrocarbons (referred to as total recoverable hydrocarbons – TRHs), benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene (BTEX), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), organochlorine pesticides (OCPs), organophosphate pesticides (OPPs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and asbestos.
<u>Use of pesticides</u> – Pesticides may have been used beneath the buildings and/or around the site for typical pest control applications.	Heavy metals and OCPs.
<u>Hazardous Building Material</u> – Hazardous building materials may be present as a result of former building and demolition activities onsite, or on the wider hospital property. These materials may also be present in the existing buildings/structures on site. Bonded ACM was identified in surficial soil as noted above. This may be associated with historical demolition on site.	Asbestos, lead and PCBs.
<u>Fuel storage</u> – An AST (diesel) is positioned on the western boundary of the south of the site (see Figure 2).	Heavy metals, TRH, BTEX and PAHs.
Offsite - Fuel storage on Wider Hospital Property – At least two USTs were identified in the SafeWork NSW search results on the wider hospital property, to the west/south-west of the site (see Figure 2). Records indicated that the USTs were used to store petrol.	Lead, TRH, BTEX and PAHs.

Table 4-1: Potential (and/or known) Contamination Sources/AEC and Contaminants of Potential Concern



4.2 Mechanism for Contamination, Affected Media, Receptors and Exposure Pathways

The mechanisms for contamination, affected media, receptors and exposure pathways relevant to the potential contamination sources/AEC are outlined in the following CSM table:

Table 4-2: CSM	
Potential mechanism for contamination	 Potential mechanisms for contamination include: Fill material – importation of impacted material, 'top-down' impacts (e.g. placement of fill, leaching from surficial material etc), or sub-surface release (e.g. impacts from buried material); Use of pesticides – 'top-down' and spills (e.g. during normal use, application and/or improper storage); Hazardous building materials – 'top-down' (e.g. demolition resulting in surficial impacts in unpaved areas); Fuel storage – 'top-down', spills (e.g. during filling of the AST); and Off-site (fuel storage on wider hospital property) – 'top-down', spills (e.g. during filling of the tanks and/or dispensing activities), or sub-surface release (e.g. from leaking tank or pipework).
Affected media	Soil and groundwater have been identified as potentially affected media.
	The potential for soil vapour impacts will initially be assessed via the soil and groundwater results. Soil vapour sampling is outside the scope of the DSI.
Receptor identification	 Human receptors include site occupants/users (including adults and children), construction workers and intrusive maintenance workers. Off-site human receptors include adjacent land users and recreational water users in the down-gradient water body (Kully Bay). Ecological receptors include terrestrial organisms and plants within unpaved areas (including the proposed landscaped areas), and marine ecology in Kully Bay. Kully Bay supports a marine ecosystem and is also utilised for recreational purposes.
Potential exposure pathways	Potential exposure pathways relevant to the human receptors include ingestion, dermal absorption and inhalation of dust (all contaminants) and vapours (volatile TRH, naphthalene and BTEX). The potential for exposure would typically be associated with the current uses, proposed construction and excavation works, and future use of the site. Potential exposure pathways for ecological receptors include primary contact and ingestion. Exposure during future site use could occur via direct contact with soil in unpaved areas such as gardens, inhalation of airborne asbestos fibres during soil disturbance, or inhalation of vapours within enclosed spaces such as buildings. Potential exposure pathways to groundwater (for human receptors) would be via vapour intrusion, or potential contact with groundwater entering the bay. Exposure to ecological receptors could also occur in the bay.
Potential exposure mechanisms	 The following have been identified as potential exposure mechanisms for site contamination: Vapour intrusion into the existing or proposed buildings (either from soil contamination or volatilisation of contaminants from groundwater); Contact (dermal, ingestion or inhalation) with exposed soils in landscaped areas and/or unpaved areas; and Migration of groundwater off-site and into nearby water bodies, including aquatic ecosystems and those being used for recreation.

JKEnvironments



Presence of preferential pathways for contaminant movement

None identified.

JKEnvironments



5 SUMMARY SAMPLING, ANALYSIS AND QUALITY PLAN

JKE prepared a stand-alone SAQP for the DSI which is attached in Appendix G. The SAQP is summarised as follows:

- Data Quality Objectives (DQOs) were developed to define the type and quality of data required to achieve the project objectives outlined in Section 1.2;
- Soil samples were obtained from 24 boreholes (BH201 to BH224) generally spread across the site in accessible areas outside the building footprints, as shown on the attached Figure 2 in Appendix A;
- Soil samples were obtained using a combination of hand auger, drill rig equipped with spiral flight augers (150mm diameter), and a mechanical excavator with 300mm pendulum auger attachment between 31 July and 14 August 2023;
- Three additional monitoring wells were installed in BH204 (MW204), BH223 (MW223), and BH224 (MW224) during the DSI, as shown on Figure 2 in Appendix A. The wells were generally positioned to provide site coverage (MW204) and target the AST in the west and redundant off-site USTs to the west (MW223 and MW224);
- The monitoring well construction details are documented on the borehole log for BH204, BH223 and BH224 attached in the appendices;
- New monitoring well MW204 and the two existing monitoring wells, MW4 and MW5, were developed on 31 July 2023. New monitoring well MW223 was developed on 14 August 2023 and new monitoring well MW224 was developed on 15 August 2023. With the exception of MW5, all wells were developed (i.e. water was pumped out) until they were effectively dry using a submersible electrical pump. MW5 was developed until steady state conditions were achieved;
- The monitoring wells were allowed to recharge for between two to 17 days after development. Groundwater samples were obtained on 17 August 2023. Steady state conditions were achieved in MW5 during sampling, however, due to slow but continual drawdown of the SWLs during groundwater sampling in the other monitoring wells (MW4, MW204, MW223 and MW224), steady state was not achieved;
- The field monitoring records and calibration data are attached in the appendices; and
- The relative heights for all monitoring wells were surveyed using a GPS unit on 30 August 2023. SWLs for all wells were also measured on 30 August 2023. This information is documented in results Section 7.

5.1 Deviations to the SAQP

The following deviations to the SAQP are noted:

- Following commencement of the fieldwork for the DSI, the client's representative indicated that roadworks were also proposed further south of the area initially nominated as 'the site' within the SAQP. Consequently, the site area for the DSI was extended to capture the extent of the proposed works (the updated site area is reflected on the Figures in Appendix A of this DSI report);
- Based on the extended site area, the AST which was discussed as being 'off-site' in the SAQP, became an onsite AEC. The off-site USTs were also considered to be in an 'up-gradient' position of the southern portion of the site;
- Four additional sampling locations were proposed (BH221 to BH224) in the southern part of the site, including two additional monitoring wells (MW223 and MW224);



- Groundwater samples were analysed for a broader suite of VOCs, in addition to the CoPC listed for the AST and UST AEC;
- The fill was not penetrated in BH201, BH205 to BH207, BH209 to BH215, BH217 to BH221 and BH222 due to limitations associated with the use of hand equipment and/or obstructions in fill;
- The sample volumes for asbestos bulk quantification/field screening for a limited number of samples was below 10L. The low volume was due to the use of augers which limited the sample return particularly in subsurface fill profiles;
- The asbestos field screening intervals extended across fill profiles and for one sample was collected for an interval of greater than 1m. The cross-profile screening and larger interval collection was due to the use of augers which limited the sample return particularly in the subsurface soil profiles; and
- Due to a scheduling error, only one inter laboratory sample was analysed for soil. No inter-laboratory groundwater sample was analysed.

Please refer to the SAQP attached in the appendices for further information.

5.1.1 Laboratory Analysis

Samples were analysed by an appropriate, NATA Accredited laboratory using the analytical methods detailed in Schedule B(3) of NEPM 2013. Reference should be made to the laboratory reports attached in the appendices for further details.

Samples	Laboratory	Report Reference
All primary samples and field QA/QC samples including (intra-laboratory duplicates, trip blanks, trip spikes and field rinsate samples)	Envirolab Services Pty Ltd NSW, NATA Accreditation Number – 2901 (ISO/IEC 17025 compliance)	329661, 330588, and 330763
Inter-laboratory duplicates	Envirolab Services Pty Ltd VIC, NATA Accreditation Number – 2901 (ISO/IEC 17025 compliance)	39136

Table 5-1: Laboratory Details

5.1.2 Asbestos Fibre Air Monitoring

Asbestos fibre air monitoring was undertaken by others in accordance with the AMP prepared for the DSI. The air monitoring results are summarised in results Section 7.6.



6 SITE ASSESSMENT CRITERIA (SAC)

The SAC were derived from the NEPM 2013 and other guidelines as discussed in the following sub-sections. The guideline values for individual contaminants are presented in the attached report tables and further explanation of the various criteria adopted is provided in the appendices.

6.1 Soil

Soil data were compared to relevant Tier 1 screening criteria in accordance with NEPM (2013) as outlined below.

6.1.1 Human Health

- Health Investigation Levels (HILs) for a 'residential with accessible soils, including childcare land use' exposure scenario (HIL-A). These criteria have been adopted to make a preliminary assessment of risks to the most sensitive receptors (i.e. children) and are also suitably protective of adults in a commercial land use scenario such as a hospital. In our opinion, the other generic land-use types in NEPM (2013) are less appropriate for a hospital land use scenario where there are relatively large unpaved/grassed/landscape areas. The land use Type A criteria also account for uncertainty around whether childcare centre land use will occur under the proposed development scenario;
- Health Screening Levels (HSLs) for a 'low-high density residential' exposure scenario (HSL-A & HSL-B).
 HSLs were calculated based on conservative assumptions including a 'sand' type and a depth interval of 0m to 1m;
- HSLs for direct contact presented in the CRC Care Technical Report No. 10 Health screening levels for hydrocarbons in soil and groundwater Part 1: Technical development document (2011)⁸; and
- Asbestos was assessed on the basis of presence/absence and against the HSL-A criteria. A summary of the asbestos criteria is provided in the table below:

Guideline	Applicability		
Asbestos in Soil	 The HSL-A criteria were adopted for the assessment of asbestos in soil. The SAC adopted asbestos were derived from the NEPM 2013 and are based on the Guidelines for Assessment, Remediation and Management of Asbestos-Contaminated Sites in West Australia (2021)⁹. The SAC include the following: No visible asbestos at the surface/in the top 10cm of soil; <0.01% w/w bonded asbestos containing material (ACM) in soil; and <0.001% w/w asbestos fines/fibrous asbestos (AF/FA) in soil. 		
	Concentrations for bonded ACM concentrations in soil are based on the following equation which is presented in Schedule B1 of NEPM (2013): % w/w asbestos in soil = <u>% asbestos content x bonded ACM (kg)</u> Soil volume (L) x soil density (kg/L)		

Table 6-1: Details for Asbestos SAC

⁸ Cooperative Research Centre for Contamination Assessment and Remediation of the Environment (CRC Care), (2011). Technical Report No. 10 - *Health screening levels for hydrocarbons in soil and groundwater Part 1: Technical development document*

⁹ Western Australian (WA) Department of Health (DoH), (2021). *Guidelines for the Assessment, Remediation and Management of Asbestos-Contaminated Sites in Western Australia*. (referred to as WA DoH 2021)



Guideline	Applicability	
	However, we are of the opinion that the due to the presence of voids, particul bucket sample was weighed using elect follows (we note that the units have all	e actual soil volume in a 10L bucket varies considerably ularly when assessing cohesive soils. Therefore, each ctronic scales and the above equation was adjusted as so converted to grams):
	% w/w asbestos in soil =	% asbestos content x bonded ACM (g) Soil weight (g)

6.1.2 Environment (Ecological – terrestrial ecosystems)

- Ecological Investigation Levels (EILs) and Ecological Screening Levels (ESLs) for an 'urban residential and public open space' (URPOS) exposure scenario. These have only been applied to the top 2m of soil as outlined in NEPM (2013). The criterion for benzo(a)pyrene has been increased from the value presented in NEPM (2013) based on the Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines¹⁰;
- ESLs were adopted based on the soil type; and
- EILs for selected metals were calculated using averaged site-specific soil parameters for pH, cation exchange capacity (CEC) and clay content in fine grained fill material and in fine grained natural soil. These data have been tabulated below for reference and were used to select the added contaminant limit (ACL) values presented in Schedule B(1) of NEPM (2013) to sum with the published ambient background concentration (ABC) presented in the document titled Trace Element Concentrations in Soils from Rural and Urban Areas of Australia (1995)¹¹. This method is considered to be adequate for the Tier 1 screening.

Location	Depth	Material type	рН	CEC	Clay content
BH201	0-0.2	Fill: silty clay	9.2	40	17
BH201	0-0.2	Laboratory duplicate	9.4	41	NA
BH210	1-1.3	Fill: gravelly clay	8.6	32	15
BH216	0-0.2	Fill: silty sandy clay	7.4	27	46
		Adopted Soil Parameter Value	8.65	35	26

Table 6-2: Site Specific Soil Parameters – Fine Grained Fill material

Table 6-3: Site Specific Soil Parameters – Fine Grained Natural Soil

Location	Depth	Material type	рН	CEC	Clay content
BH202	1-1.2	Silty sandy clay	7.2	33	NA
BH208	0.7-1	Silty sandy clay	7.5	29	NA
BH216	1.1-1.3	Silty sandy clay	7.5	21	NA
		Adopted Soil Parameter Value	7.4	27.67	NA



¹⁰ Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, (1999). *Canadian soil quality guidelines for the protection of environmental and human health: Benzo(a)Pyrene (1997)* (referred to as the Canadian Soil Quality Guidelines)

¹¹ Olszowy, H., Torr, P., and Imray, P., (1995), *Trace Element Concentrations in Soils from Rural and Urban Areas of Australia. Contaminated Sites Monograph Series No. 4.* Department of Human Services and Health, Environment Protection Agency, and South Australian Health Commission.



6.1.3 Management Limits for Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Management limits for petroleum hydrocarbons (as presented in Schedule B1 of NEPM 2013) were considered.

6.2 Groundwater

Groundwater data were compared to relevant Tier 1 screening criteria in accordance with NEPM (2013), following an assessment of environmental values in accordance with the Guidelines for the Assessment and Management of Groundwater Contamination (2007)¹². Environmental values for this investigation include aquatic ecosystems, human uses (i.e. primary and secondary contact associated with recreational water use in down-gradient water bodies) and human-health risks in non-use scenarios (i.e. exposure to volatile contaminants above groundwater contamination plumes).

6.2.1 Human Health

- HSLs for a 'low-high density residential' exposure scenario (HSL-A/HSL-B). HSLs were calculated based on the soil type and the observed depth to groundwater. These SAC are applicable for on-grade buildings where groundwater and bedrock are deeper than 2mBGL;
- Groundwater was recorded at depths of less than 2mBGL in MW5 and MW204. The HSLs are not applicable for groundwater shallower than 2m, (or for situations where basements intersect groundwater). We have therefore adopted alternative 'site-specific' assessment (SSA) criteria for the Tier 1 screening of human health risks posed by volatile contaminants in groundwater. The assessment included selection of alternative Tier 1 criteria that were considered suitably protective of human health. These criteria are based on drinking water guidelines and have been referred to as HSL-SSA. The criteria were based on the following (as shown in the attached report tables):
 - Australian Drinking Water Guidelines 2011 (updated 2021)¹³ for BTEX compounds and selected VOCs;
 - World Health Organisation (WHO) document titled Petroleum Products in Drinking-water, Background document for the development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality (2008)¹⁴ for petroleum hydrocarbons;
 - USEPA Region 9 screening levels for naphthalene (threshold value for tap water); and
 - The use of the laboratory PQLs for other contaminants where there were no Australian guidelines.
- The ADWG 2011 were multiplied by a factor of 10 to assess potential risks associated with incidental/recreational-type exposure to groundwater (e.g. within down-gradient water bodies). These have been deemed as 'recreational' SAC.

¹² NSW Department of Environment and Conservation, (2007). *Guidelines for the Assessment and Management of Groundwater Contamination*.

¹³ National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC), (2021). *National Water Quality Management Strategy, Australian Drinking Water Guidelines 2011* (referred to as ADWG 2011)

¹⁴ World Health Organisation (WHO), (2008). *Petroleum Products in Drinking-water, Background document for the development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality* (referred to as WHO 2008)



6.2.2 Environment (Ecological - aquatic ecosystems)

Groundwater Investigation Levels (GILs) for 95% protection of marine species were adopted based on the Default Guideline Values in the Australian and New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality (2018)¹⁵. The 99% trigger values were adopted where required to account for bioaccumulation. Low and moderate reliability trigger values were also adopted for some contaminants where high-reliability trigger values don't exist.



¹⁵ Australian and New Zealand Governments (ANZG), (2018). *Australian and New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality*. Australian and New Zealand Governments and Australian state and territory governments, Canberra ACT, Australia (referred to as ANZG 2018)



7 RESULTS

7.1 Summary of Data (QA/QC) Evaluation

The data evaluation is presented in the appendices. In summary, JKE is of the opinion that the data are adequately precise, accurate, representative, comparable and complete to serve as a basis for interpretation to achieve the investigation objectives.

7.2 Subsurface Conditions

A summary of the subsurface conditions encountered during the investigation is presented in the following table. Reference should be made to the borehole logs attached in the appendices for further details.

Profile	Description
Pavement	Asphaltic Concrete (AC) pavement was encountered at the surface in boreholes BH208, BH210, BH217, and BH224 and was approximately 100mm in thickness.
Fill	Fill was encountered at the surface or directly beneath the pavement in all boreholes and extended to depths of approximately 0.2mBGL to 3mBGL.
	Boreholes BH201, BH205, BH206, BH207, BH209 to BH215, and BH217 to BH222 were terminated in the fill at a maximum depth of approximately 2.7mBGL. A number of logs recorded this as being 'refusal on gravels' or 'obstruction in fill', however a number of boreholes terminated in the fill were recorded as being terminated at the base of the fill, on- top of the underlying bedrock.
	The fill typically comprised sandy silty clay, silty clay, silty sandy clay, clayey sand, sandy gravel and gravelly clay with inclusions of igneous, ironstone, and sandstone gravel, latite and igneous cobbles, concrete and brick fragments, clay nodules, ash, slag, bark chips, tree roots, and root fibres.
	No odours or staining were recorded in the fill material during field work. No FCF/ACM was encountered in the fill material during fieldwork.
Natural Soil	Natural silty sandy clay, silty clay, residual soils were encountered beneath the fill material in boreholes BH202, BH203, BH208, BH216, BH223 and BH224 and extended to depths of approximately 1.1mBGL to 4.2mBGL.
	Neither odours nor staining were recorded in the natural soil during fieldwork.
Bedrock	Latite bedrock was encountered beneath the fill material or natural soils in boreholes BH204, BH223 and BH224 at depths of approximately 1.8mBGL to 4.2mBGL.
	Neither odours nor staining were recorded in the bedrock during fieldwork.
Groundwater	Groundwater seepage was not encountered during drilling. All boreholes remained dry on completion of and a short time after drilling.

Table 7-1: Summary of Subsurface Conditions

7.3 Field Screening

A summary of the field screening results is presented in the following table:

Aspect	Details				
PID Screening of Soil Samples for VOCs	PID soil sample headspace readings are presented in attached report tables and the COC documents attached in the appendices. The results ranged from 0ppm to 3.3ppm equivalent isobutylene. These results indicate a lack of significant PID detectable VOCs in the samples.				
Bulk Screening for Asbestos	The bulk field scre was not encounte below the SAC.	The bulk field screening results are summarised in the attached report Table S5. FCF/ACM was not encountered in any of the bulk screening samples during the DSI. All results were below the SAC.			
Groundwater Depth & Flow	h SWLs measured in the monitoring wells installed at the site ranged from 1.1mBGL to 6.56mBGL during development and sampling. Survey levels and groundwater RLs measured in the wells on 30 August 2023 are presented in the table below:				
	MW reference	Reduced Level (mAHD)	SWL (30 August 2023)	SWL (mAHD)	
	MW4	26.853	1.67	25.183	
	MW5	28.48	2.47	26.01	
	MW204	38.172	2.2	35.972	
	MW223	28.972	6.42	22.552	
	MW224	28.452	6.71	21.742	
	A contour plot was prepared for the groundwater levels as shown on Figure 4. Groundwater flow generally occurs in a down gradient direction perpendicular to the groundwater elevation contours. The contour plot indicates that groundwater generally flows towards the east. The contour plot indicates that groundwater generally flows towards the east and south-east which is broadly consistent with expectations based on the topography.				
Groundwater Field Parameters	 Field measurements recorded during sampling were as follows: pH ranged from 6.01 to 7.95; EC ranged from 305.7μS/cm to 1,333μS/cm; Eh ranged from -223.7mV to -148.8mV; and DO ranged from 0.8mg/L to 7.5mg/L. The PID readings in the monitoring well headspace recorded during sampling ranged from 0.1ppm in MW4 and MW5, to 1.1ppm in MW224.				
LNAPLs petroleum hydrocarbons	Phase separated product (i.e. LNAPL) was not detected using the interphase probe during groundwater sampling.				

Table 7-2: Summary of Field Screening



7.4 Soil Laboratory Results

The soil laboratory results were assessed against the SAC presented in Section 6.1. Individual SAC are shown in the report tables attached in the appendices and we note that the data from the PSI 2022 are also included in the tables for completeness. A summary of the DSI results is presented below:

7.4.1 Human Health and Environmental (Ecological) Assessment

Table 7-3: Summary of Soil Laboratory Results – Human Health and Environmental (Ecological)

Analyte	N	Max. (mg/kg)	N> Human Health SAC	N> Ecological SAC	Comments
Arsenic	41	12	0	0	-
Cadmium	41	1	0	NSL	-
Chromium (total)	41	35	0	0	-
Copper	41	140	0	0	-
Lead	41	44	0	0	-
Mercury	41	0.2	0	NSL	-
Nickel	41	19	0	0	-
Zinc	41	180	0	0	-
Total PAHs	41	1.9	0	NSL	-
Benzo(a)pyrene	41	0.05	NSL	0	-
Carcinogenic PAHs (as BaP TEQ)	41	<0.5	0	NSL	-
Naphthalene	41	<1	0	NSL	-
DDT+DDE+DDD	14	<0.1	0	NSL	-
DDT	14	<0.1	NSL	0	-
Aldrin and dieldrin	14	<0.1	0	NSL	-
Chlordane	14	<0.1	0	NSL	-
Heptachlor	14	<0.1	0	NSL	-
Chlorpyrifos (OPP)	14	<0.1	0	NSL	-
PCBs	14	<0.1	0	NSL	-

Analyte	N	Max. (mg/kg)	N> Human Health SAC	N> Ecological SAC	Comments
TRH F1	41	<25	0	0	-
TRH F2	41	<50	0	0	-
TRH F3	41	110	0	0	-
TRH F4	41	<100	0	0	-
Benzene	41	<0.2	0	0	-
Toluene	41	<0.5	0	0	-
Ethylbenzene	41	<1	0	0	-
Xylenes	41	<1	0	0	-
Asbestos (in soil) (%w/w)	24	<0.01 ACM <0.001 AF/FA	0	NA	Asbestos was not detected in any of the soil samples analysed during the DSI.
Asbestos in fibre cement	1	Asbestos detected	1	NSL	Asbestos was detected in the material sample analysed (FCF-201 surface)

Notes:

N: Total number (primary samples) NSL: No set limit NL: Not limiting

7.5 Groundwater Laboratory Results

The groundwater laboratory results were assessed against the SAC presented in Section 6.2. Individual SAC are shown in the report tables attached in the appendices and we note that the data from the PSI 2022 are also included in the tables for completeness. A summary of the results is presented below:

Analyte	N ^	Max. (µg/L)	N> Human Health SAC	N> Ecological SAC	Comments
Arsenic	5	1	0	0	-
Cadmium	5	<0.1	0	0	-
Chromium (total)	5	<1	0	0	-
Copper	5	10	0	4	The copper concentrations of between 3µg/L and 10µg/L in MW4, MW204, MW223 and MW224 and field duplicates (GWDUP201 and GWDUP202), exceeded the ecological SAC of 1.3µg/L.

Table 7-4: Summary of Groundwater Laboratory Results – Human Health and Environmental (Ecological)



	1				
Analyte	N ^	Max. (µg/L)	N> Human Health SAC	N> Ecological	Comments
Lead	5	<1	0	0	-
Mercury	5	<0.05	0	0	-
Nickel	5	1	0	0	-
Zinc	5	9	0	0	-
Total PAHs	5	0.2	0	0	-
Fluoranthene		0.1	NSL	0	
Pyrene		0.1	NSL	NSL	
Benzo(a)pyrene	5	<0.1	0	0	-
Naphthalene	5	<0.2	0	0	-
TRH F1	5	51/<100	0	NSL	-
TRH F2	5	<50	0	NSL	-
TRH F3	5	<100	NSL	NSL	-
TRH F4	5	<100	NSL	NSL	-
Benzene	5	<1/<10	0	0	-
Toluene	5	<1/<10	0	0	-
Ethylbenzene	5	<1/<10	0	0	-
m+p-Xylene	5	<2/<20	0	0	-
o-Xylene	5	<1/<10	0	0	-
Total Xylenes	5	<2/<20	0	0	-
VOCs	5				-
Chloroform		22	0	0	
Bromodichloromethane		4	0	NSL	
рН	5	8.5	0	1	The pH of the groundwater in MW4 (pH 6.7) was outside the ecological range of 7 to 8.5.
EC	5	1200	NSL	NSL	-

Notes:

^: Primary samples

N: Total number

NSL: No set limit

NL: Not limiting

×



7.6 Air Monitoring Results - Summary

The air monitoring results are attached in Appendix D. In summary, all of the concentrations for the monitoring events were <0.01 fibres/mL of air.



8 DISCUSSION

8.1 Tier 1 Risk Assessment and Review of CSM

For a contaminant to represent a risk to a receptor, the following three conditions must be present:

- 1. Source The presence of a contaminant;
- 2. Pathway A mechanism or action by which a receptor can become exposed to the contaminant; and
- 3. Receptor The human or ecological entity which may be adversely impacted following exposure to contamination.

If one of the above components is missing, the potential for adverse risks is relatively low.

8.1.1 Soil

8.1.1.1 Human Health Risk

Asbestos as ACM was detected in a surficial FCF in the southern area of the site (refer to Figure 3). The fragment could not be broken by hand pressure and was therefore considered to be in the bonded form. The source of the asbestos is considered likely to be associated with either imported fill material which was encountered to varying depths across the site and/or from historical demolition activities in this area of the site. Reference should also be made to Section 8.1.1.4 below.

FCF/ACM was not encountered in the fill material screened using the field quantification methods during the DSI field work and no asbestos was detected in any of the soil samples analysed for the DSI. However, we note that sampling was not undertaken beneath existing buildings and structures due to access limitations, and the use of boreholes for sampling (as a consequence of the site being an active hospital) may also result in the occurrence of asbestos as ACM being underreported. Further investigation will be required to assess the potential impact of asbestos in/on fill at the site following demolition of the existing buildings/structures and for waste classification purposes.

It is our opinion that ACM in/on fill/soil poses a relatively low risk in the current site configuration and whilst the fill is not disturbed as there is a low potential for airborne asbestos fibres to be generated and for the SPR-linkage to become complete. In regards to the proposed development, asbestos in/on fill/soil will require management in regards to occupational exposure during the development works.

As a duty of care, and to meet the requirements under Clause 429 of the Work Health and Safety Regulation (2017), an AMP (for asbestos in/on soil) must be prepared and implemented to manage the site until development occurs.

8.1.1.2 Ecological Risk

All results were below the adopted ecological SAC.



8.1.1.3 Other CoPC

Elevated concentrations of the remaining CoPC were below the adopted SAC in the soil samples analysed during the investigation.

8.1.1.4 Consideration of PSI Soil Data

Asbestos as ACM was detected in fill/soil at a concentration above the SAC in one location (BH12) during the PSI (refer to Figure 3). All other soil results were below the SAC for the PSI sample locations within the site.

It is noted that the ACM concentration reported above the SAC in BH12 occurred in a laboratory analysis (500ml) sample. Asbestos in ACM concentrations (%w/w) in such samples tend to be high in %w/w due to the weight of ACM fragments in relation to the total overall weight of the soil sample. The corresponding bulk field quantification sample at this same location did not identify any ACM.

8.1.2 Groundwater

The groundwater samples collected for the DSI encountered concentrations of copper above the ecological SAC (refer to Figure 3). The copper exceedances were generally consistent across the monitoring well network, and are considered to be associated with regional factors rather than site-specific contamination issues. Hence we consider the risk posed by copper in groundwater is low.

The pH of the groundwater from MW4 was outside the range generally accepted for ecological receptors.

Where temporary construction dewatering is required, it is expected that the management of such water would occur in accordance with the regulatory requirements so that no unacceptable construction-phase risks occur.

8.1.2.1 Other CoPC in Groundwater

Elevated concentrations of the other CoPC were not encountered above the adopted SAC in the groundwater samples analysed for the DSI and therefore are not considered to pose a risk to the receptors at the concentrations reported to date.

It is noted that a low concentration of TRH F1 was reported in MW224. Given the indicated groundwater flow direction and the position of the former off-site USTs relative to MW224, the detectable concentration of TRH F1 in MW224 is may be associated with this AEC (i.e. the former offsite USTs). The concentration was low and does not pose an unacceptable risk in the context of vapour intrusion.

The occurrence of trace concentrations of chloroform and bromodichloromethane in the groundwater is considered likely to be associated with interference from potable water (e.g. leaking pipes/potable water infrastructure). Chloroform and bromodichloromethane are VOCs within a group of compounds known as trihalomethanes, which are formed as a biproduct of the drinking water disinfection (i.e. chlorination) process. It is noted that chloroform and bromodichloromethane were detected at similar concentrations in the groundwater during the PSI.



8.1.2.2 Consideration of PSI Groundwater Data

Consideration and review of the entire dataset (including the PSI groundwater data) has been undertaken and the PSI groundwater results are presented in the tables attached in Appendix C. TRHs were not detected in MW4 or MW5 during the second round of sampling and analysis (i.e. during the DSI) and therefore no unacceptable risks were identified in the context of vapour intrusion from groundwater contamination in the context of the proposed development. There was also a general reduction in heavy metals concentrations between the PSI and DSI sampling events, most likely due to the further equilibration/stabilisation of the existing monitoring wells.

8.2 Decision Statements

The decision statements are addressed below:

Are any of the laboratory results above the SAC?

Yes.

Do potential risks associated with contamination exist, and if so, what are they?

There are potential health-based risks associated with asbestos in/on fill/soil. Based on the current data, the human health risks are considered to be low, however occupational exposure risk during the development will require management.

JKE is of the opinion that potential risks associated with groundwater at the site are low in the context of the proposed development and are not indicative of site contamination.

Is remediation required?

Remediation of the site is not considered to be required based on the current dataset. However, given the identification of asbestos in/on fill/soil at the site, the sampling limitations (i.e. sampling from boreholes instead of test pits), and the spatial data gaps (i.e. sampling not undertaken beneath the buildings and structures), a RAP is recommended for the proposed development so that risks remain low and acceptable.

We consider that it would be reasonable to include the requirements for further investigation within the RAP because a large portion of this work will need to occur after demolition. Additional details of the proposed development will also be required to carry out the risk assessment (e.g. details of buildings/structures being retained or demolished, proposed building footprints and finished floor levels, earthworks levels, locations of car parks and landscaped areas etc).

We anticipate that as a minimum the RAP will include a contingency for remediation of asbestos in soil, that will include the removal/off-site disposal of contaminated fill where practicable. In our opinion the scope of remediation will not need to extend to groundwater in the context of rendering the site suitable for the proposed development.



Is the site suitable for the proposed development, or can the site be made suitable subject to further characterisation and/or remediation?

JKE is of the opinion that the site can be made suitable for the proposed development outlined in Section 1.1 via implementation of a RAP as described above.

8.3 Review of CSM and Data Gaps

A review of the CSM and an assessment of data gaps is provided in the following table:

Source/AEC	Review of CSM and Data Gap Assessment
Fill material	Fill ranging in depth between approximately 0.2m to 3mBGL was encountered across the site. The fill contained anthropogenic inclusions such as concrete and brick fragments, sand, ash, and slag.
	Due to the access constraints, probabilistic/grid-based sampling was not practicable on this site. It is also noted that sampling occurred from boreholes which poses limitations for identifying asbestos in fill, and sampling was not undertaken beneath the buildings/structures.
	Further investigation of the fill will be required following demolition of the buildings/structures and when access becomes available to assess the full extent of risks associated with this AEC. However, in our opinion, we consider it is likely that the fill conditions beneath the buildings will be consistent with those encountered in the PSI/DSI boreholes. It is recommended that additional sampling is undertaken via test pits if practicable. In our opinion, this work can be incorporated into the requirements under the RAP and this data gap does not alter our recommendations.
Use of Pesticides	Pesticides have not been detected to date. However, sampling has not occurred in the building footprints and further sampling/analysis of soils in these areas will be required. In our opinion, this work can be incorporated into the requirements under the RAP and this data gap does not alter our recommendations.
Hazardous Building Materials	Previous identification of asbestos (as ACM) in fill soils in the vicinity of BH12 and inclusions in fill soils were indicative of former demolition / construction activities (i.e. concrete and brick fragments).
	The buildings and structures on the site are of an age indicative of housing hazardous building materials (i.e. asbestos fibre cement and lead paint). JKE is not aware of a hazardous building materials register for the site.
	Subsequent to demolition, but before the slab is removed, a surface clearance for asbestos should be undertaken by a Licenced Asbestos Assessor (LAA). Further investigation of the fill beneath the buildings/structures will be required to assess the full extent of contamination risks on site as noted above.
On-site Fuel	Based on the reported results to date, and at the time of reporting, risks associated with this
Storage (AST)	AEC are considered to be low. Provisions are to be built into the RAP for inspections should this AST be removed, and for the potential identification of unexpected finds.
Off-site fuel storage areas	Based on the reported results to date, and at the time of reporting, on-site risks associated with this AEC are considered to be low and do not require further assessment. There were no TRH/BTEX detected in groundwater above the PQLs.

Table 8-1: Review of CSM and Data Gap Assessment


9 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The DSI included a review of existing project information, a site inspection, soil sampling from 24 boreholes and groundwater sampling from five monitoring wells (three new and two existing). The following potential contamination sources were identified at the site: fill material; use of pesticides; hazardous building materials (former and existing buildings and structures); fuel storage onsite (AST); and off-site fuel storage (upgradient former USTs).

The boreholes encountered fill materials to depths of approximately 0.2mBGL to 3mBGL, underlain by silty or clayey residual soils. The fill contained inclusions of igneous, ironstone, and sandstone gravel, latite and igneous cobbles, concrete and brick fragments, clay nodules, ash, slag, bark chips, tree roots, and root fibres. There was no FCF/ACM identified in any of the bulk asbestos quantification field screening samples during the DSI.

Potential health-based risks associated with asbestos in/on fill/soil are considered to be low, however further investigation is required following demolition and further risk assessment is required once this data is available. Ecological risks from fill soil were assessed to be low and acceptable.

JKE is of the opinion that potential risks associated with groundwater at the site are low in the context of the proposed development and are not indicative of site contamination that warrants remediation.

Remediation of the site is not considered to be required based on the current dataset. However, given the identification of asbestos in/on fill/soil at the site, the sampling limitations (i.e. sampling from boreholes instead of test pits), and the spatial data gaps (i.e. sampling not undertaken beneath the buildings and structures), a RAP is recommended for the proposed development so that risks remain low and acceptable.

We consider that it would be reasonable to include the requirements for further investigation within the RAP because a large portion of this work will need to occur after demolition. Additional details of the proposed development will also be required to carry out the risk assessment (e.g. details of buildings/structures being retained or demolished, proposed building footprints and finished floor levels, earthworks levels, locations of car parks and landscaped areas etc).

We anticipate that as a minimum the RAP will include a contingency for remediation of asbestos in soil, that will include the removal/off-site disposal of contaminated fill where practicable. In our opinion the scope of remediation will not need to extend to groundwater in the context of rendering the site suitable for the proposed development.

We are of the opinion that the site can be made suitable for the proposed hospital development provided the following recommendations are implemented:

- 1. Prepare an AMP to manage asbestos in soil risks in the context of the on-going use of the site as a hospital. This AMP will need to remain in force until the redevelopment occurs. Grass coverage across the site appears to currently be in good condition, and it is recommended that the grass coverage is maintained under provisions of the AMP;
- 2. Given ACM has been identified in the fill/soil and on the site surface, an LAA should be engaged and complete a walkover surface clearance inspection. Upon successful completion of the walkover inspection, a surface clearance certificate should be provided for the site;



- 3. Preparation and implementation of a RAP. The RAP is to include requirements for a post-demolition investigation(s) to adequately address the data gaps discussed in Section 8.3 of this report and outline a contingency for asbestos in/on fill if found at higher concentrations;
- 4. Should the post-demolition investigation identify additional contamination that requires remediation outlined in the RAP, an addendum RAP/Remedial work Plan (RWP) must be prepared and implemented;
- 5. Preparation and implementation of a construction-phase AMP; and
- 6. Preparation of a validation assessment report for the remediation works undertaken at the site.

If not already undertaken, a Hazardous Building Materials Assessment (HAZMAT) must be undertaken for the existing buildings/structures at the site prior to the commencement of demolition work.

JKE consider that the report objectives outlined in Section 1.2 have been addressed.



10 LIMITATIONS

The report limitations are outlined below:

- JKE accepts no responsibility for any unidentified contamination issues at the site. Any unexpected problems/subsurface features that may be encountered during development works should be inspected by an environmental consultant as soon as possible;
- Previous use of this site may have involved excavation for the foundations of buildings, services, and similar facilities. In addition, unrecorded excavation and burial of material may have occurred on the site. Backfilling of excavations could have been undertaken with potentially contaminated material that may be discovered in discrete, isolated locations across the site during construction work;
- This report has been prepared based on site conditions which existed at the time of the investigation; scope of work and limitation outlined in the JKE proposal; and terms of contract between JKE and the client (as applicable);
- The conclusions presented in this report are based on investigation of conditions at specific locations, chosen to be as representative as possible under the given circumstances, visual observations of the site and immediate surrounds and documents reviewed as described in the report;
- Subsurface soil and rock conditions encountered between investigation locations may be found to be different from those expected. Groundwater conditions may also vary, especially after climatic changes;
- The investigation and preparation of this report have been undertaken in accordance with accepted practice for environmental consultants, with reference to applicable environmental regulatory authority and industry standards, guidelines and the assessment criteria outlined in the report;
- Where information has been provided by third parties, JKE has not undertaken any verification process, except where specifically stated in the report;
- JKE has not undertaken any assessment of off-site areas that may be potential contamination sources or may have been impacted by site contamination, except where specifically stated in the report;
- JKE accept no responsibility for potentially asbestos containing materials that may exist at the site. These materials may be associated with demolition of pre-1990 constructed buildings or fill material at the site;
- JKE have not and will not make any determination regarding finances associated with the site;
- Additional investigation work may be required in the event of changes to the proposed development or landuse. JKE should be contacted immediately in such circumstances;
- Material considered to be suitable from a geotechnical point of view may be unsatisfactory from a soil contamination viewpoint, and vice versa; and
- This report has been prepared for the particular project described and no responsibility is accepted for the use of any part of this report in any other context or for any other purpose.



Important Information About This Report

These notes have been prepared by JKE to assist with the assessment and interpretation of this report.

The Report is based on a Unique Set of Project Specific Factors

This report has been prepared in response to specific project requirements as stated in the JKE proposal document which may have been limited by instructions from the client. This report should be reviewed, and if necessary, revised if any of the following occur:

- The proposed land use is altered;
- The defined subject site is increased or sub-divided;
- The proposed development details including size, configuration, location, orientation of the structures or landscaped areas are modified;
- The proposed development levels are altered, eg addition of basement levels; or
- Ownership of the site changes.

JKE will not accept any responsibility whatsoever for situations where one or more of the above factors have changed since completion of the investigation. If the subject site is sold, ownership of the investigation report should be transferred by JKE to the new site owners who will be informed of the conditions and limitations under which the investigation was undertaken. No person should apply an investigation for any purpose other than that originally intended without first conferring with the consultant.

Changes in Subsurface Conditions

Subsurface conditions are influenced by natural geological and hydrogeological process and human activities. Groundwater conditions are likely to vary over time with changes in climatic conditions and human activities within the catchment (e.g. water extraction for irrigation or industrial uses, subsurface waste water disposal, construction related dewatering). Soil and groundwater contaminant concentrations may also vary over time through contaminant migration, natural attenuation of organic contaminants, ongoing contaminating activities and placement or removal of fill material. The conclusions of an investigation report may have been affected by the above factors if a significant period of time has elapsed prior to commencement of the proposed development.

This Report is based on Professional Interpretations of Factual Data

Site investigations identify actual subsurface conditions at the actual sampling locations at the time of the investigation. Data obtained from the sampling and subsequent laboratory analyses, available site history information and published regional information is interpreted by geologists, engineers or environmental scientists and opinions are drawn about the overall subsurface conditions, the nature and extent of contamination, the likely impact on the proposed development and appropriate remediation measures.

Actual conditions may differ from those inferred, because no professional, no matter how qualified, and no subsurface exploration program, no matter how comprehensive, can reveal what is hidden by earth, rock and time. The actual interface between materials may be far more gradual or abrupt than an investigation indicates. Actual conditions in areas not sampled may differ from predictions. Nothing can be done to prevent the unanticipated, but steps can be taken to help minimise the impact. For this reason, site owners should retain the services of their consultants throughout the development stage of the project, to identify variances, conduct additional tests which may be needed, and to recommend solutions to problems encountered on site.

Investigation Limitations

Although information provided by a site investigation can reduce exposure to the risk of the presence of contamination, no environmental site investigation can eliminate the risk. Even a rigorous professional investigation may not detect all contamination on a site. Contaminants may be present in areas that were not surveyed or sampled, or may migrate to areas which showed no signs of contamination when sampled. Contaminant analysis cannot possibly cover every type of contaminant which may occur; only the most likely contaminants are screened.



Misinterpretation of Site Investigations by Design Professionals

Costly problems can occur when other design professionals develop plans based on misinterpretation of an investigation report. To minimise problems associated with misinterpretations, the environmental consultant should be retained to work with appropriate professionals to explain relevant findings and to review the adequacy of plans and specifications relevant to contamination issues.

Logs Should not be Separated from the Investigation Report

Borehole and test pit logs are prepared by environmental scientists, engineers or geologists based upon interpretation of field conditions and laboratory evaluation of field samples. Logs are normally provided in our reports and these should not be re-drawn for inclusion in site remediation or other design drawings, as subtle but significant drafting errors or omissions may occur in the transfer process. Photographic reproduction can eliminate this problem, however contractors can still misinterpret the logs during bid preparation if separated from the text of the investigation. If this occurs, delays, disputes and unanticipated costs may result. In all cases it is necessary to refer to the rest of the report to obtain a proper understanding of the investigation. Please note that logs with the 'Environmental Log' header are not suitable for geotechnical purposes as they have not been peer reviewed by a Senior Geotechnical Engineer.

To reduce the likelihood of borehole and test pit log misinterpretation, the complete investigation should be available to persons or organisations involved in the project, such as contractors, for their use. Denial of such access and disclaiming responsibility for the accuracy of subsurface information does not insulate an owner from the attendant liability. It is critical that the site owner provides all available site information to persons and organisations such as contractors.

Read Responsibility Clauses Closely

Because an environmental site investigation is based extensively on judgement and opinion, it is necessarily less exact than other disciplines. This situation has resulted in wholly unwarranted claims being lodged against consultants. To help prevent this problem, model clauses have been developed for use in written transmittals. These are definitive clauses designed to indicate consultant responsibility. Their use helps all parties involved recognise individual responsibilities and formulate appropriate action. Some of these definitive clauses are likely to appear in the environmental site investigation, and you are encouraged to read them closely. Your consultant will be pleased to give full and frank answers to any questions.



Appendix A: Report Figures





T C IC





etres)	۱
RATION	
	ĺ
	I





Appendix B: Laboratory Results Summary Tables





ABBREVIATIONS AND EXPLANATIONS

Abbreviations used in the Tables:

ABC:	Ambient Background Concentration	PCBs:	Polychlorinated Biphenyls
ACM:	Asbestos Containing Material	PCE:	Perchloroethylene (Tetrachloroethylene or Teterachloroethene)
ADWG:	AustralianDrinking Water Guidelines	рН _{ксL} :	pH of filtered 1:20, 1M KCL extract, shaken overnight
AF:	Asbestos Fines	pH _{ox} :	pH of filtered 1:20 1M KCl after peroxide digestion
ANZG	Australian and New Zealand Guidelines	PQL:	Practical Quantitation Limit
B(a)P:	Benzo(a)pyrene	RS:	Rinsate Sample
CEC:	Cation Exchange Capacity	RSL:	Regional Screening Levels
CRC:	Cooperative Research Centre	RSW:	Restricted Solid Waste
CT:	Contaminant Threshold	SAC:	Site Assessment Criteria
EILs:	Ecological Investigation Levels	SCC:	Specific Contaminant Concentration
ESLs:	Ecological Screening Levels	S _{Cr} :	Chromium reducible sulfur
FA:	Fibrous Asbestos	S _{POS} :	Peroxide oxidisable Sulfur
GIL:	Groundwater Investigation Levels	SSA:	Site Specific Assessment
GSW:	General Solid Waste	SSHSLs	: Site Specific Health Screening Levels
HILs:	Health Investigation Levels	TAA:	Total Actual Acidity in 1M KCL extract titrated to pH6.5
HSLs:	Health Screening Levels	TB:	Trip Blank
HSL-SSA:	Health Screening Level-SiteSpecific Assessment	TCA:	1,1,1 Trichloroethane (methyl chloroform)
kg/L	kilograms per litre	TCE:	Trichloroethylene (Trichloroethene)
NA:	Not Analysed	TCLP:	Toxicity Characteristics Leaching Procedure
NC:	Not Calculated	TPA:	Total Potential Acidity, 1M KCL peroxide digest
NEPM:	National Environmental Protection Measure	TS:	Trip Spike
NHMRC:	National Health and Medical Research Council	TRH:	Total Recoverable Hydrocarbons
NL:	Not Limiting	TSA:	Total Sulfide Acidity (TPA-TAA)
NSL:	No Set Limit	UCL:	Upper Level Confidence Limit on Mean Valu
OCP:	Organochlorine Pesticides	USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
OPP:	Organophosphorus Pesticides	VOCC:	Volatile Organic Chlorinated Compounds
PAHs:	Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons	WHO:	World Health Organisation
%w/w:	weight per weight		
ppm:	Parts per million		

Table Specific Explanations:

HIL Tables:

- The chromium results are for Total Chromium which includes Chromium III and VI. For initial screening purposes, we have assumed that the samples contain only Chromium VI unless demonstrated otherwise by additional analysis.
- Carcinogenic PAHs is a toxicity weighted sum of analyte concentrations for a specific list of PAH compounds relative to B(a)P. It is also refered to as the B(a)P Toxic Equivalence Quotient (TEQ).
- Statistical calculations are undertaken using ProUCL (USEPA). Statistical calculation is usually undertaken using data from fill samples.

EIL/ESL Table:

- ABC Values for selected metals have been adopted from the published background concentrations presented in Olszowy et. al., (1995), Trace Element Concentrations in Soils from Rural and Urban New South Wales (the 25th percentile values for old suburbs with low traffic have been quoted).

QA/QC Table:

- Field blank, Inter and Intra laboratory duplicate results are reported in mg/kg.
- Trip spike results are reported as percentage recovery.
- Field rinsate results are reported in μg/L.

Copyright JK Environments



TABLE 51 SOIL LABORATORY RESULTS COMPARED TO NEPM 2013. HIL-A: 'Residential with garden/accessible soils; children's day care centers; preschools; and primary schools'

All data in mg/kg unless :	stated otherwise		Arsenic	Cadmium	Chromium	HEAVY Copper	METALS Lead	Mercury	Nickel	Zinc	Total	PAHs Carcinogenic	нсв	Endosulfan	ORGANOCH Methoxychlor	LORINE PESTI	CIDES (OCPs) Chlordane	DDT, DDD	Heptachlor	OP PESTICIDES (OPPs) Chlorpyrifos	TOTAL PCBs	ASBESTOS FIBRES
PQL - Envirolab Services			4	0.4	1	1	1	0.1	1	1	PAHs -	PAHs 0.5	0.1	0.1	0.1	Dieldrin 0.1	0.1	& DDE 0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	100
Site Assessment Criteria	(SAC)		100	20	100	6000	300	40	400	7400	300	3	10	270	300	6	50	240	6	160	1	Detected/Not Detected
Sample Reference	Sample Depth	Sample Description								05	-0.05	-0.5	.0.1	-0.4		-0.4	-0.4		-0.1	-0.4	.0.4	Not Data da d
BH1 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	14	93	23	0.1	9	160	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected NA
BH1 - [TRIPLICATE] BH1	0-0.1 0.2-0.4	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	14	100	22 17	<0.1	8	100 73	NA <0.05	NA <0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
BH1 - [LAB_DUP] BH1 - [TRIPLICATE]	0.2-0.4 0.2-0.4	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	<4 <4	<0.4	9	64 59	15 12	<0.1	7 6	59 41	<0.05 NA	<0.5 NA	NA	NA	NA NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA NA	NA	NA
BH2 BH2	0-0.1 0.2-0.4	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	<4 <8	<0.4	12 8	52 56	18 3	<0.1	7 6	76 11	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	Not Detected NA
BH3 BH3	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	21	96 100	29 12	<0.1	9	99 49	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 NA	<0.1	Not Detected
BH4	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	22	87	24	<0.1	10	76	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
вн5	0.8-1.0	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	20	84	9 17	<0.1	10	52	<0.05	<0.5	×0.1 NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	×0.1 NA	NA	NA	×0.1 NA	NA
BH6 BH7	0.05-0.15 0-0.1	F: Sandy gravel F: Silty clay	<4 <4	<0.4	10 20	92 67	4	<0.1	6 8	24 74	0.1 <0.05	<0.5	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	Not Detected Not Detected
BH7 BH11	0.6-0.8 0.05-0.15	F: Silty clay F: Sandy gravel	<4 <4	<0.4	7 8	47 160	4	<0.1 <0.1	4 6	8 33	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA Not Detected
BH11 BH11	0.7-0.9	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	6	73	4	<0.1	9	21	<0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA <0.1	NA	NA <0.1	NA	NA	NA	NA	Not Detected
BH11	2.3-2.5	Silty sandy clay	<4	<0.4	4	53	6	<0.1	11	32	<0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
BH12 BH12	0-0.1 0.2-0.3	F: Silty clay F: silty sandy clay	<4	<0.4	16 6	57	21 8	<0.1	12	69 23	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	Not Detected
BH13 BH13	0-0.1 1.0-1.2	F: Silty clay F: silty sandy clay	<4 <4	<0.4	14 4	52 55	54 2	<0.1 <0.1	11 8	140 12	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	Not Detected NA
BH14 BH15	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	<4 <4	<0.4	19 12	68 72	15 24	<0.1	12 7	36 73	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
BH15	0.4-0.6	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	15	98	66	<0.1	11	150	<0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
BH16 BH17	0-0.1 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	19 21	53 69	17 38	<0.1	6 8	47 88	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	Not Detected
BH18 BH18	0-0.1 0.1-0.2	F: Silty clay F: Sandy gravel	<4 <4	<0.4	17 6	48 36	21 4	<0.1 <0.1	12 9	59 20	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	Not Detected NA
BH18 BH18 - [LAB_DUP]	0.1-0.2	F: Sandy gravel	<4	<0.4	6	19 18	3	<0.1	10	11	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
BH19	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	<4	0.9	15	91	33	<0.1	8	100	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
BH20 BH20	0.7-0.9	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	5	35	3	<0.1	4	8	<0.05	<0.5	×0.1 NA	×0.1 NA	NA	×0.1 NA	×0.1 NA	×0.1 NA	×0.1 NA	×0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	Not Detected
BH21 BH22	0-0.1 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	18 20	72 82	28 35	<0.1	9	79 91	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	Not Detected Not Detected
BH23 BH24	0-0.1 0-0.1	F: Sandy gravel F: Silty sand	6 <4	<0.4	13 18	19 58	8 20	<0.1	13 8	42 67	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5 <0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	Not Detected Not Detected
BH25	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	22	76	33	<0.1	8	89	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
BH25 BH26	0-0.1	F: Sandy gravel	<4	<0.4	5	140	3	<0.1	2	24	0.03	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
BH26-FCF1-Surface BH26	Surface 0.2-0.4	Material F: Silty clay	NA <4	NA <0.4	NA 11	NA 70	NA 21	NA <0.1	NA 11	94	NA <0.05	NA <0.5	NA	NA	NA NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Not Detected Not Detected
BH26 BH26 - [LAB_DUP]	0.5-0.7 0.5-0.7	Silty sandy clay Silty sandy clay	<4 <4	<0.4	9	110 120	7	<0.1 <0.1	12 13	35 33	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	NA
BH27 BH27 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	17	49 46	21	<0.1	6	48	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
BH28	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	19	64	26	<0.1	7	67	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
внзо внзо	0-0.1 0.4-0.6	F: Silty clay Silty sandy clay	6 <4	<0.4	14 28	130 82	29 6	0.2 <0.1	7 19	87 49	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	Not Detected
BH31 BH33	0-0.1 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	15 15	58 45	16 18	<0.1	8 9	59 52	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	Not Detected Not Detected
SDUP1	BH24 0-0.1	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	26	67 64	17	<0.1	10	95	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	NA	NA
SDUP4	BH15 0-0.1	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	12	50	23	<0.1	7	57	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	NA
SDUP5 SDUP6	BH3 0-0.1 BH17 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	26	71	39	<0.1	10	90	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	NA
SDUP7 BH201	BH22 0-0.1 0-0.2	F: Silty clay F: Silty Clay	4 <4	<0.4	28 19	100 100	33 24	<0.1 0.1	10 11	120 84	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	NA <0.1	NA
BH201 - [LAB_DUP] BH201	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	<4 NA	<0.4	23 NA	110 NA	31 NA	<0.1	12 NA	96	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	NA Not Detected
BH201	0.8-1	F: Silty Sandy Clay	<4	<0.4	17	110	19	<0.1	13	56	<0.05	<0.5	NA 1	NA 1	NA 1	NA	NA <0.1	NA 1	NA 10.1	NA -0.1	NA 1	NA Not Detected
BH202	1-1.2	Silty Sandy Clay	<4	<0.4	27	130	5	<0.1	10	48	<0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Not Detected
BH203 BH203	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay Silty Clay	<4 <4	<0.4	29	84 74	32 8	<0.1	13 8	89 17	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	Not Detected
BH204 BH204	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	5 <4	<0.4	10 9	60 85	18 4	<0.1	8 14	63 21	0.5 <0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Not Detected NA
BH205 BH205 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	4 <4	<0.4	10 10	30 28	15 15	<0.1	12 13	40	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
BH205	0.8-1	F: Silty Clay	<4	<0.4	12	79	12	<0.1	11	35	<0.05	<0.5	NA 1	NA 10.1	NA 1	NA 1	NA (0.1	NA r0.1	NA r0.1	NA -0.1	NA 10.1	NA Not Detected
BH207	0-0.4	F: Silty Clay	<4	<0.4	22	77	35	0.1	9	120	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
BH208 BH208	0.1-0.3 0.7-1	F: Silty Clay Silty Sandy Clay	<4 <4	<0.4	19 17	71 87	11 6	<0.1	7 8	33 19	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Not Detected NA
BH209 BH210	0-0.3	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	6 <4	<0.4	16 3	67 27	34 12	<0.1	13 6	150 28	<0.05 1.4	<0.5	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	Not Detected NA
BH210 BH210	0.7-1	F: Silty Clay	NA <4	NA 1	NA 8	NA	NA	NA	NA 10	NA 34	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Not Detected
BH211	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay	<4	<0.4	29	97	23	0.1	13	77	<0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Not Detected
BH212 BH212 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.3	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	<4 4	<0.4	9	24	12	<0.1	4	62	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
BH213 BH213	0-0.2 0.4-0.6	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	<4 <4	<0.4 <0.4	27 <1	140 9	29 <1	<0.1 0.2	13 <1	98 <1	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5 <0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Not Detected
BH214 BH215	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	<4 4	<0.4 <0.4	23 10	84 34	15 19	<0.1 <0.1	11 9	60 56	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5 <0.5	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	Not Detected Not Detected
BH215	0.4-0.6	F: Silty Sandy Clay	<4	<0.4	<1	2	<1	<0.1	<1	2	<0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA Not Detected
BH216	1.1-1.3	Silty Sandy Clay	<4	<0.4	13	98	13	<0.1	10	44	<0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
BH217 BH217	0.1-0.3	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	12 <4	<0.4	3	44	16 <1	<0.1	19 <1	39 2	1.7 <0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Not Detected
BH218 BH219	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	<4 <4	<0.4	27 27	120 110	15 41	<0.1 0.1	13 10	54 100	0.6 <0.05	<0.5	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 <0.1	Not Detected Not Detected
BH219 - [LAB_DUP] BH219	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay	<4	<0.4	25	100	44	<0.1	10	110	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	NA
BH220	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay	<4	<0.4	15	57	21	<0.1	8	68	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	Not Detected
BH221 BH221 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	F: Sandy silty clay F: Sandy silty clay	<4 5	<0.4	19	40	21	<0.1	12	65	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1	NA
BH221 BH222	0.4-0.55	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	<4 <4	<0.4	20 26	93 84	28 37	<0.1 0.2	12 12	160 120	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	Not Detected NA
BH223 BH223	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	<4	<0.4	17	60 76	19 20	<0.1	7	100	<0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA Not Detected
BH223	1.0-1.2	F: clayey sand	<4	<0.4	10	73	2	<0.1	11	32	<0.05	<0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
вн224 ВН224	0.3-0.5	F: sandy gravel F: gravelly clay	7	<0.4 <0.4	14 16	22 27	10 10	<0.1 <0.1	13 17	47 53	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5 <0.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Not Detected
BH224 S DUP 1	0.75-0.95 BH205 0-0.1	Sandy silty clay Fill	<4 5	<0.4 <0.4	20 11	64 32	14 19	<0.1 <0.1	7	27 49	<0.05 <0.05	<0.5 <0.5	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA <0.1	NA
S DUP 2 S DUP 3	BH201 0-0.1 BH202 0-0 1	Fill	<4 <4	<0.4	17 22	110 79	30 13	<0.1	11 13	79 52	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	NA
S DUP 4	BH203 0-0.1	Fill	<4	<0.4	32	88	33	<0.1	13	95	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	NA
S DUP 6	BH215 0-0.1	Fill	<4	<0.4	10	33	17	<0.1	7	53	<0.05	<0.5	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	NA
SDUP201 SDUP201	BH222 0-0.2 BH222 0-0.2	Fill	<4 NA	<0.4	21 NA	95 NA	16 NA	<0.1 NA	9 NA	56 NA	<0.05 NA	<0.5 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 NA	<0.1 <0.1	<0.1 NA	NA
FCF-201	SURFACE	Material	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Detected
Total Number of Samp Maximum Value	les		53 12	53	53 35	53 140	53 44	53 0.2	53 19	53 180	53	53 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poj< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>27 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>25 Detected</td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poj<></td></poi<></td></poi<>	26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poj< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>27 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>25 Detected</td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poj<></td></poi<>	26 <poj< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>27 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>25 Detected</td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poj<>	26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>27 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>25 Detected</td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<>	26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>27 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>25 Detected</td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<>	26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>27 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>25 Detected</td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<>	26 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>27 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>25 Detected</td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<>	26 <poi< td=""><td>27 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>25 Detected</td></poi<></td></poi<></td></poi<>	27 <poi< td=""><td>26 <poi< td=""><td>25 Detected</td></poi<></td></poi<>	26 <poi< td=""><td>25 Detected</td></poi<>	25 Detected
Concentration above the	SAC		VALUE																			
Concentration above the Note: Total number of sa	PQL amples and maxim	um values consider only	Bold the DSI data	a and not the	e PSI data. In a	ddition, the	grey shade	d samples a	re from the F	PSI 2022.												

Detailed Site Investigation (DSI) 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW E34300PT2

TABLE S2 SOIL LABORATORY RESULTS COMPARED TO HSLs All data in mg/kg unless stated otherwise

BH221	0-0.1	F: Sandy silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	41	4
BH221 BH221	0.4-0.55	F: Sandy sitty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4 4
BH222 BH223	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	<1	<1
BH223	0.3-0.4	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	<1 	4
BH223 BH224	0-0.1	F: clayey sand F: sandy gravel	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	<1	<1
BH224 BH224	0.3-0.5	F: gravelly clay Sandy silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	4
S DUP 1	BH205 0-0.1	Fill	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1
S DUP 3	BH201 0-0.1 BH202 0-0.1	Fill	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	<1	<1
S DUP 4 S DUP 5	BH203 0-0.1 BH219 0-0.1	Fill	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5	4 4	<1	<1 <1
S DUP 6	BH215 0-0.1	Fill	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	41	<1
3D0P201	BH222 0-0.2	FIE	Om to <1m	Sand	(25	<30	<0.2	<0.5	4	- CL	4
tal Number of Sample: aximum Value					53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""></pql<>
centration above the SA centration above the PC guideline correspondin e: Total number of sam	uC QL g to the concentra ples and maximum	ation above the SAC is hi m values consider only tl	VALUE Bold ghlighted in dark ne DSI data and r	grey in the Site A not the PSI data. I	Assessment Criteria n addition, the grey	Table below y shaded samples are	from the PSI 2022.				
				HSL SOIL ASSES	SMENT CRITERIA						
Sample Reference	Sample Depth	Sample Description	Depth Category	Soil Category	C ₆ -C ₁₀ (F1)	>C ₁₀ -C ₁₆ (F2)	Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Xylenes	Naphthalene
BH1 BH1 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55	40	3
BH1 BH1 - [LAB_DUP]	0.2-0.4	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160	55 55	40	3
BH2	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH3	0.2-0.4	F: Sity clay F: Sity clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH3 BH4	0.2-0.4 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55	40 40	3
BH5	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BHG	0.05-0.15	F: Sandy gravel	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH7 BH7	0-0.1	F: Sity clay F: Sity clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40	3
BH11 BH11	0.05-0.15	F: Sandy gravel F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
BH11 BH11	1.3-1.5	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH11 BH12	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH12 BH13	0.2-0.3 0-0.1	F: silty sandy clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
BH13 BH14	1.0-1.2	F: silty sandy clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40	3
BH15	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH15 BH16	0.4-0.6 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40	3
BH17 BH18	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
BH18 BH19	0.1-0.2	F: Sandy gravel	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH18 - [LAB_DUP]	0.1-0.2	F: Sandy gravel	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH19 BH20	0-0.1 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
BH20 BH21	0.7-0.9	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
BH22	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH23 BH24	0-0.1	F: Silty sand	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH25 BH25	0-0.1 0.7-0.9	F: Silty clay Silty sandy clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
BH26 BH26	0-0.1	F: Sandy gravel	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH26	0.5-0.7	Silty sandy clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH20 - [LAB_DUP] BH27	0.5-0.7	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH27 - [LAB_DUP] BH28	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55	40	3
BH30	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH31	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH33 SDUP1	0-0.1 BH24 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55	40	3
SDUP4	BH15 0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
SDUP5 - [LAB_DUP]	BH3 0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
SDUP6 SDUP7	BH17 0-0.1 BH22 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	45 45	110	0.5	160 160	55	40	3
BH201 BH201 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
BH201 BH202	0.8-1	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40	3
BH202	1-1.2	Silty Sandy Clay	1m to <2m	Sand	70	240	0.5	220	NL	60	NL
BH203 BH203	0-0.2	F. any sandy Clay Silty Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH204 BH204	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clav	0m to <1m 1m to <2m	Sand	45 70	110 240	0.5	160 220	55 NL	40 60	3 NL
BH205 BH205 - ILAR DUIPI	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160 160	55	40	3
BH205	0.8-1	F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH206 BH207	0-0.4	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH208 BH208	0.1-0.3	F: Silty Clay Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
BH209	0-0.3	F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH210 BH210	0.1-0.3	F: Sitty Clay F: Gravelly Clay	1m to <1m	Sand	45	240	0.5	220	NL	40	3 NL
BH211 BH212	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55	40 40	3
BH212 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.3	F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH213 BH213	0.4-0.6	F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH214 BH215	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55	40	3
BH215 BH216	0.4-0.6	F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH216	1.1-1.3	Silty Sandy Clay	1m to <2m	Sand	70	240	0.5	220	NL	60	NL
BH217 BH217	0.1-0.3	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55	40	3
BH218 BH219	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
BH219 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH219 BH220	1.1-1.3 0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55	40	3
BH221 BH221 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	F: Sandy silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110 110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH221	0.4-0.55	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH222 BH223	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55	40 40	3
BH223 BH223	0.3-0.4	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
BH224	0-0.1	F: sandy gravel	0m to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
BH224 BH224	0.3-0.5	F: gravelly clay Sandy silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110	0.5	160 160	55	40	3
S DUP 1 S DUP 2	BH205 0-0.1 BH201 0-0 1	Fill Fill	0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
S DUP 3	BH202 0-0.1	Fill	Om to <1m	Sand	45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
S DUP 4 S DUP 5	BH203 0-0.1 BH219 0-0.1	Fill	um to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	45 45	110	0.5	160	55	40	3
S DUP 6 SDUP201	BH215 0-0.1 BH222 0-0.2	Fill	Om to <1m	Sand	45 45	110 110	0.5	160 160	55 55	40 40	3
					1.00						-

					Ce-C10 (F1)	>C10-C16 (F2)	Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Xylenes	Naphthalene	Field PID Measurement
- Envirolab Service	5				25	50	0.2	0.5	1	1	1	ppm
Sample Reference	e Sample	Sample Description	Depth	Soil Category			HSCAYD. C	ow/high bensilt	RESIDENTIAL			
BH1	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Om to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	<1	4	0
BH1 (DAB_DOP	0.2-0.4	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	0
BH1 - [LAB_DUP BH2	0.2-0.4	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH2 BH3	0.2-0.4 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5	4 4	<1	4	0
BH3 BH4	0.2-0.4 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH5 BH5	0-0.1 0.8-1.0	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	0
BH6 BH7	0.05-0.15 0-0.1	F: Sandy gravel F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1	<1	0
BH7 BH11	0.6-0.8	F: Silty clay F: Sandy gravel	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	0
BH11 BH11	0.7-0.9	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	4	0
BH11	2.3-2.5	Silty sandy clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	4	0
BH12 BH12	0.2-0.3	F: silty sandy clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	<1	4	0
BH13 BH13	1.0-1.2	F: silty sandy clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	0
BH14 BH15	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH15 BH16	0.4-0.6 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH17 BH18	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH18 BH18	0.1-0.2 0.1-0.2	F: Sandy gravel F: Sandy gravel	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1	0 3.2
BH18 - [LAB_DUF BH19	0.1-0.2	F: Sandy gravel F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1	<1 <1	<1 <1	3.2
BH20 BH20	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH21 BH22	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	4	0
BH23	0-0.1	F: Sandy gravel	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	0
BH24 BH25	0-0.1	F: Silty sand F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	4	0
BH25 BH26	0.7-0.9	F: Sandy gravel	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1 <1	0
BH26 BH26	0.2-0.4 0.5-0.7	F: Silty clay Silty sandy clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1	<1	0
BH26 - [LAB_DUF BH27	0.5-0.7 0-0.1	Silty sandy clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1	0
BH27 - [LAB_DUF BH28	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	0
BH30 BH30	0-0.1	F: Silty clay Silty sandy clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH31 BH32	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	4	0
BH33	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	<1	4	0
SDUP1 SDUP4	BH15 0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	<1	4	NA
SDUP5 - [LAB_DU	P] BH3 0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	<1	4	NA
SDUP6 SDUP7	BH17 0-0.1 BH22 0-0.1	F: Sity clay F: Sity clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	<1	4	NA NA
BH201 BH201 - [LAB_DU	0-0.2 P] 0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	1.5
BH201 BH202	0.8-1 0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	4 4	<1 <1	4	1 1
BH202 BH203	1-1.2 0-0.2	Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	1m to <2m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	4 4	<1 <1	4	1.7
BH203 BH204	0.8-1	Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	1.1
BH204 BH205	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Clay	1m to <2m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	0
BH205 - [LAB_DU BH205	P] 0-0.2 0.8-1	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	1.2
BH206 BH207	0-0.4	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1	1.9
BH208	0.1-0.3	F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	0
BH209 BH210	0-0.3	F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	1.5
BH210	1-1.3	F: Gravelly Clay	1m to <2m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	0
BH211 BH212	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	2.4
BH212 - [LAB_DU BH213	P] 0-0.3 0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4 4	<1 <1	<1 <1	2.3
BH213 BH214	0.4-0.6	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1 <1	0.8
BH215 BH215	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	4 4	0.8
BH216 BH216	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 1m to <2m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	1.4 1.5
BH217 BH217	0.1-0.3	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH218 BH219	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	3.3
BH219 - [LAB_DU BH219	P] 0-0.2 1.1-1.3	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	1.3 2.4
BH220 BH221	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	1.7
BH221 - [LAB_DU	P] 0-0.1	F: Sandy silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	0.1
BH221 BH222	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	0.2
BH223 BH223	0-0.1	F: Sity clay F: Sity clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	4	4	4	0
BH223 BH224	1.0-1.2 0-0.1	F: clayey sand F: sandy gravel	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	4 4	0.3
BH224 BH224	0.3-0.5	F: gravelly clay Sandy silty clay	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
S DUP 1 S DUP 2	BH205 0-0.1 BH201 0-0.1	Fill	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	
S DUP 3 S DUP 4	BH202 0-0.1 BH203 0-0 1	Fill	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25 <25	<50 <50	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	-
S DUP S	BH219 0-0.1 BH215 0-0 1	Fill	0m to <1m 0m to <1m	Sand	<25 <25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	-
SDUP201	BH222 0-0.2	Fill	0m to <1m	Sand	<25	<50	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	
otal Number of San Jaximum Value	nples				53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>46 3.3</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>46 3.3</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>46 3.3</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>46 3.3</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>46 3.3</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>53 <pql< td=""><td>46 3.3</td></pql<></td></pql<>	53 <pql< td=""><td>46 3.3</td></pql<>	46 3.3
centration above th	ne SAC		VALUE									
centration above the guideline correspo e: Total number of	ne PQL nding to the concentr samples and maximu	ation above the SAC is hi m values consider only th	Bold ghlighted in dark te DSI data and r	grey in the Site A lot the PSI data. In	ssessment Criteria addition, the grey	Table below shaded samples are	from the PSI 2022.					

JKEnvironments

Detailed Site Investigation (DSI)	
85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong,	,

			C ₆ -C ₁₀ (F1) plus BTEX	>C ₁₀ -C ₁₆ (F2) plus	>C ₁₅ -C ₃₄ (F3)	>C34-C40 {
- Envirolab Services			25	50	100	100
Sample Reference	Sample Depth	Soil Texture	KE:	SIDENTIAL, PARKLANL	& PUBLIC OPEN SPA	CE
BH1 BH1 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	Fine	<25 <25	<50	<100	<100 <100
BH1	0.2-0.4	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH1 - [LAB_DUP] BH2	0.2-0.4	Fine	<25 <25	<50	<100 <100	<100
BH2	0.2-0.4	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH3 BH3	0.2.0.4	Fine	<25 <25	<50	<100 <100	<100
BH4	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BHS	0.8-1.0	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH6	0.05-0.15	Fine	<25	<50	110	190
BH7 BH7	0.6-0.8	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH11	0.05-0.15	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH11 BH11	1.3-1.5	Fine	<25	<50	220	<100
BH11 BH12	2.3-2.5	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH12	0.2-0.3	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH13 BH13	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	130 <100	<100
BH14	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH15 BH15	0.0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH16	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	160	<100
BH17 BH19	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH18	0.1-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH18 BH18 DUPI	0.1-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH19	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	110	<100
BH20 BH20	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50 <50	100 <100	<100
BH21	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	140	<100
BH22 BH22	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	140	<100
BH24	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	160	<100
BH25 BH25	0.0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH26	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	140	190
BH26 BH26	0.2-0.4	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH26 - [LAB_DUP]	0.5-0.7	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH27 BH27 - ILAB DUP1	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	100 <100	<100
BH28	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH30 BH30	0-0.1 0.4-0.6	Fine	<25 <25	<50	<100 <100	<100
BH31	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH33 SDUP1	0-0.1 BH24 0-0.1	Fine	<25 <25	<50	<100	<100
SDUP4	BH15 0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
DUP5 - [LAB_DUP]	BH3 0-0.1 BH3 0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	100	<100
SDUP6	BH17 0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH201	0-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
8H201 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH201 BH202	0-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH202	1-1.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH203	0.8-1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH204	0-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	110	<100
BH204 BH205	0-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH205 - [LAB_DUP] BH205	0.0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH206	0-0.4	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH207 BH208	0.0.4	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH208	0.7-1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH209 BH210	0.1.0.3	Fine	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100	<100
BH210	1-1.3	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH211 BH212	0-0.2	Fine	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100
BH212 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.3	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH213 BH213	0.0.2	Fine	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100
BH214	0-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH215 BH215	0-0.2	Fine	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100
BH216	0-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH216 BH217	1.1-1.3 0.1-0.3	Fine	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 110	<100
BH217	0.7-1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH218 BH219	0-0.2	Fine	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100
H219 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH219 BH220	0-0.2	Fine	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100
BH221	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH221 - [LAB_DUP] BH221	0-0.1	Fine	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100
BH222	0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH223 BH223	0.3-0.4	Fine	<25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100
BH223	1.0-1.2	Coarse	<25	<50	<100	<100
BH224 BH224	0-0.1	Coarse	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100
BH224	0.75-0.95	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
S DUP 1 S DUP 2	BH205 0-0.1 BH201 0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100
S DUP 3	BH202 0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
S DUP 4 S DUP 5	BH203 0-0.1 BH219 0-0.1	Fine	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100
S DUP 6	BH215 0-0.1	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
SDUP201	BH222 0-0.2	Fine	<25	<50	<100	<100
al Number of Sample	5		53	53	53	53
and the second s			<pql< td=""><td>ergt</td><td>110</td><td><pqi< td=""></pqi<></td></pql<>	ergt	110	<pqi< td=""></pqi<>

Sample Reference	Sample Depth	Soil Texture	C ₆ -C ₁₀ (F1) plus BTEX	>C10-C16 (F2) plus	>C ₁₆ -C ₃₄ (F3)	>C34-C40 (F4)
BH1	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH1 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH1	0.2-0.4	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH1 - [LAB_DUP]	0.2-0.4	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH2	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH2	0.2-0.4	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH3	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH3	0.2-0.4	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH4	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH5	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BHS	0.8-1.0	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BHG	0.05-0.15	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH7	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH7	0.6-0.8	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH11 BH11	0.05-0.15	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH11	13.15	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
DH11	2.3-2.5	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH12	0.01	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH12	0.2.0.3	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH13	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH13	1.0-1.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH14	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH15	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH15	0.4-0.6	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH16	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH17	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH18	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH18	0.1-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH18	0.1-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH18 - [LAB_DUP]	0.1-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH19	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH20	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH20	0.7-0.9	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH21	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH22	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH23	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH24	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH25	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH25	0.7-0.9	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH26	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BHZG	0.2-0.4	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BHZ0	0.5-0.7	Fine	800	1000	3300	10000
BHZG - [LAB_DUP]	0.5-0.7	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH27 - [LAB_DUP]	0.0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH28	0.0.1	Eine	800	1000	3500	10000
8120	0.0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH30	04.06	Eine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH31	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH33	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
SDUP1	BH24 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
SDUP2	BH29 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
SDUP3	BH34 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
SDUP4	BH15 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
SDUP5	BH3 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
SDUP5 - [LAB_DUP]	BH3 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
SDUP6	BH17 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
SDUP7	BH22 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH201	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH201 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH201	0.8-1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH202	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH202	1-1.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH203	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH203	0.8-1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH204	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH204	1.7-1.8	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000

011204	4.7 4.0	11116	000	1000	3300	10000
BH205	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH205 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH205	0.8-1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH206	0-0.4	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH207	0-0.4	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH208	0.1-0.3	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH208	0.7-1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH209	0-0.3	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH210	0.1-0.3	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH210	1-1.3	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH211	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH212	0-0.3	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH212 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.3	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH213	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH213	0.4-0.6	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH214	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH215	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH215	0.4-0.6	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH216	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH216	1.1-1.3	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH217	0.1-0.3	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH217	0.7-1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH218	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH219	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH219 - [LAB DUP]	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH219	1.1-1.3	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH220	0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH221	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH221 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH221	0.4-0.55	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH222	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH223	0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH223	0.3-0.4	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH223	1.0-1.2	Coarse	700	1000	2500	10000
BH224	0-0.1	Coarse	700	1000	2500	10000
BH224	0.3-0.5	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
BH224	0.75-0.95	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
S DUP 1	BH205 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
S DUP 2	BH201 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
S DUP 3	BH202 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
S DUP 4	BH203 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
S DUP 5	BH219 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
S DUP 6	BH215 0-0.1	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000
SDUP201	BH222 0-0.2	Fine	800	1000	3500	10000



TABLE S4 SOIL LABORATORY RESULTS COMPARED TO DIRECT CONTACT CRITERIA All data in mg/kg unless stated otherwise

Analyte		C6-C10	>C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	>C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	>C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Xylenes	Naphthalene	PID
PQL - Envirolab Services CRC 2011 -Direct contac	t Criteria	25 4,400	50 3,300	100 4,500	100 6,300	0.2 100	0.5 14,000	1 4,500	1 12,000	1 1,400	
Site Use Sample Reference	Sample Depth			RESID	ENTIAL WITH A	CESSIBLE SOIL-	DIRECT SOIL CO	ONTACT			
BH1	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH1 - [LAB_DUP] BH1	0-0.1 0.2-0.4	<25 <25	<50 <50	100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH1 - [LAB_DUP]	0.2-0.4	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH2 BH2	0-0.1 0.2-0.4	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH3	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH3 BH4	0.2-0.4 0-0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH5	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH5 BH6	0.8-1.0	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH7	0-0.1	<25	<50	150	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH7	0.6-0.8	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH11	0.7-0.9	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH11	1.3-1.5	<25	<50	220	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH11 BH12	2.3-2.5 0-0.1	<25	<50	<100 110	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH12	0.2-0.3	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH13 BH13	0-0.1 1.0-1.2	<25	<50 <50	130 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH14	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH15 BH15	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH16	0-0.1	<25	<50	160	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH17	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH18 BH18	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH18	0.1-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	3.2
BH18 - [LAB_DUP] BH19	0.1-0.2	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 110	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	3.2
BH20	0-0.1	<25	<50	100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH20 BH21	0.7-0.9	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH22	0-0.1	<25	<50	140	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH23	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH24 BH25	0-0.1 0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH25	0.7-0.9	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH26 BH26	0-0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	140 <100	190	<0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH26	0.5-0.7	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH26 - [LAB_DUP]	0.5-0.7	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH27 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH28	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH30	0-0.1 0.4-0.6	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH31	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH33 SDUP1	0-0.1 BH24.0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	
SDUP4	BH15 0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	NA
SDUP5	BH3 0-0.1	<25	<50	100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	NA
SDUPS - [LAB_DUP] SDUP6	BH17 0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	NA
SDUP7	BH22 0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	NA
BH201 BH201 - [LAB DUP]	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	1.5 1.5
BH201	0.8-1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	1
BH202 BH202	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	1
BH203	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0.9
BH203	0.8-1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	1.1
BH204 BH204	1.7-1.8	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH205	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	1.2
BH205 - [LAB_DUP] BH205	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	1.2
BH206	0-0.4	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	1.9
BH207 BH208	0-0.4	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH208	0.7-1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH209 BH210	0-0.3	<25	<50	110 <100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1 <1	<1	1.5
BH210	1-1.3	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH211	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	2.4
BH212 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.3	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1 <1	2.3
BH213	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	2.1
BH214	0.4-0.6	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0.8
BH215	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0.8
BH215 BH216	0.4-0.6	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	1.1 1.4
BH216	1.1-1.3	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	1.5
BH217 BH217	0.1-0.3	<25 <25	<50 <50	110	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0
BH218	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	3.3
BH219	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	1.3
BH219	1.1-1.3	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	2.4
BH220	0-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	1.7
BH221 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1 <1	0.1
BH221	0.4-0.55	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
вн222 ВН223	0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0.2
BH223	0.3-0.4	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH223 BH224	1.0-1.2 0-0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	0 0.3
BH224	0.3-0.5	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0
BH224	0.75-0.95	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	0.1
S DUP 2	S DUP 1 BH205 0-0.1 S DUP 2 BH201 0-0.1		<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1 <1	-
S DUP 3	S DUP 2 BH201 0-0.1 S DUP 3 BH202 0-0.1 S DUP 4 BH203 0-0.1		<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	-
S DUP 4	вн203 0-0.1 ВН219 0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	-
S DUP 6	BH215 0-0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	-
SDUP201	BH222 0-0.2	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<1	-
Total Number of Sample	es	53	53	53	53	53	53	53	53	53	46
Total Number of Sample		<001	<poi< td=""><td>110</td><td></td><td>< POI</td><td><poi< td=""><td><pol< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td></td><td>3.3</td></pql<></td></pol<></td></poi<></td></poi<>	110		< POI	<poi< td=""><td><pol< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td></td><td>3.3</td></pql<></td></pol<></td></poi<>	<pol< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td></td><td>3.3</td></pql<></td></pol<>	<pql< td=""><td></td><td>3.3</td></pql<>		3.3
Maximum Value		<fql< td=""><td></td><td>110</td><td><1 QL</td><td>AT QL</td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td>(IQL</td><td></td></fql<>		110	<1 QL	AT QL			-	(IQL	

Detailed Site Investigation (DSI)	
85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong,	NSW

85-91 Cowper Street, Warraw E34300PT2



TABLE SS ASBESTOS QUANTIFICATION - FIELD OBSERVATIONS AND LABORATORY RESULTS HSL-A: Residential with garden/accessible soils; children's day care centers; preschools; and primary schools

Date Sampled	Sample reference	Sample Depth	Visible ACM in top	Approx. Volume of Soil	Soil Mass (g	Mass ACM (g)	Mass Asbestos in ACM	[Asbestos from ACM in soil]	Mass ACM <7mm (g)	Mass Asbestos in ACM <7mm	[Asbestos from ACM <7mm in	Mass FA (g)	Mass Asbestos in FA (g)	[Asbestos from FA in soil]	Lab Report Number	Sample refeference	Sample Depth	Sample Mass (g)	LABURAT DRY Asbestos ID in soil (AS4964) >0.1g/kg	Trace Analysis	Total Asbestos (g/kg)	Asbestos ID in soil <0.1g/kg	ACM >7mm Estimation	FA and AF Estimation (g)	ACM >7mm Estimation %(w/w)	FA and Al Estimation %(w/w)
SAC			100mm No	(L)			(g)	(%w/w) 0.01	<u> </u>	(g)	soil] (%w/w) 0.001)		(%w/w) 0.001				107			10, 0,		(g)	107	0.01	0.001
27/09/2022	BH1	0-0.1	No	10	8,190	No ACM observed	-		No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	BH1	0-0.1	502.88	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022 28/09/2022	BH1 BH2	0.1-0.4	NA No	-	3,180 6,800	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed No FA observed			307228	 BH2	0-0.1	542.63	 No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg; Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected			<0.01	<0.001
28/09/2022	BH2	0.1-0.5	NA	-	3,730	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed								-	-	-			-	
27/09/2022	BH3 BH3	0-0.1	NO	-	6,870 4,630	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed	-		No FA observed No FA observed				BH3		456.64	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH3	0.2-0.6	NA	-	4,010	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed							\sim							
27/09/2022	BH4 BH4	0.1-0.4	NO	-	2,640	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed	-		No FA observed				BH4 		412.24	No aspestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic tipres detected		<0.1	No visible asbestos detected			<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH5	0-0.1	No	10	11,020	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	BH5	0-0.1	592.87	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH6	0.02-0.2	No	-	4,280	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed	-	-	No FA observed			307228	BH6	0.05-0.15	923.34	 No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH6 BH7	0.2-0.3	NA	- 10	3,160	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed				 BH7				 No ashestos detected		 No visible ashestos detected				<0.001
29/09/2022	BH7	0.1-0.6	NA	-	6,490	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed				-	-									
29/09/2022	BH7 BH11	0.6-1.6	NA No	- 10	5,680	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed	-		No FA observed			307228	 BH11				 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected			<0.01	<0.001
29/09/2022	BH11	0.15-1.6	NA	-	6,810	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228-A	BH11	0.7-0.9	520.53	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
29/09/2022	 BH11		 NA		 6,900	 No ACM observed			 No ACM <7mm observed			 No FA observed			307228	BH11	1.3-1.5	467.8	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
29/09/2022	BH11	1.9-2.3	NA	-	3,410	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed							 Chrysotile aspestos detected: Amosite aspestos detected: Crocidolite aspestos							
28/09/2022 28/09/2022	BH12 BH12	0-0.1	NO	- 10	3,210	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed No FA observed				BH12			detected: Organic fibres detected 	No asbestos detected	0.3667	No visible asbestos detected	0.2017	-	0.0367	<0.001
28/09/2022	BH12	0.2-0.3	NA	-	2,650	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228-A	BH12	0.2-0.3	835.02	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH13 BH13	0.1-0.3	NO	-	4,810	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed	-		No FA observed							No aspestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic tipres detected	No aspestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected			<0.01	<0.001
29/09/2022	BH14	0-0.1	No	10	10,740	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	BH14	0-0.1	421.8	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH14 BH15	0.1-0.8	No	-	4,820	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed		-	No FA observed			307228	BH15	0-0.1	491.69	 No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH15 BH15	0.1-0.2	NA	-	2,180	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed														
28/09/2022	BH16	0-0.1	No	-	6,920	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	BH16	0-0.1	592.75	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
28/09/2022	BH16 BH17	0.1-0.8	NA No	-	3,410 5,750	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed No FA observed			307228	 BH17	0-0.1	377.16	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg; Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected		-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH17	0.1-0.5	NA	-	4,180	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed							-							
27/09/2022 27/09/2022	BH17 BH18	0.5-1.5	NA No	- 10	7,280 9,810	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed No FA observed			307228	 BH18	0-0.1	 424.39	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected		-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH18	0.1-0.2	NA	-	2,020	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	BH18	0.1-0.2	538.39	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022 25/09/2022	BH18 BH19	0.2-0.5	NA No	- 10	1,350 9,200	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed No FA observed			307228	 BH19	0-0.1	466.22	 No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
28/09/2022	BH19	0.1-0.2	NA	-	4,180	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed														
28/09/2022 28/09/2022	BH19 BH20	0.2-0.5	NA	-	4,380	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed	-		No FA observed No FA observed			307228	 BH20	0-0.1	447.81	 No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
28/09/2022	BH20	0.1-1.2	NA	-	3,180	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228-A	BH20	0.7-0.9	412.22	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
28/09/2022	BH21 BH21	0.1-0.7	NA	-	4,660	No ACM observed		-	No ACM <7mm observed		-	No FA observed							No assestos detected at reporting innit of 0.1g/kg. Organic nores detected					-		
27/09/2022	BH22 BH22	0-0.1	No	-	7,710	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	BH22	0-0.1	495.84	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
28/09/2022	BH23	0-0.2	No	10	13,410	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	BH23	0-0.1	1030.02	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
26/09/2022	BH24 BH24	0-0.1	No NA	-	4,100	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	BH24	0-0.1	552.13	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH25	0-0.1	No		4,360	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	BH25	0-0.1	379.98	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
27/09/2022	BH25	0.1-0.3	NA	-	2,810	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	 BH25	0.7-0.9	376.86	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected		-	<0.01	<0.001
26/09/2022	BH26	0-0.15	No	10	10,420	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	BH26	0-0.1	744.71	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
26/09/2022 28/09/2022	BH26 BH27	0.15-0.4	NA	- 10	7,810 9,460	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed No FA observed			307228-A 307228	BH26 BH27	0.2-0.4	424.07 437.8	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
28/09/2022	BH27	0.1-0.5	NA		4,830	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed							••							
26/09/2022	BH28 BH28	0.1-0.5	NO	-	2190	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed	-		No FA observed				 			No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected		-	<0.01	<0.001
26/09/2022	BH28	0.6-1.3	NA	-	3670	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed							\sim							
29/09/2022	BH30	0.1-0.3	NA	-	3,280	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed							to assessos detected at reporting mint of 0.282 vg. Organic nores detected							
29/09/2022	BH30 BH31	0.3-0.4	NA	- 10	1,230	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			307228	 RH31		641.31		 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected			<0.01	<0.001
28/09/2022	BH31	0.1-1.0	NA		6,280	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed		-	No FA observed							···							
27/09/2022 27/09/2022	BH33 BH33	0-0.1	No NA	-	7,910 3,180	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed	-		No FA observed No FA observed			307228	BH33	0-0.1	553.67	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
1/08/2023	BH201	0-0.1	No	10	10,010	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed														
1/08/2023	BH201 BH202	0.1-1.0	NA	10	11,110	No ACM observed No ACM observed			NO ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661 329661	BH201 BH202	0.4-0.6	625.91 587.98	No aspestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
1/08/2023	BH202	0.1-0.6	NA	15	15,510	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661-A	BH202	0.4-0.6	471.15	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
1/08/2023	BH203	0.1-0.6	NA	10	10,710	No ACM observed	-		No ACM <7mm observed	-	-	No FA observed		-									-	-		-0.001
31/07/2023	BH204	0-0.1	No	10	10,610	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661	BH204	0-0.2	466.08	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
1/08/2023	BH205	0-0.1	No	10	10,160	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed		-	No FA observed			329661	BH205	0-0.2	486.49	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
1/08/2023 2/08/2023	BH205 BH206	0.1-1.1	NA No	10 5	10,470 5,450	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661	 BH206		 488.77	 No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected		-	<0.01	<0.001
31/07/2023	BH207	0-0.1	No	5	4,810	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661	BH207	0-0.4	575.88	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
31/07/2023 31/07/2023	BH207 BH208	0.1-0.5	NA	7	7,100 4,620	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed No FA observed			329661	 BH208	0.1-0.3	 372.79	 No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected		-	<0.01	<0.001
2/08/2023	BH209	0-0.3	No	7	6,910	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661	BH209	0-0.3	545.17	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
31/07/2023	BH210 BH210	0.1-0.3	NA	7	2,160 6,740	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed		-	No FA observed			329661	 BH210	0.7-1	429.96	 No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
2/08/2023	BH211	0-0.2	No	10 e	12,010	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661	BH211	0-0.2	669.09	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
2/08/2023	BH212 BH213	0-0.3	No	10	3,110 11,910	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661	BH212 BH213	0-0.3	537.41	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
2/08/2023	BH213	0.1-0.8	NA	10	11,150	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			320661	 BH214		454.61	No asbestos detected at reportine limit of 0.1a/ka: Organic fibros detected	 No ashestor detected	<0.1	 No visible ashertor detector			<0.01	<0.001
2/08/2023	BH214	0.1-0.8	NA	10	10,910	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed	-		No FA observed							w assestos detected at reporting initial of any kg. Organic nores detected							
2/08/2023 2/08/2023	BH215 BH215	0-0.1	No NA	10	10,120	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661	BH215	0-0.2	587	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
1/08/2023	BH216	0-0.1	No	10	10,210	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661	BH216	0-0.2	502.82	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
1/08/2023 31/07/2023	BH216 BH217	0.1-0.7	NA	10 2	11,370 1,910	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed No FA observed			329661	 BH217	0.1-0.3	 284.45	 No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
31/07/2023	BH217	0.7-1.1	NA	6	6,450	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed								an a		an and a state of a st				-
1/08/2023	BH218 BH218	0-0.1	NO	10	9,010 10,330	No ACM observed No ACM observed			NO ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed No FA observed			329661	вH218 	U-0.2	479.5	No aspestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	NO asbestos detected	<0.1	NO VISIBLE asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
1/08/2023	BH219	0-0.1	No	10	8,710	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661	BH219	0-0.2	556.66	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
1/08/2023	BH219 BH220	0.1-1.3	NO	10	10,290	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			329661	 BH220	0-0.2	 619.48	 No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
1/08/2023	BH220 BH221	0.1-0.6	NA	10	11,250	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed				 BH221		491.21	No asbestos detected at reportine limit of 0.1e/ke: Organic fibrae detected	 No aspestos detector	<0.1	 No visible ashestos detected		-	<0.01	<0.001
15/08/2023	BH222	0-0.1	No	10	8,760	No ACM observed	-		No ACM <7mm observed	-	-	No FA observed			330588-A	BH222	0-0.1	456.07	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
14/08/2023	BH223 BH223	0-0.1	No	10 5	9,250	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			330588	 BH223		376.81	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1 <i>a/ka</i> : Organic fibres detected	 No asbestos detected	<0.1	 No visible asbestos detected		-	<0.01	<0.001
14/08/2023	BH223	0.7-1.0	NA	3	3,200	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed														
14/08/2023 14/08/2023	BH223 BH223	1.7-2.0 2.5-3.0	NA NA	3	2,800 7,010	No ACM observed No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed No FA observed							**							
14/08/2023	BH224	0-0.1	No	10	11,200	No ACM observed			No ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			330588	BH224	0-0.1	900.57	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No asbestos detected	<0.1	No visible asbestos detected	-	-	<0.01	<0.001
14/08/2023	BH224	0.1-0.5	NA	7	/,270	NO ACM observed			NO ACM <7mm observed			No FA observed			330588-A	BH224	0.3-0.5	695.77	No aspestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg: Organic fibres detected	No aspestos detected	<0.1	INO VISIBLE asbestos detected	-	-	< 0.01	< 0.001

Copyright JK Environments

									EIL AND ESL AS	SSESSMENT CRIT	ERIA												
Sample Reference	Sample Depth	Sample Description	Soil Texture	pН	CEC (cmolc/kg)	Clay Content (% clay)	Arsenic	Chromium	Copper	Lead	Nickel	Zinc	Naphthalene	DDT	C6-C10 (F1)	>C10-C16 (F2)	>C ₁₆ -C ₃₄ (F3)	>C ₃₄ -C ₄₃ (F4)	Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Total Xylenes	B(a
BH1 BH1 - DAB DUB1	0-0.1	F: Silty day	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
H1 - [TRIPLICATE]	0-0.1	F: Silty day	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000											
BH1 BH1 - [LAB_DUP]	0.2-0.4	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	Fine	8.62 NA	23.2 NA	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170		180	120	1300	5600 5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH1 - [TRIPLICATE]	0.2-0.4	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150											
BH2 BH2	0-0.1 0.2-0.4	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180 180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH3	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH3 BH4	0.2-0.4 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180 180	120	1300	5600	65 65	105	125	45	2
BH5	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH5 BH6	0.05-0.15	F: Silty day F: Sandy gravel	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH7	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH7 BH11	0.05-0.15	F: Silty day F: Sandy gravel	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	35	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH11 BH11	0.7-0.9	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	1
BH11 BH11	2.3-2.5	Silty sandy clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	
BH12	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH12 BH13	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH13	1.0-1.2	F: silty sandy clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH14 BH15	0-0.1	F: Silty day	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH15	0.4-0.6	F: Silty clay	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH10 BH17	0-0.1	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH18	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH18 BH18	0.1-0.2	F: Sandy gravel F: Sandy gravel	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH18 - [LAB_DUP]	0.1-0.2	F: Sandy gravel	Fine	NA	NA 22.2	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH19 BH20	0-0.1	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	8.62 NA	23.2 NA	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH20	0.7-0.9	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH21 BH22	0-0.1	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	NA 8.62	NA 23.2	NA	100	200	80 240	1200	35 360	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	
BH23	0-0.1	F: Sandy gravel	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	
BH24 BH25	0-0.1	F: Silty sand F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	
BH25	0.7-0.9	Silty sandy day	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH26 BH26	0.0.1	F: Sandy gravel F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH26	0.5-0.7	Silty sandy day	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH26 - [LAB_DUP]	0.5-0.7	Silty sandy day	Fine	8.62 NA	23.2 NA	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH27 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	F: Silty day	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH28 BH20	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA 8.62	NA 23.2	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH30	0.4-0.6	Silty sandy day	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH31	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
SDUP1	BH24 0-0.1	F: Silty day	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
SDUP1	BH24 0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150		180									2
SDUP5	BH3 0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
SDUP5 - [LAB_DUP]	BH3 0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA							170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	
SDUP7	BH22 0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH201 BH201 - FLAB - DUB1	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH201 BH201	0.8-1	F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2/
BH202	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH202 BH203	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH203	0.8-1	Silty Clay	Fine	7.4	27.67	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	20
BH204 BH204	1.7-1.8	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	20
BH205	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH205 - [LAB_DUP] BH205	0.0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH206	0-0.4	F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH207 BH208	0.1-0.3	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH208	0.7-1	Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	7.4	27.67	NA	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH209 BH210	0.1-0.3	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65 65	105	125	45	2
BH210	1-1.3	F: Gravelly Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH211 BH212	0-0.2	F: Sitty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH212 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.3	F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH213 BH213	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300 1300	170		180 180	120	1300 1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH214	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	
BH215 BH215	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65 8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	1
BH216	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	1
BH216 BH217	1.1-1.3	Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Clay	Fine	7.4	27.67	NA 26	100	200	240	1200	360	1000	170		180 180	120	1300 1300	5600 5600	65 65	105	125	45	+
BH217	0.7-1	F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	1
BH218 BH219	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600 5600	65	105	125	45	1 2
H219 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	1 3
BH219 BH220	1.1-1.3	F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH221	0-0.1	F: Sandy silty clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
H221 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1	F: Sandy silty clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
BH222	0.0.1	F: Silty day	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	
BH223	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	
BH223 BH223	0.3-0.4	F: Silty clay F: clayey sand	Fine Coarse	8.65 NA	35 NA	Z6 NA	100	200	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65 65	105	125	45	
BH224	0-0.1	F: sandy gravel	Coarse	NA	NA	NA	100	200	80	1200	35	150	170		180	120	300	2800	50	85	70	105	
BH224 BH224	0.3-0.5	F: gravelly clay Sandy silty clay	Fine	8.65	35	26 NA	100	410 200	240	1200	420	1300	170		180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	+
S DUP 1	BH205 0-0.1	Fill	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	1
S DUP 2 S DUP 2	BH201 0-0.1 BH202 0-0 1	Fill	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	2
S DUP 4	BH203 0-0.1	Fill	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	1
S DUP 5	BH219 0-0.1	Fill	Fine	8.65	35	26	100	410	240	1200	420	1300	170	180	180	120	1300	5600	65	105	125	45	
3 005 0	Driz15 U-U.1	HII	rine	0.00	35	20	100	+10	∠4U	1200	420	1300	1/0	100	180	120	1300	3000	22	102	125	45	

d Use Category												URBAN RESID	ENTIAL AND PUBLI	OPEN SPACE									
				рН	CEC (cmolc/kg)	Clay Content (% clay)	Arsenic	Chromium	AGED HEAV Copper	Lead	Nickel	Zinc	Naphthalene	DDT	C ₆ -C ₁₀ (F1)	>C ₁₀ -C ₁₅ (F2)	>C16-C34 (F3)	>C34-C40 (F4)	Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Total Xylenes	B(a)P
L - Envirolab Services bient Background Concer	ntration (ABC)				1		4 NSL	1 8	1 18	1 104	1 5	1 77	1 NSL	0.1 NSL	25 NSL	S0 NSL	100 NSL	100 NSL	0.2 NSL	0.5 NSL	1 NSL	1 NSL	0.05 NSL
Sample Reference	Sample Depth	Sample Description	Soil Texture																				
BH1 BH1 - [LAB_DUP]	0-0.1 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	Fine Fine	8.62 8.62	23.2 23.2	NA NA	<4 <4	14 14	93 99	23 24	9	85 160	<1 <1	<0.1 <0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<0.05 <0.05
BH1 - [TRIPLICATE] BH1	0-0.1 0.2-0.4	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	8.62 8.62	23.2 23.2	NA NA	<4	14	100	22	8	100	NA <1	NA	NA <25	NA <50	NA <100	NA <100	NA <0.2	NA <0.5	NA <1	NA <1	NA <0.05
BH1 - [LAB_DUP] BH1 - [TRIPLICATE]	0.2-0.4 0.2-0.4	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4	9	64 59	15	6	59 41	<1 NA	NA NA	<25 NA	<50 NA	<100 NA	<100 NA	<0.2 NA	<0.5 NA	<1 NA	<1 NA	<0.05 NA
BH2 BH2	0.2-0.4	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	NA NA	NA	NA	<8	8	56	3	6	11	<1	<0.1 NA	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	<1	<0.05
BH3 BH3	0-0.1 0.2-0.4	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	8.62 8.62	23.2	NA	<4	9	96	29	9	99	<1 <1	<0.1 NA	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH4 BH5	0-0.1	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	<4	12	100	9	9	44	<1	<0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH5 BH6	0.05-0.15	F: Sandy gravel	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA	<4	10	92	4	6	24	<1	<0.1	<25	<50	110	190	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH7 BH7	0.6-0.8	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4	7	47	4	4	8	<1	NA	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH11 BH11	0.05-0.15	F: Sandy gravel F: Silty day	Fine	8.62 NA	NA NA	NA	<4	6	73	4	9	21	<1	<0.1 NA	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH11 BH11	2.3-2.5	Silty sandy clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4	4	53	6	11	32	<1	NA 1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH12 BH12 BH13	0.2-0.3	F: silty sandy clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4	6	58	8	11	23	<1	NA <0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH13 BH13	1.0-1.2	F: silty sandy clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4	4	55	2	8	140	<1	NA 1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH15 BH15	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	Fine	NA 8,62	NA 23.2	NA NA	<4 <4 <4	12	72	24	7	73	<1	<0.1 NA	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH16 BH17	0-0.1	F: Silty day	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4	19	53	17	6	47	<1	<0.1	<25	<50	160	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH18 BH18	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Sandy gravel	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4 <4 <4	17	48	21	12	59	<1	<0.1 NA	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH18 BH18 - [LAB_DUP]	0.1-0.2	F: Sandy gravel	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4	6	19	3	10	11	<1	<0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH19 BH20	0-0.1	F: Silty clay	Fine	8.62 NA	23.2 NA	NA	<4	15	91	33	8	100	<1	<0.1	<25	<50	110	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH20 BH21	0.7-0.9	F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4	5	35	3 28	4	8	<1 <1	NA <0.1	<25 <25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4 4	<0.05
BH22 BH23	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Sandy gravel	Fine	8.62 NA	23.2 NA	NA	<4	20	82	35	8	91	<1	<0.1	<25 <25	<50	140 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH24 BH25	0-0.1	F: Silty sand F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA NA	<4 <4	18 22	58	20	8	67	<1 <1	<0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	160 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH25 BH26	0.7-0.9 0-0.1	Silty sandy day F: Sandy gravel	Fine	8.62 NA	23.2 NA	NA	<4 <4	12	140 16	4	11 2	34	<1 <1	<0.1 <0.1	<25 <25	<50	<100 140	<100 190	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05
BH26 BH26	0.2-0.4	F: Silty day Silty sandy day	Fine	NA 8,62	NA 23.2	NA	<4	11 9	70	21	11 12	94	<1 <1	NA <0.1	<25 <25	<50	<100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4 4	<0.05
BH26 - [LAB DUP] BH27	0.5-0.7	Silty sandy day F: Silty day	Fine	8.62 NA	23.2 NA	NA	<4 <4	8	120	8 21	13	33	<1 <1	<0.1 <0.1	<25 <25	<50	<100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05
BH27 - [LAB_DUP] BH28	0-0.1	F: Silty day	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4	17	46	21 26	6	44	<1 <1	<0.1	<25 <25	<50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH30 BH30	0.0.1	F: Silty clay Silty sandy clay	Fine	8.62 8.62	23.2	NA	6 <4	14 28	130 82	29	7	87	<1 <1	<0.1 NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<0.05
BH31 BH33	0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA NA	NA	<4 <4	15 15	58 45	16 18	8	59 52	<1 <1	<0.1 <0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<0.05 <0.05
SDUP1 SDUP1	BH24 0-0.1 BH24 0-0.1	F: Silty clay F: Silty clay	Fine	NA	NA	NA	<4 <4	26 25	67 64	17	10	95	<1 NA	<0.1	<25 NA	<50 NA	140 NA	<100 NA	<0.2 NA	<0.5 NA	<1 NA	<1 NA	<0.05
SDUP4 SDUP5	BH15 0-0.1 BH3 0-0.1	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	NA 8.62	NA 23.2	NA	<4 <4	12 26	50 100	23	7	57	<1 <1	<0.1 <0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
SDUP5 - [LAB_DUP] SDUP6	BH3 0-0.1 BH17 0-0.1	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	NA	NA	NA NA	NA <4	NA 22	NA 71	NA 39	NA 8	NA 90	<1 <1	NA <0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	110 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4	NA <0.05
SDUP7 BH201	BH22 0-0.1 0-0.2	F: Silty clay F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.62	23.2	NA 26	4	28 19	100	33 24	10	120 84	<1 <1	<0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	<1 <1	<0.05 <0.05
BH201 - [LAB DUP] BH201	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65 8.65	35	26 26	<4 <4	23	110 110	31 19	12	96 56	<1 <1	<0.1 NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	4	<0.05
BH202 BH202	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35 27.67	26 NA	<4 <4	35 27	110 130	18	16 12	61 48	<1 <1	<0.1 NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4	<0.05 <0.05
BH203 BH203	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay Silty Clay	Fine	8.65 7.4	35 27.67	26 NA	<4 <4	29	84 74	32 8	13	89 17	<1 <1	<0.1 NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
BH204 BH204	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65 8.65	35 35	26 26	5 <4	10 9	60 85	18	8	63 21	<1 <1	NA NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	110 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
BH205 BH205 - [LAB DUP]	0-0.2 0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.65 8.65	35 35	26 26	4 <4	10	30 28	15 15	12	40	<1 <1	<0.1 <0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
BH205 BH206	0.8-1 0-0.4	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65 8.65	35 35	26 26	<4	12 21	79 97	12 38	11 12	35	<1 <1	NA <0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
BH207 BH208	0-0.4 0.1-0.3	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.65 8.65	35 35	26 26	<4 <4	22 19	77	35 11	9	120 33	<1 <1	<0.1 NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
BH208 BH209	0.7-1 0-0.3	Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Clay	Fine	7.4 8.65	27.67 35	NA 26	<4 6	17 16	87 67	6 34	8 13	19 150	<1 <1	NA NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 110	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
BH210 BH210	0.1-0.3 1-1.3	F: Silty Clay F: Gravelly Clay	Fine	8.65 8.65	35 35	26 26	<4 <4	3	27 56	12 18	6 10	28 34	<1 <1	<0.1 NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	0.05 <0.05
BH211 BH212	0-0.2 0-0.3	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65 8.65	35 35	26 26	<4 <4	29 9	97 24	23 12	13 3	77	<1 <1	NA <0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
BH212 - [LAB DUP] BH213	0-0.3 0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65 8.65	35 35	26 26	4 <4	9 27	24 140	12 29	4	62 98	<1 <1	<0.1 NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
BH213 BH214	0.4-0.6 0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65 8.65	35 35	26 26	<4 <4	<1 23	9 84	<1 15	<1 11	<1 60	<1 <1	NA NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
BH215 BH215	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26 26	4 <4	10	34	19 <1	9 <1	56 2	<1 <1	<0.1 NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4	<0.05
BH216 BH216	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35 27.67	Z6 NA	<4 <4	18	110 98	13	10	53	<1 <1	NA NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05
BH217 BH217	0.1-0.3	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	12 <4	3 <1	44	16 <1	19 <1	39	<1 <1	NA NA	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05
BH218 BH219	0-0.2	F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	<4	27	120	15 41	13	54	<1 <1	<0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
BH219 - [LAB_DUP] BH219 BH220	0-0.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	<4	5	40	3	4	16	<1 <1	NA <0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH220 BH221 BH221 - [LAB_D10]	0-0.2	F: Sandy silty clay F: Sandy silty clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	<4 <4	15	57	21 21 25	12	65	<1 <1	<0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	0 0	<0.05
BH221 - [LAB_DUP] BH221	0.4-0.55	F: Sandy Silty Clay F: Silty clay	Fine	8.65	35	26	<4	20	93	25	12	160	<1 <1	NA <0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH222 BH223	0-0.1	F: Silty day F: Silty day	Fine	8.65 8.65	35	26	<4	17	60 76	37 19 20	7	100	<1 <1	NA NA	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4	<0.05
BH223 BH223	1.0-1.2	F: sity day F: clayey sand	Coarse	NA	NA NA	NA	<4	10	73	20	11	32	<1 <1	NA	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	0 0	<0.05
BH224 BH224	0-0.1	F: sandy gravel F: gravelly clay	Fine	NA 8.65	NA 35	NA 26	7	14	22	10	13	47	<1 <1	NA	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4 4	<0.05
S DUP 1	BH205 0-0.1	Sandy silty clay Fill	Fine	8.65	35	NA 26	<4 5	11	32	14	12	49	<1 <1	<0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4 4	<0.05
S DUP 2 S DUP 3	BH201 0-0.1 BH202 0-0.1	Fill	Fine	8.65	35	26	<4 <4	22	110	30 13	11	79 52	<1 <1	<0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100 <100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	4 4	<0.05
S DUP 4 S DUP 5	BH203 0-0.1 BH219 0-0.1	Fill	Fine	8.65	35	26	<4	27	97	28	13	77	<1 <1	<0.1	<25	<50	<100	<100	<0.2	<0.5	<1	0 0	<0.05
S DUP 6 SDUP201	BH215 0-0.1 BH222 0-0.2	Fill	Fine	8.65 8.65	35	26	<4 <4	10 21	33 95	17 16	7	53 56	<1 <1	<0.1 <0.1	<25 <25	<50 <50	<100 <100	<100 <100	<0.2 <0.2	<0.5 <0.5	<1 <1	4 4	<0.05 <0.05
al Number of Samples				52 8.65	52	47	50	50	50	50	50	50	50 < P.04	26	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50
managed Mature				6.00	35	20	12	35	140	44	13	190	<pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pul< td=""><td>110</td><td><pul< td=""><td>erup</td><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>ergi</td><td>0.05</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pul<></td></pul<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	<pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pul< td=""><td>110</td><td><pul< td=""><td>erup</td><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>ergi</td><td>0.05</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pul<></td></pul<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	<pql< td=""><td><pul< td=""><td>110</td><td><pul< td=""><td>erup</td><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>ergi</td><td>0.05</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pul<></td></pul<></td></pql<>	<pul< td=""><td>110</td><td><pul< td=""><td>erup</td><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>ergi</td><td>0.05</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pul<></td></pul<>	110	<pul< td=""><td>erup</td><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>ergi</td><td>0.05</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pul<>	erup	<pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>ergi</td><td>0.05</td></pql<></td></pql<>	<pql< td=""><td>ergi</td><td>0.05</td></pql<>	ergi	0.05

TABLE 56 SOIL LABORATORY RESULTS COMPARED TO NEPM 2013 EILs AND ESLs All data in mg/kg unless stated otherwise



TABLE S7

SOIL LABORATORY RESULTS COMPARED TO WASTE CLASSIFICATION GUIDELINES All data in mg/kg unless stated otherwise

OC/OP PESTICIDES HEAVY METALS TRH BTEX COMPOUNDS PAHs Tota ASBESTOS FIBRES Total B(a)P Total Chloropyrifos Total Moderately Total PCBs C6-C9 C10-C14 C₁₅-C₂₈ C29-C36 Total Ethyl Total Toluene Copper Lead Nickel Zinc Arsenic Cadmium Chromiun Mercury Harmful PAHs chedul C₁₀-C₃₆ Xylene 0.1 - Envirolab Service 0.4 0. 0.1 100 neral Solid Waste CT1 100 200 10,000 288 20 100 NSL 100 40 NSL 0.8 60 250 50 50 650 NSL 10 600 1,000 1900 400 1500 400 518 1,152 1,080 2,400 1,800 4,000 neral Solid Waste SCC1 500 100 80 NSL NSL 50 16 1050 160 NSL NSL 200 800 10 3.2 108 240 250 1000 50 50 50 50 650 NSL NSL 10,000 18 40 7.5 400 2600 40,000 stricted Solid Waste CT2 16 estricted Solid Waste SCC 2000 400 7600 NSL 6000 200 4200 NSL 800 23 432 1000 50 2600 NSL 40,000 72 2,073 4,320 7,200 50 Sample Reference Sample Depth Sample Description <0.05 NA <0.05 <0.05 NA
 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.

 0.4.
 24 22 <0.05 <0.05 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 <0.1 NA <0.1 NA
 100

 NA

 (100

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)

 (100)
 <0.5 NA <1 NA BH1 - [LAB_DUP] BH1 - [TRIPLICATE] 14 14 12 9 8 99 100 100 64 59 52 160 100 73 59 41 <0.1 NA NA NA <0.1 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 <0.1 <25 NA <1000
 NA
 <1000
 <10 <50</p>
NA
<50</p>
<50</p> <0.2
 NA
 <0.2
 < 0-0.1 0-0.1 0.2-0.4 0.2-0.4 0-0.1 0.2-0.4 0-0.1 0.2-0.4 F: Silty clay <0.1 NA NA NA <S0</p>
NA
<S0</p>

< <1 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA <25 <25 NA <0.5 <0.5 NA <1 <1 NA <1 <1 NA 17 <0.05
 NA

 NA

 NA

 NA

 NA

 NA

 NA

 NA

 C0.1

 NA

 C0.1

 NA

 C0.1

 C0.1

 NA

 C0.1

 NA - [LAB_DUP] - [TRIPLICATE] 15 12 <0.05 NA NA <0.05</td><0.05</td><0.05</td><0.05</td> NA Not Detected NA Not Detected NA 18

 245

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 225

 2 <1 <1 <1 12 < 0.05 <0.1 <0.1
 NA
 <0.1
 NA
 <0.1
 <0.1 <0.1 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 <0.1 NA c0.5 c
 c0.5 c

 <1</td>
 <td <0.05 <0.05 NA <0.1 NA 8 21 9 22 12 11 99 49 76 44 3 29 10 10 9 < 0.05 BH3 BH4 BH5 BH5 BH6 BH7 BH7 12 24 9 17 Not Detected Not Detected 0-0.1 0-0.1 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.1 <0.1 0.8-1.0 10 52 24 74 < 0.05 < 0.05 NA NA <1 NA 20 10 20 7 8 0.05-0.15 0-0.1 0.6-0.8 Not Detected <0.1 <0.1 NA 0.1 <0.05 <0.05 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <1 <1 18 <0.05 <0.05 Not Detected Not Detected NA Not Detected Not Detected Not Detected NA Detected Not Detected NA BH7 BH11 BH11 BH11 BH12 BH12 BH13 BH13 BH13 BH13 BH14 BH15 BH16 BH15 BH16 BH17 BH16 BH17 BH18 BH18 BH18 BH18 BH18 BH18 BH20 D < 0.05 NA NA <1 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 33 21 26 32 69 23 140 12 36 73 150 47 88 59 20 0.05-0.15 0.7-0.9 1.3-1.5 2.3-2.5 0-0.1 0.2-0.3 0-0.1 0-0.1 0-0.1 0.4-0.6 0-0.1 0.4-0.6 0-0.1 0.4-0.6 0.1 0.1-0.2 0.1-0.2 0.1-0.2 0.1-0.2 0.1-0.2 0.1-0.2 0.0-1 0-0.1 0-<0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.1 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 NA 6 20 <0.1 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 NA <1 Silty sandy clay 11 12 11 11 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 4 16 6 21 F: Silty clay F: silty sandy clay F: Silty sandy clay F: Silty clay 8 54 14 Not Detected NA Not Detected NA Not Detected Not Detected Not Detected NA F: silty sandy class F: Silty clay F: Sindy gravel F: Sandy gravel F: Sandy gravel F: Sinty clay F: Silty clay F: Sindy gravel F: Sandy gravel F: Sindy gravel F: Sandy gravel F: Sindy gravel F: Sindy gravel F: Sindy gravel F: Sandy
 19

 12

 15

 19

 21

 15

 19

 21

 17

 6

 5

 15

 12

 5

 12

 5

 12

 5

 13

 18

 20

 13

 18

 20

 13

 18

 20

 13

 18

 20

 13

 18

 22

 5

 13

 18

 21

 5

 11

 9

 8

 17

 19

 14

 28

 12

 26

 25

 12

 26

 27

 28

</tabr> 12 15 24 66 17 38 , 11 6 21 12 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 10 11 < 0.05 < 0.05 Not Detected <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 NA Not Detected 33 21 3 100 <0.1 NA <0.1 <0.1 NA <0.1 3H20 73 8 < 0.05 < 0.05 Not Detected BH20 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 NA <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 Not Detected Not Detected 3H21 28 79 91 42 67 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 3H22 < 0.05 < 0.05 <0.1 Not Detected 35 8 20 33 4 3 NA 21 7 8 3H23 0-0.1 0-0.1 13 8 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.1 <0.1 Not Detected Not Detected 3H24 3H25 0-0.1 < 0.05 < 0.05 <0.1 < 0.1 <0.1 Not Detected 8 11 2 NA 11 12 13 89 34 24 NA 94 35 33 48 44 67 87 49 59 52 95 90 57 140 NA 90 <0.1 <0.1 NA NA <0.1 <0.1 NA NA 3H25 0.7-0.9 0-0.1 <0.05 0.2 NA <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.1 **0.2** Not Detected Not Detected c0.2
 <li H26 3H26-FCF1-Surface Surface 0.2-0.4 NA <0.05 NA NA <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 Not Detected <1 F: Silty clay Not Detected H26 BH26 BH26 - [LAB_DUP] BH27 BH27 - [LAB_DUP] BH28 0.5-0.7 0.5-0.7 0-0.1 0-0.1 0-0.1 0-0.1 0-0.1 0-0.1 BH24 0-0.1 BH24 0-0.1 BH24 0-0.1 BH3 0-0.1 BH3 0-0.1 NA NA Not Detected Silty sandy clay Silty sandy clay <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 21 21 26 29 6 16 F: Silty clay Not Detected NA Not Detected NA Not Detected NA Not Detected NA NA F: Silty clay <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 NA F: Silty clay F: Silty clay F: Silty clay Silty sandy cla F: Silty clay / 19 8 9 45 67 64 50 100 NA 71 100 18 17 18 23 23 NA 39 33 10 11 <0.03 <0.05 <0.05 NA <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 NA <0.1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 NA 10 NA 8 NA NA NA [LAB_DUP] <0.1 BH17 0-0.1 <0.05 < 0.1 120 <0.05 <0.05 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 BH22 0-0.3 0-0.2 NA NA <4 100 0.1 <0.1 19 24 11 84 < 0.5 F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay <1
<p><1</p>
<1</p>
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1
×1 1201 - [LAB_DUP] <0.05 <0.05 NA <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.4 NA <0.4 <0.4 <0.4 110 NA 110 31 NA 19 18 <0.1 NA <0.1 **0.1** <0.1 NA NA <0.1 NA NA <0.1 NA NA <0.1 NA NA <0.5 NA <0.5 <0.5 <0.5 0-0.2 96 NA 56 61 48 89 17 63 21 40 38 35 180 120 33 19 <0.05 NA
 c1000

 NA

 <1000</td>

 c100

 NA

 <100</td>

 <100</td>
 </ NA <4</p>
NA
<4</p>
<4< 12 NA 13 16 12 13 8 8 14 12 13 11 12 0 <50</p>
NA
S0
<50</p>
<50</p>
 <500</td>

 <500</td>
 <1 NA <1 <1 0.4-0.6 Not Detected NA 120 < 0.05 0.8-1 < 0.05 Not Detected H202 0-0.2 1-1.2 <0.1 NA < 0.1 <0.1 NA CO.1
NA
CO.1
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
NA
CO.1
NA
NA
CO.1
NA
NA</p 110 130 84 74 60 85 30 28 79 97 71 87 67 27 NA 56 97 24 24 140 9 84 34 2 Silty Sandy Clay Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay Silty Clay F: Silty Clay 1202 5 32 $\begin{array}{c} < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\ < 0.1 \\$ < 0.05 NA <1 NA NA Not Detected NA Not Detected <0.05 <0.05 **0.5** <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 H203 0-0.2 0.8-1 0-0.2 1.7-1.8 0-0.2 0-0.2 0.8-1 0-0.4 0-0.4 0.1-0.3 0.7-1 0-0.3 0.7-1 1-1.3 0-0.2 c0.5
 <lp>c0.5
 <lp>c0.5
 c0 <0.1 NA NA <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 NA NA NA <0.1 NA NA <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 NA NA NA 1203 8 18 Not Detected NA Not Detected NA Not Detected Not Detected NA F: Silty Sandy Clay <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 **1.4** NA **1.9** <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 **0.05 NA** <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 4 15 12 38 35 11 F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay - [LAB_DUP] F: Sitly Clay F: Sitly Sandy Clay 13 6 NA 150 28 NA 34 77 57 62 98 <1 60 56 2 34 12 NA 18 23 12 12 29 <1 <0.1 NA <0.1 NA NA NA <0.1 10 13 3 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 NA NA 4210
 <0.4</td>

 <0.4</td>
 0-0.3 <0.1 <0.1 3H217 <0.1 NA NA NA BH212 - [LAB_DUP] 0-0.3 < 0.05 < 0.05 NA 13 <1 11 9 BH213 0-0.2 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 NA NA Not Detected BH213 0.4-0.6 NA 0-0.2 0-0.2 0.4-0.6 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 Not Detected Not Detected NA < 0.05 NA 3H214 15 19 <1 13 14 16 <1 15 41 44 3 21 21 25 28 37 19 20 2 2 <0.1 NA NA NA <0.05 <0.05 <0.1 NA 1215 9
<1
10
11
19
<1
13
10
10
10
4</pre> H215 <0.05 <0.05 **1.7** <0.2 <0.2 Not Detected H216 0-0.2 1.1-1.3 110 < 0.05 NA <1 53 44 39 2 54 Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Clay F: Silty Clay H216 98 44 4 120 < 0.05 NA <1 NA 0.05 <0.05 <0.05 3H217 0.1-0.3 NA NA NA NA Not Detected <0.2
 <li H217 0.7-1 0-0.2 <0.05 **0.6** NA Not Detected H218 F: Silty Clay <0.1 <0.1 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 Not Detected NA NA H219 H219 - [LAB_DUP] 0-0.2 0-0.2 1.1-1.3 0-0.2 0-0.1 0-0.1 0.4-0.5 0-0.1 0-0.1 0.3-0.4 1.0-1.2 0-0.1 F: Silty Sandy Cla 110 100 40 57 57 40 93 84 100 110 16 68 65 160 120 100 81 32 47 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 NA <0.1 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 NA <0.1 NA NA NA <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 NA <0.1 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay F: Silty Sandy Clay 1219 Not Detected NA NA 122 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <1 <1 <1 <1 12 12 12 12 12 F: Sandy silty clay F: Sandy silty clay [LAB_DUP] Not Detected NA NA 60 76 73 22 27 64 32 110 79 88 97 33 95 Not Detected H223 11 13 17 Not Detected NA NA 1224 10 < 0.05 NA 1224 0.3-0.5 10 14 53 27 <0.05 <0.05 NA NA H224 BH205 0-0.1 BH201 0-0.1 BH202 0-0.1 DUP 5 <4 <4 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 12 49 < 0.05 < 0.05 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 < 0.1 NA 19 30 13 33 28 17 16 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 DUP 2 <0.05 <0.05 < 0.05 < 0.1 NA 11 13 13 10 7 9 79 52 95 77 53 56 <0.1 NA DUP 3 < 0.05 <1 DUP 4 BH203 0-0.3 <4 <4 < 0.05 < 0.05 <0.1 <0.1 NA DUP 5 BH219 0-0.3 < 0.05 < 0.05 <0.1 <0.1 NA OUP 6 BH215 0-0.1 BH222 0-0.2 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.05 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 <0.1 NA NA UP201 NA NA UP201 BH222 0-0.2 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 NA <0.1 NA F-201 SURFACE Total Number of Samples 53 53 53 53 53 26 27 27 27 26 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 53 25 12 140 44 0.2 19 180 1.9 0.05 <PQL <PQI <PQL <PQI <PQI <PQI <PQ <PQL <PQL <PQ <PQ <PQL <PQL <PQI Detected Maximum Value

Concentration above the CT1	VALUE	
Concentration above SCC1	VALUE	
Concentration above the SCC2	VALUE	
Concentration above PQL	Bold	
Note: Total number of samples and maximum values consider only the DSI data a	nd not the P	SI data. In addition, the grey shaded samples are from the PSI 2022

SOIL QA	QC SUMMA	RY																																																														
			TRH C6 - C10	TRH >C10-C16	TRH >C16-C34	TRH >C34-C40	Benzene Toluene	Ethylbenzene	m+p-xylene	o-Xylene	Naphthalene	Acenaphthylene	Acenaph-thene	Fluorene		rrenantmene	Anthracene	Fluoranthene	Pyrene	Benzo(a)anthracene Chrisena	Curysene	Denzo(bj∓K)iiuorantnen Renzo(a)ovrene	Indeno(1,2,3-c.d)pvrene	Dibenzo(a,h)anthra-cen	Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	нсв	alpha- BHC	gamma- BHC	beta- BHC	Heptachlor	delta- BHC	Aldrin	Heptachlor Epoxide	Gamma- Chlordane	alpha- chlordane	Endosulfan I	pp- DDE	Dieldrin	Endrin	pp- DDD	Endosulfan II	pp- UU I	Endrin Aldenyde	Endosuiran Suiphate Mathovvohor	Azinphos-methyl (Guthi	Bromobhos-ethvl	Chlorpyriphos	Chlorpyriphos-methyl	Diazinon	Dichlorvos	Dimethoate	Ethion	Fenitrothion	Malathion	Parathion	Ronnel	Total PCBS	Arsenic	Cadmium	Chromium	Copper	Lead Mercurv	Nickel	Zinc
	PQL Env PQL Env	rolab SYD rolab VIC	25 25	50 50	100 100	100 0 100 0	0.2 0. 0.2 0.	5 1 5 1.0	2	1	0.1	0.1 0.1	1 0.1 1 0.1	1 0.1 1 0.1	1 0 1 0	1 0	0.1 (0.1 (0.1 (0.1 (0.1 0 0.1 0	.1 0.	1 0	.2 0.0	15 0.1 1 0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1	0.1 C	0.1 0 0.1 0	.1 0.	0.1 0.	.1 0. .1 0.	1 0.1 1 0.1	1 0.1	1 0.1 1 0.1	0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1 0.1	0.1	4 (4.0 (0.4 0.4 1	1 1 1.0 1	1 1	1 0. .0 0.	1 1 1 1.0	1 1.0										
Intra laboratory duplicate	BH205 S DUP 1 MEAN RPD %	0-0.2 BH205 0-0.1	<25 <25 nc nc	<50 <50 nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc i nc i	0.2 <0 0.2 <0 nc n nc n	1.5 <1 1.5 <1 c nc c nc	<2 <2 nc nc	<1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0. 1 <0. 2 no	1 <0 1 <0 2 no	1 <1 1 <1 c r	0.1 < 0.1 < nc n	0.1 < 0.1 < nc nc	0.1 < 0.1 < nc	0.1 <1 0.1 <1 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r	0.2 <0. 0.2 <0. nc n nc n	05 <0. 05 <0. c no	1 <0. 1 <0. nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<0.1	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc n	:0.1 < :0.1 < nc i nc i	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 ic ni ic ni	.1 <0 .1 <0 c ni c ni	1 <0.: 1 <0.: c nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 . nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	4 < 5 < 4.5 22%	<0.4 <0.4 nc 1 nc 1	10 3 11 3 .0.5 3 10% 6	30 1 32 1 31 1 6% 2	15 <0 19 <0 17 n 4% n	.1 12 .1 12 c 12 c 0%	40 49 44.5 5 20%																
Intra laboratory duplicate	BH201 S DUP 2 MEAN RPD %	0-0.2 BH201 0-0.1	<25 <25 nc nc	<50 <50 nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc n	0.2 <0 0.2 <0 nc n nc n	1.5 <1 1.5 <1 c nc c nc	<2 <2 nc nc nc	<pre>< <1 < <1 < <1 < nc < nc </pre>	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0. 1 <0. 2 no	1 <0 1 <0 2 no	1 <0 1 <0 c r c r	0.1 < 0.1 < nc n	0.1 < 0.1 < nc nc	0.1 < 0.1 < nc nc	0.1 <1 0.1 <1 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.2 <0. 0.2 <0. nc n nc n	05 <0. 05 <0. c no	1 <0. 1 <0. nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc	<0.1 < (0.1 < nc nc n	0.1 < 0.1 < nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 ic ni ic ni	.1 <0 .1 <0 c ni c ni	1 <0.: 1 <0.: : nc : nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<4 < <4 < nc nc	<0.4 <0.4 nc nc 1	19 10 17 1 18 1 11% 1	00 2 10 3 105 2 10% 2	24 0. 30 <0 27 0.0 2% 67	1 11 .1 11 75 11 % 0%	84 79 81.5 6%																
Intra laboratory duplicate	BH202 S DUP 3 MEAN RPD %	0-0.2 BH202 0-0.1	<25 <25 nc nc	<50 <50 nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc i nc i	0.2 <0 0.2 <0 nc n nc n	1.5 <1 1.5 <1 c nc c nc	< <2 < <2 : nc : nc	<pre>< <1 < <1</pre>	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0. 1 <0. 2 no	1 <0 1 <0 2 no	1.1 <1 1.1 <1 c r	0.1 < 0.1 < nc n	:0.1 < :0.1 < nc nc	0.1 < 0.1 < nc	0.1 <1 0.1 <1 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r	0.2 <0. 0.2 <0. nc n nc n	05 <0. 05 <0. c no	1 <0. 1 <0. nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<0.1	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc n	0.1 < 0.1 < nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 ic ni ic ni	.1 <0 .1 <0 c ni c ni	1 <0.: 1 <0.: : nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<4 < <4 < nc nc	<0.4 <0.4 nc 2 nc 4	35 1.1 22 7 18.5 9 16% 3	10 1/ 79 1 4.5 15 3% 3	18 0. 13 <0 5.5 0.0 2% 67	1 16 .1 13 75 14. % 219	61 52 5 56.5 6 16%																
Intra laboratory duplicate	BH203 S DUP 4 MEAN RPD %	0-0.2 BH203 0-0.1	<25 <25 nc nc	<50 <50 nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc i nc i	0.2 <0 0.2 <0 nc n nc n	1.5 <1 1.5 <1 c nc c nc	<2 <2 nc	<1 <1 nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0. 1 <0. : no	1 <0 1 <0 : no	1 <1 1 <1 c r c r	0.1 < 0.1 < nc in	<0.1 < :0.1 < nc nc	0.1 < 0.1 < nc	0.1 <1 0.1 <1 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r	0.2 <0. 0.2 <0. nc n nc n	05 <0. 05 <0. c no	1 <0. 1 <0. nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<0.1	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc n	:0.1 < :0.1 < nc i nc i	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 ic ni ic ni	.1 <0 .1 <0 c ni c ni	1 <0.: 1 <0.: : nc : nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<4 < <4 < nc nc	<0.4 <0.4 nc 3 nc 1	29 8 32 8 10.5 8 10% 5	34 3 38 3 86 37 5% 3	2 <0 3 <0 2.5 n % n	.1 13 .1 13 c 13 c 0%	89 95 92 5 7%																
Intra laboratory duplicate	BH219 S DUP 5 MEAN RPD %	0-0.2 BH219 0-0.1	<25 <25 nc nc	<50 <50 nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc i nc i	0.2 <0 0.2 <0 nc n nc n	1.5 <1 1.5 <1 c nc c nc	<2 <2 nc nc	<1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0. 1 <0. : no	1 <0 1 <0 : no : no	1 <1 1 <1 c r c r	0.1 < 0.1 < nc i	<pre><0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc nc</pre>	0.1 < 0.1 < nc	0.1 <1 0.1 <1 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r	0.2 <0. 0.2 <0. nc n nc n	05 <0. 05 <0. c no c no	1 <0. 1 <0. nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc n	:0.1 < :0.1 < nc i nc i	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 1c ni 1c ni	.1 <0 .1 <0 c ni c ni	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 c nc c nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<4 < <4 < nc nc	<0.4 <0.4 nc nc	27 11 27 9 27 10 0% 1	10 4 37 2 33.5 34 3% 3	41 0. 28 <0 4.5 0.0 8% 67	1 10 .1 10 75 10 % 0%	100 77 88.5 5 26%																
Intra laboratory duplicate	BH215 S DUP 6 MEAN RPD %	0-0.2 BH215 0-0.1	<25 <25 nc nc	<50 <50 nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc i nc i	0.2 <0 0.2 <0 nc n nc n	1.5 <1 1.5 <1 c nc c nc	<2 <2 nc nc	<1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0. 1 <0. : no	1 <0 1 <0 : no	1 <1 1 <1 c r c r	0.1 < 0.1 < nc i	<0.1 < (0.1 < nc nc	0.1 < 0.1 < nc	0.1 <1 0.1 <1 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r	0.2 <0. 0.2 <0. nc n nc n	05 <0. 05 <0. c no	1 <0. 1 <0. nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<0.1	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc n	:0.1 < :0.1 < nc i nc i	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 ic ni ic ni	.1 <0 .1 <0 c ni c ni	1 <0.: 1 <0.: : nc : nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	4 < <4 < 3 57%	<0.4 <0.4 nc nc (10 3 10 3 10 3 0% 3	34 1 33 1 3.5 1 3% 1	19 <0 17 <0 18 n 1% n	.1 9 .1 7 c 8 c 259	56 53 54.5 % 6%																
Inter laboratory duplicate	BH222 SDUP201 MEAN RPD %	0-0.1 BH222 0-0.2	<25 <25 nc nc	<50 <50 nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc nc	<100 < <100 < nc i nc i	0.2 <0 0.2 <0 nc n nc n	1.5 <1 1.5 <1 c nc c nc	< <2 < <2 nc nc	<1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <1 <	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0. 1 <0. 2 no	1 <0 1 <0 2 no	1 <1 1 <1 c r c r	0.1 < 0.1 < nc i	<0.1 < :0.1 < nc nc	0.1 < 0.1 < nc	0.1 <1 0.1 <1 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r	0.2 <0. 0.2 <0. nc n nc n	05 <0. 05 <0. c no c no	1 <0. 1 <0. nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<0.1	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc nc	<0.1 < <0.1 < nc inc inc inc inc inc inc inc inc inc i	0.1 < 0.1 < nc i nc i	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc r nc r	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 nc n nc n	0.1 <0 0.1 <0 ic ni ic ni	.1 <0 .1 <0 c ni c ni	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 c nc c nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	1 <0.1 1 <0.1 nc nc	<0.1 <0.1 nc nc	<4 < <4 < nc nc	<0.4 <0.4 nc 2 nc 2	26 8 21 9 3.5 8 21% 1	34 3 35 1 9.5 2f	87 0. 16 <0 5.5 0.1 9% 120	2 12 .1 9 25 10. 0% 299	120 56 5 88 % 73%																
Field Blank	TB1 31/07/23	- 02/08/23	<25	<50	<100	<100 <	0.2 <0	.5 <1	. <2	<1	<0.1	1 <0.1	1 <0.	1 <0	.1 <	0.1 <	:0.1 <	0.1 <	0.1 <	0.1 <0	0.1 <	0.2 <0.	05 <0.	1 <0.	1 <0.1	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA M	IA N	NA N	IA N	A N	A N	A NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	<4 <	<0.4	11	3 1	2 <0	.1 <1	2											
Field Blank	TB-201 14/08/23	-	<25	<50	<100	<100 <	0.2 <0	.5 <1	. <2	<1	<0.1	1 <0.1	1 <0.	1 <0	.1 <	0.1 <	:0.1 <	0.1 <	0.1 <	0.1 <0	0.1 <	0.2 <0.	05 <0.	1 <0.	1 <0.1	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA M	IA N	NA N	IA N	A N/	A N	A NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	<4 <	<0.4	3 <	1	3 <0	.1 <1	3											
Field Rinsate	FR1-HA 2/08/23	μg/L	69	<50	<50	<100	<1 <	1 <1	<2	<1	<0.2	2 <0.1	1 <0.	1 <0	.1 <	0.1 <	:0.1 <	0.1 <	0.1 <	0.1 <0	0.1 <	0.2 <0	.1 <0.	1 <0.	1 <0.1	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA M	IA N	NA N	IA N	A N	A N/	A NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA <	0.05 <	0.01 <).01 0	1 <mark>.8</mark> <0.	.03 <0.0	005 <0.0	2 <0.02											
Trip Spike	TS-S201 14/08/23		•	-	•	- 9	7% 97	% 97%	% 97%	% 969	6 -	-	-	-		-	-	-	-		-		-	-	•	-	-	-	•	-			-	-	•			•	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	•	•	-	-	-		-	-	-				-	-
	Result ou	side of QA/QC ad	cceptance o	criteria																																																					Rin	nsate me	etals resu	Its in mg/	/L			

TABLE Q1



Detailed Site Investigation (DSI) 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW E34300PT2



ABBREVIATIONS AND EXPLANATIONS

Abbreviations used in the Tables:

ADWG:	AustralianDrinking Water Guidelines
ANZG	Australian and New Zealand Guidelines
B(a)P:	Benzo(a)pyrene
CRC:	Cooperative Research Centre
ESLs:	Ecological Screening Levels
GIL:	Groundwater Investigation Levels
HILs:	Health Investigation Levels
HSLs:	Health Screening Levels
HSL-SSA:	Health Screening Level-SiteSpecific Assessment
NA:	Not Analysed
NC:	Not Calculated
NEPM:	National Environmental Protection Measure
NHMRC:	National Health and Medical Research Council
NL:	Not Limiting
NSL:	No Set Limit
OCP:	Organochlorine Pesticides
OPP:	Organophosphorus Pesticides
PAHs:	Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons
ppm:	Parts per million

- **PCBs:** Polychlorinated Biphenyls
- **PCE:** Perchloroethylene (Tetrachloroethylene or Tetrachloroethene)
- **PQL:** Practical Quantitation Limit
- RS: Rinsate Sample
- **RSL:** Regional Screening Levels
- **SAC:** Site Assessment Criteria
- **SSA:** Site Specific Assessment
- SSHSLs Site Specific Health Screening Levels
- TB: Trip Blank
- TCA: 1,1,1 Trichloroethane (methyl chloroform)
- **TCE:** Trichloroethylene (Trichloroethene)
- TS: Trip Spike
- TRH: Total Recoverable Hydrocarbons
- UCL: Upper Level Confidence Limit on Mean Value
- **USEPA** United States Environmental Protection Agency
- **VOCC:** Volatile Organic Chlorinated Compounds
- WHO: World Health Organisation



TABLE G1

SUMMARY OF GROUNDWATER LABORATORY RESULTS COMPARED TO ECOLOGICAL GILS SAC

All results in $\mu g/L$ unless stated otherwise.

	PQL	ANZG			PSI SAMPLES						DSI SA	AMPLES			
	Envirolab Services	2018 Marine Waters	MW4	MW4 LAB DUP	MW5	WDUP1 MW4	WDUP2 MW5	MW4	MW4 LAB DUP	MW5	MW204	MW223	MW224	GWDUP201 (MW204)	GWDUP202 (MW4)
Inorganic Compounds and Parameters														, ,,,,,,	
pH Electrical Conductivity (μS/cm)	- 1	7 - 8.5 NSL	7.9 980	NA	7.4 630	NA	NA	6.7 300	NA NA	7.1 720	7.6 560	8.5 600	7.8 1200	NA	NA
Metals and Metalloids												1			
Arsenic (As III) Cadmium	0.1	2.3	2 <0.1	[NT] [NT]	<1 <0.1	2 <0.1	<1	<1 <0.1	<1 <0.1	<1 <0.1	<1 <0.1	1 <0.1	<1 <0.1	<1 <0.1	<1 <0.1
Chromium (SAC for Cr III adopted)	1	27	<1	[NT]	<1	2	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Copper	1	4.4	6 <1	[NT] [NT]	<1	27 1	<1	9 <1	8 <1	1 <1	7	10	3 <1	6 <1	7 <1
Total Mercury (inorganic)	0.05	0.1	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Nickel	1	7	<1	[NT]	<1	4	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	1	<1	<1 E
Zinc Monocyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (BTEX Cou	mpounds)	15	<u>``</u>	[161]	<u></u>		<u>\</u>		7	3	0	,	3	0	
Benzene	1	500	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Ethylbenzene	1	5	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	2	75	<2	NA	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<20	<2	<2	<2
o-xylene Total xylenes	2	NSL	<1	NA NA	<1 <2	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs), including	s chlorinated V	/OCs													
Dichlorodifluoromethane Chloromethane	10	NSL	<10 <10	NA NA	<10 <10	<10 <10	<10 <10	<10 <10	<10	<10 <10	<10 <10	<100 <100	<10 <10	<10 <10	<10 <10
Vinyl Chloride	10	100	<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Bromomethane Chloroethane	10	NSL NSL	<10 <10	NA	<10 <10	<10 <10	<10 <10	<10 <10	<10 <10	<10 <10	<10 <10	<100 <100	<10 <10	<10 <10	<10 <10
Trichlorofluoromethane	10	NSL	<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
1,1-Dichloroethene Trans-1.2-dichloroethene	1	700 NSL	<1 <1	NA	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	<1	<1	<1 <1	<10 <10	<1	<1 <1	<1 <1
1,1-dichloroethane	1	250	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Cis-1,2-dichloroethene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Chloroform	1	370	20	NA	12	14	12	<1	<1	<1	4	12	22	4	<1
2,2-dichloropropane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dichloroethane 1.1.1-trichloroethane	1	1900 270	<1 <1	NA	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	<1 <1	<10 <10	<1 <1	<1	<1
1,1-dichloropropene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Cyclohexane Carbon tetrachloride	1	NSL 240	<1 <1	NA	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	<1	<1	<1 <1	<10 <10	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1
Benzene	- 1	500	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Dibromomethane	1	NSL 900	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Trichloroethene	1	330	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Bromodichloromethane	1	NSL	1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	4	<1	<1
trans-1,3-dichloropropene cis-1,3-dichloropropene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1 <1	<1	<1	<1 <1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1,2-trichloroethane	1	1900	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Toluene 1.3-dichloropropane	1	180 1100	<1 <1	NA	<1 <1	<1	<1	<1 <1	<1	<1	<1	<10 <10	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1
Dibromochloromethane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dibromoethane	1	NSL 70	<1 <1	NA	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	<1	<1	<1	<10 <10	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1
1,1,1,2-tetrachloroethane	- 1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Chlorobenzene	1	55	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Bromoform	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	2	75	<2	NA	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<20	<2	<2	<2
Styrene 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane	1	400	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
o-xylene	1	350	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2,3-trichloropropane Isopropylbenzene	1	30 NSL	<1 <1	NA	<1 <1	<1	<1	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	<1	<10	<1 <1	<1	<1
Bromobenzene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
n-propyl benzene 2-chlorotoluene	1	NSL	<1 <1	NA	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1	<1 <1	<1	<1	<1	<10 <10	<1	<1 <1	<1
4-chlorotoluene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,3,5-trimethyl benzene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2,4-trimethyl benzene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,3-dichlorobenzene	1	260	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,4-dichlorobenzene	1	60	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
4-isopropyl toluene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dichlorobenzene n-butyl benzene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2,4-trichlorobenzene Hexachlorobutadiene	1	20 NSL	<1 <1	NA	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1	<10 <10	<1 <1	<1 <1	<1 <1
1,2,3-trichlorobenzene	1	3	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) Naphthalene	0.2	50	<0.2	NA	<0.2	<0.1	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Acenaphthylene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	0.1	0.6	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	0.1	0.01	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene Benzo(b.i+k)fluoranthene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)pyrene	0.1	0.1	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Concentration above the SAC Concentration above the PQL	Bold	1													
GIL >PQL	Red														
Note: Grey shaded samples indicate groundwa	ter results from	n PSI 2022.													



TABLE G2

SUMMARY OF GROUNDWATER LABORATORY RESULTS COMPARED TO HUMAN CONTACT GILS

All results in µg/L unless stated otherwise.

	PQL	Recreational			PSI SAMPLES			1			DSI SA	MPLES			
	Envirolab	(10 x NHMRC ADWG)	MW4	MW4	MW5	WDUP1	WDUP2	MW4	MW4	MW5	MW204	MW223	MW224	GWDUP201	GWDUP202
	Services	(10 X WINNIC ADWG)		LAB DUP		MW4	MW5		LAB DUP					(MW204)	(MW4)
Inorganic Compounds and Parameters	1														
pH	-	6.5 - 8.5	7.9	NA	7.4	NA	NA	6.7	NA	7.1	7.6	8.5	7.8	NA	NA
Electrical Conductivity (µS/cm)	1	NSL	980	NA	630	NA	NA	300	NA	720	560	600	1200	NA	NA
Arsenic (As III)	1	100	2	[NT]	<1	2	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	1	<1	<1	<1
Cadmium	0.1	20	<0.1	[NT]	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chromium (total)	1	500	<1	[NT]	<1	2	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Copper	1	20000	6	[NT]	<1	27	<1	9	8	1	7	10	3	6	7
Lead	1	100	<1	[NT]	<1	1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Total Mercury (Inorganic)	0.05	10	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Zinc	1	30000	<1	[NT]	<1	21	<1	4	4	3	8	7	9	8	5
Monocyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (BTEX Compou	nds)														
Benzene	1	10	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Toluene	1	8000	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Ethylbenzene	1	3000	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	2	NSL	<2	NA	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<20	<2	<2	<2
o-xylene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) including chlo	2 ripated VOCs	6000	<۷	NA	٤٢	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<20	٢2	<2	<2
Dichlorodifluoromethane	10	NSL	<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Chloromethane	10	NSL	<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Vinyl Chloride	10	3	<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Bromomethane	10	NSL	<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Chloroethane	10	NSL	<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Trichlorofluoromethane	10	NSL	<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
1,1-Dichloroethene	1	300	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Trans-1,2-dichloroethene	1	600	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Cis-1.2-dichloroethene	1	600	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Bromochloromethane	1	000	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Chloroform	1	2500	20	NA	12	14	12	<1	<1	<1	4	12	22	4	<1
2,2-dichloropropane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dichloroethane	1	30	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1,1-trichloroethane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1-dichloropropene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Cyclohexane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Carbon tetrachloride	1	30	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Benzene	1	10	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1.2-dichloropropane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Trichloroethene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Bromodichloromethane	1	NSL	1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	4	<1	<1
trans-1,3-dichloropropene	1	1000	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
cis-1,3-dichloropropene	1	1000	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1,2-trichloroethane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Toluene	1	8000	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,3-dichloropropane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1 2-dibromoethane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Tetrachloroethene	1	500	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1,1,2-tetrachloroethane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Chlorobenzene	1	3000	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Ethylbenzene	1	3000	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Bromoform	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	2	NSL	<2	NA	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<20	<2	<2	<2
Styrene	1	300	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
o-xylene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2,3-trichloropropane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Bromobenzene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
n-propyl benzene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
2-chlorotoluene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
4-chlorotoluene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,3,5-trimethyl benzene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Tert-butyl benzene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2,4-trimethyl benzene	1	NSL 200	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Sec-butyl benzene	1	NSI	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1.4-dichlorobenzene	1	400	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
4-isopropyl toluene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dichlorobenzene	1	15000	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
n-butyl benzene	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane	1	NSL	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2,4-trichlorobenzene	1	300	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2,3-trichlorobenzene	1	_	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Hexachlorobutadiene	1	7	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs)	0.2	NSI	<0.2	NA	<0.2	<0.1	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Acenaphthylene	0.2	NSL	<0.2	NA	<0.2	<0.1	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.1	<0.2
Acenaphthene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)pyrene	0.2	0.1	<0.2	NA	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Indeno(1,2,3-c.d)pyrene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	0.1	NSL	<0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	0.1	NSL	< 0.1	NA	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Concentration above the SAC	VALUE														
Concentration above the PQL	Bold														
GIL >PQL Note: Grou chaded camples indicate groundwater re	Red	2022													
	Sans II UIII PSI	LULL.													

Detailed Site Investigation (DSI) 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW E34300PT2



TABLE G3

GROUNDWATER LABORATORY RESULTS COMPARED TO HSLs All data in µg/L unless stated otherwise

				C ₆ -C ₁₀ (F1)	>C10-C16 (F2)	Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Xylenes	Naphthalene	
PQL - Envirolab Services				10	50	1	1	1	2	1	PID
NEPM 2013 - Land Use Cate	gory				HSL-A/	B: LOW/HI	GH DENSIT	(RESIDENTIAL			
Sample Reference	Water Depth	Depth Category	Soil Category								
MW4	1.5	0m to <2m	Sand	13	210	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	51.6
MW4 - LAB DUP	1.5	0m to <2m	Sand	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
MW5	1.17	0m to <2m	Sand	<10	280	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	11.5
WDUP1 (MW4)	1.5	0m to <2m	Sand	19	360	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	NA
WDUP2 (MW5)	1.17	0m to <2m	Sand	<10	180	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	NA
MW4	1.1	0m to <2m	Sand	<10	<50	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	0.1
MW4 - LAB DUP	1.1	0m to <2m	Sand	<10	<50	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	NA
MW5	2.52	2m to <4m	Sand	<10	<50	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	0.1
MW204	1.86	0m to <2m	Sand	<10	<50	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	0.2
MW223	6.56	4m to <8m	Sand	<100	<50	<10	<10	<10	<2	<10	0.3
MW224*	6.47	2m to <4m	Sand	51	<50	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	1.1
GWDUP201 (MW204)	1.86	0m to <2m	Sand	<10	<50	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	NA
GWDUP202 (MW4)	1.1	0m to <2m	Sand	<10	<50	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	NA
Total Number of Samples				8	8	8	8	8	8	8	5
Maximum Value				51	<pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>1.1</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	<pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>1.1</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	<pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>1.1</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	<pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>1.1</td></pql<></td></pql<></td></pql<>	<pql< td=""><td><pql< td=""><td>1.1</td></pql<></td></pql<>	<pql< td=""><td>1.1</td></pql<>	1.1

Concentration above the SAC Site specific assesment (SSA) required VALUE

Concentration above the PQL

VALUE Bold

The guideline corresponding to the elevated value is highlighted in dark grey in the Groundwater Assessment Criteria Table below

Note: Grey shaded samples indicate groundwater results from PSI 2022. * The soil depth in MW224 is only 2.3mBGL, therefore the depth category of 2m-<4m has been adopted.

Sample Reference	Water Depth	Depth Category	Soil Category	C ₆ -C ₁₀ (F1)	>C ₁₀ -C ₁₆ (F2)	Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	Xylenes	Naphthalene
MW4	1.5	0m to <2m	Sand	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA
MW4 - LAB DUP	1.5	0m to <2m	Sand	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
MW5	1.17	0m to <2m	Sand	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA
WDUP1	1.5	0m to <2m	Sand	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA
WDUP2	1.17	0m to <2m	Sand	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA
MW4	1.1	0m to <2m	Sand	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA
MW4 - LAB DUP	1.1	0m to <2m	Sand	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA
MW5	2.52	2m to <4m	Sand	1000	1000	800	NL	NL	NL	NL
MW204	1.86	0m to <2m	Sand	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA
MW223	6.56	4m to <8m	Sand	1000	1000	800	NL	NL	NL	NL
MW224	6.47	2m to <4m	Sand	1000	1000	800	NL	NL	NL	NL
GWDUP201 (MW204)	1.86	0m to <2m	Sand	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA
GWDUP202 (MW4)	1.1	0m to <2m	Sand	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA	SSA

HSL GROUNDWATER ASSESSMENT CRITERIA



TABLE G4

GROUNDWATER LABORATORY RESULTS COMPARED TO SITE SPECIFIC HSLs - RISK ASSESSMENT

All results in $\mu g/L$ unless stated otherwise.

	PQL	NHMRC	WHO 2008	USEPA RSL			PSI SAMPLES						DSI	SAMPLES			
	Envirolab	ADWG 2011		Tapwater	MW4	MW4	MW5	WDUP1	WDUP2	MW4	MW4	MW5	MW204	MW223	MW224	GWDUP201	GWDUP202
	Services	ADWG 2011		2017		LAB DUP		MW4	MW5		LAB DUP					(MW204)	(MW4)
Total Recoverable Hydrocarbons (TRH)					-												
C ₆ -C ₉ Aliphatics (assessed using F1)	10	-	100	-	13	NA	<10	19	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	51	<10	<10
>C9-C14 Aliphatics (assessed using F2)	50	-	100	-	210	NA	280	360	180	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
Monocyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (BTEX Comp	oounds)													10			
Benzene	1	1	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Toluene	1	800	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Ethylbenzene Tetal valenes	1	300	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs)	2	600			< <u>2</u>	INA	< <u>2</u>	< <u> </u>		×2	< <u>2</u>	×2	< <u>2</u>	< <u>2</u>	< <u>2</u>	N2	< <u> 1</u>
Naphthalene	1	-		6.1	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs), including c	hlorinated VO	Cs	<u>. </u>	0.1	-1								-1	410			
Dichlorodifluoromethane	10	-			<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Chloromethane	10	-	-		<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Vinyl Chloride	10	0.3	-	-	<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Bromomethane	10	-	-		<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Chloroethane	10	-	-		<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
Trichlorofluoromethane	10	-	-	-	<10	NA	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10	<10	<10
1,1-Dichloroethene	1	30	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Trans-1,2-dichloroethene	1	60	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1-dichloroethane	1	-	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Cis-1,2-dichloroethene	1	60	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Bromochloromethane	1	256			<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Chloroform	1	250*	-	-	20	NA	12	14	12	<1	<1	<1	4	12	22	4	<1
Bromodichloromethane	1		-	-	1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	4	<1	<1
2,2-aichloropropane	1	-	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dichloroethane	1	3	-	•	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1,1-trichloropropepe	1	-	-	•	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Cyclobexape	1	-		•	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Carbon tetrachloride	1	3			<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	(1
Benzene	1	1		-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Dibromomethane	1				<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dichloropropane	1	-		-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Trichloroethene	1	-	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
trans-1,3-dichloropropene	1	100	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
cis-1,3-dichloropropene	1	100	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1,2-trichloroethane	1	-	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Toluene	1	800	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,3-dichloropropane	1	-	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Dibromochloromethane	1	-	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dibromoethane	1	-	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Tetrachloroethene	1	50	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1,1,2-tetrachloroethane	1	-	•	•	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Chlorobenzene	1	300	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Ethylbenzene	1	300	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Bromoform	1	-	•		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	2	-	-		<2	NA	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2	<20	<2	<2	<2
Styrene	1	30	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,1,2,2-tetrachioroethane	1	-	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1 2 3-trichloropropage	1				~1	NA	~1	~1	~1	~1	<1	<1	~1	<10	<1	~1	~1
Isopronylbenzene	1	_			<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Bromobenzene	1	_			<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
n-propyl benzene	1	-		-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
2-chlorotoluene	1				<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
4-chlorotoluene	1	-			<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1.3.5-trimethyl benzene	1				<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Tert-butyl benzene	1	-			<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1.2.4-trimethyl benzene	1	-			<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,3-dichlorobenzene	1	20	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Sec-butyl benzene	1	-	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,4-dichlorobenzene	1	40	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
4-isopropyl toluene	1	-	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dichlorobenzene	1	1500	-		<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
n-butyl benzene	1	-	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane	1	-			<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2,4-trichlorobenzene	1	30	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
1,2,3-trichlorobenzene	1	30	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Hexachlorobutadiene	1	0.07	-	-	<1	NA	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1	<1	<1
Concentration above the SAC Concentration above the PQL GIL >PQL	VALUE Bold Red																

Note: Grey shaded samples indicate groundwater results from PSI 2022.

Copyright JK Environments

Detailed Site Investigation (DSI)
85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW
E34300PT2



TABLE Q2

GROUNDWATER QA/QC S	UMMARY																																
		TRH C6 - C10	TRH >C10-C16	TRH >C16-C34	TRH >C34-C40	Benzene	Toluene	Ethylbenzene	m+p-xylene	o-Xylene	Naphthalene	Acenaphthylene	Acenaph-thene	Fluorene	Phenanthrene	Anthracene	Fluoranthene	Pyrene	Benzo(a)anthracene	Chrysene	Benzo(b.j+k)fluoranthene	Benzo(a)pyrene	Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	Dibenzo(a,h)anthra-cene	Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	Arsenic	Cadmium	Chromium VI	Copper	Lead	Mercury	Nickel	Zinc
	PQL Envirolab SYD	10	50	100	100	1	1	1	2	1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	1	0.1	1	1	1	0.05	1	1
	PQL Envirolab VIC	10	50	100	100	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	1	0.1	1	1	1	0.05	1	1
Intra	MW204	<10	<50	<100	<100	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<1	<0.1	<1	7	<1	<0.05	<1	8
laboratory	GWDUP201	<10	<50	<100	<100	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<1	<0.1	<1	6	<1	<0.05	<1	8
duplicate	MEAN	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	6.5	nc	nc	nc	8
	RPD %	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	15%	nc	nc	nc	0%
Intra	MW4	<10	<50	<100	<100	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<1	<0.1	<1	9	<1	<0.05	<1	4
laboratory	GWDUP202	<10	<50	<100	<100	<1	<1	<1	<2	<1	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<1	<0.1	<1	7	<1	< 0.05	<1	5
duplicate	MEAN	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	8	nc	nc	nc	4.5
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	RPD %	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	25%	nc	nc	nc	22%
Field	TP W/201	<10	<50	<100	<100	~1	-1	~1	-2	~1	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	~1	<0.1	-1	-1	-1	<0.05		-1
Blank	17/08/2023	<10	<50	<100	<100	~1	~1	~1	~2	~1	\U.2	\U.1	\U.1	\0.1	\U.1	\U.1	\0.1	\0.1	\0.1	\U.1	\U.2	\U.1	\U.1	\U.1	\U.1	~1	<0.1			~1	<0.05		
Trip	TS-W201	-	-	-	-	104%	103%	102%	98%	102%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Spike	17/08/2023																																
	Result outside of QA/	QC acc	eptance	criteria			Value																										

Copyright JK Environments



Appendix C: Borehole Logs





BOREHOLE LOG

Borehole No. 4 1 / 2

EASTING: 305534.879 NORTHING: 6181919.422

Client: HEALTH INFRASTRUCTURE											
Project:	PROPOS	ED C	OMMU	NITY	HEALTH CENTRE						
Location:	PORT KE	EMBL	A HOSI	PITAL,	WARRAWONG, NSW						
Job No.: 34	300LX2			Me	thod: SPIRAL AUGER	R.	R.L. Surface: 26.91 m				
Date: 27/9/2	22					Da	atum:	AHD			
Plant Type:	JK308			Log	gged/Checked By: Q.V./R.R.						
Groundwater Record DB DS DS Sandwater Sandwater DS DS DS DS Sandwater	Field Tests RL (m AHD)	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa)	Remarks		
DRY ON MPLETION AUGERING					FILL: Silty clay, medium to high plasticity, dark grey, with fine to medium grained sandstone and latite gravel, trace of root fibres.	w>PL			_ GRASS COVER		
0. ²	26		>> >> >>	-	LATITE: fine to medium grained, light grey, dark grey, green grey and orange brown.	MVV	М		- DAPTO LATITE		
	20	1- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -			REFER TO CORED BOREHOLE LOG				HIGH RESISTANCE GROUNDWATER MONITORING WELL INSTALLED TO 6.1m. CLASS 18 MACHINE CLASS 18 MACHINE SLOTTED 50mm DIA. PVC STANDPIPE 1.0m TO 6.1m. CASING 0.05m TO 1.0m. 2mm SAND FILTER PACK 1.2m TO 6.1m. BENTONITE SEAL 0.8m		
	24	- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	-						TO 1.2m. BACKFILLED WITH SAND TO THE SURFACE. COMPLETED WITH A CONCRETED GATIC COVER.		
,	23	- - - - - - - - -	-								
	22	- - - - - -	-						- - - - - - - - - - - -		
	21		-								
	20	-							-		

JKGeotechnics

CORED BOREHOLE LOG

Borehole No. 4 2 / 2

EASTING: 305534.879 NORTHING: 6181919.422

0	Clie	nt:	HEALTH INFRASTRUCTURE												
F	Proj	ect:		PROPO	DSED COMMUNITY HEALTH	CENTRE									
I	-00	ation	:	PORT	KEMBLA HOSPITAL, WARRA	WONG, NSW									
	Job	No.:	343	300LX2	Core Size:	NMLC R.L. Surface: 26.91 m									
1	Date	e: 27/	9/22	2	Inclination:	VER	TIC	AL.	D	atum: AHD					
F	Plar	t Typ	e:	JK308	Bearing: N/	J/A Logged/Checked By: Q.V./R.R.									
				D	CORE DESCRIPTION			POINT LOAD STRENGTH	CDACING	DEFECT DETAILS	_				
Nater	Loss Level Barrel Lift	RL (m AHD	Depth (m)	Graphic Lo	Rock Type, grain characteristics, colour, texture and fabric, features, inclusions and minor components 22 IN Image: state stat					Type, orientation, defect shape and roughness, defect coatings and seams, openness and thickness Specific Ceneral					
		-		-		-				-					
				-	START CORING AT 0.94m					- - - - - - -					
			1-	-	NO CORE 0.33m					-					
1K 9.02.4 2019-05-31 Prj. JR 9.01.0 2018-03-20 70%	RETURN	- - 25 - -	2-	>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	LATITE: fine grained, dark grey, speckled light grey and green grey. Joint spacing generally >0.6m below 2.5m.	SW	VH								
	RETURN		3- 4- 5-	>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>		FR		49. 6.5 6.1							
		-	6-							(6.05m) Jx2, 60°, P, R, Cn					
		20-			END OF BOREHOLE AT 6.16 M										



BOREHOLE LOG

Borehole No. 5 1 / 2

EASTING: 305507.874 NORTHING: 6181951.763

Client: HEALTH INFRASTRUCTURE									RE							
	Pr	oje	ct:	PROP	OSE	DC	OMMU	NITY	HEALTH CENTRE							
	Lo	oca	tion:	PORT	KEN	/BL/	A HOSI	PITAL	, WARRAWONG, NSW	۷						
	Jo	b N	lo.: 3	34300LX	2			Me	thod: SPIRAL AUGER	R.L. Surface: 28.49 m						
	Da	ate:	27/9	/22						Da	atum:	AHD				
	Pla	ant	Туре	: JK308	5			Lo	gged/Checked By: Q.V./R.R.							
Groundwater	Record	SAM		Field Tests	RL (m AHD)	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa)	Remarks			
LIB: JK 9.02.4 2019-05-31 Pg: JK 9.01.0 2018-03-20	OF AUGERING			N = 4 2,2,2 N = 8 2,3,5	- 28 - 27 	1			 FILL: Silty clay, medium plasticity, dark grey and dark brown, with fine to medium grained sand and fine to medium grained igneous and sandstone gravel, trace of brick fragments, ash and root fibres. FILL: Silty clay, medium to high plasticity, dark brown, brown and dark grey, with fine to medium grained sand and fine to medium grained sandstone gravel, trace of root fibres. 	w~PL w>PL		210 210 220	GRASS COVER SAMPLE TOO FRIABLE FOR HP			
01.00.01 Datgel Lab and In Situ Tool - DGD					26	3-		-	LATITE: fine to medium grained, dark grey, light grey, green grey and red brown, with occasional clay bands.	HW	L - M		DAPTO LATITE LOW TO MODERATE 'TC' BIT RESISTANCE HIGH RESISTANCE			
X 9.024 LIBGLB Log JK AUGERHOLE - MASTER 34300LX2 PORTKEMBLAHOSPITAL GPU <<0Rawngrae> vz1172/22 72:v4 10.					24-	4			REFER TO CORED BOREHOLE LOG				'TC' BIT REFUSAL GROUNDWATER MONITORING WELL INSTALLED TO 8.15m. CLASS 18 MACHINE SLOTTED 50mm DIA. PVC STANDPIPE 3m TO 8.15m. CASING 0.05m TO 3m. 2mm SAND FILTER PACK 3.2m TO 8.15m. BENTONITE SEAL 2.5m TO 3.2m. BACKFILLED WITH SAND TO THE SURFACE. COMPLETED WITH A CONCRETED GATIC COVER.			



CORED BOREHOLE LOG

Borehole No. 5 2 / 2

EASTING: 305507.874 NORTHING: 6181951.763

	Clie	ent:		HEALT	H INFRASTRUCTURE								
	Pro	ject:		PROP	OSED COMMUNITY HEALTH	CEN	TRE						
1	Loc	cation	:	PORT	KEMBLA HOSPITAL, WARRA	WO	NG, N	NSW					
Γ,	Jok	No.:	343	300LX2	Core Size:	NML	С		R.L. Surface: 28.49 m				
1	Dat	: e: 27/	9/22	2	Inclination:	VER	D	atum: AHD					
	Pla	nt Typ	be:	JK308	Bearing: N/	Ά	Logged/Checked By: Q.V./R.R.						
					CORE DESCRIPTION			POINT LOAD	D	DEFECT DETAILS			
Water	Loss/Level	RL (m AHD)	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Rock Type, grain characteristics, colour, texture and fabric, features, inclusions and minor components	Weathering	Strength	INDEX	SPACING (mm)	DESCRIPTION Type, orientation, defect shape and roughness, defect coatings and seams, openness and thickness Specific General	Formation		
20%	RETURN	25 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	4		START CORING AT 3.60m LATITE: fine grained, dark grey, light grey and green grey. Non-intact below 4.4m.	SW	VH		1 0 0 0 1 1 1 1	Specific General - - -			
100%	RETURN	- 22	7-		LATITE: fine grained, dark grey, speckled light grey and green grey.	FR	VH						
		20 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	9-		END OF BOREHOLE AT 8.15 m								

Log No. BH201

> 1/1 SDUP2: 0-0.1m

Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes



Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes

Log No. BH202

1/1

SDUP3: 0-0.1m

Client: Project: Location:	HEALTH I PROPOSI 85-91 CO ^V	NFRAS ED NEV WPER S	TRUCTURE / WARRAWONG COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTRE STREET, WARRAWONG, NSW					
Job No.: E3 Date: 1/8/23 Plant Type:	34300PT2 3 EXCAVATO)R	Meth Logg	od: 300mm PENDULUM AU	R.L. Surface: N/A Datum: -			
Groundwater Record <u>ASS</u> ANPLES	Field Tests Depth (m)	Graphic Log	nified lassification DESCLIATION loisture ondition/ /eathering				Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
DRY ON COMPLE- TION	0.5			FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium plasticity, brown, trace of igneous gravel, tree roots and root fibres. as above, but with sandstone cobbles.	w≈PL			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 10.33kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF SCREEN: 10.51kg 0.1-0.6m, NO FCF
	1		CI-CH	Silty sandy CLAY: medium to high plasticity, light brown.	w≈PL			RESIDUAL
RIGHT	1.5 2 2.5 3			END OF BOREHOLE AT 1.2m				

Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes

Log No. BH203

SDUP4: 0-0.1m

1/1

Cli	ent:	HEALT	TH IN	FRAS	STRUCTURE							
Pro Lo	oject: cation:	PROP(85-91 (OSEI COW	D NEW	V WARRAWONG COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTRE STREET, WARRAWONG, NSW							
Jol Da Pla	b No.: E3 te: 1/8/23 ant Type:	4300PT2 EXCAV/	2 ATOF	2	Meth Logg	Method: 300mm PENDULUM AUGER				R.L. Surface: N/A Datum: -		
Groundwater Record	sroundwater tecord SS SB SAMPLES SB SAMPLES ield Tests ield Tests					DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks		
DRY (COMP TION	DN LE- N		0			FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium plasticity, brown, trace of ironstone gravel and root fibres.	w≈PL			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 10.12kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF SCREEN: 10.71kg 0.1-0.6m, NO FCF		
			- - - 1 —		СН	Silty CLAY: high plasticity, light brown.	w≈PL			RESIDUAL		
PYRIGHT						END OF BOREHOLE AT 1.1m						

Log No. BH/MW204 1/3

Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes





Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes

ſ	Clier	nt:	HEAL	TH IN	FRAS								
	Proj	ect:	PROF	POSE	D NEV	V WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HE	ALTH CE	ENTRI	Ξ			
	Loca	ation:	85-91	COW	PER S	STREE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW						
ſ	Job	No.: E34	4300P1	Г2			R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A				
	Date	: 31/7/2	3						D	atum:	-		
	Plan	t Type:	JK205			Logo	ged/Checked by: O.B./T.H.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
	Groundwater Record	ES ASS SAMPLES SAMPLES DB	Field Tests Depth (m)		Graphic Log	DESCRIPTION		Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks		
OPYRIGHT							LATITE: 6.20m.t						


ſ	Clier	nt:	HEAL	_TH IN	FRAS	TRUC	TURE						
	Proje	ect:	PRO	POSEI	O NEV	V WAF	RRAWONG COMMUNITY HE	ALTH CE	ENTRI	Ξ			
	Loca	ation:	85-91	I COW	PER S	STREE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW						
	Job	No.: E	34300P	Τ2		Method: SPIRAL AUGER			R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A		
	Date	: 31/7/2	23			Loggod/Checked by: $O B / T H$			Datum: -				
╞	Fian		JKZUD										
	Groundwater Record	ES ASS ASB SAL SAL SAL SAL	Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks		
COPYRIGHT							END OF BOREHOLE AT 8.0				GROUNDWATER MONITORING WELL INSTALLED TO 8.0m. CLASS 18 MACHINE SLOTTED 50mm DIA. PVC STANDPIPE 0m TO 2.0m. CASING 8.0m TO 2.0. BENTONITE SEAL 0.7m TO 0m. BACKFILLED WITH SAND TO THE SURFACE. COMPLETED WITH A CONCRETED GATIC COVER.		

JKEnvironments Log No. **ENVIRONMENTAL LOG BH205** 1/1 Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes SDUP1: 0-0.1m **Client:** HEALTH INFRASTRUCTURE **Project:** PROPOSED NEW WARRAWONG COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTRE Location: 85-91 COWPER STREET, WARRAWONG, NSW Job No.: E34300PT2 Method: 300mm PENDULUM AUGER **R.L. Surface:** N/A Date: 1/8/23 Datum: -Plant Type: EXCAVATOR Logged/Checked by: O.B./T.H. SAMPLES Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.) Unified Classification Groundwater Record Strength/ Rel. Density Graphic Log Condition/ Weathering Field Tests DESCRIPTION Depth (m) i Moisture Remarks SB w≈PL GRASS COVER DRY ON FILL: Silty clay, low to medium COMPLE plasticity, brown, trace of igneous gravel, sand, clay nodules and root TION SCREEN: 10.16kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF fibres. SCREEN: 10.47kg 0.1-1.1m, NO FCF 0.5 END OF BOREHOLE AT 1.0m SPIRAL AUGER **REFUSAL ON** INFERRED BEDROCK 1.5 2 2.5 3

Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes

	Clier	nt:	HEAL	TH IN	IFRAS	TRUC	TURE					
	Proje	ect:	PROF	POSEI	D NEV	V WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	ALTH CE	ENTRI	E		
	Loca	ation:	85-91	COW	/PER \$	STREE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW					
Ì	Job	No.: E34	4300PT	Γ2		Meth	od: HAND AUGER		R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A	
	Date	: 2/8/23				Datum: -						
	Plan	t Type:	-			Logged/Checked by: O.B./T.H.						
	Groundwater Record	ES ASS SAL DB DB	Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks	
	DRY ON			0	\bigotimes		FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium	w≈PL			GRASS COVER	
	TION			-							SCREEN: 5.45kg 0-0.4m, NO FCF	
				0.5-	××××		END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.4m				HAND AUGER	
				-	-						OBSTRUCTION	
				-	-						-	
				-							-	
				1 -	-						_	
				-	-						-	
				-							_	
				-	-						-	
				1.5 -	-						_	
				-	-						-	
				-	-						-	
				-	-						-	
				2 -	-						_	
				-							-	
				-	-						-	
				-	-						-	
				2.5 -							-	
				-	-						-	
				-	-						-	
				-	-						-	
				- 3	-						-	
				-							-	
RIGHT				-							-	
OPYR				3.5								



1/1

Client:	HEALTH	HINFRASTRUCTURE							
Project:	PROPO	SED N	JEW WARRAWONG COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTRE						
Location:	85-91 C	OWPER	R STRE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW					
Job No.: E3	4300PT2		Meth	nod: HAND AUGER		R	L. Surf	face: N/A	
Date: 31/7/2	23			Datum: -					
Plant Type:	-		Log	ged/Checked by: O.B./T.H.					
Groundwater Record ES ASB ASB SAMPLES DB	Field Tests	Depth (m) Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks	
DRY ON COMPLE- TION			×	FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium plasticity, brown, trace of igneous gravel, sand, timber fragments and root fibres.	w≈PL			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 4.81kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF SCREEN: 7.11kg 0.1-0.5m, NO FCF	
				END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.5m				HAND AUGER REFUSAL ON STIFF CLAY	



Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes

	Clier	nt:	HEAL	TH IN	IFRAS	TRUC	TURE				
	Proje	ect:	PROF	POSEI	D NEV	V WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	ALTH CE	ENTRE	Ξ	
	Loca	ation:	85-91	COW	PER S	STREE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW				
	Job	No.: E3	4300PT	Г2		Meth	od: SPIRAL AUGER		R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A
	Date	: 31/7/2	3						D	atum:	-
	Plan	t Type:	JK205			Logo	ged/Checked by: O.B./T.H.				
	Groundwater Record	ES ASS ASB SAL DB	Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
	DRY ON			0			ASPHLTIC CONCRETE: 100mm.t				
	TION			- - - 0.5 –		-	FILL: Silty clay, medium to high plasticity, brown and orange brown, trace of igneous gravel, and asphalt fragments.	w≈PL			SCREEN: 4.62kg - 0.1-0.3m, NO FCF - -
			N = 8 2,2,6	- - - - 1-		SC	Silty sandy CLAY: medium to high plasticity, dark brown and orange brown.	w≈PL			RESIDUAL
ыт							END OF BOREHOLE AT 1.1m				TC' BIT REFUSAL ON INFERRED BEDROCK
OPYRI				3.5							-



1/1

Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes

Client:	HEALTH IN	TH INFRASTRUCTURE						
Project:	PROPOSE	D NEW WAF	RRAWONG COMMUNITY HE	ALTH CE	ENTRI	E		
Location:	85-91 COW	PER STRE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW					
Job No.: E3	4300PT2	Meth	od: HAND AUGER		R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A	
Date: 2/8/23					D	atum:	-	
Plant Type:	-	Log	ged/Checked by: O.B./T.H.					
Groundwater Record ES ASS AAB SAMPLES DB	Field Tests Depth (m)	Graphic Log Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks	
DRY ON COMPLE- TION	0		FILL: Silty clay, low to medium plasticity, brown, trace of igneous gravel, sand and root fibres.				GRASS COVER SCREEN: 6.91kg 0-0.3m, NO FCF	
			END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.3m				HAND AUGER REFUSAL ON STIFF CLAY	

COPYRIGHT

Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes





1/1

Log No. BH211 1/1

Clie	ent:		HEAL	TH INFRASTRUCTURE							
Pro	ject:		PROF	POSEI	D NEV	V WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	ALTH CE	ENTRI	Ξ	
Loc	catio	n:	85-91	COW	PER S	STREE	T, WARRAWONG, NSW				
Job	No.:	: E34	4300PT	2		Meth	od: 300mm PENDULUM AU	GER	R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A
Dat	e: 2/	/8/23							D	atum:	-
Pla	nt Ty	vpe:	EXCA	/ATOF	2	Logo	jed/Checked by: O.B./T.H.				
Groundwater Record	ES ASS	ASB SAMPLES SAL DB	Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
DRY O COMPL TION	N _E∙			0			FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium plasticity, dark brown, with igneous gravel and cobbles, roots and root \fibres	w≈PL			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 12.01kg
				- - 0.5 -			END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.2m				OBSTRUCTION IN FILL
				- - 1 -							- - - -
				- - 1.5 -							- - -
				- 2 -							· - -
				- 2.5 — - -							- -
_				- 3 -							- - -
OPYRIGH				- - 3.5							-

Log No. BH212 1/1

	Clier	nt:	HEAL	TH IN	INFRASTRUCTURE						
	Proje	ect:	PROF	POSEI	D NEV	V WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	ALTH CE	ENTRI	Ξ	
	Loca	ation:	85-91	COW	/PER \$	STREE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW				
	Job	No.: E3	84300PT	Г2		Meth	od: HAND AUGER		R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A
	Date	: 2/8/23	3			_			Datum: -		
	Plan	t Type:	-	1	1	Logo	ged/Checked by: O.B./T.H.				
	Groundwater Record	ES ASS SAL DB	Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
	DRY ON COMPLE TION	 -		0			FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium plasticity, brown, trace of root fibres.	w≈PL			GRASS COVER - SCREEN: 5.11kg 0-0.3m, NO FCF
							END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.3m				0-0.3m, NO FCF HAND AUGER CLAY CLAY
YRIGHT				2.5							

Log No. BH213 1/1

Client:	HEALTH IN	H INFRASTRUCTURE					
Project:	PROPOSE	D NEW WA	RRAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	ALTH CE	INTR	Ξ	
Location:	85-91 COW	/PER STRE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW				
Job No.: E3	4300PT2	Metl	nod: 300mm PENDULUM AU	GER	R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A
Date: 2/8/23	6				Datum: -		
Plant Type:	EXCAVATO	R Log	ged/Checked by: O.B./T.H.				
Groundwater Record ES ASB ASP SAMPLES DB	Field Tests Depth (m)	Graphic Log Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
DRY ON COMPLE- TION	0		FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium plasticity, brown, with igneous cobbles, trace of igneous gravel, clay nodules and root fibres.	w≈PL			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 11.91kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF SCREEN: 11.15kg 0.1-0.8m, NO FCF
	0.5 -		as above, but light brown.				-
COPYRIGHT			END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.8m				REFUSAL ON OBSTRUCTION IN FILL/POSSIBLY BEDROCK

Log No. BH214 1/1

Client:	HEALTH INF	RASTRUC	TURE				
Project:	PROPOSED	NEW WAR	RAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	LTH CE	INTR	Ξ	
Location:	85-91 COWF	PER STREE	T, WARRAWONG, NSW				
Job No.: E3	4300PT2	Meth	od: 300mm PENDULUM AU	GER	R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A
Date: 2/8/23					Datum: -		
Plant Type:	EXCAVATOR	Logg	ed/Checked by: O.B./T.H.				
Groundwater Record ES ASB ASB SAMPLES DB	Field Tests Depth (m)	Graphic Log Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
DRY ON COMPLE- TION	0 ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium plasticity, dark brown, with igneous gravel and cobbles, trace of root fibres.	w≈PL			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 10.22kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF SCREEN: 10.91kg 0.1-0.6m, NO FCF
COPYRIGHT			END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.6m				REFUSAL ON OBSTRUCTION IN FILL

Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes

Log No. BH215

1/1

SDUP6: 0-0.1m

Client:	HEALTH	I INFRAS	RASTRUCTURE						
Project:	PROPO	SED NEV	V WAF	RRAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	ALTH CE	ENTRI	Ξ		
Location:	85-91 C	OWPER	STREE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW					
Job No.: E	34300PT2		Meth	od: 300mm PENDULUM AU	GER	R.L. Surface: N/A			
Date: 2/8/23			امم	ad/Checked by OD/TU		Datum: -			
Plant Type:			Logę						
Groundwater Record ESS AMPLES	Field Tests	Ueptin (m) Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks	
DRY ON COMPLE- TION		0.5		FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium plasticity, brown, with brick fragments, trace of igneous and sandstone gravel and cobbles, roots and root fibres.	w≈PL			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 10.12kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF SCREEN: 11.01kg 0.1-0.7m, NO FCF	
DYRIGHT				END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.7m				REFUSAL ON OBSTRUCTION IN FILL/POSSIBLY BEDROCK	

Log No. BH216



Log No. BH217 1/1



Log No. BH218 1/1

Client:	HEALTH INFR	RASTRUCTURE					
Project:	PROPOSED N	IEW WAF	RRAWONG COMMUNITY HE	ALTH CE	ENTRI	Ξ	
Location:	85-91 COWPE	R STRE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW				
Job No.: E34	1300PT2	Meth	od: 300mm PENDULUM AU	GER	R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A
Date: 1/8/23					D	atum: ·	
Plant Type:	EXCAVATOR	Log	ged/Checked by: O.B./T.H.				
Groundwater Record <u>FSS</u> ASB SAMPLES SAL DB	Field Tests Depth (m)	Graphic Log Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
DRY ON COMPLE- TION			FILL: Silty clay, low to medium plasticity, light brown, with igneous and sandstone cobbles, and brick fragments, trace of roots and root	w≈PL		-	GRASS COVER SCREEN: 9.01kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF
		\bigotimes	fibres.				SCREEN: 10.33kg 0.1-0.6m, NO FCF
	0.5		as above, but brown.				_
DPYRIGHT			END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.6m				REFUSAL ON INFERRED BEDROCK

Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes

Log No. BH219

1/1

SDUP5: 0-0.1m

	Clier Proje Loca	nt: ect: ntion:	HEAL ⁻ PROP 85-91	TH IN OSEI COW	IFRAS D NEV /PER \$	TRUC V WAF STREE	TURE RRAWONG COMMUNITY HEA ET, WARRAWONG, NSW	LTH CE	ENTRI	Ē			
	Job I Date Plan	No.: E3 : 1/8/23 t Type:	4300PT	2 ATOF	२	Method: 300mm PENDULUM AUGER				R.L. Surface: N/A Datum: -			
-	Groundwater Record	ES ASS SAL DB DB	Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks		
-	DRY ON COMPLE TION			0 - - - 0.5 -			FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium plasticity, dark brown, trace of igneous gravel and cobbles, and root fibres.	w≈PL			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 8.71kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF SCREEN: 11.45kg 0.1-1.3m, NO FCF		
				- - - 1 -			as above, but light brown. as above, but without igneous cobbles				- - - -		
PYRIGHT				1.5 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -			END OF BOREHOLE AT 1.3m				REFUSAL ON INFERRED BEDROCK		

Log No. BH220 1/1

	Clier	nt:	HEAL	TH IN	IFRAS	TRUC	TURE				
	Proje	ect:	PROF	POSE	D NEW	/ WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	LTH CE	ENTRE	Ξ	
	Loca	tion:	85-91	COM	/PER S	STREE	REET, WARRAWONG, NSW				
	Job	No.: E3	34300PT	Γ2		Method: 300mm PENDULUM AUGER				.L. Surf	ace: N/A
	Date	: 1/8/23	3				Datum: -				
	Plan	t Type:	EXCA	/ATOI	۲	Logg	jed/Checked by: O.B./T.H.				
	Groundwater Record	ES ASS SAL SAL DB	Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
	DRY ON COMPLE TION			-			FILL: Silty sandy clay, low to medium plasticity, brown, with igneous cobbles and brick fragments, trace of igneous and sandstone gravel.	w≈PL			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 10.29kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF SCREEN: 11.25kg
				0.5 -			as above, but light brown.				0.1-0.6m, NO FCF
							END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.6m				REFUSAL ON OBSTRUCTION IN FILL/POSSIBLY BEDROCK
OPYRIGH				3.5	-						-

Client:	HEALTH IN	IFRAS	TRUC	TURE				
Project:	PROPOSE	D NEW	/ WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	ALTH CE	ENTRI	Ξ	
Location:	85-91 COW	/PER S	STREET, WARRAWONG, NSW					
Job No.: E34	4300PT2		Meth	od: HAND AUGER		R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A
Date: 15/8/23	3					D	atum:	-
	-		LUGE					
Groundwater Record ASS SAL DB	Field Tests Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
DRY ON COMPLE- TION	0			FILL: Sandy silty clay, medium to high plasticity, dark brown, trace of ironstone gravel, ash, bark chips and	w <pl< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>GRASS COVER SCREEN: 8.97kg</td></pl<>			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 8.97kg
	0.5 -			FILL: Silty clay, medium to high plasticity, dark brown, trace of igneous and ironstone gravel, brick and concrete fragments and root fibres.				- U-0.1m, NO FCF - INSUFFICIENT - RETURN FOR BULK - SAMPLE -
PYRIGHT				END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.55m				- HAND AUGER REFUSAL ON GRAVEL/HARD CLAY

Environmental logs are not to be used for geotechnical purposes

Client:	HEALTH IN	NFRASTRUC	TURE				
Project:	PROPOSE	D NEW WA	RRAWONG COMMUNITY HE	ALTH CE	ENTRI	E	
Location:	85-91 COV	VPER STRE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW				
Job No.: E3	34300PT2	Meth	nod: HAND AUGER		R	L. Surf	ace: N/A
Date: 15/8/2	23				D	atum:	-
Plant Type:	-	Log	ged/Checked by: K.T./T.H.				
Groundwater Record <u>ASS</u> <u>ASS</u> SAL SAL SAL	Field Tests Depth (m)	Graphic Log Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
DRY ON COMPLE- TION	0		FILL: Silty clay, medium to high plasticity, dark brown, trace of sand, igneous and ironstone gravel, roots and root fibres. FILL: Silty clay, medium to high plasticity, brown, trace of sand, Vironstone gravel and root fibres.	w <pl< th=""><th></th><th></th><th>GRASS COVER SCREEN: 8.76kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF INSUFFICIENT RETURN FOR BULK SAMPLE</th></pl<>			GRASS COVER SCREEN: 8.76kg 0-0.1m, NO FCF INSUFFICIENT RETURN FOR BULK SAMPLE
	0.5 - 1 - 1.5 - 2.5 - 3 -		plasticity, brown, trace of sand, ironstone gravel and root fibres. END OF BOREHOLE AT 0.4m				RETURN FOR BULK <u>SAMPLE</u> HAND AUGER REFUSAL ON GRAVEL/HARD CLAY GRAVEL/HARD CLAY

Log No. BH222

> 1/1 SDUP201: 0-0.1m

Log No. BH/MW223 1/3





Client:	HEAL	TH IN	IFRAS	TRUC	TURE				
Project:	PRO	POSEI	D NEV	V WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	LTH CE	INTRE	Ξ	
Location:	85-91	COW	/PER \$	STREE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW				
Job No.:	E34300P ⁻	Г2		Meth	od: SPIRAL AUGER		R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A
Date: 14/8	3/23						D	atum:	
Plant Type	e: JK205			Logg	ged/Checked by: K.T./T.H.				
Groundwater Record <u>ASS</u> SAMPLES	DB Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
				CL-CI	Silty CLAY: low to medium plasticity, brown, with fine to medium grained sand.	w≈PL	Hd		- - - -
PYRIGHT					Extremely weathered latite: silty CLAY, low to medium plasticity, brown grey. LATITE: fine grained, light grey and dark grey.	XW VH	Hd		DAPTO LATITE



Γ	Clier	nt:		HEAL	TH IN	FRAS	TRUC	TURE				
	Proje	ect:	1	PROF	POSEI	D NEV	V WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HE	ALTH CE	ENTRE	Ξ	
	Loca	atio	n:	85-91	COW	PER S	STREE	STREET, WARRAWONG, NSW				
	Job	No.	: E	34300P1	Γ2		Meth	od: SPIRAL AUGER		R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A
	Date	: 1	4/8/	23			_			D	atum:	-
	Plan	t Ty	/pe:	JK205			Logo	ged/Checked by: K.T./T.H.				
	Groundwater Record ES ASB SAL SAL SANPLES DB			Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks
COPYRIGHT					7.5 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -			END OF BOREHOLE AT 8.0m	VH			DAPTO LATITE GROUNDWATER MONITORING WELL INSTALLED TO 8.0m. CLASS 18 MACHINE SLOTTED 50mm DIA. PVC STANDPIPE 3.0m TO 8.0m. CASING 3.0m TO SURFACE. 2mm SAND FILTER PACK 3.2m TO 8.0 m. BENTONITE SEAL 2.7m TO 3.2m. BACKFILLED WITH SAND TO THE SURFACE. COMPLETED WITH A CONCRETED GATIC COVER.

Log No. BH/MW224 1/3





ſ	Clier	nt:	HEAL	TH IN	IFRAS	TRUC	TURE					
	Proj	ect:	PROF	POSE	D NEW	/ WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	ALTH CE	INTRE	Ξ		
	Loca	ation:	85-91	COM	/PER S	STREET, WARRAWONG, NSW						
ſ	Job	No.: E34	4300PT	2		Method: SPIRAL AUGER				R.L. Surface: N/A		
	Date	: 14/8/2	3						D	atum: ·		
	Plan	t Type:	JK205			Logo	ged/Checked by: K.T./T.H.					
	Groundwater Record	ASS ASB SAL DB	Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks	
COPYRIGHT							LATITE: fine grained, dark grey and light grey, with iron staining in fractures.	VH			DAPTO LATITE	

Log No. BH/MW224 3/3

Γ	Clier	nt:		HEA	LTH IN	IFRAS	TRUC	TURE					
	Proj	ect	1	PRO	POSE	D NEV	V WAF	RAWONG COMMUNITY HEA	ALTH CE	ENTRI	Ξ		
L	Loca	atio	n:	85-9 ⁻	1 COW	/PER \$	STREE	ET, WARRAWONG, NSW					
	Job	No.	: E	34300P	T2		Meth	od: SPIRAL AUGER		R	.L. Surf	ace: N/A	
	Date	e: 1	4/8/	23 			1			Datum: -			
╞	Plan	t Iy	/pe	JK205			Logę						
	Groundwater Record	ES ASS	<u>ASB</u> SAMPLES	DB Field Tests	Depth (m)	Graphic Log	Unified Classification	DESCRIPTION	Moisture Condition/ Weathering	Strength/ Rel. Density	Hand Penetrometer Readings (kPa.)	Remarks	
					-			LATITE: fine grained, dark grey and light grey, with iron staining in fractures.	VH			DAPTO LATITE	
COPYRIGHT					7.5			END OF BOREHOLE AT 7.5m				GROUNDWATER MONITORING WELL INSTALLED TO 7.5m. CLASS 18 MACHINE SLOTTED 50mm DIA. PVC STANDPIPE 2.5m TO 7.5m. CASING 2.5m TO SURFACE. 2mm SAND FILTER PACK 2.3m TO 7.5 m. BENTONITE SEAL 2.0m TO 2.3m. BACKFILLED WITH SAND TO THE SURFACE. COMPLETED WITH A CONCRETED GATIC COVER.	



ENVIRONMENTAL LOGS EXPLANATION NOTES

INTRODUCTION

These notes have been provided to amplify the environmental report in regard to classification methods, field procedures and certain matters relating to the logging of soil and rock. Not all notes are necessarily relevant to all reports.

Where geotechnical borehole logs are utilised for environmental purpose, reference should also be made to the explanatory notes included in the geotechnical report. Environmental logs are not suitable for geotechnical purposes.

The ground is a product of continuing natural and man-made processes and therefore exhibits a variety of characteristics and properties which vary from place to place and can change with time. Environmental studies include gathering and assimilating limited facts about these characteristics and properties in order to understand or predict the behaviour of the ground on a particular site under certain conditions. This report may contain such facts obtained by inspection, excavation, probing, sampling, testing or other means of investigation. If so, they are directly relevant only to the ground at the place where and time when the investigation was carried out.

DESCRIPTION AND CLASSIFICATION METHODS

The methods of description and classification of soils and rocks used in this report are based on Australian Standard 1726:2017 *'Geotechnical Site Investigations'*. In general, descriptions cover the following properties – soil or rock type, colour, structure, strength or density, and inclusions. Identification and classification of soil and rock involves judgement and the Company infers accuracy only to the extent that is common in current geoenvironmental practice.

Soil types are described according to the predominating particle size and behaviour as set out in the attached soil classification table qualified by the grading of other particles present (eg. sandy clay) as set out below:

Soil Classification	Particle Size
Clay	< 0.002mm
Silt	0.002 to 0.075mm
Sand	0.075 to 2.36mm
Gravel	2.36 to 63mm
Cobbles	63 to 200mm
Boulders	> 200mm

Non-cohesive soils are classified on the basis of relative density, generally from the results of Standard Penetration Test (SPT) as below:

Relative Density	SPT 'N' Value (blows/300mm)
Very loose (VL)	< 4
Loose (L)	4 to 10
Medium dense (MD)	10 to 30
Dense (D)	30 to 50
Very Dense (VD)	> 50

Cohesive soils are classified on the basis of strength (consistency) either by use of a hand penetrometer, vane shear, laboratory testing and/or tactile engineering examination. The strength terms are defined as follows.

Classification	Unconfined Compressive Strength (kPa)	Indicative Undrained Shear Strength (kPa)			
Very Soft (VS)	≤25	≤12			
Soft (S)	> 25 and \leq 50	> 12 and \leq 25			
Firm (F)	> 50 and \leq 100	> 25 and \leq 50			
Stiff (St)	$>$ 100 and \leq 200	> 50 and ≤ 100			
Very Stiff (VSt)	$>$ 200 and \leq 400	$>$ 100 and \leq 200			
Hard (Hd)	> 400	> 200			
Friable (Fr)	Strength not attainable – soil crumbles				

Rock types are classified by their geological names, together with descriptive terms regarding weathering, strength, defects, etc. Where relevant, further information regarding rock classification is given in the text of the report. In the Sydney Basin, 'shale' is used to describe fissile mudstone, with a weakness parallel to bedding. Rocks with alternating inter-laminations of different grain size (eg. siltstone/claystone and siltstone/fine grained sandstone) are referred to as 'laminite'.

INVESTIGATION METHODS

The following is a brief summary of investigation methods currently adopted by the Company and some comments on their use and application. All methods except test pits, hand auger drilling and portable Dynamic Cone Penetrometers require the use of a mechanical rig which is commonly mounted on a truck chassis or track base.

Test Pits: These are normally excavated with a backhoe or a tracked excavator, allowing close examination of the insitu soils and 'weaker' bedrock if it is safe to descend into the pit. The depth of penetration is limited to about 3m for a backhoe and up to 6m for a large excavator. Limitations of test pits are the problems associated with disturbance and difficulty of reinstatement and the consequent effects on close-by structures. Care must be taken if construction is to be carried out near test pit locations to either properly recompact the backfill during construction or to design and construct the



structure so as not to be adversely affected by poorly compacted backfill at the test pit location.

Hand Auger Drilling: A borehole of 50mm to 100mm diameter is advanced by manually operated equipment. Refusal of the hand auger can occur on a variety of materials such as obstructions within any fill, tree roots, hard clay, gravel or ironstone, cobbles and boulders, and does not necessarily indicate rock level.

Continuous Spiral Flight Augers: The borehole is advanced using 75mm to 115mm diameter continuous spiral flight augers, which are withdrawn at intervals to allow sampling and insitu testing. This is a relatively economical means of drilling in clays and in sands above the water table. Samples are returned to the surface by the flights or may be collected after withdrawal of the auger flights, but they can be very disturbed and layers may become mixed. Information from the auger sampling (as distinct from specific sampling by SPTs or undisturbed samples) is of limited reliability due to mixing or softening of samples by groundwater, or uncertainties as to the original depth of the samples. Augering below the groundwater table is of even lesser reliability than augering above the water table.

Rock Augering: Use can be made of a Tungsten Carbide (TC) bit for auger drilling into rock to indicate rock quality and continuity by variation in drilling resistance and from examination of recovered rock cuttings. This method of investigation is quick and relatively inexpensive but provides only an indication of the likely rock strength and predicted values may be in error by a strength order. Where rock strengths may have a significant impact on construction feasibility or costs, then further investigation by means of cored boreholes may be warranted.

Wash Boring: The borehole is usually advanced by a rotary bit, with water being pumped down the drill rods and returned up the annulus, carrying the drill cuttings. Only major changes in stratification can be assessed from the cuttings, together with some information from "feel" and rate of penetration.

Mud Stabilised Drilling: Either Wash Boring or Continuous Core Drilling can use drilling mud as a circulating fluid to stabilise the borehole. The term 'mud' encompasses a range of products ranging from bentonite to polymers. The mud tends to mask the cuttings and reliable identification is only possible from intermittent intact sampling (eg. from SPT and U50 samples) or from rock coring, etc.

Continuous Core Drilling: A continuous core sample is obtained using a diamond tipped core barrel. Provided full core recovery is achieved (which is not always possible in very low strength rocks and granular soils), this technique provides a very reliable (but relatively expensive) method of investigation. In rocks, NMLC or HQ triple tube core barrels, which give a core of about 50mm and 61mm diameter, respectively, is usually used with water flush. The length of core recovered is compared to the length drilled and any length not recovered is shown as NO CORE. The location of NO CORE recovery is determined on site by the supervising engineer; where the location is uncertain, the loss is placed at the bottom of the drill run.

Standard Penetration Tests: Standard Penetration Tests (SPT) are used mainly in non-cohesive soils, but can also be used in cohesive soils, as a means of indicating density or strength and also of obtaining a relatively undisturbed sample. The test procedure is

described in Australian Standard 1289.6.3.1–2004 (R2016) 'Methods of Testing Soils for Engineering Purposes, Soil Strength and Consolidation Tests – Determination of the Penetration Resistance of a Soil – Standard Penetration Test (SPT)'.

The test is carried out in a borehole by driving a 50mm diameter split sample tube with a tapered shoe, under the impact of a 63.5kg hammer with a free fall of 760mm. It is normal for the tube to be driven in three successive 150mm increments and the 'N' value is taken as the number of blows for the last 300mm. In dense sands, very hard clays or weak rock, the full 450mm penetration may not be practicable and the test is discontinued.

The test results are reported in the following form:

• In the case where full penetration is obtained with successive blow counts for each 150mm of, say, 4, 6 and 7 blows, as

N = 13 4, 6, 7

 In a case where the test is discontinued short of full penetration, say after 15 blows for the first 150mm and 30 blows for the next 40mm, as

> N > 30 15, 30/40mm

The results of the test can be related empirically to the engineering properties of the soil.

A modification to the SPT is where the same driving system is used with a solid 60° tipped steel cone of the same diameter as the SPT hollow sampler. The solid cone can be continuously driven for some distance in soft clays or loose sands, or may be used where damage would otherwise occur to the SPT. The results of this Solid Cone Penetration Test (SCPT) are shown as 'N_c' on the borehole logs, together with the number of blows per 150mm penetration.

LOGS

The borehole or test pit logs presented herein are an interpretation of the subsurface conditions, and their reliability will depend to some extent on the frequency of sampling and the method of drilling or excavation. Ideally, continuous undisturbed sampling or core drilling will enable the most reliable assessment, but is not always practicable or possible to justify on economic grounds. In any case, the boreholes or test pits represent only a very small sample of the total subsurface conditions.

The terms and symbols used in preparation of the logs are defined in the following pages.

Interpretation of the information shown on the logs, and its application to design and construction, should therefore take into account the spacing of boreholes or test pits, the method of drilling or excavation, the frequency of sampling and testing and the possibility of other than 'straight line' variations between the boreholes or test pits. Subsurface conditions between boreholes or test pits may vary significantly from conditions encountered at the borehole or test pit locations.



GROUNDWATER

Where groundwater levels are measured in boreholes, there are several potential problems:

- Although groundwater may be present, in low permeability soils it may enter the hole slowly or perhaps not at all during the time it is left open.
- A localised perched water table may lead to an erroneous indication of the true water table.
- Water table levels will vary from time to time with seasons or recent weather changes and may not be the same at the time of construction.
- The use of water or mud as a drilling fluid will mask any groundwater inflow. Water has to be blown out of the hole and drilling mud must be washed out of the hole or 'reverted' chemically if reliable water observations are to be made.

More reliable measurements can be made by installing standpipes which are read after the groundwater level has stabilised at intervals ranging from several days to perhaps weeks for low permeability soils. Piezometers, sealed in a particular stratum, may be advisable in low permeability soils or where there may be interference from perched water tables or surface water.

FILL

The presence of fill materials can often be determined only by the inclusion of foreign objects (eg. bricks, steel, etc) or by distinctly unusual colour, texture or fabric. Identification of the extent of fill materials will also depend on investigation methods and frequency. Where natural soils similar to those at the site are used for fill, it may be difficult with limited testing and sampling to reliably assess the extent of the fill.

The presence of fill materials is usually regarded with caution as the possible variation in density and material type is much greater than with natural soil deposits. Consequently, there is an increased risk of adverse environmental characteristics or behaviour. If the volume and nature of fill is of importance to a project, then frequent test pit excavations are preferable to boreholes.

LABORATORY TESTING

Laboratory testing has not been undertaken to confirm the soil classification and rock strengths indicated on the environmental logs unless noted in the report.



SYMBOL LEGENDS





CLASSIFICATION OF COARSE AND FINE GRAINED SOILS

Ma	jor Divisions	Group Symbol	Typical Names	Field Classification of Sand and Gravel	Laboratory Cl	assification
ianis	GRAVEL (more than half	GW	Gravel and gravel-sand mixtures, little or no fines	Wide range in grain size and substantial amounts of all intermediate sizes, not enough fines to bind coarse grains, no dry strength	≤ 5% fines	C _u >4 1 <c<sub>c<3</c<sub>
rsizefract	fraction is larger than 2.36mm	GP	Gravel and gravel-sand mixtures, little or no fines, uniform gravels	Predominantly one size or range of sizes with some intermediate sizes missing, not enough fines to bind coarse grains, no dry strength	≤ 5% fines	Fails to comply with above
lucing ove)		GM	Gravel-silt mixtures and gravel- sand-silt mixtures	'Dirty' materials with excess of non-plastic fines, zero to medium dry strength	≥ 12% fines, fines are silty	Fines behave as silt
ofsailexc 10.075mn		GC	Gravel-clay mixtures and gravel- sand-clay mixtures	'Dirty' materials with excess of plastic fines, medium to high dry strength	≥ 12% fines, fines are clayey	Fines behave as clay
than 65% eater thar	SAND (more than half	SW	Sand and gravel-sand mixtures, little or no fines	Wide range in grain size and substantial amounts of all intermediate sizes, not enough fines to bind coarse grains, no dry strength	≤ 5% fines	Cu>6 1 <cc<3< td=""></cc<3<>
iai (mare gr	of coarse fraction is smaller than	SP	Sand and gravel-sand mixtures, little or no fines	Predominantly one size or range of sizes with some intermediate sizes missing, not enough fines to bind coarse grains, no dry strength	≤ 5% fines	Fails to comply with above
egraineds	2.36mm)	SM	Sand-silt mixtures	'Dirty' materials with excess of non-plastic fines, zero to medium dry strength	≥ 12% fines, fines are silty	
Coairs		SC	Sand-clay mixtures	'Dirty' materials with excess of plastic fines, medium to high dry strength	≥ 12% fines, fines are clayey	N/A

		Group			Laboratory Classification		
Majo	or Divisions	Symbol	Typical Names	Dry Strength	Dilatancy	Toughness	% < 0.075mm
Bupr	SILT and CLAY (low to medium	ML	Inorganic silt and very fine sand, rock flour, silty or clayey fine sand or silt with low plasticity	None to low	Slow to rapid	Low	Below A line
of sail exdu 0.075mm)	plasticity)	CL, CI	Inorganic clay of low to medium plasticity, gravelly clay, sandy clay	Medium to high	None to slow	Medium	Above A line
an 35% ssthan		OL	Organic silt	Low to medium	Slow	Low	Below A line
onisle	SILT and CLAY	MH	Inorganic silt	Low to medium	None to slow	Low to medium	Below A line
soils (m e fracti	(high plasticity)	СН	Inorganic clay of high plasticity	High to very high	None	High	Above A line
re grained: oversiz		ОН	Organic clay of medium to high plasticity, organic silt	Medium to high	None to very slow	Low to medium	Below A line
	Highly organic soil	Pt	Peat, highly organic soil	-	-	-	_

Laboratory Classification Criteria

A well graded coarse grained soil is one for which the coefficient of uniformity Cu > 4 and the coefficient of curvature $1 < C_c < 3$. Otherwise, the soil is poorly graded. These coefficients are given by:

$$C_U = \frac{D_{60}}{D_{10}}$$
 and $C_C = \frac{(D_{30})^2}{D_{10}D_{60}}$

Where D_{10} , D_{30} and D_{60} are those grain sizes for which 10%, 30% and 60% of the soil grains, respectively, are smaller.

NOTES:

- 1 For a coarse grained soil with a fines content between 5% and 12%, the soil is given a dual classification comprising the two group symbols separated by a dash; for example, for a poorly graded gravel with between 5% and 12% silt fines, the classification is GP-GM.
- 2 Where the grading is determined from laboratory tests, it is defined by coefficients of curvature (C_c) and uniformity (C_u) derived from the particle size distribution curve.
- 3 Clay soils with liquid limits > 35% and ≤ 50% may be classified as being of medium plasticity.
- 4 The U line on the Modified Casagrande Chart is an approximate upper bound for most natural soils.



JKEnvironments



LOG SYMBOLS

Log Column	Symbol	Definition		
Groundwater Record		Standing water level. Time delay following completion of drilling/excavation may be shown.		
	— с —	Extent of borehole/test pit collapse shortly after drilling/excavation.		
		Groundwater seepage into borehole or test pit noted during drilling or excava		during drilling or excavation.
Samples	ES U50 DB DS ASB ASS SAL	Sample taken over depth indi Undisturbed 50mm diameter Bulk disturbed sample taken o Small disturbed bag sample ta Soil sample taken over depth Soil sample taken over depth	cated, for environmenta tube sample taken over over depth indicated. aken over depth indicated indicated, for asbestos a indicated, for acid sulfat indicated, for salinity an	al analysis. • depth indicated. ed. analysis. te soil analysis. nalysis.
	PFAS	Soil sample taken over depth indicated, for analysis of Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances.		
Field Tests	N = 17 4, 7, 10	Standard Penetration Test (S figures show blows per 150mr the corresponding 150mm de	SPT) performed betwee m penetration. 'Refusal' epth increment.	en depths indicated by lines. Individual refers to apparent hammer refusal within
	N _c = 5 7 3R	Solid Cone Penetration Test (figures show blows per 150m to apparent hammer refusal v	(SCPT) performed betwo m penetration for 60° so within the corresponding	een depths indicated by lines. Individual vlid cone driven by SPT hammer. 'R' refers g 150mm depth increment.
	VNS = 25 PID = 100	Vane shear reading in kPa of undrained shear strength. Photoionisation detector reading in ppm (soil sample headspace test).		h. headspace test).
Moisture Condition (Fine Grained Soils)	w > PL $w \approx PL$ w < PL $w \approx LL$ w > LL	Moisture content estimated t Moisture content estimated t Moisture content estimated t Moisture content estimated t Moisture content estimated t	o be greater than plastic o be approximately equ o be less than plastic lim o be near liquid limit. o be wet of liquid limit.	c limit. Ial to plastic limit. nit.
(Coarse Grained Soils)	D M W	DRY – runs freely throug MOIST – does not run freel WET – free water visible	h fingers. y but no free water visib on soil surface.	ble on soil surface.
Strength (Consistency) Cohesive Soils	VS S F St VSt Hd Fr ()	VERY SOFT – unconfined SOFT – unconfined FIRM – unconfined STIFF – unconfined VERY STIFF – unconfined HARD – unconfined FRIABLE – strength no Bracketed symbol indicates assessment.	compressive strength ≤ compressive strength > compressive strength > compressive strength > compressive strength > compressive strength > t attainable, soil crumbl estimated consistency	25kPa. 25kPa and \leq 50kPa. 50kPa and \leq 100kPa. 100kPa and \leq 200kPa. 200kPa and \leq 400kPa. 400kPa. es. based on tactile examination or other
Density Index/ Relative Density (Cohesionless Soils)	M		nsity Index (I⊳) nge (%)	SPT 'N' Value Range (Blows/300mm)
	VL I		≥ 15	0-4
	MD		$\sim 15 \text{ div} \geq 35$	4 – IU 10 20
	D		~ 000	TO = 20
	VD			30 − 30 < 50
	()	Bracketed symbol indicates e	stimated density based	on ease of drilling or other assessment.



Log Column	Symbol	Definition		
Hand Penetrometer Readings	300 250	Measures reading in kPa of unconfined compressive strength. Numbers indicate individual test results on representative undisturbed material unless noted otherwise.		
Remarks	'V' bit	Hardened steel 'V	" shaped bit.	
	'TC' bit	Twin pronged tun	gsten carbide bit.	
	T_{60}	Penetration of auger string in mm under static load of rig applied by drill head hydraulics without rotation of augers.		
	Soil Origin	The geological ori	gin of the soil can generally be described as:	
		RESIDUAL	 soil formed directly from insitu weathering of the underlying rock. No visible structure or fabric of the parent rock. 	
		EXTREMELY WEATHERED	 soil formed directly from insitu weathering of the underlying rock. Material is of soil strength but retains the structure and/or fabric of the parent rock. 	
		ALLUVIAL – soil deposited by creeks and rivers.		
		ESTUARINE	 soil deposited in coastal estuaries, including sediments caused by inflowing creeks and rivers, and tidal currents. 	
		MARINE	 soil deposited in a marine environment. 	
		AEOLIAN	 soil carried and deposited by wind. 	
		COLLUVIAL	 soil and rock debris transported downslope by gravity, with or without the assistance of flowing water. Colluvium is usually a thick deposit formed from a landslide. The description 'slopewash' is used for thinner surficial deposits. 	
		LITTORAL	- beach deposited soil.	



Classification of Material Weathering

Term		Abbreviation		Definition	
Residual Soil		RS		Material is weathered to such an extent that it has soil properties. Mass structure and material texture and fabric of original rock are no longer visible, but the soil has not been significantly transported.	
Extremely Weathered		х	W	Material is weathered to such an extent that it has soil properties. Mass structure and material texture and fabric of original rock are still visible.	
Highly Weathered	Distinctly Weathered	HW	DW	The whole of the rock material is discoloured, usually by iron staining or bleaching to the extent that the colour of the original rock is not recognisable. Rock strength is significantly changed by weathering. Some primary minerals have weathered to clay minerals. Porosity may be increased by leaching, or may be decreased due to deposition of weathering products in pores.	
Moderately Weathered	(Note 1)	MW		The whole of the rock material is discoloured, usually by iron staining or bleaching to the extent that the colour of the original rock is not recognisable, but shows little or no change of strength from fresh rock.	
Slightly Weathered SW		W	Rock is partially discoloured with staining or bleaching along joints but shows little or no change of strength from fresh rock.		
Fresh		FR		Rock shows no sign of decomposition of individual minerals or colour changes.	

NOTE 1: The term 'Distinctly Weathered' is used where it is not practicable to distinguish between 'Highly Weathered' and 'Moderately Weathered' rock. 'Distinctly Weathered' is defined as follows: '*Rock strength usually changed by weathering.* The rock may be highly discoloured, usually by iron staining. Porosity may be increased by leaching, or may be decreased due to deposition of weathering products in pores'. There is some change in rock strength.

Rock Material Strength Classification

			Guide to Strength		
Term	Abbreviation	Uniaxial Compressive Strength (MPa)	Point Load Strength Index Is ₍₅₀₎ (MPa)	Field Assessment	
Very Low Strength	VL	0.6 to 2	0.03 to 0.1	Material crumbles under firm blows with sharp end of pick; can be peeled with knife; too hard to cut a triaxial sample by hand. Pieces up to 30mm thick can be broken by finger pressure.	
Low Strength	L	2 to 6	0.1 to 0.3	Easily scored with a knife; indentations 1mm to 3mm show in the specimen with firm blows of the pick point; has dull sound under hammer. A piece of core 150mm long by 50mm diameter may be broken by hand. Sharp edges of core may be friable and break during handling.	
Medium Strength	М	6 to 20	0.3 to 1	Scored with a knife; a piece of core 150mm long by 50mm diameter can be broken by hand with difficulty.	
High Strength	н	20 to 60	1 to 3	A piece of core 150mm long by 50mm diameter cannot be broken by hand but can be broken by a pick with a single firm blow; rock rings under hammer.	
Very High Strength	VH	60 to 200	3 to 10	Hand specimen breaks with pick after more than one blow; rock rings under hammer.	
Extremely High Strength	EH	> 200	> 10	Specimen requires many blows with geological pick to break through intact material; rock rings under hammer.	



Appendix D: Laboratory Reports & COC Documents





Soil and Groundwater Laboratory Documents





Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

CERTIFICATE OF ANALYSIS 329661

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor
Address	PO Box 976, North Ryde BC, NSW, 1670

Sample Details	
Your Reference	E34300PT2, Warrawong
Number of Samples	53 Soil, 1 Water
Date samples received	03/08/2023
Date completed instructions received	03/08/2023

Analysis Details

Please refer to the following pages for results, methodology summary and quality control data.

Samples were analysed as received from the client. Results relate specifically to the samples as received.

Results are reported on a dry weight basis for solids and on an as received basis for other matrices.

Please refer to the last page of this report for any comments relating to the results.

Report Details				
Date results requested by	11/08/2023			
Date of Issue	11/08/2023			
NATA Accreditation Number 2901. This document shall not be reproduced except in full.				
Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 17025 - Testing. Tests not covered by NATA are denoted with *				

Asbestos Approved By

Analysed by Asbestos Approved Analyst: Anthony Clark Authorised by Asbestos Approved Signatory: Nyovan Moonean **Results Approved By** Diego Bigolin, Inorganics Supervisor Dragana Tomas, Senior Chemist Hannah Nguyen, Metals Supervisor Loren Bardwell, Development Chemist Nyovan Moonean, Asbestos Approved Identifier/Counter Steven Luong, Senior Chemist Authorised By

Nancy Zhang, Laboratory Manager


vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-3	329661-4	329661-6	329661-7
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH201	BH202	BH202	BH203
Depth		0-0.2	0.8-1	0-0.2	1-1.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
vTPH C ₆ - C ₁₀ less BTEX (F1)	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
Benzene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Toluene	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2
o-Xylene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Total +ve Xylenes	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%	94	114	128	128	118
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference		329661-9	329661-10	329661-12	329661-13	329661-15
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference	UNITS	329661-9 BH203	329661-10 BH204	329661-12 BH204	329661-13 BH205	329661-15 BH205
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth	UNITS	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled	UNITS	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample	UNITS	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted	UNITS -	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed	UNITS - -	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C6 - C9	UNITS - - mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Date extracted Date analysed TRH C6 - C9 TRH C6 - C10	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_6 - C_9$ TRH $C_6 - C_{10}$ vTPH $C_6 - C_{10}$ less BTEX (F1)Benzene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <0.2
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneToluene	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xylene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20)	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-Xylene	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-XyleneNaphthalene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/202) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20)	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10extractedBenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-XyleneNaphthaleneTotal +ve Xylenes	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1

vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						1
Our Reference		329661-16	329661-17	329661-18	329661-19	329661-20
Your Reference	UNITS	BH206	BH207	BH208	BH208	BH209
Depth		0-0.4	0-0.4	0.1-0.3	0.7-1	0-0.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023
TRH C6 - C9	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
TRH C6 - C10	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
vTPH C ₆ - C ₁₀ less BTEX (F1)	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
Benzene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Toluene	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2
o-Xylene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Total +ve Xylenes	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%	92	106	126	106	114
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference		329661-21	329661-23	329661-24	329661-25	329661-26
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference	UNITS	329661-21 BH210	329661-23 BH210	329661-24 BH211	329661-25 BH212	329661-26 BH213
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth	UNITS	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled	UNITS	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample	UNITS	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted	UNITS -	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed	UNITS - -	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₆ - C ₉	UNITS - - mg/kg	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₆ - C ₉ TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C6 - C9 TRH C6 - C10 VTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C6 - C9 TRH C6 - C10 VTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1) Benzene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <0.2
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_6 - C_9$ TRH $C_6 - C_{10}$ vTPH $C_6 - C_{10}$ less BTEX (F1)BenzeneToluene	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.5 <1	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_6 - C_9$ TRH $C_6 - C_{10}$ vTPH $C_6 - C_{10}$ less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xylene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-Xylene	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <5/08/2023 <5/08/2023 <5/08/2023 <5/08/2023 <0.5 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-XyleneNaphthalene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.5 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.5 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-XyleneNaphthaleneTotal +ve Xylenes	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1 <1	329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/20) (05/08/2023) (05/08/20) (05/08/

vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-28	329661-30	329661-32	329661-34	329661-35
Your Reference	UNITS	BH214	BH215	BH216	BH216	BH217
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	1.1-1.3	0.1-0.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023
TRH C6 - C9	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
vTPH C ₆ - C ₁₀ less BTEX (F1)	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
Benzene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Toluene	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2
o-Xylene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Total +ve Xylenes	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%	121	118	122	94	92
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference		329661-37	329661-39	329661-42	329661-43	329661-45
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference	UNITS	329661-37 BH218	329661-39 BH219	329661-42 BH219	329661-43 BH220	329661-45 S DUP 1
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth	UNITS	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2	329661-45 S DUP 1 -
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled	UNITS	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample	UNITS	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted	UNITS -	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed	UNITS - -	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₆ - C ₉	UNITS - - mg/kg	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₆ - C ₉ TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C6 - C9 TRH C6 - C10 VTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C6 - C9 TRH C6 - C10 VTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1) Benzene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <0.2
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_6 - C_9$ TRH $C_6 - C_{10}$ vTPH $C_6 - C_{10}$ less BTEX (F1)BenzeneToluene	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xylene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20) (05/08/20)	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-Xylene	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-XyleneNaphthalene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.5 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_6 - C_9$ TRH $C_6 - C_{10}$ vTPH $C_6 - C_{10}$ less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-XyleneNaphthaleneTotal +ve Xylenes	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-37 BH218 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-39 BH219 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-42 BH219 1.1-1.3 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	329661-43 BH220 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1 <1	329661-45 S DUP 1 - 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/2023) (05/08/2023 (05/08/20)

vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-46	329661-47	329661-48	329661-49	329661-50
Your Reference	UNITS	S DUP 2	S DUP 3	S DUP 4	S DUP 5	S DUP 6
Depth		-	-	-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023
TRH C6 - C9	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
TRH C6 - C10	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
vTPH C ₆ - C ₁₀ less BTEX (F1)	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
Benzene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Toluene	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2
o-Xylene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Total +ve Xylenes	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%	127	128	91	113	94

vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil		
Our Reference		329661-51
Your Reference	UNITS	TB1
Depth		-
Date Sampled		31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	05/08/2023
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	mg/kg	<25
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	mg/kg	<25
vTPH C ₆ - C ₁₀ less BTEX (F1)	mg/kg	<25
Benzene	mg/kg	<0.2
Toluene	mg/kg	<0.5
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	<1
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	<2
o-Xylene	mg/kg	<1
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<1
Total +ve Xylenes	mg/kg	<1
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%	94

svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-3	329661-4	329661-6	329661-7
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH201	BH202	BH202	BH203
Depth		0-0.2	0.8-1	0-0.2	1-1.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	06/08/2023	06/08/2023	06/08/2023	06/08/2023	06/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	87	90	86	86	86
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil						
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference		329661-9	329661-10	329661-12	329661-13	329661-15
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference	UNITS	329661-9 BH203	329661-10 BH204	329661-12 BH204	329661-13 BH205	329661-15 BH205
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth	UNITS	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled	UNITS	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample	UNITS	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted	UNITS -	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed	UNITS - -	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	UNITS - - mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄ TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄ TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈ TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄ TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈ TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50
svTRH (C10-C40) in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_{10} - C_{14}$ TRH $C_{15} - C_{28}$ TRH $C_{29} - C_{36}$ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)TRH >C10 - C16	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <100 <50 <50	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50
svTRH (C10-C40) in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_{10} - C_{14}$ TRH $C_{15} - C_{28}$ TRH $C_{29} - C_{36}$ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)TRH >C_{10} - C_{16}TRH >C_{10} - C_{16} less Naphthalene (F2)	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50
svTRH (C10-C40) in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_{10} - C_{14}$ TRH $C_{15} - C_{28}$ TRH $C_{29} - C_{36}$ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)TRH >C_{10} - C_{16}TRH >C_{10} - C_{16} less Naphthalene (F2)TRH >C_{16} - C_{34}	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 110	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C $_{10}$ - C $_{14}$ TRH C $_{15}$ - C $_{28}$ TRH C $_{29}$ - C $_{36}$ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36) TRH >C $_{10}$ - C $_{16}$ TRH >C $_{10}$ - C $_{16}$ IRH >C $_{10}$ - C $_{16}$ less Naphthalene (F2) TRH >C $_{16}$ -C $_{34}$ TRH >C $_{34}$ -C $_{40}$	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 110	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <10	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <10
svTRH (C10-C40) in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_{10} - C_{14}$ TRH $C_{15} - C_{28}$ TRH $C_{29} - C_{36}$ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)TRH >C_{10} - C_{16}TRH >C_{10} - C_{16} less Naphthalene (F2)TRH >C_{16} -C_{34}TRH >C_{34} -C_{40}Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	329661-9 BH203 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <50 <100 <50 <50	329661-10 BH204 0-0.2 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 06/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 110 110	329661-12 BH204 17-1.8 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (05/08/2023 (05/08/2023) (05/08/2023) (04/08/202) (04/08/20) (04/08/20) (04/08/20) (04/08/20) (04/08/20) (04/	329661-13 BH205 0-0.2 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 (06/08/2023 (06/08/2023) (06/08/2023 (06/08/2023) (06/08/20) (06/	329661-15 BH205 0.8-1 1/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100

svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-16	329661-17	329661-18	329661-19	329661-20
Your Reference	UNITS	BH206	BH207	BH208	BH208	BH209
Depth		0-0.4	0-0.4	0.1-0.3	0.7-1	0-0.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023
TRH C10 - C14	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH C15 - C28	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C16 -C34	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	110
TRH >C34 -C40	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	110
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	86	86	86	84	84
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-21	329661-23	329661-24	329661-25	329661-26
Your Reference	UNITS	BH210	BH210	BH211	BH212	BH213
Depth		0.1-0.3	1-1.3	0-0.2	0-0.3	0-0.2
Date Sampled		31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed						
TRH C10 - C14	-	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023
	mg/kg	05/08/2023 <50	05/08/2023 <50	05/08/2023 <50	05/08/2023 <50	05/08/2023 <50
TRH C15 - C28	mg/kg	05/08/2023 <50 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈ TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg mg/kg	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈ TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50
TRH C15 - C28 TRH C29 - C36 Total +ve TRH (C10-C36) TRH >C10 -C16	mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50
TRH C15 - C28 TRH C29 - C36 Total +ve TRH (C10-C36) TRH >C10 - C16 TRH >C10 - C16 less Naphthalene (F2)	mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈ TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36) TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆ TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2) TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	 mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg 	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100
$TRH C_{15} - C_{28}$ $TRH C_{29} - C_{36}$ $Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)$ $TRH > C_{10} - C_{16}$ $TRH > C_{10} - C_{16} \text{ less Naphthalene (F2)}$ $TRH > C_{16} - C_{34}$ $TRH > C_{34} - C_{40}$	mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100
TRH C15 - C28 TRH C29 - C36 Total +ve TRH (C10-C36) TRH >C10 - C16 TRH >C10 - C16 less Naphthalene (F2) TRH >C16 - C34 TRH >C34 - C40 Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	mg/kg mg/kg	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <100 <100 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <100 <100 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <100 <100 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <100 <100 <50	05/08/2023 <50 <100 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100 <50

svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-28	329661-30	329661-32	329661-34	329661-35
Your Reference	UNITS	BH214	BH215	BH216	BH216	BH217
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	1.1-1.3	0.1-0.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023
TRH C10 - C14	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH C15 - C28	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C16 -C34	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	110
TRH >C34 -C40	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	110
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	85	83	86	82	93
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-37	329661-39	329661-42	329661-43	329661-45
Your Reference	UNITS	BH218	BH219	BH219	BH220	S DUP 1
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	1.1-1.3	0-0.2	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023	05/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C10-C16	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
$1 \text{RH} > C_{10} - C_{16} \text{ less Naphthalene (F2)}$	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2) TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg mg/kg	<50 <100	<50 <100	<50 <100	<50 <100	<50 <100
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2) TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄ TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	<50 <100 <100	<50 <100 <100	<50 <100 <100	<50 <100 <100	<50 <100 <100
$TRH > C_{10} - C_{16} \text{ less Naphthalene (F2)}$ $TRH > C_{16} - C_{34}$ $TRH > C_{34} - C_{40}$ $Total + ve TRH (> C10 - C40)$	mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	<50 <100 <100 <50	<50 <100 <100 <50	<50 <100 <100 <50	<50 <100 <100 <50	<50 <100 <100 <50

svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-46	329661-47	329661-48	329661-49	329661-50
Your Reference	UNITS	S DUP 2	S DUP 3	S DUP 4	S DUP 5	S DUP 6
Depth		-	-	-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	06/08/2023	06/08/2023	06/08/2023	06/08/2023	06/08/2023
TRH C10 - C14	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH C15 - C28	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C10 -C16	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C16 -C34	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH >C34 -C40	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	84	86	86	87	82

svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil		
Our Reference		329661-51
Your Reference	UNITS	TB1
Depth		-
Date Sampled		31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	06/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	<50
TRH C15 - C28	mg/kg	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	mg/kg	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2)	mg/kg	<50
TRH >C16 -C34	mg/kg	<100
TRH >C34 -C40	mg/kg	<100
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	mg/kg	<50
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	85

PAHs in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-3	329661-4	329661-6	329661-7
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH201	BH202	BH202	BH203
Depth		0-0.2	0.8-1	0-0.2	1-1.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	91	94	92	80	88

PAHs in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-9	329661-10	329661-12	329661-13	329661-15
Your Reference	UNITS	BH203	BH204	BH204	BH205	BH205
Depth		0.8-1	0-0.2	17-1.8	0-0.2	0.8-1
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	10/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	<0.1	0.3	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	<0.05	0.5	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	86	110	92	76	81

PAHs in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-16	329661-17	329661-18	329661-19	329661-20
Your Reference	UNITS	BH206	BH207	BH208	BH208	BH209
Depth		0-0.4	0-0.4	0.1-0.3	0.7-1	0-0.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	84	85	86	81	85

PAHs in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-21	329661-23	329661-24	329661-25	329661-26
Your Reference	UNITS	BH210	BH210	BH211	BH212	BH213
Depth		0.1-0.3	1-1.3	0-0.2	0-0.3	0-0.2
Date Sampled		31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	09/08/2023	09/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	0.9	0.7	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	0.8	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	0.4	0.3	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	1.4	1.9	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	103	100	83	87	91

PAHs in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-28	329661-30	329661-32	329661-34	329661-35
Your Reference	UNITS	BH214	BH215	BH216	BH216	BH217
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	1.1-1.3	0.1-0.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	09/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.4
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	1.7
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	83	81	92	81	97

PAHs in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-37	329661-39	329661-42	329661-43	329661-45
Your Reference	UNITS	BH218	BH219	BH219	BH220	S DUP 1
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	1.1-1.3	0-0.2	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	09/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	0.4	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	0.60	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	99	83	83	84	89

PAHs in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-46	329661-47	329661-48	329661-49	329661-50
Your Reference	UNITS	S DUP 2	S DUP 3	S DUP 4	S DUP 5	S DUP 6
Depth		-	-	-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	84	90	82	83	81

PAHs in Soil		
Our Reference		329661-51
Your Reference	UNITS	TB1
Depth		-
Date Sampled		31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	80

Organochlorine Pesticides in soil						
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-4	329661-7	329661-13	329661-16
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH202	BH203	BH205	BH206
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.4
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
нсв	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
beta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Heptachlor	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
delta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Aldrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDE	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dieldrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDD	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDT	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Mirex	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve DDT+DDD+DDE	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	100	98	101	101	97

Organochlorine Pesticides in soil						
Our Reference		329661-17	329661-21	329661-25	329661-30	329661-37
Your Reference	UNITS	BH207	BH210	BH212	BH215	BH218
Depth		0-0.4	0.1-0.3	0-0.3	0-0.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
НСВ	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
beta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Heptachlor	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
delta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Aldrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDE	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dieldrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDD	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDT	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Mirex	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve DDT+DDD+DDE	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	95	95	96	98	97

Organochlorine Pesticides in soil						
Our Reference		329661-39	329661-43	329661-45	329661-46	329661-47
Your Reference	UNITS	BH219	BH220	S DUP 1	S DUP 2	S DUP 3
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
нсв	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
beta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Heptachlor	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
delta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Aldrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDE	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dieldrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDD	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDT	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Mirex	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve DDT+DDD+DDE	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	98	96	99	99	99

Organochlorine Pesticides in soil				
Our Reference		329661-48	329661-49	329661-50
Your Reference	UNITS	S DUP 4	S DUP 5	S DUP 6
Depth		-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
НСВ	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
beta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Heptachlor	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
delta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Aldrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDE	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dieldrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDD	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
pp-DDT	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Mirex	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve DDT+DDD+DDE	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	95	99	95

Organophosphorus Pesticides in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-4	329661-7	329661-13	329661-16
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH202	BH203	BH205	BH206
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.4
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Dichlorvos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Mevinphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phorate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dimethoate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Diazinon	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Disulfoton	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Parathion-Methyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Ronnel	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Malathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chlorpyriphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenthion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Parathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Methidathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Ethion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phosalone	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Azinphos-methyl (Guthion)	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Coumaphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	100	98	101	101	97

Organophosphorus Pesticides in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-17	329661-21	329661-25	329661-30	329661-37
Your Reference	UNITS	BH207	BH210	BH212	BH215	BH218
Depth		0-0.4	0.1-0.3	0-0.3	0-0.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Dichlorvos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Mevinphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phorate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dimethoate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Diazinon	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Disulfoton	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Parathion-Methyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Ronnel	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Malathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chlorpyriphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenthion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Parathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Methidathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Ethion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phosalone	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Azinphos-methyl (Guthion)	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Coumaphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	95	95	96	98	97

Organophosphorus Pesticides in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-39	329661-43	329661-45	329661-46	329661-47
Your Reference	UNITS	BH219	BH220	S DUP 1	S DUP 2	S DUP 3
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Dichlorvos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Mevinphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phorate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dimethoate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Diazinon	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Disulfoton	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Parathion-Methyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Ronnel	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Malathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chlorpyriphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenthion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Parathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Methidathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Ethion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phosalone	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Azinphos-methyl (Guthion)	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Coumaphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	98	96	99	99	99

Organophosphorus Pesticides in Soil				
Our Reference		329661-48	329661-49	329661-50
Your Reference	UNITS	S DUP 4	S DUP 5	S DUP 6
Depth		-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Dichlorvos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Mevinphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phorate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dimethoate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Diazinon	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Disulfoton	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Parathion-Methyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Ronnel	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Malathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chlorpyriphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenthion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Parathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Methidathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Ethion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phosalone	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Azinphos-methyl (Guthion)	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Coumaphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	95	99	95

PCBs in Soil					_	
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-4	329661-7	329661-13	329661-16
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH202	BH203	BH205	BH206
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.4
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Total +ve PCBs (1016-1260)	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	100	98	101	101	97

PCBS IN SOIL						
Our Reference		329661-17	329661-21	329661-25	329661-30	329661-37
Your Reference	UNITS	BH207	BH210	BH212	BH215	BH218
Depth		0-0.4	0.1-0.3	0-0.3	0-0.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Total +ve PCBs (1016-1260)	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	95	95	96	98	97

PCBs in Soil						
Our Reference		329661-39	329661-43	329661-45	329661-46	329661-47
Your Reference	UNITS	BH219	BH220	S DUP 1	S DUP 2	S DUP 3
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Total +ve PCBs (1016-1260)	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	98	96	99	99	99

PCBS IN SOIL				
Our Reference		329661-48	329661-49	329661-50
Your Reference	UNITS	S DUP 4	S DUP 5	S DUP 6
Depth		-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	<1.2	<1.2	<1.2
Total +ve PCBs (1016-1260)	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	95	99	95

Acid Extractable metals in soil						
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-3	329661-4	329661-6	329661-7
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH201	BH202	BH202	BH203
Depth		0-0.2	0.8-1	0-0.2	1-1.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4	<4	<4	<4	<4
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	19	17	35	27	29
Copper	mg/kg	100	110	110	130	84
Lead	mg/kg	24	19	18	5	32
Mercury	mg/kg	0.1	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	11	13	16	12	13
Zinc	mg/kg	84	56	61	48	89

Acid Extractable metals in soil						
Our Reference		329661-9	329661-10	329661-12	329661-13	329661-15
Your Reference	UNITS	BH203	BH204	BH204	BH205	BH205
Depth		0.8-1	0-0.2	17-1.8	0-0.2	0.8-1
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4	5	<4	4	<4
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	22	10	9	10	12
Copper	mg/kg	74	60	85	30	79
Lead	mg/kg	8	18	4	15	12
Mercury	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	8	8	14	12	11
Zinc	mg/kg	17	63	21	40	35

Acid Extractable metals in soil						
Our Reference		329661-16	329661-17	329661-18	329661-19	329661-20
Your Reference	UNITS	BH206	BH207	BH208	BH208	BH209
Depth		0-0.4	0-0.4	0.1-0.3	0.7-1	0-0.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	5	<4	<4	<4	6
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	21	22	19	17	16
Copper	mg/kg	97	77	71	87	67
Lead	mg/kg	38	35	11	6	34
Mercury	mg/kg	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	12	9	7	8	13
Zinc	mg/kg	180	120	33	19	150

Acid Extractable metals in soil						
Our Reference		329661-21	329661-23	329661-24	329661-25	329661-26
Your Reference	UNITS	BH210	BH210	BH211	BH212	BH213
Depth		0.1-0.3	1-1.3	0-0.2	0-0.3	0-0.2
Date Sampled		31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4	<4	<4	<4	<4
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4	1	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	3	8	29	9	27
Copper	mg/kg	27	56	97	24	140
Lead	mg/kg	12	18	23	12	29
Mercury	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	6	10	13	3	13
Zinc	mg/kg	28	34	77	57	98

Acid Extractable metals in soil						
Our Reference		329661-28	329661-30	329661-32	329661-34	329661-35
Your Reference	UNITS	BH214	BH215	BH216	BH216	BH217
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	1.1-1.3	0.1-0.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4	4	<4	<4	12
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	23	10	18	13	3
Copper	mg/kg	84	34	110	98	44
Lead	mg/kg	15	19	13	14	16
Mercury	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	11	9	10	11	19
Zinc	mg/kg	60	56	53	44	39

Acid Extractable metals in soil						
Our Reference		329661-37	329661-39	329661-42	329661-43	329661-45
Your Reference	UNITS	BH218	BH219	BH219	BH220	S DUP 1
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	1.1-1.3	0-0.2	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4	<4	<4	<4	5
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	27	27	5	15	11
Copper	mg/kg	120	110	40	57	32
Lead	mg/kg	15	41	3	21	19
Mercury	mg/kg	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	13	10	4	8	12
Zinc	mg/kg	54	100	16	68	49

Acid Extractable metals in soil						
Our Reference		329661-46	329661-47	329661-48	329661-49	329661-50
Your Reference	UNITS	S DUP 2	S DUP 3	S DUP 4	S DUP 5	S DUP 6
Depth		-	-	-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4	<4	<4	<4	<4
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	17	22	32	27	10
Copper	mg/kg	110	79	88	97	33
Lead	mg/kg	30	13	33	28	17
Mercury	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	11	13	13	10	7
Zinc	mg/kg	79	52	95	77	53

Acid Extractable metals in soil		
Our Reference		329661-51
Your Reference	UNITS	TB1
Depth		-
Date Sampled		31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	11
Copper	mg/kg	3
Lead	mg/kg	2
Mercury	mg/kg	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	<1
Zinc	mg/kg	2

Moisture						
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-3	329661-4	329661-6	329661-7
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH201	BH202	BH202	BH203
Depth		0-0.2	0.8-1	0-0.2	1-1.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Moisture	%	13	13	24	24	16
Moisture						
Our Reference		329661-9	329661-10	329661-12	329661-13	329661-15
Your Reference	UNITS	BH203	BH204	BH204	BH205	BH205
Depth		0.8-1	0-0.2	17-1.8	0-0.2	0.8-1
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Moisture	%	31	8.5	6.9	11	9.7
Moisture						
Our Reference		329661-16	329661-17	329661-18	329661-19	329661-20
Vour Deference			PU207	BH208	BH208	BH209
Your Relefence	UNITS	BH206	DHZU/			
Depth	UNITS	BH206 0-0.4	0-0.4	0.1-0.3	0.7-1	0-0.3
Depth Date Sampled	UNITS	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023	0-0.4 31/07/2023	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023	0.7-1 31/07/2023	0-0.3 2/08/2023
Depth Date Sampled Type of sample	UNITS	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil
Depth Date Sampled Date prepared	UNITS -	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023
Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed	UNITS - -	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023
Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed Moisture	UNITS - - %	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 14	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 13	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 25	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 22	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 19
Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed Moisture	UNITS - - %	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 14	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 13	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 25	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 22	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 19
Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed Moisture Our Reference	UNITS - %	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 14 329661-21	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 13 329661-23	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 25 329661-24	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 22 329661-25	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 19 329661-26
Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed Moisture Moisture Our Reference Your Reference	UNITS - % UNITS	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 14 329661-21 BH210	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 13 329661-23 BH210	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 25 329661-24 BH211	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 22 329661-25 BH212	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 19 329661-26 BH213
Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed Moisture Our Reference Your Reference Depth	UNITS - % UNITS	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 14 329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 13 329661-23 BH210 1-1.3	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 25 329661-24 BH211 0-0.2	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 22 329661-25 BH212 0-0.3	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 19 329661-26 BH213 0-0.2
Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed Moisture Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled	UNITS - % UNITS	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 14 329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 13 329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 25 329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 22 329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 19 329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023
Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed Moisture Moisture Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample	UNITS - % UNITS	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 14 329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 13 329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 25 329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 22 329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 19 329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil
Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed Moisture Moisture Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared	UNITS - % UNITS -	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 14 329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 13 329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 25 329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 22 22 329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 19 329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023
Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed Moisture Moisture Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed	UNITS - % UNITS - UNITS -	BH206 0-0.4 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 14 329661-21 BH210 0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023	0-0.4 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 13 329661-23 BH210 1-1.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023	0.1-0.3 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023 25 329661-24 BH211 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 07/08/2023	0.7-1 31/07/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 22 329661-25 BH212 0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023	0-0.3 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023 19 329661-26 BH213 0-0.2 2/08/2023 Soil 04/08/2023

Moisture						
Our Reference		329661-28	329661-30	329661-32	329661-34	329661-35
Your Reference	UNITS	BH214	BH215	BH216	BH216	BH217
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	1.1-1.3	0.1-0.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Moisture	%	12	12	22	10	25
Moisture						
Our Reference		329661-37	329661-39	329661-42	329661-43	329661-45
Your Reference	UNITS	BH218	BH219	BH219	BH220	S DUP 1
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.2	1.1-1.3	0-0.2	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Moisture	%	29	24	11	11	13
Moisture						
Our Reference		329661-46	329661-47	329661-48	329661-49	329661-50
Your Reference	UNITS	S DUP 2	S DUP 3	S DUP 4	S DUP 5	S DUP 6
Depth		-	-	-	-	-
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Moisture	%	14	24	20	23	13
Moisture				-	-	-
Our Reference		320661-51				

Our Reference		329661-51
Your Reference	UNITS	TB1
Depth		-
Date Sampled		31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date prepared	-	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023
Moisture	%	0.1

Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASB-001						
Our Reference		329661-2	329661-4	329661-7	329661-10	329661-13
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH202	BH203	BH204	BH205
Depth		0.4-0.6	0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date analysed	-	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023
Sample mass tested	g	625.91	587.98	558.3	466.08	486.49
Sample Description	-	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Brown fine- grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks
Asbestos ID in soil (AS4964) >0.1g/kg	-	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg				
		Organic fibres detected				
Trace Analysis	-	No asbestos detected				
Total Asbestos ^{#1}	g/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Asbestos ID in soil <0.1g/kg*	-	No visible asbestos detected				
ACM >7mm Estimation*	g	-	_	-	-	-
FA and AF Estimation*	g	-	-	-	-	-
ACM >7mm Estimation*	%(w/w)	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
FA and AF Estimation*#2	%(w/w)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001

Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASB-001						
Our Reference		329661-16	329661-17	329661-18	329661-20	329661-22
Your Reference	UNITS	BH206	BH207	BH208	BH209	BH210
Depth		0-0.4	0-0.4	0.1-0.3	0-0.3	0.7-1
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	31/07/2023	31/07/2023	2/08/2023	31/07/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date analysed	-	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023
Sample mass tested	g	488.77	575.88	372.79	545.17	429.96
Sample Description	-	Brown fine- grained soil & rocks	Brown fine- grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Black coarse- grained soil & rocks
Asbestos ID in soil (AS4964) >0.1g/kg	-	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg				
		Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected
Trace Analysis	-	No asbestos detected				
Total Asbestos ^{#1}	g/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Asbestos ID in soil <0.1g/kg*	-	No visible asbestos detected				
ACM >7mm Estimation*	g	-	_	_	-	-
FA and AF Estimation*	g	-	-	-	-	-
ACM >7mm Estimation*	%(w/w)	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
FA and AF Estimation*#2	%(w/w)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001

Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASB-001						
Our Reference		329661-24	329661-25	329661-26	329661-28	329661-30
Your Reference	UNITS	BH211	BH212	BH213	BH214	BH215
Depth		0-0.2	0-0.3	0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023	2/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date analysed	-	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023
Sample mass tested	g	669.09	704.95	537.41	454.61	587
Sample Description	-	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Brown sandy soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks
Asbestos ID in soil (AS4964) >0.1g/kg	-	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg				
		Organic fibres detected				
Trace Analysis	-	No asbestos detected				
Total Asbestos ^{#1}	g/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Asbestos ID in soil <0.1g/kg*	-	No visible asbestos detected				
ACM >7mm Estimation*	g	-	_	_	-	-
FA and AF Estimation*	g	-	-	-	-	-
ACM >7mm Estimation*	%(w/w)	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
FA and AF Estimation*#2	%(w/w)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001

Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASB-001						
Our Reference		329661-32	329661-35	329661-37	329661-39	329661-43
Your Reference	UNITS	BH216	BH217	BH218	BH219	BH220
Depth		0-0.2	0.1-0.3	0-0.2	0-0.2	0-0.2
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date analysed	-	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023	10/08/2023
Sample mass tested	g	502.82	284.45	479.5	556.66	619.48
Sample Description	-	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Black fine-grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks
Asbestos ID in soil (AS4964) >0.1g/kg	-	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg				
		Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected
Trace Analysis	-	No asbestos detected				
Total Asbestos ^{#1}	g/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Asbestos ID in soil <0.1g/kg*	-	No visible asbestos detected				
ACM >7mm Estimation*	g	-	-	-	-	-
FA and AF Estimation*	g	-	-	-	-	-
ACM >7mm Estimation*	%(w/w)	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
FA and AF Estimation*#2	%(w/w)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Misc Inorg - Soil						
-------------------	----------	------------	------------	------------		
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-23	329661-32		
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH210	BH216		
Depth		0-0.2	1-1.3	0-0.2		
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023		
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil		
Date prepared	-	08/08/2023	08/08/2023	08/08/2023		
Date analysed	-	08/08/2023	08/08/2023	08/08/2023		
pH 1:5 soil:water	pH Units	9.2	8.6	7.4		

CEC				
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-23	329661-32
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH210	BH216
Depth		0-0.2	1-1.3	0-0.2
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	09/08/2023	09/08/2023	09/08/2023
Date analysed	-	09/08/2023	09/08/2023	09/08/2023
Exchangeable Ca	meq/100g	38	27	20
Exchangeable K	meq/100g	0.5	0.3	0.1
Exchangeable Mg	meq/100g	1.9	4.0	6.7
Exchangeable Na	meq/100g	0.1	0.1	0.1
Cation Exchange Capacity	meq/100g	40	32	27

Clay 50-120g				
Our Reference		329661-1	329661-23	329661-32
Your Reference	UNITS	BH201	BH210	BH216
Depth		0-0.2	1-1.3	0-0.2
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	08/08/2023	08/08/2023	08/08/2023
Date analysed	-	09/08/2023	09/08/2023	09/08/2023
Clay in soils <2µm	% (w/w)	17	15	46

vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Water		
Our Reference		329661-52
Your Reference	UNITS	FR1-HA
Depth		-
Date Sampled		02/08/2023
Type of sample		Water
Date extracted	-	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-	07/08/2023
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	µg/L	59
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	µg/L	69
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀ less BTEX (F1)	μg/L	69
Benzene	µg/L	<1
Toluene	µg/L	<1
Ethylbenzene	µg/L	<1
m+p-xylene	µg/L	<2
o-xylene	µg/L	<1
Naphthalene	µg/L	<1
Surrogate Dibromofluoromethane	%	103
Surrogate toluene-d8	%	100
Surrogate 4-BFB	%	100

svTRH (C10-C40) in Water		
Our Reference		329661-52
Your Reference	UNITS	FR1-HA
Depth		-
Date Sampled		02/08/2023
Type of sample		Water
Date extracted	-	11/08/2023
Date analysed	-	11/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	µg/L	<50
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	µg/L	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	µg/L	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	µg/L	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆	µg/L	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2)	µg/L	<50
TRH >C ₁₆ - C ₃₄	µg/L	<100
TRH >C ₃₄ - C ₄₀	µg/L	<100
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	μg/L	<50
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	83

PAHe in Water		
		329661-52
Vour Deference	LINUTO	
	UNITS	FRI-DA
Depth		-
Date Sampled		02/08/2023
Type of sample		Water
Date extracted	-	11/08/2023
Date analysed	-	11/08/2023
Naphthalene	μg/L	<0.2
Acenaphthylene	µg/L	<0.1
Acenaphthene	μg/L	<0.1
Fluorene	µg/L	<0.1
Phenanthrene	µg/L	<0.1
Anthracene	µg/L	<0.1
Fluoranthene	µg/L	<0.1
Pyrene	µg/L	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	µg/L	<0.1
Chrysene	µg/L	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	µg/L	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	µg/L	<0.1
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	µg/L	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	μg/L	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	μg/L	<0.1
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ	μg/L	<0.5
Total +ve PAH's	μg/L	<0.1
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	82

Metals in Waters - Acid extractable		
Our Reference		329661-52
Your Reference	UNITS	FR1-HA
Depth		-
Date Sampled		02/08/2023
Type of sample		Water
Date prepared	-	07/08/2023
Date analysed	-	08/08/2023
Arsenic - Total	mg/L	<0.05
Cadmium - Total	mg/L	<0.01
Chromium - Total	mg/L	<0.01
Copper - Total	mg/L	0.8
Lead - Total	mg/L	<0.03
Mercury - Total	mg/L	<0.0005
Nickel - Total	mg/L	<0.02
Zinc - Total	mg/L	<0.02

Method ID	Methodology Summary
AS1289.3.6.3	Particle Size Distribution using in house method INORG-107 by way of sieving and/or hydrometer sedimentation testing. Clay fraction at <2µm reported.
ASB-001	Asbestos ID - Qualitative identification of asbestos in bulk samples using Polarised Light Microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques including Synthetic Mineral Fibre and Organic Fibre as per Australian Standard 4964-2004.
ASB-001	Asbestos ID - Identification of asbestos in soil samples using Polarised Light Microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques. Minimum 500mL soil sample was analysed as recommended by "National Environment Protection (Assessment of site contamination) Measure, Schedule B1 and "The Guidelines from the Assessment, Remediation and Management of Asbestos- Contaminated Sites in Western Australia - May 2009" with a reporting limit of 0.1g/kg (0.01% w/w) as per Australian Standard AS4964-2004. Results reported denoted with * are outside our scope of NATA accreditation.
	NOTE ^{#1} Total Asbestos g/kg was analysed and reported as per Australian Standard AS4964 (This is the sum of ACM >7mm, <7mm and FA/AF)
	NOTE ^{#2} The screening level of 0.001% w/w asbestos in soil for FA and AF only applies where the FA and AF are able to be quantified by gravimetric procedures. This screening level is not applicable to free fibres.
	Estimation = Estimated asbestos weight
	Results reported with "" is equivalent to no visible asbestos identified using Polarised Light microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques.
Inorg-001	pH - Measured using pH meter and electrode in accordance with APHA latest edition, 4500-H+. Please note that the results for water analyses are indicative only, as analysis outside of the APHA storage times.
Inorg-008	Moisture content determined by heating at 105+/-5 °C for a minimum of 12 hours.
Metals-020	Determination of various metals by ICP-AES.
Metals-020	Determination of exchangeable cations and cation exchange capacity in soils using 1M Ammonium Chloride exchange and ICP-OES analytical finish.
Metals-021	Determination of Mercury by Cold Vapour AAS.
Org-020	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-FID. F2 = (>C10-C16)-Naphthalene as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater (HSLs Tables 1A (3, 4)). Note Naphthalene is determined from the VOC analysis.

Method ID	Methodology Summary
Org-020	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-FID.
	F2 = (>C10-C16)-Naphthalene as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater (HSLs Tables 1A (3, 4)). Note Naphthalene is determined from the VOC analysis.
	Note, the Total +ve TRH PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore "Total +ve TRH" is simply a sum of the positive individual TRH fractions (>C10-C40).
Org-021	Soil samples are extracted with dichloromethane/acetone and waters with dichloromethane and analysed by GC-ECD.
Org-021	Soil samples are extracted with dichloromethane/acetone and waters with dichloromethane and analysed by GC-ECD. Note, the Total +ve PCBs PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore" Total +ve PCBs" is simply a sum of the positive individual PCBs.
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS/GC-MSMS.
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with dichloromethane/acetone and waters with dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS/GC-MSMS.
	Note, the Total +ve reported DDD+DDE+DDT PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore simply a sum of the positive individually report DDD+DDE+DDT.
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS/GC-MSMS. Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater - 2013.
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS and/or GC-MS/MS. Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater - 2013. For soil results:- 1. 'EQ PQL'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql actually="" and="" approach="" are="" at="" be="" calculation="" can="" conservative="" contribute="" false="" give="" given="" is="" may="" most="" not="" pahs="" positive="" pql.="" present.<br="" teq="" teqs="" that="" the="" this="" to="">2. 'EQ zero'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql and="" approach="" are="" below="" but="" calculation="" conservative="" contribute="" false="" is="" least="" more="" negative="" pahs="" pql.<br="" present="" susceptible="" teq="" teqs="" that="" the="" this="" to="" when="" zero.="">3. 'EQ half PQL'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql a="" above.<br="" and="" approaches="" are="" between="" conservative="" half="" hence="" least="" mid-point="" most="" pql.="" stipulated="" the="">Note, the Total +ve PAHs PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore "Total +ve PAHs" is simply a sum of the positive individual PAHs.</pql></pql></pql>
Org-023	Water samples are analysed directly by purge and trap GC-MS.
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS.
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS. Water samples are analysed directly by purge and trap GC-MS. F1 = (C6-C10)-BTEX as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater.
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS. Water samples are analysed directly by purge and trap GC-MS. F1 = (C6-C10)-BTEX as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater. Note, the Total +ve Xylene PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore "Total +ve Xylenes" is simply a sum of the positive individual Xylenes.

QUALITY CONT	QUALITY CONTROL: vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil					Du	Spike Recovery %			
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-9	329661-4
Date extracted	-			04/08/2023	1	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			04/08/2023	1	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	mg/kg	25	Org-023	<25	1	<25	<25	0	86	117
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	mg/kg	25	Org-023	<25	1	<25	<25	0	86	117
Benzene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-023	<0.2	1	<0.2	<0.2	0	72	101
Toluene	mg/kg	0.5	Org-023	<0.5	1	<0.5	<0.5	0	80	112
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	89	120
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	2	Org-023	<2	1	<2	<2	0	95	125
o-Xylene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	95	128
Naphthalene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%		Org-023	75	1	94	119	23	88	107

QUALITY CONTROL: vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						Du	Spike Recovery %			
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-10	329661-21
Date extracted	-			[NT]	13	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			[NT]	13	05/08/2023	05/08/2023		05/08/2023	09/08/2023
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	mg/kg	25	Org-023	[NT]	13	<25	<25	0	82	83
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	mg/kg	25	Org-023	[NT]	13	<25	<25	0	82	83
Benzene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-023	[NT]	13	<0.2	<0.2	0	68	84
Toluene	mg/kg	0.5	Org-023	[NT]	13	<0.5	<0.5	0	75	82
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	[NT]	13	<1	<1	0	85	82
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	2	Org-023	[NT]	13	<2	<2	0	91	83
o-Xylene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	[NT]	13	<1	<1	0	91	84
Naphthalene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	[NT]	13	<1	<1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%		Org-023	[NT]	13	104	104	0	83	77

QUALITY CONTROL: vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						Duplicate				Spike Recovery %	
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]	
Date extracted	-			[NT]	25	04/08/2023	04/08/2023			[NT]	
Date analysed	-			[NT]	25	05/08/2023	05/08/2023			[NT]	
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	mg/kg	25	Org-023	[NT]	25	<25	<25	0		[NT]	
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	mg/kg	25	Org-023	[NT]	25	<25	<25	0		[NT]	
Benzene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-023	[NT]	25	<0.2	<0.2	0		[NT]	
Toluene	mg/kg	0.5	Org-023	[NT]	25	<0.5	<0.5	0		[NT]	
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	[NT]	25	<1	<1	0		[NT]	
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	2	Org-023	[NT]	25	<2	<2	0		[NT]	
o-Xylene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	[NT]	25	<1	<1	0		[NT]	
Naphthalene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	[NT]	25	<1	<1	0		[NT]	
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%		Org-023	[NT]	25	126	121	4		[NT]	

QUALITY CONT	ROL: vTRH	(C6-C10)	BTEXN in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-			[NT]	39	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Date analysed	-			[NT]	39	05/08/2023	05/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	mg/kg	25	Org-023	[NT]	39	<25	<25	0	[NT]	[NT]
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	mg/kg	25	Org-023	[NT]	39	<25	<25	0	[NT]	[NT]
Benzene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-023	[NT]	39	<0.2	<0.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Toluene	mg/kg	0.5	Org-023	[NT]	39	<0.5	<0.5	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	[NT]	39	<1	<1	0	[NT]	[NT]
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	2	Org-023	[NT]	39	<2	<2	0	[NT]	[NT]
o-Xylene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	[NT]	39	<1	<1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Naphthalene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	[NT]	39	<1	<1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%		Org-023	[NT]	39	88	119	30	[NT]	[NT]

QUALITY CO	NTROL: svT	RH (C10	-C40) in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-9	329661-4
Date extracted	-			04/08/2023	1	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			05/08/2023	1	06/08/2023	06/08/2023		06/08/2023	06/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	50	Org-020	<50	1	<50	<50	0	104	103
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	103	110
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	114	88
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	50	Org-020	<50	1	<50	<50	0	104	103
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	103	110
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	114	88
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%		Org-020	86	1	87	86	1	96	100

QUALITY CO	NTROL: svT	RH (C10	-C40) in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-10	329661-21
Date extracted	-			[NT]	13	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			[NT]	13	06/08/2023	06/08/2023		05/08/2023	05/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	50	Org-020	[NT]	13	<50	<50	0	109	107
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	100	Org-020	[NT]	13	<100	<100	0	112	110
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	100	Org-020	[NT]	13	<100	<100	0	129	98
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	50	Org-020	[NT]	13	<50	<50	0	109	107
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	100	Org-020	[NT]	13	<100	<100	0	112	110
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	100	Org-020	[NT]	13	<100	<100	0	129	98
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%		Org-020	[NT]	13	85	85	0	95	102

QUALITY CO	NTROL: svT	RH (C10-	-C40) in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-			[NT]	25	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	
Date analysed	-			[NT]	25	05/08/2023	05/08/2023		[NT]	
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	50	Org-020	[NT]	25	<50	<50	0	[NT]	
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	100	Org-020	[NT]	25	<100	<100	0	[NT]	
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	100	Org-020	[NT]	25	<100	<100	0	[NT]	
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	50	Org-020	[NT]	25	<50	<50	0	[NT]	
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	100	Org-020	[NT]	25	<100	<100	0	[NT]	
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	100	Org-020	[NT]	25	<100	<100	0	[NT]	
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%		Org-020	[NT]	25	86	85	1	[NT]	[NT]

QUALITY CONTROL: svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil						Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-				39	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	
Date analysed	-				39	05/08/2023	05/08/2023		[NT]	
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	50	Org-020		39	<50	<50	0	[NT]	
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	100	Org-020		39	<100	<100	0	[NT]	
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	100	Org-020		39	<100	<100	0	[NT]	
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	50	Org-020		39	<50	<50	0	[NT]	
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	100	Org-020		39	<100	<100	0	[NT]	
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	100	Org-020		39	<100	<100	0	[NT]	
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%		Org-020	[NT]	39	86	88	2	[NT]	[NT]

QUALIT	Y CONTRC	L: PAHs	in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-9	329661-4
Date extracted	-			04/08/2023	1	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			07/08/2023	1	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	84	93
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	85	93
Fluorene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	82	88
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	86	88
Anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	86	90
Pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	87	91
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chrysene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	89	91
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-022/025	<0.2	1	<0.2	<0.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	0.05	Org-022/025	<0.05	1	<0.05	<0.05	0	86	90
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%		Org-022/025	78	1	91	89	2	90	95

QUALIT	Y CONTRO	L: PAHs	in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-10	329661-21
Date extracted	-			[NT]	13	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			[NT]	13	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	92	92
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	91	84
Fluorene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	86	83
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	86	100
Anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	86	87
Pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	91	86
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chrysene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	91	89
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.2	<0.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	0.05	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.05	<0.05	0	94	71
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%		Org-022/025	[NT]	13	76	77	1	90	84

QUALIT	TY CONTRC	L: PAHs	in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-			[NT]	25	04/08/2023	04/08/2023			[NT]
Date analysed	-			[NT]	25	07/08/2023	07/08/2023			[NT]
Naphthalene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Fluorene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Chrysene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.2	<0.2	0		[NT]
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	0.05	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.05	<0.05	0		[NT]
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0		[NT]
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%		Org-022/025	[NT]	25	87	89	2		[NT]

QUALIT	Y CONTRO	L: PAHs	in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-			[NT]	39	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	
Date analysed	-			[NT]	39	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		[NT]	
Naphthalene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Fluorene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Chrysene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.2	<0.2	0	[NT]	
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	0.05	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.05	<0.05	0	[NT]	
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%		Org-022/025	[NT]	39	83	80	4	[NT]	

QUALITY CONTR	OL: Organo	chlorine F	Pesticides in soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-9	329661-4
Date extracted	-			04/08/2023	1	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			07/08/2023	1	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		07/08/2023	07/08/2023
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	88	92
НСВ	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
beta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	92	93
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Heptachlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	87	91
delta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	95	97
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	84	88
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDE	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	101	107
Dieldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	92	101
Endrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	103	102
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDD	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	84	90
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDT	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	80	89
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Mirex	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-022/025	101	1	100	100	0	99	107

QUALITY CONTR	OL: Organo	chlorine F	Pesticides in soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-10	329661-21
Date extracted	-			[NT]	13	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			[NT]	13	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		07/08/2023	07/08/2023
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	92	95
НСВ	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
beta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	96	93
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Heptachlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	87	85
delta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	93	95
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	90	88
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDE	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	101	105
Dieldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	98	105
Endrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	102	113
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDD	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	88	94
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDT	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	82	85
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Mirex	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-022/025	[NT]	13	101	98	3	103	94

QUALITY CONTR	OL: Organo	chlorine F	Pesticides in soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-			[NT]	25	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Date analysed	-			[NT]	25	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
НСВ	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
beta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Heptachlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
delta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDE	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dieldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDD	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDT	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Mirex	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-022/025	[NT]	25	96	95	1	[NT]	[NT]

QUALITY CONTR	OL: Organo	chlorine F	Pesticides in soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-			[NT]	39	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Date analysed	-			[NT]	39	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
НСВ	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
beta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Heptachlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
delta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDE	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dieldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDD	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDT	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Mirex	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-022/025	[NT]	39	98	98	0	[NT]	[NT]

QUALITY CONTRO	L: Organoph	nosphorus	s Pesticides in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-9	329661-4
Date extracted	-			04/08/2023	1	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			07/08/2023	1	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Dichlorvos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	109	125
Mevinphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Phorate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dimethoate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Diazinon	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Disulfoton	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion-Methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ronnel	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	79	87
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	93	100
Malathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	91	108
Chlorpyriphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	90	92
Fenthion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	87	99
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Methidathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ethion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	82	88
Phosalone	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Azinphos-methyl (Guthion)	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Coumaphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-022/025	101	1	100	100	0	99	107

QUALITY CONTRO	L: Organoph	nosphorus	s Pesticides in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-10	329661-21
Date extracted	-			[NT]	13	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			[NT]	13	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Dichlorvos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	121	122
Mevinphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Phorate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dimethoate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Diazinon	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Disulfoton	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion-Methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ronnel	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	83	85
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	97	107
Malathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	105	108
Chlorpyriphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	90	92
Fenthion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	91	105
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Methidathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ethion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	92	97
Phosalone	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Azinphos-methyl (Guthion)	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Coumaphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-022/025	[NT]	13	101	98	3	103	94

QUALITY CONTRO	L: Organoph	nosphorus	s Pesticides in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-				25	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Date analysed	-				25	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Dichlorvos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Mevinphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Phorate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dimethoate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Diazinon	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Disulfoton	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion-Methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ronnel	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Malathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chlorpyriphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenthion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Methidathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ethion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Phosalone	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Azinphos-methyl (Guthion)	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Coumaphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025		25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-022/025		25	96	95	1	[NT]	[NT]

QUALITY CONTRO	L: Organoph	nosphorus	s Pesticides in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-			[NT]	39	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Date analysed	-			[NT]	39	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Dichlorvos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Mevinphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Phorate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dimethoate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Diazinon	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Disulfoton	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion-Methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ronnel	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Malathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chlorpyriphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenthion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Methidathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ethion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Phosalone	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Azinphos-methyl (Guthion)	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Coumaphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	[NT]	39	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-022/025	[NT]	39	98	98	0	[NT]	[NT]

QUALIT	Y CONTRO	L: PCBs	in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-9	329661-4
Date extracted	-			04/08/2023	1	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			07/08/2023	1	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<1.2	<1.2	0	83	100
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-021	101	1	100	100	0	99	107

QUALIT	Y CONTRO	L: PCBs	in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-10	329661-21
Date extracted	-			[NT]	13	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			[NT]	13	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	13	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	13	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	13	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	13	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	13	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	13	<1.2	<1.2	0	102	90
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	13	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-021	[NT]	13	101	98	3	103	94

QUALIT	Y CONTRO	in Soil			Du	plicate		covery %		
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-			[NT]	25	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Date analysed	-			[NT]	25	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	25	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	25	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	25	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	25	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	25	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	25	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	25	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-021	[NT]	25	96	95	1	[NT]	[NT]

QUALITY CONTROL: PCBs in Soil						Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date extracted	-			[NT]	39	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Date analysed	-			[NT]	39	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	39	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	39	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	39	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	39	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	39	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	39	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	[NT]	39	<1.2	<1.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-021	[NT]	39	98	98	0	[NT]	[NT]

QUALITY CONTROL: Acid Extractable metals in soil						Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-9	329661-4
Date prepared	-			04/08/2023	1	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			07/08/2023	1	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	4	Metals-020	<4	1	<4	<4	0	104	76
Cadmium	mg/kg	0.4	Metals-020	<0.4	1	<0.4	<0.4	0	101	79
Chromium	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	1	19	23	19	106	80
Copper	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	1	100	110	10	106	89
Lead	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	1	24	31	25	104	77
Mercury	mg/kg	0.1	Metals-021	<0.1	1	0.1	<0.1	0	78	82
Nickel	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	1	11	12	9	101	80
Zinc	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	1	84	96	13	102	82

QUALITY CONT			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %			
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-10	329661-21
Date prepared	-			[NT]	13	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		04/08/2023	04/08/2023
Date analysed	-			[NT]	13	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		07/08/2023	07/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	4	Metals-020	[NT]	13	4	<4	0	97	91
Cadmium	mg/kg	0.4	Metals-020	[NT]	13	<0.4	<0.4	0	94	82
Chromium	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	13	10	10	0	96	88
Copper	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	13	30	28	7	98	122
Lead	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	13	15	15	0	95	80
Mercury	mg/kg	0.1	Metals-021	[NT]	13	<0.1	<0.1	0	83	89
Nickel	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	13	12	13	8	93	86
Zinc	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	13	40	38	5	94	89

QUALITY CONT	QUALITY CONTROL: Acid Extractable metals in soil					Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date prepared	-			[NT]	25	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Date analysed	-			[NT]	25	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Arsenic	mg/kg	4	Metals-020	[NT]	25	<4	4	0	[NT]	[NT]
Cadmium	mg/kg	0.4	Metals-020	[NT]	25	<0.4	<0.4	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chromium	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	25	9	9	0	[NT]	[NT]
Copper	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	25	24	24	0	[NT]	[NT]
Lead	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	25	12	12	0	[NT]	[NT]
Mercury	mg/kg	0.1	Metals-021	[NT]	25	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Nickel	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	25	3	4	29	[NT]	[NT]
Zinc	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	25	57	62	8	[NT]	[NT]

QUALITY CONT		Du	Spike Recovery %							
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	[NT]	[NT]
Date prepared	-			[NT]	39	04/08/2023	04/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Date analysed	-			[NT]	39	07/08/2023	07/08/2023		[NT]	[NT]
Arsenic	mg/kg	4	Metals-020	[NT]	39	<4	<4	0	[NT]	[NT]
Cadmium	mg/kg	0.4	Metals-020	[NT]	39	<0.4	<0.4	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chromium	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	39	27	25	8	[NT]	[NT]
Copper	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	39	110	100	10	[NT]	[NT]
Lead	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	39	41	44	7	[NT]	[NT]
Mercury	mg/kg	0.1	Metals-021	[NT]	39	0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Nickel	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	39	10	10	0	[NT]	[NT]
Zinc	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	[NT]	39	100	110	10	[NT]	[NT]

QUALITY	Duplicate				Spike Recovery %					
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]
Date prepared	-			08/08/2023	1	08/08/2023	08/08/2023		08/08/2023	[NT]
Date analysed	-			08/08/2023	1	08/08/2023	08/08/2023		08/08/2023	[NT]
pH 1:5 soil:water	pH Units		Inorg-001	[NT]	1	9.2	9.4	2	102	[NT]

QU.	Duplicate				Spike Recovery %					
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W1	[NT]
Date prepared	-			09/08/2023	1	09/08/2023	09/08/2023		09/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			09/08/2023	1	09/08/2023	09/08/2023		09/08/2023	
Exchangeable Ca	meq/100g	0.1	Metals-020	<0.1	1	38	39	3	108	
Exchangeable K	meq/100g	0.1	Metals-020	<0.1	1	0.5	0.5	0	106	
Exchangeable Mg	meq/100g	0.1	Metals-020	<0.1	1	1.9	1.9	0	105	
Exchangeable Na	meq/100g	0.1	Metals-020	<0.1	1	0.1	<0.1	0	92	[NT]

QUALITY CONTR	ROL: vTRH((C6-C10)/E	BTEXN in Water			Du	plicate		Spike Recovery %	
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W3	[NT]
Date extracted	-			04/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	04/08/2023	[NT]
Date analysed	-			04/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	07/08/2023	[NT]
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	µg/L	10	Org-023	<10	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	108	[NT]
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	µg/L	10	Org-023	<10	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	108	[NT]
Benzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	107	[NT]
Toluene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	106	[NT]
Ethylbenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	109	[NT]
m+p-xylene	µg/L	2	Org-023	<2	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	108	[NT]
o-xylene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	109	[NT]
Naphthalene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate Dibromofluoromethane	%		Org-023	100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	101	[NT]
Surrogate toluene-d8	%		Org-023	99	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	99	[NT]
Surrogate 4-BFB	%		Org-023	99	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	102	[NT]

QUALITY CON		Duj	Spike Recovery %							
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W1	[NT]
Date extracted	-			11/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	11/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			11/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	11/08/2023	
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	µg/L	50	Org-020	<50	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	95	
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	µg/L	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	102	
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	µg/L	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	100	
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆	µg/L	50	Org-020	<50	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	95	
TRH >C ₁₆ - C ₃₄	µg/L	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	102	
TRH >C ₃₄ - C ₄₀	µg/L	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	100	
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%		Org-020	88	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	120	[NT]

QUALITY	Y CONTROL	.: PAHs ir	n Water			Du	plicate		Spike Red	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W1	[NT]
Date extracted	-			11/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	11/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			11/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	11/08/2023	
Naphthalene	µg/L	0.2	Org-022/025	<0.2	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	80	
Acenaphthylene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Acenaphthene	μg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	78	
Fluorene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	80	
Phenanthrene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	82	
Anthracene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Fluoranthene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	88	
Pyrene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	90	
Benzo(a)anthracene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Chrysene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	80	
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	µg/L	0.2	Org-022/025	<0.2	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Benzo(a)pyrene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	107	
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%		Org-022/025	96	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	104	[NT]

QUALITY CONTRO		Duplicate				Spike Recovery %				
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W1	[NT]
Date prepared	-			07/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	07/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			08/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	08/08/2023	
Arsenic - Total	mg/L	0.05	Metals-020	<0.05	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	109	
Cadmium - Total	mg/L	0.01	Metals-020	<0.01	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	103	
Chromium - Total	mg/L	0.01	Metals-020	<0.01	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	103	
Copper - Total	mg/L	0.01	Metals-020	<0.01	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	105	
Lead - Total	mg/L	0.03	Metals-020	<0.03	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	109	
Mercury - Total	mg/L	0.0005	Metals-021	<0.0005	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	117	
Nickel - Total	mg/L	0.02	Metals-020	<0.02	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	107	
Zinc - Total	mg/L	0.02	Metals-020	<0.02	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	104	

Result Definiti	ons
NT	Not tested
NA	Test not required
INS	Insufficient sample for this test
PQL	Practical Quantitation Limit
<	Less than
>	Greater than
RPD	Relative Percent Difference
LCS	Laboratory Control Sample
NS	Not specified
NEPM	National Environmental Protection Measure
NR	Not Reported

Quality Control	Quality Control Definitions							
Blank	This is the component of the analytical signal which is not derived from the sample but from reagents, glassware etc, can be determined by processing solvents and reagents in exactly the same manner as for samples.							
Duplicate	This is the complete duplicate analysis of a sample from the process batch. If possible, the sample selected should be one where the analyte concentration is easily measurable.							
Matrix Spike	A portion of the sample is spiked with a known concentration of target analyte. The purpose of the matrix spike is to monitor the performance of the analytical method used and to determine whether matrix interferences exist.							
LCS (Laboratory Control Sample)	This comprises either a standard reference material or a control matrix (such as a blank sand or water) fortified with analytes representative of the analyte class. It is simply a check sample.							
Surrogate Spike	Surrogates are known additions to each sample, blank, matrix spike and LCS in a batch, of compounds which are similar to the analyte of interest, however are not expected to be found in real samples.							

Australian Drinking Water Guidelines recommend that Thermotolerant Coliform, Faecal Enterococci, & E.Coli levels are less than 1cfu/100mL. The recommended maximums are taken from "Australian Drinking Water Guidelines", published by NHMRC & ARMC 2011.

The recommended maximums for analytes in urine are taken from "2018 TLVs and BEIs", as published by ACGIH (where available). Limit provided for Nickel is a precautionary guideline as per Position Paper prepared by AIOH Exposure Standards Committee, 2016.

Guideline limits for Rinse Water Quality reported as per analytical requirements and specifications of AS 4187, Amdt 2 2019, Table 7.2

Laboratory Acceptance Criteria

Duplicate sample and matrix spike recoveries may not be reported on smaller jobs, however, were analysed at a frequency to meet or exceed NEPM requirements. All samples are tested in batches of 20. The duplicate sample RPD and matrix spike recoveries for the batch were within the laboratory acceptance criteria.

Filters, swabs, wipes, tubes and badges will not have duplicate data as the whole sample is generally extracted during sample extraction.

Spikes for Physical and Aggregate Tests are not applicable.

For VOCs in water samples, three vials are required for duplicate or spike analysis.

Duplicates: >10xPQL - RPD acceptance criteria will vary depending on the analytes and the analytical techniques but is typically in the range 20%-50% – see ELN-P05 QA/QC tables for details; <10xPQL - RPD are higher as the results approach PQL and the estimated measurement uncertainty will statistically increase.

Matrix Spikes, LCS and Surrogate recoveries: Generally 70-130% for inorganics/metals (not SPOCAS); 60-140% for organics/SPOCAS (+/-50% surrogates) and 10-140% for labile SVOCs (including labile surrogates), ultra trace organics and speciated phenols is acceptable.

In circumstances where no duplicate and/or sample spike has been reported at 1 in 10 and/or 1 in 20 samples respectively, the sample volume submitted was insufficient in order to satisfy laboratory QA/QC protocols.

When samples are received where certain analytes are outside of recommended technical holding times (THTs), the analysis has proceeded. Where analytes are on the verge of breaching THTs, every effort will be made to analyse within the THT or as soon as practicable.

Where sampling dates are not provided, Envirolab are not in a position to comment on the validity of the analysis where recommended technical holding times may have been breached.

Where matrix spike recoveries fall below the lower limit of the acceptance criteria (e.g. for non-labile or standard Organics <60%), positive result(s) in the parent sample will subsequently have a higher than typical estimated uncertainty (MU estimates supplied on request) and in these circumstances the sample result is likely biased significantly low.

Measurement Uncertainty estimates are available for most tests upon request.

Analysis of aqueous samples typically involves the extraction/digestion and/or analysis of the liquid phase only (i.e. NOT any settled sediment phase but inclusive of suspended particles if present), unless stipulated on the Envirolab COC and/or by correspondence. Notable exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, total recoverable metals and PFAS where solids are included by default.

Samples for Microbiological analysis (not Amoeba forms) received outside of the 2-8°C temperature range do not meet the ideal cooling conditions as stated in AS2031-2012.

Report Comments

Asbestos-ID in soil: NEPM

This report is consistent with the reporting recommendations in the National Environment Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure, Schedule B1, May 2013. This is reported outside our scope of NATA accreditation.

Note: All samples analysed as received. However, sample 329661-35 is below the minimum recommended 500mL sample volume as per National Environment Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure, Schedule B1, May 2013.


Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

SAMPLE RECEIPT ADVICE

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor

Sample Login Details	
Your reference	E34300PT2, Warrawong
Envirolab Reference	329661
Date Sample Received	03/08/2023
Date Instructions Received	03/08/2023
Date Results Expected to be Reported	11/08/2023

Sample Condition	
Samples received in appropriate condition for analysis	Yes
No. of Samples Provided	53 Soil, 1 Water
Turnaround Time Requested	Standard
Temperature on Receipt (°C)	14
Cooling Method	Ice
Sampling Date Provided	YES

Comments Nil

Please direct any queries to:

Aileen Hie	Jacinta Hurst
Phone: 02 9910 6200	Phone: 02 9910 6200
Fax: 02 9910 6201	Fax: 02 9910 6201
Email: ahie@envirolab.com.au	Email: jhurst@envirolab.com.au

Analysis Underway, details on the following page:

Envirolab Services Pty Ltd

ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au



Sample ID	vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soi	svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil	PAHs in Soil	Organochlorine Pesticides in s	Organophosphorus Pesticides Soil	PCBs in Soil	Acid Extractable metalsin so	Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - AS 001	Misc Inorg - Soil	CEC	Clay 50-120g	vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Wat	svTRH (C10-C40) in Water	PAHs in Water	Metals in Waters -Acid extractable	On Hold
BH201-0-0.2	✓	✓	✓	√	✓	✓	✓		✓	✓	✓					
BH201-0.4-0.6								✓								
BH201-0.8-1	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark									
BH202-0-0.2	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark								
BH202-0.4-0.6																\checkmark
BH202-1-1.2	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark									
BH203-0-0.2	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark								
BH203-0.4-0.6																\checkmark
BH203-0.8-1	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark									
BH204-0-0.2	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark								
BH204-0.5-0.95																\checkmark
BH204-17-1.8	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark									
BH205-0-0.2	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓								
BH205-0.4-0.5																\checkmark
BH205-0.8-1	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark									
BH206-0-0.4	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓								
BH207-0-0.4	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓								
BH208-0.1-0.3	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark								
BH208-0.7-1	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark									
BH209-0-0.3	✓	✓	\checkmark				✓	\checkmark								
BH210-0.1-0.3	✓	✓	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓									
BH210-0.7-1								\checkmark								
BH210-1-1.3	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark					
BH211-0-0.2	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark								
BH212-0-0.3	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark								
BH213-0-0.2	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark	✓								
BH213-0.4-0.6																\checkmark
BH214-0-0.2	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark								
BH214-0.4-0.6																\checkmark
BH215-0-0.2	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark								
BH215-0.4-0.6																\checkmark
BH216-0-0.2	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				✓	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark					



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd

ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

Sample ID	vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil	svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil	PAHs in Soil	Organochlorine Pesticides in soi	Organophosphorus Pesticides ir Soil	PCBs in Soil	Acid Extractable metalsin soil	Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASB- 001	Misc Inorg - Soil	CEC	Clay 50-120g	vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Water	svTRH (C10-C40) in Water	PAHs in Water	Metals in Waters -Acid extractable	On Hold
BH216-0.4-0.6																✓
BH216-1.1-1.3	✓	✓	✓				✓									
BH217-0.1-0.3	✓	✓	✓				✓	✓								
BH217-0.7-1																\checkmark
BH218-0-0.2	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark								
BH218-0.4-0.6																\checkmark
BH219-0-0.2	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	✓	\checkmark								
BH219-0.4-0.6																\checkmark
BH219-0.8-1																\checkmark
BH219-1.1-1.3	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark									
BH220-0-0.2	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark								
BH220-0.4-0.6																\checkmark
S DUP 1	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	✓									
S DUP 2	✓	\checkmark	✓	✓	\checkmark	✓	✓									
S DUP 3	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓									
S DUP 4	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	✓									
S DUP 5	✓	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	✓									
S DUP 6	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark									
TB1	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓				✓									
FR1-HA												✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	
BH208-0.1-0.3																\checkmark
BH204-4.3-4.4																\checkmark

The '\screw' indicates the testing you have requested. THIS IS NOT A REPORT OF THE RESULTS.

Additional Info

Sample storage - Waters are routinely disposed of approximately 1 month and soils approximately 2 months from receipt.

Requests for longer term sample storage must be received in writing.

Please contact the laboratory immediately if observed settled sediment present in water samples is to be included in the extraction and/or analysis (exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, Total Recoverable metals and PFAS analysis where solids are included by default.

TAT for Micro is dependent on incubation. This varies from 3 to 6 days.

				<u>SA</u>	MPLE	AND CHAIN OF	CUS	TOD	Y FC	DRM				_					
<u>TO:</u> ENVIROLAB S 12 ASHLEY ST		S PTY LTD		JKE Job Number:		E34300PT2		ļ				FRON	<u>۸:</u>	k					_
CHATSWOOD P: (02) 99106: F: (02) 99106:	NSW 2 200 201	067		Date Res Required	ults I:	STANDARD						REAR MAC	U OF 1: QUAR	KE IS WI	NVI RKS RC RK, NS	W 21:	nm 13	en	ts
Attention: All	een			Page:		1 of 3		ĺ				P: 02 Atter	-9888 ntion:	5000 KTay	lor@j	F: 02- kenvir	9888 onme	5001 n <u>ts.cc</u>	om.au
Location:	Warray	wong		ı 			Sample Preserved in Esky on Ice												
Sampler:	ОВ		1	1	_	1	<u> </u>					Test	is Req	uired 1			<u> </u>		
Date Sampled	Lab Ref:	Sample Number	Depth (m)	Sample Container	PID	Sample Description	9#	#6aNEPM	Asbestos NEPA	#3aNEPM	£3	pH, CEC and clav content	Asbestos (Detection)	втех					
1/08/2023	1	BH201	0-0.2	G, A	1.5	F: Silty Clay	x					x							
1/08/2023	2	BH201	0.4-0.6	G,A	2.0	F: Silty Sandy Clay			x										
1/08/2023	3	BH201	0.8-1	G,A	1.0	F: Silty Sandy Clay					х								
1/08/2023	<u> </u>	BH202	0-0.2	G,A	1.0	F: Silty Sandy Clay		x	_					-					
1/08/2023	5	BH202	0.4-0.6	G,A	1.9	F: Silty Sandy Clay								L					
1/08/2023	6	BH202	1-1.2	G,A	1.7	Silty Sandy Clay					х								
1/08/2023	7	BH203	0-0.2	G,A	0.9	F: Silty Sandy Clay		x											
1/08/2023	8	BH203	0.4-0.6	G,A	1.8	F: Silty Sandy Clay													
1/08/2023	9	BH203	0.8-1	G, A	1.1	Silty Clay					x								1
31/07/2023	lo	BH204	0-0.2	G, A	0.0	F: Silty Clay				x		1			-				
31/07/2023	U1	BH204	0.5-0.95	G, A	0.1	F: Silty Sandy Clay													t –
<u>31/07/2023</u>	12	8H2O4	17-1.8	G, A	0.0	F: Silty Sandy Clay					х								
1/08/2023	13	BH205	0-0.2	G,A	1.2	F: Silty Clay		x	<u> </u>										
1/08/2023	14	BH205	0.4-0.5	G,A	3.2	F: Silty Clay				1						-			
1/08/2023	21	BH205	0.8-1	G,A	1.0	F: Silty Clay		<u> </u>			x	1							
2/08/2023	<i>i6</i>	BH206	0-0.4	G, A	1.9	F: Silty Sandy Clay		x											-
31/07/2023	17	BH207	0-0.4	G,A	0.0	F: Silty Clay		x									-		
31/07/2023	10	BH208	0.1-0.3	G,A	0.0	F: Silty Clay				x									
31/07/2023	19	BH208	0.7-1	G	0.0	Silty Sandy Clay					×								T
2/08/2023	20	BH209	0-0.3	G, A	1.5	F: Silty Clay				x									
31/07/2023	21	BH210	0.1-0.3	G,A	0.0	F: Silty Clay	x												
31/07/2023	22	BH210	0.7-1	G,A	0.0	F: Silty Clay			x										
31/07/2023	23	BH210	1-1.3	G,A	0.0	F: Gravelly Clay	ĺ				x	×	1		Ĭ		<u> </u>		
2/08/2023	24	BH211	0-0.2	G, A	2.4	F: Silty Sandy Clay				x									
2/08/2023	25	BH212	0-0.3	G, A	· 2.3	F: Silty Sandy Clay	1	x								[
Remarks (con	nments,	/detection li	mits required): · .		194 2 2	Samj G - 2 A - Zi	ole Con 50mg i plock	ntaine Glass Asbes al	irs: Jar itos Ba	G	1 - 500 Nash I)mLA	mber	Glass	Bottle	1		-
Relinquished	Ву:	Ов		Date:	3 18 1	123	Time	ĺß	70			Rece	ived E	iy: Å			Date:	ųl	13
Relinquished	By:	ОВ		Date: 3	3 18 ,	123	G - 2. A - Zi <u>V - B</u> Time	50mg plock T <u>EX Vi</u>	Glass Asbeis al ZO	Jar tos Ba <u>H - H</u>		Vash I Receiver Note F Date F Time I Receiver Scoolin Receiver	VI Recei	wed: y: Ch ved: Ved: Amt tact/ler	Envir Envir Ph: Jient	01ab . 12 A 200 N. (02) 99 9 ((3 0 2 0 3 0 2 0 3 0	Date: Servic shley SW 20 910 62 7 / Z	4 (ies St 167 7000	 l

• • •

.\

•

, 1

ار

				SAM	PLE A	ND CHAIN OF CU	JSTC	DY	FOR	M										
<u>TO:</u> ENVIROLAB ! 12 ASHLEY ST	SERVICES	S PTY LTD		JKE Job Number:		E34300PT2					FROM	<u>**</u>								
CHATSWOOI P: (02) 99106 F: (02) 99106	D NSW 2 200 201	067		Date Results STANDARD				REAR OF 115 WICKS ROAD MACQUARIE PARK, NSW 2113									ts			
Attention: Al	ileen			Page:		2 of 3]	P: 02-9888 5000 F: 02-9888 5001 Attention: <u>KTaylor@jkenvironments.c</u>								5001 nts.co	.m.au			
Location:	Warray	wong					-	_	_	San	iple P	reserv	ed in	Esky o	on Ice					
Sampler:	ОВ										7	ests R	equin	ed						
Date Sampled	Lab Ref:	Sample Number	Depth (m)	Sample Container	PID	Sample Description	9#	#6aNEPM	#3aNEPM	Ę	pH, CEC and clav content	Asbestos (Detection)	BTEX							
2/08/2023	26	BH213	0-0.2	G, A	2.1	F: Silty Sandy Clay			×							1-				
2/08/2023	27	BH213	0.4-0.6	G, A	0.8	F: Silty Sandy Clay		-								1				
2/08/2023	28	BH214	0-0.2	G, A	0.5	F: Silty Sandy Clay			x					1						
2/08/2023	22	BH214	0.4-0.5	G, A	0.8	F: Silty Sandy Clay							_	1						
2/08/2023	30	BH215	0-0.2	G, A	0.8	F: Silty Sandy Clay		х					-							
2/08/2023	31	BH215	0.4-0.6	G, A	1.1	F: Silty Sandy Clay						 								
1/08/2023	32	BH216	0-0.2	G,A	1,4	F: Silty Sandy Clay			x	<u> </u>	x			1						
1/08/2023	23	BH216	0.4-0.6	G,A	3.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay							_	_						
1/08/2023	34	BH216	1.1-1.3	G, A	1.5	Silty Sandy Clay				x										
31/07/2023	35	BH217	0.1-0.3	G,A	0.0	F: Silty Clay			x											
31/07/2023	36	BH217	0.7-1	G,A	0.0	F: Silty Clay			1											
1/08/2023	37	8H218	0-0.2	G, A	3.3	F: Silty Clay		х	_	-										
1/08/2023	38	BH218	0.4-0.6	G, A	2.4	F: Silty Clay														
1/08/2023	39	BH 219	0-0.2	G, A	1.3	F: Silty Sandy Clay		x												
1/08/2023	4c	BH219	0.4-0.6	G, A	2.5	F: Silty Sandy Clay														
1/08/2023	41	BH219	0.8-1	G, A	2.3	F: Silty Sandy Clay														
1/08/2023	42	BH219	1.1-1.3	G, A	2.4	F: Silty Sandy Clay				x										
1/08/2023	42	BH220	0-0.2	G, A	1.7	F: Silty Sandy Clay		x												
1/08/2023	44	BH220	0.4-0.6	G, A	3.2	F: Silty Sandy Clay														
1/08/2023	40	S DUP 1	-	G	-	-	x													
1/08/2023	46	S DUP 2	-	G	-	-	x													
1/08/2023	47	S DUP 3	-	G	-	-	x													
1/08/2023	48	S DUP 4	-	G	-	-	х													
1/08/2023	49	S DUP 5	-	G	-	-	x													
2/08/2023	1	S DUP 6	-	G	-	-	х													
Remarks (comments/detection limits required):							Sample Containers: G - 250mg Glass Jar G1 - 500mL Amber Glass Bottle A - Ziplock Asbestos Bag V - BTEK Vial H - HNO2 Wash BVC							÷						
Relinquished	i By:	OB		Date:	3/8	123	Time	:		<u> </u>	Rece	ived B	y:			Date	:			

,

, t.

329661 318/23 1630

-50

, 4., . .

٩

¥.

J					SAM	PLE A	ND CHAIN OF CI	USTO	DDY	FOR	M								
	<u>TO:</u> ENVIROLAB S	ERVICE	S PTY LTD		JKE Job E34300PT2					_		<u>FRO</u>	<u>M:</u>		,				
	12 ASHLEY ST CHATSWOOD P: (02) 99106 F: (02) 99106	NSW 2 200 201	2067		Date Results STANDARD			REAR OF 115 WICKS ROAD MACQUARIE PARK, NSW 2						/iro DAD 5W 21:					
	Attention: Ail	leen			Page:		<u>3 of 3</u>					P: 02 Atte	2-9881 ntion	і <u>5000</u> : <u>К</u> Та	ylor@	F: 02 Jkenvi	-9888 ronme	5001 nts.co	m.au
	Location:	Warra	wong							_	San	nple F	reser	ved in	Esky (on ice	-		
	Sampler:	OB	· · · ·				T		·		<u> </u>	.	lests	Kequi	rea	<u> </u>	1		
	Date Sampled	Lab Ref:	Sample Number	Depth (m)	Sample Container	PID	Sample Description	9#	#6aNEPM	#3aNEPM	£#	pH, CEC and	Asbestos	BTEX					
Si	31/7-2/8/23	80	<u>کر آنا</u>		v	-	Sand				x								
4.5.	31/7-2/8/23	~	7	-		-	Sand	 					_	×	ļ				
Ar S	2/08/2023		FR1-HA	-	G1, H, V	-	Water				X		-				_		
Exha		55	BH 204	6.1-0	.3		-						-			+			
Geha		74	059209	4,3-4	લ,							-	+						
			751	SELAS	1.0 0									-		-			
				UPING		\									+		-		
											-		-	1	1				
				<u>-</u>															
						·		<u> </u>					-			_			
		—						 							_				
							·	<u> </u>				-	+		+	+			
										<u> </u>			-	+	+	+			
	<u> </u>														+		+		
														1	1	1	-		
			_																
	ļ													↓		_			
	<u> </u>																┣-		
								_				\vdash	-	+					
	Remarks (comments/detection limits required)							Sample Containers: G - 250mg Glass Jar G1 - 500mL Amber Glass Bottle A - Ziplock Asbestos Bag											
	Relinquished By:			Date: 3 /8/23			Time:				Received By: Da				Date	Date:			
							-	·				•	-	-					

.

•

829681 318/23 1630 Am



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

CERTIFICATE OF ANALYSIS 329661-A

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor
Address	PO Box 976, North Ryde BC, NSW, 1670

Sample Details	
Your Reference	E34300PT2, Warrawong
Number of Samples	Additional analyses
Date samples received	03/08/2023
Date completed instructions received	24/08/2023

Analysis Details

Please refer to the following pages for results, methodology summary and quality control data.

Samples were analysed as received from the client. Results relate specifically to the samples as received.

Results are reported on a dry weight basis for solids and on an as received basis for other matrices.

Please refer to the last page of this report for any comments relating to the results.

Report Details						
Date results requested by	29/08/2023					
Date of Issue	29/08/2023					
NATA Accreditation Number 2901. This c	locument shall not be reproduced except in full.					
Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 17025 - Testing. Tests not covered by NATA are denoted with *						

Asbestos Approved By

Analysed by Asbestos Approved Analyst: Nyovan Moonean Authorised by Asbestos Approved Signatory: Lucy Zhu <u>Results Approved By</u> Diego Bigolin, Inorganics Supervisor Hannah Nguyen, Metals Supervisor Liam Timmins, Organics Supervisor Authorised By

Nancy Zhang, Laboratory Manager

Loren Bardwell, Development Chemist Lucy Zhu, Asbestos Supervisor



vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil					
Our Reference		329661-A-27	329661-A-31	329661-A-36	329661-A-42
Your Reference	UNITS	BH213	BH215	BH217	BH219
Depth		0.4-0.6	0.4-0.6	0.7-1	1.1-1.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	25/08/2023	25/08/2023	25/08/2023	25/08/2023
Date analysed	-	28/08/2023	28/08/2023	28/08/2023	28/08/2023
TRH C6 - C9	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25
TRH C6 - C10	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25
vTPH C ₆ - C ₁₀ less BTEX (F1)	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25
Benzene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Toluene	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	<2	<2	<2	<2
o-Xylene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1
Total +ve Xylenes	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%	98	103	93	103

svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil					1
Our Reference		329661-A-27	329661-A-31	329661-A-36	329661-A-42
Your Reference	UNITS	BH213	BH215	BH217	BH219
Depth		0.4-0.6	0.4-0.6	0.7-1	1.1-1.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	25/08/2023	25/08/2023	25/08/2023	25/08/2023
Date analysed	-	28/08/2023	28/08/2023	28/08/2023	28/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	83	80	81	81

PAHs in Soil					
Our Reference		329661-A-27	329661-A-31	329661-A-36	329661-A-42
Your Reference	UNITS	BH213	BH215	BH217	BH219
Depth		0.4-0.6	0.4-0.6	0.7-1	1.1-1.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	25/08/2023	25/08/2023	25/08/2023	25/08/2023
Date analysed	-	25/08/2023	25/08/2023	25/08/2023	25/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	86	103	103	103

Acid Extractable metals in soil					_
Our Reference		329661-A-27	329661-A-31	329661-A-36	329661-A-42
Your Reference	UNITS	BH213	BH215	BH217	BH219
Depth		0.4-0.6	0.4-0.6	0.7-1	1.1-1.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	29/08/2023	29/08/2023	29/08/2023	29/08/2023
Date analysed	-	29/08/2023	29/08/2023	29/08/2023	29/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4	<4	<4	<4
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1
Copper	mg/kg	9	2	4	5
Lead	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1
Mercury	mg/kg	0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1
Zinc	mg/kg	<1	2	2	1

Moisture					
Our Reference		329661-A-27	329661-A-31	329661-A-36	329661-A-42
Your Reference	UNITS	BH213	BH215	BH217	BH219
Depth		0.4-0.6	0.4-0.6	0.7-1	1.1-1.3
Date Sampled		2/08/2023	2/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	28/08/2023	28/08/2023	28/08/2023	28/08/2023
Date analysed	-	29/08/2023	29/08/2023	29/08/2023	29/08/2023
Moisture	%	25	9.5	20	13

Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASB-001		
Our Reference		329661-A-5
Your Reference	UNITS	BH202
Depth		0.4-0.6
Date Sampled		1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date analysed	-	29/08/2023
Sample mass tested	g	471.15
Sample Description	-	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks
Asbestos ID in soil (AS4964) >0.1g/kg	-	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg
		Organic fibres detected
Trace Analysis	-	No asbestos detected
Total Asbestos ^{#1}	g/kg	<0.1
Asbestos ID in soil <0.1g/kg*	-	No visible asbestos detected
ACM >7mm Estimation*	g	-
FA and AF Estimation*	g	_
ACM >7mm Estimation*	%(w/w)	<0.01
FA and AF Estimation*#2	%(w/w)	<0.001

Misc Inorg - Soil				
Our Reference		329661-A-6	329661-A-19	329661-A-34
Your Reference	UNITS	BH202	BH208	BH216
Depth		1-1.2	0.7-1	1.1-1.3
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	28/08/2023	28/08/2023	28/08/2023
Date analysed	-	28/08/2023	28/08/2023	28/08/2023
pH 1:5 soil:water	pH Units	7.2	7.5	7.5

CEC				
Our Reference		329661-A-6	329661-A-19	329661-A-34
Your Reference	UNITS	BH202	BH208	BH216
Depth		1-1.2	0.7-1	1.1-1.3
Date Sampled		1/08/2023	31/07/2023	1/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	29/08/2023	29/08/2023	29/08/2023
Date analysed	-	29/08/2023	29/08/2023	29/08/2023
Exchangeable Ca	meq/100g	12	12	9.1
Exchangeable K	meq/100g	<0.1	0.1	<0.1
Exchangeable Mg	meq/100g	21	16	12
Exchangeable Na	meq/100g	0.6	1	0.4
Cation Exchange Capacity	meq/100g	33	29	21

Method ID	Methodology Summary
ASB-001	Asbestos ID - Qualitative identification of asbestos in bulk samples using Polarised Light Microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques including Synthetic Mineral Fibre and Organic Fibre as per Australian Standard 4964-2004.
ASB-001	Asbestos ID - Identification of asbestos in soil samples using Polarised Light Microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques. Minimum 500mL soil sample was analysed as recommended by "National Environment Protection (Assessment of site contamination) Measure, Schedule B1 and "The Guidelines from the Assessment, Remediation and Management of Asbestos- Contaminated Sites in Western Australia - May 2009" with a reporting limit of 0.1g/kg (0.01% w/w) as per Australian Standard AS4964-2004. Results reported denoted with * are outside our scope of NATA accreditation.
	NOTE ^{#1} Total Asbestos g/kg was analysed and reported as per Australian Standard AS4964 (This is the sum of ACM >7mm, <7mm and FA/AF)
	NOTE ^{#2} The screening level of 0.001% w/w asbestos in soil for FA and AF only applies where the FA and AF are able to be quantified by gravimetric procedures. This screening level is not applicable to free fibres.
	Estimation = Estimated asbestos weight
	Results reported with "" is equivalent to no visible asbestos identified using Polarised Light microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques.
Inorg-001	pH - Measured using pH meter and electrode in accordance with APHA latest edition, 4500-H+. Please note that the results for water analyses are indicative only, as analysis outside of the APHA storage times.
Inorg-008	Moisture content determined by heating at 105+/-5 °C for a minimum of 12 hours.
Metals-020	Determination of various metals by ICP-AES.
Metals-020	Determination of exchangeable cations and cation exchange capacity in soils using 1M Ammonium Chloride exchange and ICP-OES analytical finish.
Metals-021	Determination of Mercury by Cold Vapour AAS.
Org-020	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-FID. F2 = (>C10-C16)-Naphthalene as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater (HSLs Tables 1A (3, 4)). Note Naphthalene is determined from the VOC analysis.

Method ID	Methodology Summary
Org-020	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-FID.
	F2 = (>C10-C16)-Naphthalene as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater (HSLs Tables 1A (3, 4)). Note Naphthalene is determined from the VOC analysis.
	Note, the Total +ve TRH PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore "Total +ve TRH" is simply a sum of the positive individual TRH fractions (>C10-C40).
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS and/or GC-MS/MS. Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater - 2013. For soil results:-
	 1. 'EQ PQL'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql actually="" and="" approach="" are="" at="" be="" calculation="" can="" conservative="" contribute="" false="" give="" given="" is="" li="" may="" most="" not="" pahs="" positive="" pql.="" present.<="" teq="" teqs="" that="" the="" this="" to=""> 2. 'EQ zero'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql and="" approach="" are="" below="" but="" calculation="" conservative="" contribute="" false="" is="" least="" li="" more="" negative="" pahs="" pql.<="" present="" susceptible="" teq="" teqs="" that="" the="" this="" to="" when="" zero.=""> 3. 'EQ half PQL'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql "total="" +ve="" a="" above.="" and="" approaches="" are="" between="" conservative="" half="" hence="" individual="" is="" least="" li="" lowest="" mid-point="" most="" note,="" of="" pahs="" pahs"="" pahs.<="" positive="" pql="" pql.="" reflective="" simply="" stipulated="" sum="" the="" therefore="" total=""> </pql></pql></pql>
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS.
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS. Water samples are analysed directly by purge and trap GC-MS. F1 = (C6-C10)-BTEX as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater.
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS. Water samples are analysed directly by purge and trap GC-MS. F1 = (C6-C10)-BTEX as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater. Note, the Total +ve Xylene PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore "Total +ve Xylenes" is simply a sum of the positive individual Xylenes.

QUALITY CONTROL: vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil				Duplicate				Spike Recovery %		
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]
Date extracted	-			25/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	25/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			28/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	28/08/2023	
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	mg/kg	25	Org-023	<25	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	100	
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	mg/kg	25	Org-023	<25	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	100	[NT]
Benzene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-023	<0.2	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	89	[NT]
Toluene	mg/kg	0.5	Org-023	<0.5	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	100	
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	102	[NT]
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	2	Org-023	<2	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	104	
o-Xylene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	106	[NT]
Naphthalene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%		Org-023	107	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	96	[NT]

QUALITY CONTROL: svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil				Duplicate				Spike Recovery %		
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]
Date extracted	-			25/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	25/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			28/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	28/08/2023	
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	50	Org-020	<50	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	101	
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	92	
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	86	
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	50	Org-020	<50	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	101	
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	92	
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	86	
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%		Org-020	89	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	86	[NT]

QUALIT	Y CONTRC	L: PAHs	in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Recovery %		
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]	
Date extracted	-			25/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	25/08/2023		
Date analysed	-			25/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	25/08/2023		
Naphthalene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	103		
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]		
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	111		
Fluorene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	103		
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	106		
Anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]		
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	86		
Pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	89		
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]		
Chrysene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	109		
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-022/025	<0.2	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]		
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	0.05	Org-022/025	<0.05	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	114		
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]		
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]		
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]		
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%		Org-022/025	106	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	86	[NT]	

QUALITY CONTROL: Acid Extractable metals in soil					Duplicate				Spike Recovery %		
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-7	[NT]	
Date prepared	-			29/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	29/08/2023		
Date analysed	-			29/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	29/08/2023		
Arsenic	mg/kg	4	Metals-020	<4	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	110		
Cadmium	mg/kg	0.4	Metals-020	<0.4	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	100		
Chromium	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	120		
Copper	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	116		
Lead	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	118		
Mercury	mg/kg	0.1	Metals-021	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	123		
Nickel	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	110	[NT]	
Zinc	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	109		

QUALITY CONTROL: Misc Inorg - Soil					Duplicate				Spike Recovery %		
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]	
Date prepared	-			28/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	28/08/2023		
Date analysed	-			28/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	28/08/2023		
pH 1:5 soil:water	pH Units		Inorg-001	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	100	[NT]	

QUALITY CONTROL: CEC					Duplicate				Spike Recovery %		
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W1	329661-A-6	
Date prepared	-			29/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	29/08/2023	29/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			29/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	29/08/2023	29/08/2023	
Exchangeable Ca	meq/100g	0.1	Metals-020	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	96	113	
Exchangeable K	meq/100g	0.1	Metals-020	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	104	100	
Exchangeable Mg	meq/100g	0.1	Metals-020	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	104	104	
Exchangeable Na	meq/100g	0.1	Metals-020	<0.1	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	95	92	

Result Definiti	ons
NT	Not tested
NA	Test not required
INS	Insufficient sample for this test
PQL	Practical Quantitation Limit
<	Less than
>	Greater than
RPD	Relative Percent Difference
LCS	Laboratory Control Sample
NS	Not specified
NEPM	National Environmental Protection Measure
NR	Not Reported

Quality Control	I Definitions
Blank	This is the component of the analytical signal which is not derived from the sample but from reagents, glassware etc, can be determined by processing solvents and reagents in exactly the same manner as for samples.
Duplicate	This is the complete duplicate analysis of a sample from the process batch. If possible, the sample selected should be one where the analyte concentration is easily measurable.
Matrix Spike	A portion of the sample is spiked with a known concentration of target analyte. The purpose of the matrix spike is to monitor the performance of the analytical method used and to determine whether matrix interferences exist.
LCS (Laboratory Control Sample)	This comprises either a standard reference material or a control matrix (such as a blank sand or water) fortified with analytes representative of the analyte class. It is simply a check sample.
Surrogate Spike	Surrogates are known additions to each sample, blank, matrix spike and LCS in a batch, of compounds which are similar to the analyte of interest, however are not expected to be found in real samples.

Australian Drinking Water Guidelines recommend that Thermotolerant Coliform, Faecal Enterococci, & E.Coli levels are less than 1cfu/100mL. The recommended maximums are taken from "Australian Drinking Water Guidelines", published by NHMRC & ARMC 2011.

The recommended maximums for analytes in urine are taken from "2018 TLVs and BEIs", as published by ACGIH (where available). Limit provided for Nickel is a precautionary guideline as per Position Paper prepared by AIOH Exposure Standards Committee, 2016.

Guideline limits for Rinse Water Quality reported as per analytical requirements and specifications of AS 4187, Amdt 2 2019, Table 7.2

Laboratory Acceptance Criteria

Duplicate sample and matrix spike recoveries may not be reported on smaller jobs, however, were analysed at a frequency to meet or exceed NEPM requirements. All samples are tested in batches of 20. The duplicate sample RPD and matrix spike recoveries for the batch were within the laboratory acceptance criteria.

Filters, swabs, wipes, tubes and badges will not have duplicate data as the whole sample is generally extracted during sample extraction.

Spikes for Physical and Aggregate Tests are not applicable.

For VOCs in water samples, three vials are required for duplicate or spike analysis.

Duplicates: >10xPQL - RPD acceptance criteria will vary depending on the analytes and the analytical techniques but is typically in the range 20%-50% – see ELN-P05 QA/QC tables for details; <10xPQL - RPD are higher as the results approach PQL and the estimated measurement uncertainty will statistically increase.

Matrix Spikes, LCS and Surrogate recoveries: Generally 70-130% for inorganics/metals (not SPOCAS); 60-140% for organics/SPOCAS (+/-50% surrogates) and 10-140% for labile SVOCs (including labile surrogates), ultra trace organics and speciated phenols is acceptable.

In circumstances where no duplicate and/or sample spike has been reported at 1 in 10 and/or 1 in 20 samples respectively, the sample volume submitted was insufficient in order to satisfy laboratory QA/QC protocols.

When samples are received where certain analytes are outside of recommended technical holding times (THTs), the analysis has proceeded. Where analytes are on the verge of breaching THTs, every effort will be made to analyse within the THT or as soon as practicable.

Where sampling dates are not provided, Envirolab are not in a position to comment on the validity of the analysis where recommended technical holding times may have been breached.

Where matrix spike recoveries fall below the lower limit of the acceptance criteria (e.g. for non-labile or standard Organics <60%), positive result(s) in the parent sample will subsequently have a higher than typical estimated uncertainty (MU estimates supplied on request) and in these circumstances the sample result is likely biased significantly low.

Measurement Uncertainty estimates are available for most tests upon request.

Analysis of aqueous samples typically involves the extraction/digestion and/or analysis of the liquid phase only (i.e. NOT any settled sediment phase but inclusive of suspended particles if present), unless stipulated on the Envirolab COC and/or by correspondence. Notable exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, total recoverable metals and PFAS where solids are included by default.

Samples for Microbiological analysis (not Amoeba forms) received outside of the 2-8°C temperature range do not meet the ideal cooling conditions as stated in AS2031-2012.

Report Comments

Asbestos-ID in soil: NEPM

This report is consistent with the reporting recommendations in the National Environment Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure, Schedule B1, May 2013. This is reported outside our scope of NATA accreditation.



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

SAMPLE RECEIPT ADVICE

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor

Sample Login Details	
Your reference	E34300PT2, Warrawong
Envirolab Reference	329661-A
Date Sample Received	03/08/2023
Date Instructions Received	24/08/2023
Date Results Expected to be Reported	29/08/2023

Sample Condition	
Samples received in appropriate condition for analysis	Yes
No. of Samples Provided	Additional analyses
Turnaround Time Requested	3 days
Temperature on Receipt (°C)	14
Cooling Method	Ice
Sampling Date Provided	YES

Comments Nil

Please direct any queries to:

Aileen Hie	Jacinta Hurst						
Phone: 02 9910 6200	Phone: 02 9910 6200						
Fax: 02 9910 6201	Fax: 02 9910 6201						
Email: ahie@envirolab.com.au	Email: jhurst@envirolab.com.au						

Analysis Underway, details on the following page:



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd

ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

Sample ID	vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil	svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil	PAHs in Soil	Acid Extractable metalsin soil	Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASE 001	Misc Inorg - Soil	CEC	On Hold
BH201-0-0.2								\checkmark
BH201-0.4-0.6								\checkmark
BH201-0.8-1								\checkmark
BH202-0-0.2								✓
BH202-0.4-0.6					✓			
BH202-1-1.2						✓	✓	
BH203-0-0.2								✓
BH203-0.4-0.6								✓
BH203-0.8-1								✓
BH204-0-0.2								✓
BH204-0.5-0.95								✓
BH204-17-1.8								✓
BH205-0-0.2								✓
BH205-0.4-0.5								✓
BH205-0.8-1								✓
BH206-0-0.4								✓
BH207-0-0.4								✓
BH208-0.1-0.3								✓
BH208-0.7-1						✓	✓	
BH209-0-0.3								✓
BH210-0.1-0.3								✓
BH210-0.7-1								✓
BH210-1-1.3								✓
BH211-0-0.2								✓
BH212-0-0.3								✓
BH213-0-0.2								✓
BH213-0.4-0.6	✓	✓	✓	✓				
BH214-0-0.2								✓
BH214-0.4-0.6								✓
BH215-0-0.2								✓
BH215-0.4-0.6	✓	✓	✓	✓				
BH216-0-0.2								✓



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd

ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

Sample ID	VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil	svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil	PAHs in Soil	Acid Extractable metalsin soil	Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASE 001	Misc Inorg - Soil	CEC	On Hold
BH216-0.4-0.6								✓
BH216-1.1-1.3						✓	✓	
BH217-0.1-0.3								✓
BH217-0.7-1	✓	✓	✓	✓				
BH218-0-0.2								✓
BH218-0.4-0.6								✓
BH219-0-0.2								✓
BH219-0.4-0.6								✓
BH219-0.8-1								✓
BH219-1.1-1.3	✓	✓	✓	✓				
BH220-0-0.2								✓
BH220-0.4-0.6								✓
S DUP 1								✓
S DUP 2								✓
S DUP 3								✓
S DUP 4								\checkmark
S DUP 5								✓
S DUP 6								✓
TB1								✓
FR1-HA								✓
BH208-0.1-0.3								✓
BH204-4.3-4.4								✓

The '\screw' indicates the testing you have requested. THIS IS NOT A REPORT OF THE RESULTS.

Additional Info

Sample storage - Waters are routinely disposed of approximately 1 month and soils approximately 2 months from receipt.

Requests for longer term sample storage must be received in writing.

Please contact the laboratory immediately if observed settled sediment present in water samples is to be included in the extraction and/or analysis (exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, Total Recoverable metals and PFAS analysis where solids are included by default.

TAT for Micro is dependent on incubation. This varies from 3 to 6 days.

Anna Bui

From:	Katrina Taylor <ktaylor@jkenvironments.com.au></ktaylor@jkenvironments.com.au>
Sent:	Thursday, 24 August 2023 3:47 PM
То:	Samplereceipt
Subject:	RE: Results for Registration 329661 E34300PT2, Warrawong

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not act on instructions, click links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content is authentic and safe.

Afternoon,

Please schedule the following samples on 3 day TA:

<u>#3</u>

27 BH213 (0.4-0.6)

- 3 BH215 (0.4-0.6)
- 36 BH217 (0.7-1.0)
- Ч₂ BH219 (1.1-1.3)

Asbestos 500ml (NEPM)

- 5 BH202 (0.4-0.6)
 - <u>pH & CEC</u>
- 6 BH202 (1-1.2)
- (4 BH208 (0.7-1.0)
- 34 BH216 (1-1.3)

Regards Katrina Taylor Associate | Environmental Scientist NSW Licensed Asbestos Assessor

> T: +612 9888 5000 D: 0418 481 628 E: <u>KTaylor@jkenvironments.com.au</u> <u>www.jkenvironments.com.au</u>

JKEnvironments

PO Box 976 NORTH RYDE BC NSW 1670 115 Wicks Road MACQUARIE PARK NSW 2113

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be privileged in which case neither is intended to be waived. If you have received this message in error, please notify us and remove it from your system. It is your responsibility to check any attachments for viruses and defects before opening or sending them on. At the Company's discretion we may send a paper copy for confirmation. In the event of any discrepancy between paper and electronic versions the paper version is to take precedence.

From: Stuart Chen <SChen2@envirolab.com.au> Sent: Friday, 11 August 2023 5:21 PM To: Katrina Taylor <KTaylor@jkenvironments.com.au> Subject: Results for Registration 329661 E34300PT2, Warrawong

This message originated outside the JKG network. If this looks to be from a staff member, it is likely to be malicious (spam/phish attack). Do not click links of open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content is safe.

Please refer to attached for: a copy of the Certificate of Analysis

ELS REF: 329661-A TAT : 3 DAY OUE: 29/8/23 AB.



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

CERTIFICATE OF ANALYSIS 330588

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor
Address	PO Box 976, North Ryde BC, NSW, 1670

Sample Details	
Your Reference	E34300PT2, Warrawong
Number of Samples	21 Soil, 1 Material
Date samples received	15/08/2023
Date completed instructions received	15/08/2023

Analysis Details

Please refer to the following pages for results, methodology summary and quality control data.

Samples were analysed as received from the client. Results relate specifically to the samples as received.

Results are reported on a dry weight basis for solids and on an as received basis for other matrices.

Please refer to the last page of this report for any comments relating to the results.

Report Details					
Date results requested by	23/08/2023				
Date of Issue	23/08/2023				
NATA Accreditation Number 2901. This document shall not be reproduced except in full.					
Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 17	7025 - Testing. Tests not covered by NATA are denoted with *				

Asbestos Approved By

Analysed by Asbestos Approved Analyst: Nyovan Moonean Authorised by Asbestos Approved Signatory: Lucy Zhu

Results Approved By

Dragana Tomas, Senior Chemist Loren Bardwell, Development Chemist Lucy Zhu, Asbestos Supervisor <u>Authorised By</u> Nancy Zhang, Laboratory Manager



vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						
Our Reference		330588-1	330588-2	330588-3	330588-5	330588-6
Your Reference	UNITS	BH221	BH221	BH222	BH223	BH223
Depth		0-0.1	0.4-0.55	0-0.1	0-0.1	0.3-0.4
Date Sampled		15/08/2023	15/08/2023	15/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-	17/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023
TRH C6 - C9	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
TRH C6 - C10	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
vTPH C ₆ - C ₁₀ less BTEX (F1)	mg/kg	<25	<25	<25	<25	<25
Benzene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Toluene	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	<2	<2	<2	<2	<2
o-Xylene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Total +ve Xylenes	mg/kg	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%	108	107	100	91	87
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil						
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference		330588-8	330588-14	330588-15	330588-16	330588-21
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference	UNITS	330588-8 BH223	330588-14 BH224	330588-15 BH224	330588-16 BH224	330588-21 TB-201
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95	330588-21 TB-201 -
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023
vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted	UNITS -	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed	UNITS - -	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C6 - C9	UNITS - - mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₆ - C ₉ TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C6 - C9 TRH C6 - C10 vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)Benzene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_6 - C_9$ TRH $C_6 - C_{10}$ vTPH $C_6 - C_{10}$ less BTEX (F1)BenzeneToluene	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xylene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 (18/08/2023 (25) <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-Xylene	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH C6 - C9TRH C6 - C10vTPH C6 - C10 less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-XyleneNaphthalene	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <1 <2 <1 <1 <2 <1	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 (18/08/2023 (25) (25) (25) (25) (25) (25) (25) (25)
VTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_6 - C_9$ TRH $C_6 - C_{10}$ vTPH $C_6 - C_{10}$ less BTEX (F1)BenzeneTolueneEthylbenzenem+p-xyleneo-XyleneNaphthaleneTotal +ve Xylenes	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1 <1	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1 <1	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1 <1	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 (25 <25 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 18/08/2023 18/08/2023 225 <25 <25 <0.2 <0.2 <0.2 <0.5 <1 <2 <1 <1 <1

vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil		
Our Reference		330588-22
Your Reference	UNITS	TS-S201
Depth		-
Date Sampled		14/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date extracted	-	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-	18/08/2023
Benzene	mg/kg	97%
Toluene	mg/kg	97%
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	97%
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	97%
o-Xylene	mg/kg	96%
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%	96

svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil						
Our Reference		330588-1	330588-2	330588-3	330588-5	330588-6
Your Reference	UNITS	BH221	BH221	BH222	BH223	BH223
Depth		0-0.1	0.4-0.55	0-0.1	0-0.1	0.3-0.4
Date Sampled		15/08/2023	15/08/2023	15/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C10 -C16	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	mg/kg	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	88	86	88	91	88
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil						
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference		330588-8	330588-14	330588-15	330588-16	330588-21
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference	UNITS	330588-8 BH223	330588-14 BH224	330588-15 BH224	330588-16 BH224	330588-21 TB-201
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95	330588-21 TB-201 -
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed	UNITS -	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	UNITS - - mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C10 - C14 TRH C15 - C28	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄ TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈ TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100
svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date extracted Date analysed TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄ TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈ TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50
svTRH (C10-C40) in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_{10} - C_{14}$ TRH $C_{15} - C_{28}$ TRH $C_{29} - C_{36}$ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)TRH >C10 - C16	UNITS UNITS - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <100 <50 <50	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <100 <50 <50
svTRH (C10-C40) in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_{10} - C_{14}$ TRH $C_{15} - C_{28}$ TRH $C_{29} - C_{36}$ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)TRH >C10 - C_{16}TRH >C10 - C_{16} less Naphthalene (F2)	UNITS UNITS - Gamerator Ga	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <100 <100 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <100 <100 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 (100 <50 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50
svTRH (C10-C40) in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_{10} - C_{14}$ TRH $C_{15} - C_{28}$ TRH $C_{29} - C_{36}$ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)TRH >C_{10} - C_{16}TRH >C_{10} - C_{16} less Naphthalene (F2)TRH >C_{16} - C_{34}	UNITS UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100
svTRH (C10-C40) in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_{10} - C_{14}$ TRH $C_{15} - C_{28}$ TRH $C_{29} - C_{36}$ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)TRH >C10 - C16TRH >C10 - C16TRH >C10 - C16 less Naphthalene (F2)TRH >C16 -C34TRH >C34 -C40	UNITS UNITS - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 (17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 (16/08/2023 (16/08/2023) (16/08/2023 (100 (100 (100 (100) (100) (100)
svTRH (C10-C40) in SoilOur ReferenceYour ReferenceDepthDate SampledType of sampleDate extractedDate analysedTRH $C_{10} - C_{14}$ TRH $C_{15} - C_{28}$ TRH $C_{29} - C_{36}$ Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)TRH >C_{10} - C_{16}TRH >C_{10} - C_{16} less Naphthalene (F2)TRH >C_{16} - C_{34}TRH >C_{34} - C_{40}Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	UNITS UNITS - - - mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg mg/kg	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 (17/08/2023 (100 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 (100 <50 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100 <	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 <50 <100 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 (100 <50 <100 <50 <50 <50 <50 <100 <100 <	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 < 100 <br 100 <br 100 <br 100 <br 100

PAHs in Soil						
Our Reference		330588-1	330588-2	330588-3	330588-5	330588-6
Your Reference	UNITS	BH221	BH221	BH222	BH223	BH223
Depth		0-0.1	0.4-0.55	0-0.1	0-0.1	0.3-0.4
Date Sampled		15/08/2023	15/08/2023	15/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	86	80	84	87	86

PAHs in Soil						
Our Reference		330588-8	330588-14	330588-15	330588-16	330588-21
Your Reference	UNITS	BH223	BH224	BH224	BH224	TB-201
Depth		1.0-1.2	0-0.1	0.3-0.5	0.75-0.95	-
Date Sampled		14/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (zero)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(half)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc(PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	82	84	84	81	83
Organochlorine Pesticides in soil						
-----------------------------------	-------	------------	------------			
Our Reference		330588-1	330588-3			
Your Reference	UNITS	BH221	BH222			
Depth		0-0.1	0-0.1			
Date Sampled		15/08/2023	15/08/2023			
Type of sample		Soil	Soil			
Date extracted	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023			
Date analysed	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023			
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
НСВ	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
beta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Heptachlor	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
delta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Aldrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
pp-DDE	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Dieldrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Endrin	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
pp-DDD	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
pp-DDT	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Mirex	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Total +ve DDT+DDD+DDE	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1			
Surrogate TCMX	%	91	94			

Organophosphorus Pesticides in Soil			
Our Reference		330588-1	330588-3
Your Reference	UNITS	BH221	BH222
Depth		0-0.1	0-0.1
Date Sampled		15/08/2023	15/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Dichlorvos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Mevinphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Phorate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Dimethoate	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Diazinon	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Disulfoton	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Parathion-Methyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Ronnel	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Malathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Chlorpyriphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Fenthion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Parathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Methidathion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Ethion	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Phosalone	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Azinphos-methyl (Guthion)	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Coumaphos	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	91	94

PCBs in Soil			
Our Reference		330588-1	330588-3
Your Reference	UNITS	BH221	BH222
Depth		0-0.1	0-0.1
Date Sampled		15/08/2023	15/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil
Date extracted	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Total +ve PCBs (1016-1260)	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate TCMX	%	91	94

Acid Extractable metals in soil						
Our Reference		330588-1	330588-2	330588-3	330588-5	330588-6
Your Reference	UNITS	BH221	BH221	BH222	BH223	BH223
Depth		0-0.1	0.4-0.55	0-0.1	0-0.1	0.3-0.4
Date Sampled		15/08/2023	15/08/2023	15/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Date analysed	-	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4	<4	<4	<4	<4
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	19	20	26	17	17
Copper	mg/kg	57	93	84	60	76
Lead	mg/kg	21	28	37	19	20
Mercury	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	0.2	<0.1	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	12	12	12	7	9
Zinc	mg/kg	65	160	120	100	81

Acid Extractable metals in soil						
Our Reference		330588-8	330588-14	330588-15	330588-16	330588-21
Your Reference	UNITS	BH223	BH224	BH224	BH224	TB-201
Depth		1.0-1.2	0-0.1	0.3-0.5	0.75-0.95	-
Date Sampled		14/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Date analysed	-	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4	7	7	<4	<4
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	10	14	16	20	3
Copper	mg/kg	73	22	27	64	<1
Lead	mg/kg	2	10	10	14	3
Mercury	mg/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	11	13	17	7	<1
Zinc	mg/kg	32	47	53	27	3

Moisture						
Our Reference		330588-1	330588-2	330588-3	330588-5	330588-6
Your Reference	UNITS	BH221	BH221	BH222	BH223	BH223
Depth		0-0.1	0.4-0.55	0-0.1	0-0.1	0.3-0.4
Date Sampled		15/08/2023	15/08/2023	15/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil	Soil
Date prepared	-	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Moisture	%	20	18	28	32	30
Maiatura						
moisture						
Our Reference		330588-8	330588-14	330588-15	330588-16	330588-21
Our Reference Your Reference	UNITS	330588-8 BH223	330588-14 BH224	330588-15 BH224	330588-16 BH224	330588-21 TB-201
Our Reference Your Reference Depth	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95	330588-21 TB-201 -
Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023
Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil
Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared	UNITS	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023
Our Reference Your Reference Depth Date Sampled Type of sample Date prepared Date analysed	UNITS - -	330588-8 BH223 1.0-1.2 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023	330588-14 BH224 0-0.1 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023	330588-15 BH224 0.3-0.5 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023	330588-16 BH224 0.75-0.95 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023	330588-21 TB-201 - 14/08/2023 Soil 16/08/2023 17/08/2023

Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASB-001				
Our Reference		330588-2	330588-6	330588-14
Your Reference	UNITS	BH221	BH223	BH224
Depth		0.4-0.55	0.3-0.4	0-0.1
Date Sampled		15/08/2023	14/08/2023	14/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil	Soil
Date analysed	-	23/08/2023	23/08/2023	23/08/2023
Sample mass tested	g	491.21	376.81	900.57
Sample Description	-	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Grey coarse- grained soil & rocks
Asbestos ID in soil (AS4964) >0.1g/kg	-	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg
		Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected
Trace Analysis	-	No asbestos detected	No asbestos detected	No asbestos detected
Total Asbestos ^{#1}	g/kg	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Asbestos ID in soil <0.1g/kg*	-	No visible asbestos detected	No visible asbestos detected	No visible asbestos detected
ACM >7mm Estimation*	g	-	_	-
FA and AF Estimation*	g	-	-	-
ACM >7mm Estimation*	%(w/w)	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
FA and AF Estimation*#2	%(w/w)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001

Asbestos ID - materials		
Our Reference		330588-20
Your Reference	UNITS	FCF-201
Depth		SURFACE
Date Sampled		14/08/2023
Type of sample		Material
Date analysed	-	17/08/2023
Mass / Dimension of Sample	-	4.84g
Sample Description	-	Grey fibre cement material
Asbestos ID in materials	-	Chrysotile asbestos detected
Trace Analysis	-	[NT]

Method ID	Methodology Summary
ASB-001	Asbestos ID - Qualitative identification of asbestos in bulk samples using Polarised Light Microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques including Synthetic Mineral Fibre and Organic Fibre as per Australian Standard 4964-2004.
ASB-001	Asbestos ID - Identification of asbestos in soil samples using Polarised Light Microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques. Minimum 500mL soil sample was analysed as recommended by "National Environment Protection (Assessment of site contamination) Measure, Schedule B1 and "The Guidelines from the Assessment, Remediation and Management of Asbestos- Contaminated Sites in Western Australia - May 2009" with a reporting limit of 0.1g/kg (0.01% w/w) as per Australian Standard AS4964-2004. Results reported denoted with * are outside our scope of NATA accreditation.
	NOTE ^{#1} Total Asbestos g/kg was analysed and reported as per Australian Standard AS4964 (This is the sum of ACM >7mm, <7mm and FA/AF)
	NOTE ^{#2} The screening level of 0.001% w/w asbestos in soil for FA and AF only applies where the FA and AF are able to be quantified by gravimetric procedures. This screening level is not applicable to free fibres.
	Estimation = Estimated asbestos weight
	Results reported with "" is equivalent to no visible asbestos identified using Polarised Light microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques.
Inorg-008	Moisture content determined by heating at 105+/-5 °C for a minimum of 12 hours.
Metals-020	Determination of various metals by ICP-AES.
Metals-021	Determination of Mercury by Cold Vapour AAS.
Org-020	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-FID. F2 = (>C10-C16)-Naphthalene as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater (HSLs Tables 1A (3, 4)). Note Naphthalene is determined from the VOC analysis.
Org-020	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-FID.
	F2 = (>C10-C16)-Naphthalene as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater (HSLs Tables 1A (3, 4)). Note Naphthalene is determined from the VOC analysis.
	Note, the Total +ve TRH PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore "Total +ve TRH" is simply a sum of the positive individual TRH fractions (>C10-C40).
Org-021	Soil samples are extracted with dichloromethane/acetone and waters with dichloromethane and analysed by GC-ECD.

Method ID	Methodology Summary
Org-021	Soil samples are extracted with dichloromethane/acetone and waters with dichloromethane and analysed by GC-ECD. Note, the Total +ve PCBs PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore" Total +ve PCBs" is simply a sum of the positive individual PCBs.
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS/GC-MSMS.
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with dichloromethane/acetone and waters with dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS/GC-MSMS.
	Note, the Total +ve reported DDD+DDE+DDT PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore simply a sum of the positive individually report DDD+DDE+DDT.
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS and/or GC-MS/MS. Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater - 2013. For soil results:- 1. 'EQ PQL'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql actually="" and="" approach="" are="" at="" be="" calculation="" can="" conservative="" contribute="" false="" give="" given="" is="" may="" most="" not="" pahs="" positive="" pql.="" present.<br="" teq="" teqs="" that="" the="" this="" to="">2. 'EQ zero'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql and="" approach="" are="" below="" but="" calculation="" conservative="" contribute="" false="" is="" least="" more="" negative="" pahs="" pql.<br="" present="" susceptible="" teq="" teqs="" that="" the="" this="" to="" when="" zero.="">3. 'EQ half PQL'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql a="" above.<br="" and="" approaches="" are="" between="" conservative="" half="" hence="" least="" mid-point="" most="" pql.="" stipulated="" the="">Note, the Total +ve PAHs PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore "Total +ve PAHs" is simply a sum of the positive individual PAHs.</pql></pql></pql>
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS.
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS. Water samples are analysed directly by purge and trap GC-MS. F1 = (C6-C10)-BTEX as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater.
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS. Water samples are analysed directly by purge and trap GC-MS. F1 = (C6-C10)-BTEX as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater. Note, the Total +ve Xylene PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore "Total +ve Xylenes" is simply a sum of the positive individual Xylenes.

QUALITY CONTROL: vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil					Duplicate				Spike Recovery %	
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-15	330588-3
Date extracted	-			16/08/2023	1	16/08/2023	16/08/2023		16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-			18/08/2023	1	17/08/2023	17/08/2023		17/08/2023	18/08/2023
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	mg/kg	25	Org-023	<25	1	<25	<25	0	108	123
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	mg/kg	25	Org-023	<25	1	<25	<25	0	108	123
Benzene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-023	<0.2	1	<0.2	<0.2	0	118	134
Toluene	mg/kg	0.5	Org-023	<0.5	1	<0.5	<0.5	0	109	123
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	106	120
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	2	Org-023	<2	1	<2	<2	0	104	118
o-Xylene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	108	122
Naphthalene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%		Org-023	124	1	108	91	17	89	94

QUALITY CONTROL: svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil					Duplicate				Spike Recovery %	
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-16	330588-3
Date extracted	-			16/08/2023	1	16/08/2023	16/08/2023		16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-			17/08/2023	1	17/08/2023	17/08/2023		17/08/2023	17/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	50	Org-020	<50	1	<50	<50	0	115	115
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	119	119
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	129	82
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	50	Org-020	<50	1	<50	<50	0	115	115
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	119	119
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	129	82
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%		Org-020	88	1	88	88	0	93	101

QUALIT	TY CONTRC	L: PAHs	in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-16	330588-3
Date extracted	-			16/08/2023	1	16/08/2023	16/08/2023		16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-			16/08/2023	1	16/08/2023	16/08/2023		16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	92	80
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	89	85
Fluorene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	90	86
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	92	84
Anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	92	88
Pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	95	87
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chrysene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	75	77
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-022/025	<0.2	1	<0.2	<0.2	0	[NT]	[NT]
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	0.05	Org-022/025	<0.05	1	<0.05	<0.05	0	90	86
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%		Org-022/025	85	1	86	86	0	84	84

QUALITY CONTR	OL: Organo	chlorine F	Pesticides in soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-16	330588-3
Date extracted	-			16/08/2023	1	16/08/2023	16/08/2023		16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-			16/08/2023	1	16/08/2023	16/08/2023		16/08/2023	16/08/2023
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	96	92
НСВ	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
beta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	98	94
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Heptachlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	99	93
delta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	93	93
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	90	88
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDE	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	103	101
Dieldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	102	98
Endrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	98	96
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDD	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	94	90
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
pp-DDT	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	89	85
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Mirex	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-022/025	88	1	91	89	2	103	100

QUALITY CONTRO	L: Organoph	nosphorus	s Pesticides in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-16	330588-3
Date extracted	-			16/08/2023	1	16/08/2023	16/08/2023		16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-			16/08/2023	1	16/08/2023	16/08/2023		16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Dichlorvos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	117	109
Mevinphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Phorate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dimethoate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Diazinon	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Disulfoton	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion-Methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ronnel	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	91	87
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	113	117
Malathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	99	97
Chlorpyriphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	90	88
Fenthion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	101	109
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Methidathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ethion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	80	84
Phosalone	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Azinphos-methyl (Guthion)	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Coumaphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-022/025	88	1	91	89	2	103	100

QUALIT	Y CONTRO	L: PCBs	in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-16	330588-3
Date extracted	-			16/08/2023	1	16/08/2023	16/08/2023		16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Date analysed	-			16/08/2023	1	16/08/2023	16/08/2023		16/08/2023	16/08/2023
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	99	90
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	0.1	Org-021	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate TCMX	%		Org-021	88	1	91	89	2	103	100

QUALITY CONT	ROL: Acid E	xtractabl	e metals in soil			Spike Re	covery %			
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-15	330588-3
Date prepared	-			17/08/2023	1	17/08/2023	17/08/2023		17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Date analysed	-			17/08/2023	1	17/08/2023	17/08/2023		17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	4	Metals-020	<4	1	<4	5	22	109	93
Cadmium	mg/kg	0.4	Metals-020	<0.4	1	<0.4	<0.4	0	100	88
Chromium	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	1	19	14	30	117	93
Copper	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	1	57	40	35	101	107
Lead	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	1	21	25	17	122	93
Mercury	mg/kg	0.1	Metals-021	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	107	108
Nickel	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	1	12	12	0	103	88
Zinc	mg/kg	1	Metals-020	<1	1	65	65	0	108	90

Result Definiti	ons
NT	Not tested
NA	Test not required
INS	Insufficient sample for this test
PQL	Practical Quantitation Limit
<	Less than
>	Greater than
RPD	Relative Percent Difference
LCS	Laboratory Control Sample
NS	Not specified
NEPM	National Environmental Protection Measure
NR	Not Reported

Quality Control	I Definitions
Blank	This is the component of the analytical signal which is not derived from the sample but from reagents, glassware etc, can be determined by processing solvents and reagents in exactly the same manner as for samples.
Duplicate	This is the complete duplicate analysis of a sample from the process batch. If possible, the sample selected should be one where the analyte concentration is easily measurable.
Matrix Spike	A portion of the sample is spiked with a known concentration of target analyte. The purpose of the matrix spike is to monitor the performance of the analytical method used and to determine whether matrix interferences exist.
LCS (Laboratory Control Sample)	This comprises either a standard reference material or a control matrix (such as a blank sand or water) fortified with analytes representative of the analyte class. It is simply a check sample.
Surrogate Spike	Surrogates are known additions to each sample, blank, matrix spike and LCS in a batch, of compounds which are similar to the analyte of interest, however are not expected to be found in real samples.

Australian Drinking Water Guidelines recommend that Thermotolerant Coliform, Faecal Enterococci, & E.Coli levels are less than 1cfu/100mL. The recommended maximums are taken from "Australian Drinking Water Guidelines", published by NHMRC & ARMC 2011.

The recommended maximums for analytes in urine are taken from "2018 TLVs and BEIs", as published by ACGIH (where available). Limit provided for Nickel is a precautionary guideline as per Position Paper prepared by AIOH Exposure Standards Committee, 2016.

Guideline limits for Rinse Water Quality reported as per analytical requirements and specifications of AS 4187, Amdt 2 2019, Table 7.2

Laboratory Acceptance Criteria

Duplicate sample and matrix spike recoveries may not be reported on smaller jobs, however, were analysed at a frequency to meet or exceed NEPM requirements. All samples are tested in batches of 20. The duplicate sample RPD and matrix spike recoveries for the batch were within the laboratory acceptance criteria.

Filters, swabs, wipes, tubes and badges will not have duplicate data as the whole sample is generally extracted during sample extraction.

Spikes for Physical and Aggregate Tests are not applicable.

For VOCs in water samples, three vials are required for duplicate or spike analysis.

Duplicates: >10xPQL - RPD acceptance criteria will vary depending on the analytes and the analytical techniques but is typically in the range 20%-50% – see ELN-P05 QA/QC tables for details; <10xPQL - RPD are higher as the results approach PQL and the estimated measurement uncertainty will statistically increase.

Matrix Spikes, LCS and Surrogate recoveries: Generally 70-130% for inorganics/metals (not SPOCAS); 60-140% for organics/SPOCAS (+/-50% surrogates) and 10-140% for labile SVOCs (including labile surrogates), ultra trace organics and speciated phenols is acceptable.

In circumstances where no duplicate and/or sample spike has been reported at 1 in 10 and/or 1 in 20 samples respectively, the sample volume submitted was insufficient in order to satisfy laboratory QA/QC protocols.

When samples are received where certain analytes are outside of recommended technical holding times (THTs), the analysis has proceeded. Where analytes are on the verge of breaching THTs, every effort will be made to analyse within the THT or as soon as practicable.

Where sampling dates are not provided, Envirolab are not in a position to comment on the validity of the analysis where recommended technical holding times may have been breached.

Where matrix spike recoveries fall below the lower limit of the acceptance criteria (e.g. for non-labile or standard Organics <60%), positive result(s) in the parent sample will subsequently have a higher than typical estimated uncertainty (MU estimates supplied on request) and in these circumstances the sample result is likely biased significantly low.

Measurement Uncertainty estimates are available for most tests upon request.

Analysis of aqueous samples typically involves the extraction/digestion and/or analysis of the liquid phase only (i.e. NOT any settled sediment phase but inclusive of suspended particles if present), unless stipulated on the Envirolab COC and/or by correspondence. Notable exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, total recoverable metals and PFAS where solids are included by default.

Samples for Microbiological analysis (not Amoeba forms) received outside of the 2-8°C temperature range do not meet the ideal cooling conditions as stated in AS2031-2012.

Report Comments

Asbestos-ID in soil: NEPM

This report is consistent with the reporting recommendations in the National Environment Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure, Schedule B1, May 2013. This is reported outside our scope of NATA accreditation.



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

SAMPLE RECEIPT ADVICE

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor

Sample Login Details	
Your reference	E34300PT2, Warrawong
Envirolab Reference	330588
Date Sample Received	15/08/2023
Date Instructions Received	15/08/2023
Date Results Expected to be Reported	23/08/2023

Sample Condition	
Samples received in appropriate condition for analysis	Yes
No. of Samples Provided	21 Soil, 1 Material
Turnaround Time Requested	Standard
Temperature on Receipt (°C)	5
Cooling Method	Ice
Sampling Date Provided	YES

Comments Nil

Please direct any queries to:

Aileen Hie	Jacinta Hurst
Phone: 02 9910 6200	Phone: 02 9910 6200
Fax: 02 9910 6201	Fax: 02 9910 6201
Email: ahie@envirolab.com.au	Email: jhurst@envirolab.com.au

Analysis Underway, details on the following page:

Envirolab Services Pty Ltd

ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au



Sample ID	vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil	svTRH (C10-C40) in Soil	PAHs in Soil	Organochlorine Pesticides in soil	Organophosphorus Pesticides in Soil	PCBs in Soil	Acid Extractable metalsin soil	Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASB- 001	Asbestos ID - materials	On Hold
BH221-0-0.1	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓			
BH221-0.4-0.55	✓	✓	✓				✓	\checkmark		
BH222-0-0.1	✓	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓			
BH222-0.3-0.4										\checkmark
BH223-0-0.1	\checkmark	✓	✓				✓			
BH223-0.3-0.4	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark				✓	\checkmark		
BH223-0.5-0.65										\checkmark
BH223-1.0-1.2	\checkmark	✓	✓				✓			
BH223-1.5-1.6										✓
BH223-1.8-2.0										✓
BH223-2.8-3.0										\checkmark
BH223-3.8-4.0										✓
BH223-4.2-4.3										\checkmark
BH224-0-0.1	\checkmark	✓	✓				✓	\checkmark		
BH224-0.3-0.5	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark				✓			
BH224-0.75-0.95	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓				✓			
BH224-1.5-1.7										\checkmark
BH224-2.3-2.5										✓
SDUP201										\checkmark
FCF-201-SURFACE									\checkmark	
TB-201	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark				✓			
TS-S201	\checkmark									

The '\screw' indicates the testing you have requested. THIS IS NOT A REPORT OF THE RESULTS.

Additional Info

Sample storage - Waters are routinely disposed of approximately 1 month and soils approximately 2 months from receipt.

Requests for longer term sample storage must be received in writing.

Please contact the laboratory immediately if observed settled sediment present in water samples is to be included in the extraction and/or analysis (exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, Total Recoverable metals and PFAS analysis where solids are included by default.

TAT for Micro is dependent on incubation. This varies from 3 to 6 days.

											_						i		
<u>TO:</u>				SAMPL	E AND	CHAIN O	F CU	<u>sto</u>	DY I	OR	VI FROM:					ł			
		S PTY LTD		JKE Job		E34300PT2]						K						
LZ ASHLEY ST	NSW 2	067		Number:								J	KE	Īnv	iro	nm	er	Its	l
P: (02) 99106	200			Date Res	ults	STANDARD					REAR C	OF 115	WICK	(S RO	1D				
-: (OS) AATOO	201			Kequirea	:		_				P: 02-9	888 5	000	, 1131	F: 02-	9888 5	001		
Attention: Ail	een			Page:		1 of 1					Attent	ion:	<u>ktay</u>	lor@j	kenvir	onmen	its.cor	n.au	
ocation:	Warra	wong	÷	· ,						Sar	nple Pro	eserve	d in E	sky or	ı ice -				
Sampler:	K. Tayl	or				1				I –	Te	ests Re	quire I	d [.] I	1				
Date Sampled	Lab Ref:	Sample Number	Depth (m)	Sample Container	PID	Sample Description	9#	#6aNEPM	#3aNEPM	Ę#	pH, CEC and clay content	Asbestos (Detection)	ВТЕХ						
	1	BH221	0-0.1	G, A	0.1	FILL	x						ing Sa			-			
15/08/2023	2	BH221	0.4-0.55	G, A	· 0	FILL ***			x		.∳r.	1		-	1	} · ;	-		
15/08/2023	3	вн222	0-0.1	G, A	0.2	FILL	x												
15/08/2023	4	вн222	0.3-0.4	G, A	0.1	FILL								<u> </u>		, ,			
14/08/2023	5	BH223	0-0.1	G, A	0	FJLL				x									
14/08/2023	6	BH223	0.3-0.4	G, A	0	FILL		.:	x							1			
14/08/2023	7	вн223	0.5-0.65	G, A	0.1	FILL													
14/08/2023	8	BH223	1.0-1.2	G, A	0	FILL				x									
14/08/2023	9	вн223	1.5-1.6	G, A	o	FILL					`								
14/08/2023	10	BH223	1.8-2.0	G, A	0	FILL										1			
14/08/2023	11	BH223	2.8-3.0	G, A	0	FILL													
14/08/2023	n	BH223	3.8-4.0	G, A	0	FILL										5 •			
14/08/2023	13	BH223	4.2-4.3	G, A	0	NATURAL									•				
14/08/2023	14	BH224	0-0.1	G, A	0.3	FILL			x							7 3 1			
14/08/2023	5	вн224	0.3-0.5	G, A	0	FILL				x									
14/08/2023	16 -	BH224	0.75-0.95	G, A	0.1	NATURAL				X						î			
14/08/2023	17.	вн224	1.5-1.7	G, A	0	NATURAL	<u> </u>							1	1				
14/08/2023	18_	BH224	2.3-2.5	G, A	0	NATURAL				 						1			
15/08/2023	ાલ	SDUP201	-	G	-	FILL	<u> </u>							<u> </u>	<u> </u>				1
14/08/2023	20	FCF-201	SURFACE	A	-	ļ						x				1.	ļ ,		35
14/08/2023	21	тв-201	-	G	-	1				x			<u> </u>	<u> </u>	táv 🗄	:))	Gina	SWOD	1 AS 1 NS1
14/08/2023	12	TS-S201	-	G	-	ļ						<u> </u>	×	<u> </u>	101	ן: ווהי	3	rn: (0 3⊖.<	9 991 R Ø
																		151	R 1
		_	-		<u> </u>	ļ			ļ	<u> </u>	_	<u> </u>			līma	Rece	/ed:	17	þő
															578 Torrer	/ad E	y: 🧲 MAmh	ent	e .
Remarks (cor	nment	s/detection l	imits required	i): ⁻			Sam G - 2 A - Z	ple Co 50mg iplock	ntaine Glass Asbes	ers: Jar stos B	ag			_	Cocli Aucu	ng: loo iri*y: In	e/leep itact/f	ack	/Nor

11 82 41

) Xil

¢,



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

CERTIFICATE OF ANALYSIS 330588-A

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor
Address	PO Box 976, North Ryde BC, NSW, 1670

ample Details		
Your Reference	E34300PT2, Warrawong	
Number of Samples	21 Soil, 1 Material	
Date samples received	15/08/2023	
Date completed instructions received	24/08/2023	

Analysis Details

Please refer to the following pages for results, methodology summary and quality control data.

Samples were analysed as received from the client. Results relate specifically to the samples as received.

Results are reported on a dry weight basis for solids and on an as received basis for other matrices.

Please refer to the last page of this report for any comments relating to the results.

Report Details				
Date results requested by	29/08/2023			
Date of Issue	29/08/2023			
NATA Accreditation Number 2901. This document shall not be reproduced except in full.				
Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 1	7025 - Testing. Tests not covered by NATA are denoted with *			

Asbestos Approved By

Analysed by Asbestos Approved Analyst: Nyovan Moonean Authorised by Asbestos Approved Signatory: Lucy Zhu **Results Approved By** Lucy Zhu, Asbestos Supervisor <u>Authorised By</u> Nancy Zhang, Laboratory Manager



Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASB-001			
Our Reference		330588-A-3	330588-A-15
Your Reference	UNITS	BH222	BH224
Depth		0-0.1	0.3-0.5
Date Sampled		15/08/2023	14/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil	Soil
Date analysed	-	29/08/2023	29/08/2023
Sample mass tested	g	456.07	695.77
Sample Description	-	Brown coarse- grained soil & rocks	Grey coarse- grained soil & rocks
Asbestos ID in soil (AS4964) >0.1g/kg	-	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg	No asbestos detected at reporting limit of 0.1g/kg
		Organic fibres detected	Organic fibres detected
Trace Analysis	-	No asbestos detected	No asbestos detected
Total Asbestos ^{#1}	g/kg	<0.1	<0.1
Asbestos ID in soil <0.1g/kg*	-	No visible asbestos detected	No visible asbestos detected
ACM >7mm Estimation*	g	-	_
FA and AF Estimation*	g	-	-
ACM >7mm Estimation*	%(w/w)	<0.01	<0.01
FA and AF Estimation*#2	%(w/w)	<0.001	<0.001

Method ID	Methodology Summary
ASB-001	Asbestos ID - Qualitative identification of asbestos in bulk samples using Polarised Light Microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques including Synthetic Mineral Fibre and Organic Fibre as per Australian Standard 4964-2004.
ASB-001	Asbestos ID - Identification of asbestos in soil samples using Polarised Light Microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques. Minimum 500mL soil sample was analysed as recommended by "National Environment Protection (Assessment of site contamination) Measure, Schedule B1 and "The Guidelines from the Assessment, Remediation and Management of Asbestos- Contaminated Sites in Western Australia - May 2009" with a reporting limit of 0.1g/kg (0.01% w/w) as per Australian Standard AS4964-2004. Results reported denoted with * are outside our scope of NATA accreditation.
	>7mm, <7mm and FA/AF)
	NOTE ^{#2} The screening level of 0.001% w/w asbestos in soil for FA and AF only applies where the FA and AF are able to be quantified by gravimetric procedures. This screening level is not applicable to free fibres.
	Estimation = Estimated asbestos weight
	Results reported with "" is equivalent to no visible asbestos identified using Polarised Light microscopy and Dispersion Staining Techniques.

Result Definiti	Result Definitions				
NT	Not tested				
NA	Test not required				
INS	Insufficient sample for this test				
PQL	Practical Quantitation Limit				
<	Less than				
>	Greater than				
RPD	Relative Percent Difference				
LCS	Laboratory Control Sample				
NS	Not specified				
NEPM	National Environmental Protection Measure				
NR	Not Reported				

Report Comments

Asbestos-ID in soil: NEPM

This report is consistent with the reporting recommendations in the National Environment Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure, Schedule B1, May 2013. This is reported outside our scope of NATA accreditation.



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

SAMPLE RECEIPT ADVICE

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor

Sample Login Details	
Your reference	E34300PT2, Warrawong
Envirolab Reference	330588-A
Date Sample Received	15/08/2023
Date Instructions Received	24/08/2023
Date Results Expected to be Reported	29/08/2023

Sample Condition	
Samples received in appropriate condition for analysis	Yes
No. of Samples Provided	21 Soil, 1 Material
Turnaround Time Requested	3 days
Temperature on Receipt (°C)	5
Cooling Method	Ice
Sampling Date Provided	YES

Comments Nil

Please direct any queries to:

Aileen Hie	Jacinta Hurst					
Phone: 02 9910 6200	Phone: 02 9910 6200					
Fax: 02 9910 6201	Fax: 02 9910 6201					
Email: ahie@envirolab.com.au	Email: jhurst@envirolab.com.au					

Analysis Underway, details on the following page:



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

Sample ID	Asbestos ID - soils NEPM - ASB 001 On Hold
BH221-0-0.1	✓
BH221-0.4-0.55	✓
BH222-0-0.1	✓
BH222-0.3-0.4	✓
BH223-0-0.1	✓
BH223-0.3-0.4	✓
BH223-0.5-0.65	✓
BH223-1.0-1.2	✓
BH223-1.5-1.6	✓
BH223-1.8-2.0	✓
BH223-2.8-3.0	✓
BH223-3.8-4.0	✓
BH223-4.2-4.3	✓
BH224-0-0.1	✓
BH224-0.3-0.5	✓
BH224-0.75-0.95	✓
BH224-1.5-1.7	✓
BH224-2.3-2.5	✓
SDUP201	✓
FCF-201-SURFACE	✓
TB-201	✓
TS-S201	✓

The ' \checkmark ' indicates the testing you have requested. THIS IS NOT A REPORT OF THE RESULTS.

Additional Info

Sample storage - Waters are routinely disposed of approximately 1 month and soils approximately 2 months from receipt.

Requests for longer term sample storage must be received in writing.

Please contact the laboratory immediately if observed settled sediment present in water samples is to be included in the extraction and/or analysis (exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, Total Recoverable metals and PFAS analysis where solids are included by default.

TAT for Micro is dependent on incubation. This varies from 3 to 6 days.

Anna Bui

Katrina Taylor <ktaylor@jkenvironments.com.au></ktaylor@jkenvironments.com.au>
Thursday, 24 August 2023 3:47 PM
Nancy Zhang; Samplereceipt
RE: Results for Registration 330588 E34300PT2, Warrawong

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not act on instructions, click links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content is authentic and safe.

Afternoon,

Please schedule the following samples on 3 day TA:

Asbestos 500ml (NEPM)

З BH222 (0-0.1)

BH224 (0.3-0.5) 15

> Regards Katrina Taylor Associate | Environmental Scientist NSW Licensed Asbestos Assessor

JKEnvironments

T: +612 9888 5000 D: 0418 481 628 E: KTaylor@jkenvironments.com.au www.jkenvironments.com.au

PO Box 976 NORTH RYDE BC NSW 1670 115 Wicks Road MACQUARIE PARK NSW 2113

ELS REF: 330588-A

TAT: 3 DAY DVE: 29/8/23

AB -

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be privileged in which case neither is intended to be waived. If you have received this message in error, please notify us and remove it from your system. It is your responsibility to check any attachments for viruses and defects before opening or sending them on. At the Company's discretion we may send a paper copy for confirmation. In the event of any discrepancy between paper and electronic versions the paper version is to take precedence.

From: Nancy Zhang <NZhang@envirolab.com.au> Sent: Wednesday, 23 August 2023 4:15 PM To: Katrina Taylor <KTaylor@jkenvironments.com.au> Subject: Results for Registration 330588 E34300PT2, Warrawong

This message originated outside the JKG network. If this looks to be from a staff member, it is likely to be malicious (spam/phish attack). Do not click links of open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content is safe.

Please refer to attached for: a copy of the Certificate of Analysis a copy of the COC/paperwork received from you an Excel or .csv file containing the results

Please note that a hard copy will not be posted.

Enquiries should be made directly to: customerservice@envirolab.com.au

How did we do? Send Feedback



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 - 002 25 Research Drive Croydon South VIC 3136 ph 03 9763 2500 fax 03 9763 2633 melbourne@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

CERTIFICATE OF ANALYSIS 39136

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor
Address	PO Box 976, North Ryde BC, NSW, 1670

Sample Details	
Your Reference	E34300PT2
Number of Samples	1 Soil
Date samples received	17/08/2023
Date completed instructions received	17/08/2023

Analysis Details

Please refer to the following pages for results, methodology summary and quality control data.

Samples were analysed as received from the client. Results relate specifically to the samples as received.

Results are reported on a dry weight basis for solids and on an as received basis for other matrices.

Report Details		
Date results requested by	23/08/2023	
Date of Issue	23/08/2023	
NATA Accreditation Number 2901. This document shall not be reproduced except in full.		
Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 17025 - Testing. Tests not covered by NATA are denoted with *		

<u>Results Approved By</u> Tara White, Metals Team Leader Tianna Milburn, Senior Chemist <u>Authorised By</u> Pamela Adams, Laboratory Manager



vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Soil		
Our Reference		39136-1
Your Reference	UNITS	SDUP201
Date Sampled		15/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date extracted	-	22/08/2023
Date analysed	-	22/08/2023
vTRH C ₆ - C ₉	mg/kg	<25
vTRH C6 - C10	mg/kg	<25
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀ less BTEX (F1)	mg/kg	<25
Benzene	mg/kg	<0.2
Toluene	mg/kg	<0.5
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	<1
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	<2
o-Xylene	mg/kg	<1
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<1
Total BTEX	mg/kg	<1
Total +ve Xylenes	mg/kg	<1
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%	94

TRH Soil C10-C40 NEPM		
Our Reference		39136-1
Your Reference	UNITS	SDUP201
Date Sampled		15/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date extracted	-	22/08/2023
Date analysed	-	23/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	<50
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	mg/kg	<50
TRH >C10 -C16	mg/kg	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2)	mg/kg	<50
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	<100
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	<100
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	mg/kg	<50
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	76

PAHs in Soil		
Our Reference		39136-1
Your Reference	UNITS	SDUP201
Date Sampled		15/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date extracted	-	22/08/2023
Date analysed	-	22/08/2023
Naphthalene	mg/kg	<0.1
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	<0.1
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	<0.1
Fluorene	mg/kg	<0.1
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	<0.1
Anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.1
Pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1
Chrysene	mg/kg	<0.1
Benzo(b,j&k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.05
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	<0.1
Total +ve PAH's	mg/kg	<0.05
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (Zero)	mg/kg	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (Half)	mg/kg	<0.5
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ calc (PQL)	mg/kg	<0.5
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d ₁₄	%	88

OCP in Soil		
Our Reference		39136-1
Your Reference	UNITS	SDUP201
Date Sampled		15/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date extracted	-	22/08/2023
Date analysed	-	22/08/2023
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1
Hexachlorobenzene	mg/kg	<0.1
beta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1
Heptachlor	mg/kg	<0.1
delta-BHC	mg/kg	<0.1
Aldrin	mg/kg	<0.1
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	<0.1
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	<0.1
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	<0.1
pp-DDE	mg/kg	<0.1
Dieldrin	mg/kg	<0.1
Endrin	mg/kg	<0.1
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	<0.1
pp-DDD	mg/kg	<0.1
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	<0.1
pp-DDT	mg/kg	<0.1
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	<0.1
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	<0.1
Total +ve reported Aldrin + Dieldrin	mg/kg	<0.1
Total +ve reported DDT+DDD+DDE	mg/kg	<0.1
Surrogate 2-chlorophenol-d4	%	74

OP in Soil		
Our Reference		39136-1
Your Reference	UNITS	SDUP201
Date Sampled		15/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date extracted	-	22/08/2023
Date analysed	-	22/08/2023
Azinphos-methyl	mg/kg	<0.1
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	<0.1
Chlorpyrifos	mg/kg	<0.1
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	<0.1
Diazinon	mg/kg	<0.1
Dichlorovos	mg/kg	<0.1
Dimethoate	mg/kg	<0.1
Ethion	mg/kg	<0.1
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	<0.1
Malathion	mg/kg	<0.1
Parathion	mg/kg	<0.1
Ronnel	mg/kg	<0.1
Coumaphos	mg/kg	<0.1
Disulfoton	mg/kg	<0.1
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	<0.1
Fenthion	mg/kg	<0.1
Methidathion	mg/kg	<0.1
Mevinphos	mg/kg	<0.1
Methyl Parathion	mg/kg	<0.1
Phorate	mg/kg	<0.1
Phosalone	mg/kg	<0.1
Surrogate 2-chlorophenol-d4	%	74
PCBs in Soil		
----------------------------	-------	------------
Our Reference		39136-1
Your Reference	UNITS	SDUP201
Date Sampled		15/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date extracted	-	22/08/2023
Date analysed	-	22/08/2023
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	<0.1
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	<0.1
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	<0.1
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	<0.1
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	<0.1
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	<0.1
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	<0.1
Total +ve PCBs (1016-1260)	mg/kg	<0.1
Surrogate 2-fluorobiphenyl	%	86

Acid Extractable metals in soil		
Our Reference		39136-1
Your Reference	UNITS	SDUP201
Date Sampled		15/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date digested	-	23/08/2023
Date analysed	-	23/08/2023
Arsenic	mg/kg	<4
Cadmium	mg/kg	<0.4
Chromium	mg/kg	21
Copper	mg/kg	95
Lead	mg/kg	16
Mercury	mg/kg	<0.1
Nickel	mg/kg	9
Zinc	mg/kg	56

Moisture		
Our Reference		39136-1
Your Reference	UNITS	SDUP201
Date Sampled		15/08/2023
Type of sample		Soil
Date prepared	-	22/08/2023
Date analysed	-	23/08/2023
Moisture	%	22

Method ID	Methodology Summary
Inorg-008	Moisture content determined by heating at 105°C for a minimum of 12 hours.
Metals-020 ICP-AES	Determination of various metals by ICP-AES.
Metals-021 CV-AAS	Determination of Mercury by Cold Vapour AAS.
Org-020	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-FID.
	F2 = (>C10-C16)-Naphthalene as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater (HSLs Tables 1A (3, 4)). Note Naphthalene is determined from the VOC analysis.
	Note, the Total +ve TRH PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore "Total +ve TRH" is simply a sum of the positive individual TRH fractions (>C10-C40).
Org-021/022	Soil samples are extracted with dichloromethane/acetone and waters with dichloromethane and analysed by GC-ECD or GC-MS.
	Note, the Total +ve PCBs PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore" Total +ve PCBs" is simply a sum of the positive individual PCBs.
Org-022	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS.
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS/GC-MSMS.
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS/GC-MSMS.
	Note, For OCs the Total +ve reported DDD+DDE+DDT PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore simply a sum of the positive individually report DDD+DDE+DDT.

Method ID	Methodology Summary
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS/GC-MSMS. Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater - 2013.
	For soil results:-
	 'EQ PQL'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql actually="" and="" approach="" are="" at="" be="" calculation="" can="" conservative="" contribute="" false="" give="" given="" is="" li="" may="" most="" not="" pahs="" positive="" pql.="" present.<="" teq="" teqs="" that="" the="" this="" to=""> 'EQ zero'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql and="" approach="" are="" below="" but="" calculation="" conservative="" contribute="" false="" is="" least="" li="" more="" negative="" pahs="" pql.<="" present="" susceptible="" teq="" teqs="" that="" the="" this="" to="" when="" zero.=""> 'EQ half PQL'values are assuming all contributing PAHs reported as <pql a="" above.<="" and="" approaches="" are="" between="" conservative="" half="" hence="" least="" li="" mid-point="" most="" pql.="" stipulated="" the=""> Note, the Total +ve PAHs PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore" Total +ve PAHs" is simply a sum of the positive individual PAHs. </pql></pql></pql>
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS.
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS. Water samples are analysed directly by purge and trap GC-MS. F1 = (C6-C10)-BTEX as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater. Note, the Total +ve Xylene PQL is reflective of the lowest individual PQL and is therefore "Total +ve Xylenes" is simply a sum of the positive individual Xylenes.

QUALITY CONT	ROL: vTRH	(C6-C10)	/BTEXN in Soil		Duplicate Spike Recovery					covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]
Date extracted	-			22/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	22/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			22/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	22/08/2023	
vTRH C ₆ - C ₉	mg/kg	25	Org-023	<25	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	96	
vTRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	mg/kg	25	Org-023	<25	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	96	
Benzene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-023	<0.2	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	88	[NT]
Toluene	mg/kg	0.5	Org-023	<0.5	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	92	
Ethylbenzene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	96	[NT]
m+p-xylene	mg/kg	2	Org-023	<2	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	102	
o-Xylene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	94	
Naphthalene	mg/kg	1	Org-023	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate aaa-Trifluorotoluene	%		Org-023	98	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	98	

QUALITY COM	NTROL: TRH	I Soil C10	-C40 NEPM		Duplicate Spike Reg					covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]
Date extracted	-			22/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	22/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			22/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	22/08/2023	
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	mg/kg	50	Org-020	<50	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	112	
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	111	
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	120	
TRH >C ₁₀ -C ₁₆	mg/kg	50	Org-020	<50	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	112	
TRH >C ₁₆ -C ₃₄	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	111	
TRH >C ₃₄ -C ₄₀	mg/kg	100	Org-020	<100	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	120	
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%		Org-020	79	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	71	[NT]

QUALIT	Y CONTRC	L: PAHs	in Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]
Date extracted	-			22/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	22/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			22/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	22/08/2023	
Naphthalene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	84	
Acenaphthylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Acenaphthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	90	
Fluorene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	92	
Phenanthrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	90	
Anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	92	
Pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	92	
Benzo(a)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Chrysene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	92	
Benzo(b,j&k)fluoranthene	mg/kg	0.2	Org-022/025	<0.2	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Benzo(a)pyrene	mg/kg	0.05	Org-022/025	<0.05	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	86	
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d ₁₄	%		Org-022/025	82	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	90	[NT]

QUALI	TY CONTRC	L: OCP i	n Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]
Date extracted	-			22/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	22/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			22/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	22/08/2023	
alpha-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	86	
Hexachlorobenzene	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
beta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	84	
gamma-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Heptachlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	82	
delta-BHC	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Aldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	82	
Heptachlor Epoxide	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	90	
gamma-Chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	88	
alpha-chlordane	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Endosulfan I	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
pp-DDE	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	96	
Dieldrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	86	
Endrin	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Endosulfan II	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
pp-DDD	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	88	
Endrin Aldehyde	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
pp-DDT	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Endosulfan Sulphate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	82	
Methoxychlor	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Surrogate 2-chlorophenol-d4	%		Org-022/025	78	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	80	

QUAL	ITY CONTR	OL: OP ir	n Soil			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	39136-1
Date extracted	-			22/08/2023	1	22/08/2023	22/08/2023		22/08/2023	22/08/2023
Date analysed	-			22/08/2023	1	22/08/2023	22/08/2023		22/08/2023	22/08/2023
Azinphos-methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Bromophos-ethyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Chlorpyrifos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	86	90
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	88	87
Diazinon	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	98	96
Dichlorovos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Dimethoate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ethion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	78	86
Fenitrothion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	68	68
Malathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Parathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Ronnel	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Coumaphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Disulfoton	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenamiphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Fenthion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Methidathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Mevinphos	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Methyl Parathion	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Phorate	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Phosalone	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate 2-chlorophenol-d4	%		Org-022/025	78	1	74	72	3	80	78

QUALIT	Y CONTRO	L: PCBs i	in Soil			Du	plicate	Spike Recovery %		
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]
Date extracted	-			22/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	22/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			22/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	22/08/2023	
Aroclor 1016	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Aroclor 1221	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Aroclor 1232	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Aroclor 1242	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Aroclor 1248	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Aroclor 1254	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	86	
Aroclor 1260	mg/kg	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	
Surrogate 2-fluorobiphenyl	%		Org-022/025	92	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	94	

QUALITY CONT	ROL: Acid E	xtractabl	e metals in soil		Duplicate Spike Reco					covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-1	[NT]
Date digested	-			23/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	23/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			23/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	23/08/2023	
Arsenic	mg/kg	4	Metals-020 ICP- AES	<4	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	101	
Cadmium	mg/kg	0.4	Metals-020 ICP- AES	<0.4	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	99	
Chromium	mg/kg	1	Metals-020 ICP- AES	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	100	
Copper	mg/kg	1	Metals-020 ICP- AES	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	102	
Lead	mg/kg	1	Metals-020 ICP- AES	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	104	
Mercury	mg/kg	0.1	Metals-021 CV-AAS	<0.1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	91	
Nickel	mg/kg	1	Metals-020 ICP- AES	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	98	
Zinc	mg/kg	1	Metals-020 ICP- AES	<1	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	102	

Result Definiti	ons
NT	Not tested
NA	Test not required
INS	Insufficient sample for this test
PQL	Practical Quantitation Limit
<	Less than
>	Greater than
RPD	Relative Percent Difference
LCS	Laboratory Control Sample
NS	Not specified
NEPM	National Environmental Protection Measure
NR	Not Reported

Quality Control Definitions							
Blank	This is the component of the analytical signal which is not derived from the sample but from reagents, glassware etc, can be determined by processing solvents and reagents in exactly the same manner as for samples.						
Duplicate	This is the complete duplicate analysis of a sample from the process batch. If possible, the sample selected should be one where the analyte concentration is easily measurable.						
Matrix Spike	A portion of the sample is spiked with a known concentration of target analyte. The purpose of the matrix spike is to monitor the performance of the analytical method used and to determine whether matrix interferences exist.						
LCS (Laboratory Control Sample)	This comprises either a standard reference material or a control matrix (such as a blank sand or water) fortified with analytes representative of the analyte class. It is simply a check sample.						
Surrogate Spike	Surrogates are known additions to each sample, blank, matrix spike and LCS in a batch, of compounds which are similar to the analyte of interest, however are not expected to be found in real samples.						

Australian Drinking Water Guidelines recommend that Thermotolerant Coliform, Faecal Enterococci, & E.Coli levels are less than 1cfu/100mL. The recommended maximums are taken from "Australian Drinking Water Guidelines", published by NHMRC & ARMC 2011.

The recommended maximums for analytes in urine are taken from "2018 TLVs and BEIs", as published by ACGIH (where available). Limit provided for Nickel is a precautionary guideline as per Position Paper prepared by AIOH Exposure Standards Committee, 2016.

Guideline limits for Rinse Water Quality reported as per analytical requirements and specifications of AS 4187, Amdt 2 2019, Table 7.2

Laboratory Acceptance Criteria

Duplicate sample and matrix spike recoveries may not be reported on smaller jobs, however, were analysed at a frequency to meet or exceed NEPM requirements. All samples are tested in batches of 20. The duplicate sample RPD and matrix spike recoveries for the batch were within the laboratory acceptance criteria.

Filters, swabs, wipes, tubes and badges will not have duplicate data as the whole sample is generally extracted during sample extraction.

Spikes for Physical and Aggregate Tests are not applicable.

For VOCs in water samples, three vials are required for duplicate or spike analysis.

Duplicates: >10xPQL - RPD acceptance criteria will vary depending on the analytes and the analytical techniques but is typically in the range 20%-50% – see ELN-P05 QA/QC tables for details; <10xPQL - RPD are higher as the results approach PQL and the estimated measurement uncertainty will statistically increase.

Matrix Spikes, LCS and Surrogate recoveries: Generally 70-130% for inorganics/metals (not SPOCAS); 60-140% for organics/SPOCAS (+/-50% surrogates) and 10-140% for labile SVOCs (including labile surrogates), ultra trace organics and speciated phenols is acceptable.

In circumstances where no duplicate and/or sample spike has been reported at 1 in 10 and/or 1 in 20 samples respectively, the sample volume submitted was insufficient in order to satisfy laboratory QA/QC protocols.

When samples are received where certain analytes are outside of recommended technical holding times (THTs), the analysis has proceeded. Where analytes are on the verge of breaching THTs, every effort will be made to analyse within the THT or as soon as practicable.

Where sampling dates are not provided, Envirolab are not in a position to comment on the validity of the analysis where recommended technical holding times may have been breached.

Where matrix spike recoveries fall below the lower limit of the acceptance criteria (e.g. for non-labile or standard Organics <60%), positive result(s) in the parent sample will subsequently have a higher than typical estimated uncertainty (MU estimates supplied on request) and in these circumstances the sample result is likely biased significantly low.

Measurement Uncertainty estimates are available for most tests upon request.

Analysis of aqueous samples typically involves the extraction/digestion and/or analysis of the liquid phase only (i.e. NOT any settled sediment phase but inclusive of suspended particles if present), unless stipulated on the Envirolab COC and/or by correspondence. Notable exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, total recoverable metals and PFAS where solids are included by default.

Samples for Microbiological analysis (not Amoeba forms) received outside of the 2-8°C temperature range do not meet the ideal cooling conditions as stated in AS2031-2012.



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 - 002 25 Research Drive Croydon South VIC 3136 ph 03 9763 2500 fax 03 9763 2633 melbourne@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

SAMPLE RECEIPT ADVICE

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor

Sample Login Details	
Your reference	E34300PT2
Envirolab Reference	39136
Date Sample Received	17/08/2023
Date Instructions Received	17/08/2023
Date Results Expected to be Reported	24/08/2023

Sample Condition	
Samples received in appropriate condition for analysis	Yes
No. of Samples Provided	1 Soil
Turnaround Time Requested	Standard
Temperature on Receipt (°C)	12.2
Cooling Method	Ice Pack
Sampling Date Provided	YES

Comments Nil

Please direct any queries to:

Pamela Adams	Chris De Luca								
Phone: 03 9763 2500	Phone: 03 9763 2500								
Fax: 03 9763 2633	Fax: 03 9763 2633								
Email: padams@envirolab.com.au	Email: cdeluca@envirolab.com.au								

Analysis Underway, details on the following page:



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 - 002 25 Research Drive Croydon South VIC 3136 ph 03 9763 2500 fax 03 9763 2633 melbourne@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au



The ' \checkmark ' indicates the testing you have requested. THIS IS NOT A REPORT OF THE RESULTS.

Additional Info

Sample storage - Waters are routinely disposed of approximately 1 month and soils approximately 2 months from receipt.

Requests for longer term sample storage must be received in writing.

Please contact the laboratory immediately if observed settled sediment present in water samples is to be included in the extraction and/or analysis (exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, Total Recoverable metals and PFAS analysis where solids are included by default.

<u>TQ:</u> ENVIROLAB S 12 ASHLEY ST	ERVICE	S PTY LTD		SAMPL JKE Job Numbar:	<u>e and</u>	CHAIN O	<u>F CU</u>	STO	DY	FOR	VI FRO	<u>M:</u>	J		nv	iro	nm	ıer	nts
(P: (02) 99106 F: (02) 99106	CHATSWOOD NSW 2067 (P: (02) 99106200 F: (02) 99106201				Date Results STANDARD					REAR OF 115 WICKS ROAD MACQUARIE PARK, NSW 2113									
Attention: Ai	leen			Page:		1 of 1,					Attention: <u>ktaylor@ikenvironinents.com.au</u>								
Location:	Warra K. Tavl	wong	·			-,				Sa	nple	Pres Tes	ierve ts Re	d In Es quirec	sky or 1	lce -			
Date Sampled	Lab Ref:	Sample Number	Depth (m)	Sample Container	PID	Sample Description	9#	#6aNEPM	#3aNEPM	E¢	pH, CEC and	clay content	Aspessos (Detection)	BTEK					
15/08/2023	11	BH221	0-0.1	G, A	0.1	FILL	x			Ă: •			с, S	7	•	-	-		
15/08/2023	2_	8H221	0.4-0.55	·G, A	0	FILL.""			x	متشكشة	· 7,-		Ŀ		•		! • !	•	-
15/08/2023	·3	BH222	0-0.1	G, A	0.2	FILL	х												
15/08/2023	4	BH222	0.3-0.4	G, A	0:1	FILL											, !		
14/08/2023	5	BH223	0-0.1	G, A	0	FILL				×	 						 		<u> </u>
14/08/2023	6	BH223	0.3-0.4	G, A	0	" FILL		:	X				<u>+</u>				1,		
14/08/2023	7	BH223	0.5-0.65	G, A	0.1	FILL				<u> </u>		-						1	
14/08/2023	8	BH223	1.0-1.2	G, A		FILL				×	,							-	
14/08/2023	9	BH223	1.5-1.6	G,A	0		·				-			1				-	-
14/08/2023		BH223	1.8-2.0	G, A	0	FILL				+	-	-+						-	Envin
14/08/2023	$\frac{1}{1}$	BH223	2.8-3.0	G, A	0	FILL				1		+			EL			royd	25 Re
14/08/2023	13	BH223	4.7-4.3	G, A	0	NATURAL		<u> </u>				┢			<u>J</u>	bЛ	<u>5</u> 5	প	3
14/08/2023	14	BH224	0-0.1	G, A	.0.3	FILL			x			,			Da	te Re	iceive	d: İ	7k
14/08/2023	5	BH224	0.3-0.5	G, A	0	FILL ,				×					Tir Re	ne R Coive	ceive		3
14/08/2023	16.	BH224	0.75-0.95	G, A	-0.1	NATURAL				X					Te	np	۵¢	mbie	nt
14/08/2023	4.	BH224	1.5-1.7	G, A	0	NATURAL									Co Se	oling. curity	ICe/	epa 98r	
14/08/2023	18_	BH224	2.3-2.5	G, A	6	NATURAL				<u> </u>	-					<u> </u>	ľ	[
15/08/2023	<u> </u>	SDUP201	<u> </u>	G	-	FILL -		<u> </u>				+			· ·	<u> </u>			.·
14/08/2023	20	FCF-201	SURFACE	A	-	<u> </u>						-	X			10.18	i. 	-	+ -
14/08/2023	21	TB-201		6			-			<u></u> ⊢^	$\left \right $	_	ļ	x		1100	7	Chi	15000 1h: (0
14/08/2023	11_	TS-S201	<u></u>					-		-	\vdash	-		-		<u>ارت</u> 	<u>167-</u>	-3-	B0 3
		{		<u></u>									:		<u> </u>	i Jure Lime		ed:	15
									<u> </u>	$\left\{ - \right\}$	┢╌					5.28	ied E	y: é	ku'
Remarks (con	nment:	detection li	ı mits required]: v	<u> </u>		Sam G - Z A - Z	ile Co SOmg iplock	ntaine Glass Asbe:	ers: Jar stos B	ag	1			l	Cooli Cooli Cooli	ng: lo ng: lo n'y: lr	elleer tactil	ack Broke
Relinquished	By: K.	Taylor		Dáte: 15	.08.23		Time	* 17	700	>	Rec	eive	d By:	E	N		Date IS	: 18 -	

Simon Song

From:	Katrina Taylor <ktaylor@jkenvironments.com.au></ktaylor@jkenvironments.com.au>
Sent:	Wednesday, 16 August 2023 1:55 PM
To:	Simon Song
Subject:	RE: Sample Receipt for 330588 E34300PT2, Warrawong

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation. Do not act on instructions, click links or open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content is authentic and safe.

Hi Simon,

Could we schedule SDUP201 as an inter for Melbourne Envirolab for #6 please.

Regards Katrina Taylor Associate | Environmental Scientist NSW Licensed Asbestos Assessor

T: +612 9888 5000 D: 0418 481 628 E: <u>KTaylor@jkenvironments.com.au</u> www.jkenvironments.com.au

JKEnvironments

PO Box 976 NORTH RYDE BC NSW 1670 115 Wicks Road MACQUARIE PARK NSW 2113

This email and any attachments are confidential and may be privileged in which case neither is intended to be waived." If you have received this message in error, please notify us and remove it from your system. It is your responsibility to check any attachments for viruses and defects before opening or sending them on. At the Company's discretion we may send a paper copy for confirmation. In the event of any discrepancy between paper and electronic versions the paper version is to take precedence.

From: Simon Song <SSong@envirolab.com.au> Sent: Wednesday, 16 August 2023 1:33 PM To: Katrina Taylor <KTaylor@jkenvironments.com.au> Subject: Sample Receipt for 330588 E34300PT2, Warrawong

This message originated outside the JKG network. If this looks to be from a staff member, it is likely to be malicious (spam/phish attack). Do not click links of open attachments unless you recognise the sender and know the content is safe.

Please refer to attached for: a copy of the COC/paperwork received from you a copy of our Sample Receipt Advice (SRA) Please open and read the SRA as it contains important information. Please let the lab know immediately if there are any issues.

Results will be available by 6.30pm on the date indicated.

PLEASE NOTE COMBO PRICES WILL ONLY APPLY IF COMBOS ARE SELECTED ON COC.

We have a new reporting format and would welcome your feedback. Sydney@envirolab.com.au

Please note that subcontracted testing or non routine testing may take significantly longer than just the standard 5 day TAT, contact the lab to get an approximate due date.

Enquiries should be made directly to: customerservice@envirolab.com.au

Regards

Envirolab Services



CERTIFICATE OF ANALYSIS 330763

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor
Address	PO Box 976, North Ryde BC, NSW, 1670

Sample Details	
Your Reference	E34300PT2, Warrawong
Number of Samples	9 Water
Date samples received	17/08/2023
Date completed instructions received	17/08/2023

Analysis Details

Please refer to the following pages for results, methodology summary and quality control data.

Samples were analysed as received from the client. Results relate specifically to the samples as received.

Results are reported on a dry weight basis for solids and on an as received basis for other matrices.

Please refer to the last page of this report for any comments relating to the results.

Report Details						
Date results requested by	24/08/2023					
Date of Issue	24/08/2023					
NATA Accreditation Number 2901. This document shall not be reproduced except in full.						
Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 1	7025 - Testing. Tests not covered by NATA are denoted with *					

Results Approved By Loren Bardwell, Development Chemist Priya Samarawickrama, Senior Chemist Tim Toll, Chemist <u>Authorised By</u> Nancy Zhang, Laboratory Manager



VOCs in water						
Our Reference		330763-1	330763-2	330763-3	330763-4	330763-5
Your Reference	UNITS	MW4	MW5	MW204	MW223	MW224
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water	Water	Water
Date extracted	-	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023
Date analysed	-	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023
Dichlorodifluoromethane	µg/L	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10
Chloromethane	µg/L	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10
Vinyl Chloride	µg/L	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10
Bromomethane	µg/L	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10
Chloroethane	µg/L	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10
Trichlorofluoromethane	µg/L	<10	<10	<10	<100	<10
1,1-Dichloroethene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Trans-1,2-dichloroethene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,1-dichloroethane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Cis-1,2-dichloroethene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Bromochloromethane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Chloroform	µg/L	<1	<1	4	12	22
2,2-dichloropropane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,2-dichloroethane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,1,1-trichloroethane	μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,1-dichloropropene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Cyclohexane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Carbon tetrachloride	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Benzene	μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Dibromomethane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,2-dichloropropane	μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Trichloroethene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Bromodichloromethane	μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	4
trans-1,3-dichloropropene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
cis-1,3-dichloropropene	μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,1,2-trichloroethane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Toluene	μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,3-dichloropropane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Dibromochloromethane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,2-dibromoethane	μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Tetrachloroethene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,1,1,2-tetrachloroethane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Chlorobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Ethylbenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1

VOCs in water						
Our Reference		330763-1	330763-2	330763-3	330763-4	330763-5
Your Reference	UNITS	MW4	MW5	MW204	MW223	MW224
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water	Water	Water
Bromoform	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
m+p-xylene	µg/L	<2	<2	<2	<20	<2
Styrene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
o-xylene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,2,3-trichloropropane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Isopropylbenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Bromobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
n-propyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
2-chlorotoluene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
4-chlorotoluene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,3,5-trimethyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Tert-butyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,2,4-trimethyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,3-dichlorobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Sec-butyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,4-dichlorobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
4-isopropyl toluene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,2-dichlorobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
n-butyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,2,4-trichlorobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Hexachlorobutadiene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
1,2,3-trichlorobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1
Surrogate Dibromofluoromethane	%	100	99	99	100	100
Surrogate toluene-d8	%	100	100	101	99	100
Surrogate 4-BFB	%	99	99	99	100	99

VOCs in water			
Our Reference		330763-6	330763-7
Your Reference	UNITS	GWDUP201	GWDUP202
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water
Date extracted	-	18/08/2023	18/08/2023
Date analysed	-	21/08/2023	21/08/2023
Dichlorodifluoromethane	μg/L	<10	<10
Chloromethane	µg/L	<10	<10
Vinyl Chloride	µg/L	<10	<10
Bromomethane	µg/L	<10	<10
Chloroethane	µg/L	<10	<10
Trichlorofluoromethane	µg/L	<10	<10
1,1-Dichloroethene	µg/L	<1	<1
Trans-1,2-dichloroethene	µg/L	<1	<1
1,1-dichloroethane	μg/L	<1	<1
Cis-1,2-dichloroethene	µg/L	<1	<1
Bromochloromethane	μg/L	<1	<1
Chloroform	µg/L	4	<1
2,2-dichloropropane	μg/L	<1	<1
1,2-dichloroethane	µg/L	<1	<1
1,1,1-trichloroethane	µg/L	<1	<1
1,1-dichloropropene	µg/L	<1	<1
Cyclohexane	µg/L	<1	<1
Carbon tetrachloride	µg/L	<1	<1
Benzene	μg/L	<1	<1
Dibromomethane	µg/L	<1	<1
1,2-dichloropropane	µg/L	<1	<1
Trichloroethene	µg/L	<1	<1
Bromodichloromethane	μg/L	<1	<1
trans-1,3-dichloropropene	µg/L	<1	<1
cis-1,3-dichloropropene	μg/L	<1	<1
1,1,2-trichloroethane	µg/L	<1	<1
Toluene	µg/L	<1	<1
1,3-dichloropropane	µg/L	<1	<1
Dibromochloromethane	µg/L	<1	<1
1,2-dibromoethane	µg/L	<1	<1
Tetrachloroethene	μg/L	<1	<1
1,1,1,2-tetrachloroethane	µg/L	<1	<1
Chlorobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1
Ethylbenzene	μg/L	<1	<1

VOCs in water			
Our Reference		330763-6	330763-7
Your Reference	UNITS	GWDUP201	GWDUP202
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water
Bromoform	μg/L	<1	<1
m+p-xylene	µg/L	<2	<2
Styrene	μg/L	<1	<1
1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane	μg/L	<1	<1
o-xylene	μg/L	<1	<1
1,2,3-trichloropropane	µg/L	<1	<1
Isopropylbenzene	µg/L	<1	<1
Bromobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1
n-propyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1
2-chlorotoluene	µg/L	<1	<1
4-chlorotoluene	μg/L	<1	<1
1,3,5-trimethyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1
Tert-butyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1
1,2,4-trimethyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1
1,3-dichlorobenzene	μg/L	<1	<1
Sec-butyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1
1,4-dichlorobenzene	μg/L	<1	<1
4-isopropyl toluene	µg/L	<1	<1
1,2-dichlorobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1
n-butyl benzene	µg/L	<1	<1
1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane	µg/L	<1	<1
1,2,4-trichlorobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1
Hexachlorobutadiene	µg/L	<1	<1
1,2,3-trichlorobenzene	µg/L	<1	<1
Surrogate Dibromofluoromethane	%	100	101
Surrogate toluene-d8	%	100	100
Surrogate 4-BFB	%	98	99

vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Water								
Our Reference		330763-1	330763-2	330763-3	330763-4	330763-5		
Your Reference	UNITS	MW4	MW5	MW204	MW223	MW224		
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023		
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water	Water	Water		
Date extracted	-	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023		
Date analysed	-	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023		
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	µg/L	<10	<10	<10	<100	45		
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	µg/L	<10	<10	<10	<100	51		
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀ less BTEX (F1)	µg/L	<10	<10	<10	<100	51		
Benzene	μg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1		
Toluene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1		
Ethylbenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1		
m+p-xylene	µg/L	<2	<2	<2	<20	<2		
o-xylene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1		
Naphthalene	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<10	<1		
Surrogate Dibromofluoromethane	%	100	99	99	100	100		
Surrogate toluene-d8	%	100	100	101	99	100		
Surrogate 4-BFB	%	99	99	99	100	99		

vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Water					
Our Reference		330763-6	330763-7	330763-8	330763-9
Your Reference	UNITS	GWDUP201	GWDUP202	TS-W201	TB-W201
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water	Water
Date extracted	-	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023
Date analysed	-	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	µg/L	<10	<10	[NA]	<10
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	µg/L	<10	<10	[NA]	<10
TRH C_6 - C_{10} less BTEX (F1)	µg/L	<10	<10	[NA]	<10
Benzene	µg/L	<1	<1	104%	<1
Toluene	µg/L	<1	<1	103%	<1
Ethylbenzene	µg/L	<1	<1	102%	<1
m+p-xylene	µg/L	<2	<2	98%	<2
o-xylene	µg/L	<1	<1	102%	<1
Naphthalene	µg/L	<1	<1	[NA]	<1
Surrogate Dibromofluoromethane	%	100	101	101	99
Surrogate toluene-d8	%	100	100	100	100
Surrogate 4-BFB	%	98	99	100	98

svTRH (C10-C40) in Water								
Our Reference		330763-1	330763-2	330763-3	330763-4	330763-5		
Your Reference	UNITS	MW4	MW5	MW204	MW223	MW224		
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023		
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water	Water	Water		
Date extracted	-	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023		
Date analysed	-	19/08/2023	19/08/2023	19/08/2023	19/08/2023	19/08/2023		
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	μg/L	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50		
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	μg/L	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100		
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	µg/L	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100		
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	µg/L	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50		
TRH >C10 - C16	µg/L	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50		
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆ less Naphthalene (F2)	µg/L	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50		
TRH >C ₁₆ - C ₃₄	μg/L	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100		
TRH >C ₃₄ - C ₄₀	μg/L	<100	<100	<100	<100	<100		
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	µg/L	<50	<50	<50	<50	<50		
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	87	89	87	71	90		

SVIRH (C10-C40) in Water				
Our Reference		330763-6	330763-7	330763-9
Your Reference	UNITS	GWDUP201	GWDUP202	TB-W201
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water
Date extracted	-	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023
Date analysed	-	19/08/2023	19/08/2023	19/08/2023
TRH C10 - C14	µg/L	<50	<50	<50
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	µg/L	<100	<100	<100
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	µg/L	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (C10-C36)	µg/L	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆	µg/L	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C10 - C16 less Naphthalene (F2)	µg/L	<50	<50	<50
TRH >C ₁₆ - C ₃₄	µg/L	<100	<100	<100
TRH >C ₃₄ - C ₄₀	µg/L	<100	<100	<100
Total +ve TRH (>C10-C40)	µg/L	<50	<50	<50
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%	90	83	81

PAHs in Water						
Our Reference		330763-1	330763-2	330763-3	330763-4	330763-5
Your Reference	UNITS	MW4	MW5	MW204	MW223	MW224
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water	Water	Water
Date extracted	-	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023
Date analysed	-	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023
Naphthalene	µg/L	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Acenaphthylene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	µg/L	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ	µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Total +ve PAH's	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.20	<0.1
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	106	106	110	99	105

PAHs in Water				_
Our Reference		330763-6	330763-7	330763-9
Your Reference	UNITS	GWDUP201	GWDUP202	TB-W201
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water
Date extracted	-	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023
Date analysed	-	18/08/2023	18/08/2023	18/08/2023
Naphthalene	μg/L	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Acenaphthylene	μg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Acenaphthene	μg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluorene	μg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Phenanthrene	μg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Anthracene	μg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Fluoranthene	μg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Pyrene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)anthracene	μg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chrysene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	µg/L	<0.2	<0.2	<0.2
Benzo(a)pyrene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	μg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ	µg/L	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5
Total +ve PAH's	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%	108	103	100

HM in water - dissolved						
Our Reference		330763-1	330763-2	330763-3	330763-4	330763-5
Your Reference	UNITS	MW4	MW5	MW204	MW223	MW224
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water	Water	Water
Date prepared	-	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023
Date analysed	-	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023
Arsenic-Dissolved	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	1	<1
Cadmium-Dissolved	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chromium-Dissolved	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Copper-Dissolved	µg/L	9	1	7	10	3
Lead-Dissolved	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Mercury-Dissolved	µg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Nickel-Dissolved	µg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	1
Zinc-Dissolved	µg/L	4	3	8	7	9

HM in water - dissolved				
Our Reference		330763-6	330763-7	330763-9
Your Reference	UNITS	GWDUP201	GWDUP202	TB-W201
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water
Date prepared	-	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023
Date analysed	-	21/08/2023	21/08/2023	21/08/2023
Arsenic-Dissolved	μg/L	<1	<1	<1
Cadmium-Dissolved	µg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
Chromium-Dissolved	μg/L	<1	<1	<1
Copper-Dissolved	μg/L	6	7	<1
Lead-Dissolved	μg/L	<1	<1	<1
Mercury-Dissolved	μg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Nickel-Dissolved	μg/L	<1	<1	<1
Zinc-Dissolved	µg/L	8	5	<1

Miscellaneous Inorganics						
Our Reference		330763-1	330763-2	330763-3	330763-4	330763-5
Your Reference	UNITS	MW4	MW5	MW204	MW223	MW224
Date Sampled		17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Type of sample		Water	Water	Water	Water	Water
Date prepared	-	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
Date analysed	-	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023	17/08/2023
рН	pH Units	6.7	7.1	7.6	8.5	7.8
Electrical Conductivity	µS/cm	300	720	560	600	1,200

Method ID	Methodology Summary
Inorg-001	pH - Measured using pH meter and electrode in accordance with APHA latest edition, 4500-H+. Please note that the results for water analyses are indicative only, as analysis outside of the APHA storage times.
Inorg-002	Conductivity and Salinity - measured using a conductivity cell at 25°C in accordance with APHA latest edition 2510 and Rayment & Lyons.
Metals-021	Determination of Mercury by Cold Vapour AAS.
Metals-022	Determination of various metals by ICP-MS.
	Please note for Bromine and Iodine, any forms of these elements that are present are included together in the one result reported for each of these two elements.
Org-020	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-FID. F2 = (>C10-C16)-Naphthalene as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater (HSLs Tables 1A (3, 4)). Note Naphthalene is determined from the VOC analysis.
Org-022/025	Soil samples are extracted with Dichloromethane/Acetone and waters with Dichloromethane and analysed by GC-MS/GC-MSMS. Benzo(a)pyrene TEQ as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater - 2013.
Org-023	Water samples are analysed directly by purge and trap GC-MS.
Org-023	Soil samples are extracted with methanol and spiked into water prior to analysing by purge and trap GC-MS. Water samples are analysed directly by purge and trap GC-MS. F1 = (C6-C10)-BTEX as per NEPM B1 Guideline on Investigation Levels for Soil and Groundwater.

QUALIT	Y CONTROL	: VOCs i	n water			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W2	[NT]
Date extracted	-			18/08/2023	1	18/08/2023	21/08/2023		18/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			21/08/2023	1	21/08/2023	22/08/2023		21/08/2023	
Dichlorodifluoromethane	µg/L	10	Org-023	<10	1	<10	<10	0	[NT]	
Chloromethane	µg/L	10	Org-023	<10	1	<10	<10	0	[NT]	
Vinyl Chloride	µg/L	10	Org-023	<10	1	<10	<10	0	[NT]	
Bromomethane	µg/L	10	Org-023	<10	1	<10	<10	0	[NT]	
Chloroethane	µg/L	10	Org-023	<10	1	<10	<10	0	[NT]	
Trichlorofluoromethane	µg/L	10	Org-023	<10	1	<10	<10	0	[NT]	
1,1-Dichloroethene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Trans-1,2-dichloroethene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,1-dichloroethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	115	
Cis-1,2-dichloroethene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Bromochloromethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Chloroform	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	112	
2,2-dichloropropane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,2-dichloroethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	111	
1,1,1-trichloroethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	114	
1,1-dichloropropene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Cyclohexane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Carbon tetrachloride	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Benzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Dibromomethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,2-dichloropropane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Trichloroethene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	113	
Bromodichloromethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	111	
trans-1,3-dichloropropene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
cis-1,3-dichloropropene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,1,2-trichloroethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Toluene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,3-dichloropropane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Dibromochloromethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	108	
1,2-dibromoethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Tetrachloroethene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	108	
1,1,1,2-tetrachloroethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Chlorobenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Ethylbenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Bromoform	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
m+p-xylene	µg/L	2	Org-023	<2	1	<2	<2	0	[NT]	
Styrene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	

QUALIT	Y CONTROL	: VOCs i	n water			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W2	[NT]
o-xylene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,2,3-trichloropropane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Isopropylbenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Bromobenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
n-propyl benzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
2-chlorotoluene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
4-chlorotoluene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,3,5-trimethyl benzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Tert-butyl benzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,2,4-trimethyl benzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,3-dichlorobenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Sec-butyl benzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,4-dichlorobenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
4-isopropyl toluene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,2-dichlorobenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
n-butyl benzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,2-dibromo-3-chloropropane	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,2,4-trichlorobenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Hexachlorobutadiene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
1,2,3-trichlorobenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	
Surrogate Dibromofluoromethane	%		Org-023	100	1	100	100	0	102	
Surrogate toluene-d8	%		Org-023	100	1	100	95	5	101	
Surrogate 4-BFB	%		Org-023	98	1	99	105	6	101	

QUALITY CONTR	ROL: vTRH((C6-C10)/E	BTEXN in Water			Du	plicate		Spike Re	covery %
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W2	[NT]
Date extracted	-			18/08/2023	1	18/08/2023	21/08/2023		18/08/2023	[NT]
Date analysed	-			21/08/2023	1	21/08/2023	22/08/2023		21/08/2023	[NT]
TRH C ₆ - C ₉	µg/L	10	Org-023	<10	1	<10	<10	0	109	[NT]
TRH C ₆ - C ₁₀	µg/L	10	Org-023	<10	1	<10	<10	0	109	[NT]
Benzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	113	[NT]
Toluene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	110	[NT]
Ethylbenzene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	108	[NT]
m+p-xylene	µg/L	2	Org-023	<2	1	<2	<2	0	106	[NT]
o-xylene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	108	[NT]
Naphthalene	µg/L	1	Org-023	<1	1	<1	<1	0	[NT]	[NT]
Surrogate Dibromofluoromethane	%		Org-023	100	1	100	100	0	102	[NT]
Surrogate toluene-d8	%		Org-023	100	1	100	95	5	101	[NT]
Surrogate 4-BFB	%		Org-023	98	1	99	105	6	101	[NT]

QUALITY CONTROL: svTRH (C10-C40) in Water						Du	Spike Recovery %			
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W2	330763-2
Date extracted	-			18/08/2023	1	18/08/2023	18/08/2023		18/08/2023	18/08/2023
Date analysed	-			19/08/2023	1	19/08/2023	19/08/2023		19/08/2023	19/08/2023
TRH C ₁₀ - C ₁₄	µg/L	50	Org-020	<50	1	<50	<50	0	104	106
TRH C ₁₅ - C ₂₈	µg/L	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	111	113
TRH C ₂₉ - C ₃₆	µg/L	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	100	127
TRH >C ₁₀ - C ₁₆	µg/L	50	Org-020	<50	1	<50	<50	0	104	106
TRH >C ₁₆ - C ₃₄	µg/L	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	111	113
TRH >C ₃₄ - C ₄₀	µg/L	100	Org-020	<100	1	<100	<100	0	100	127
Surrogate o-Terphenyl	%		Org-020	103	1	87	90	3	103	98

QUALITY CONTROL: PAHs in Water						Du	plicate		Spike Recovery %		
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W1	[NT]	
Date extracted	-			18/08/2023	1	18/08/2023	18/08/2023		18/08/2023		
Date analysed	-			18/08/2023	1	18/08/2023	18/08/2023		18/08/2023		
Naphthalene	µg/L	0.2	Org-022/025	<0.2	1	<0.2	<0.2	0	99		
Acenaphthylene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]		
Acenaphthene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	105		
Fluorene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	98		
Phenanthrene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	104		
Anthracene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]		
Fluoranthene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	106		
Pyrene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	112		
Benzo(a)anthracene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]		
Chrysene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	103		
Benzo(b,j+k)fluoranthene	µg/L	0.2	Org-022/025	<0.2	1	<0.2	<0.2	0	[NT]		
Benzo(a)pyrene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	100		
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]		
Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene	µg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]		
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	μg/L	0.1	Org-022/025	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	[NT]		
Surrogate p-Terphenyl-d14	%		Org-022/025	96	1	106	109	3	85	[NT]	

QUALITY CC		Du	plicate	Spike Recovery %						
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W5	330763-2
Date prepared	-			21/08/2023	1	21/08/2023	21/08/2023		21/08/2023	21/08/2023
Date analysed	-			21/08/2023	1	21/08/2023	21/08/2023		21/08/2023	21/08/2023
Arsenic-Dissolved	µg/L	1	Metals-022	<1	1	<1	<1	0	97	97
Cadmium-Dissolved	µg/L	0.1	Metals-022	<0.1	1	<0.1	<0.1	0	99	103
Chromium-Dissolved	µg/L	1	Metals-022	<1	1	<1	<1	0	100	102
Copper-Dissolved	µg/L	1	Metals-022	<1	1	9	8	12	97	96
Lead-Dissolved	µg/L	1	Metals-022	<1	1	<1	<1	0	95	88
Mercury-Dissolved	µg/L	0.05	Metals-021	<0.05	1	<0.05	<0.05	0	92	90
Nickel-Dissolved	µg/L	1	Metals-022	<1	1	<1	<1	0	98	99
Zinc-Dissolved	µg/L	1	Metals-022	<1	1	4	4	0	101	103
Client Reference: E34300PT2, Warrawong

QUALITY COI		Du	Spike Recovery %							
Test Description	Units	PQL	Method	Blank	#	Base	Dup.	RPD	LCS-W1	[NT]
Date prepared	-			17/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	17/08/2023	
Date analysed	-			17/08/2023	[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	17/08/2023	[NT]
рН	pH Units		Inorg-001		[NT]		[NT]	[NT]	101	[NT]
Electrical Conductivity	μS/cm	1	Inorg-002	<1	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	[NT]	102	[NT]

Client Reference: E34300PT2, Warrawong

Result Definiti	ons
NT	Not tested
NA	Test not required
INS	Insufficient sample for this test
PQL	Practical Quantitation Limit
<	Less than
>	Greater than
RPD	Relative Percent Difference
LCS	Laboratory Control Sample
NS	Not specified
NEPM	National Environmental Protection Measure
NR	Not Reported

Client Reference: E34300PT2, Warrawong

Quality Control	I Definitions
Blank	This is the component of the analytical signal which is not derived from the sample but from reagents, glassware etc, can be determined by processing solvents and reagents in exactly the same manner as for samples.
Duplicate	This is the complete duplicate analysis of a sample from the process batch. If possible, the sample selected should be one where the analyte concentration is easily measurable.
Matrix Spike	A portion of the sample is spiked with a known concentration of target analyte. The purpose of the matrix spike is to monitor the performance of the analytical method used and to determine whether matrix interferences exist.
LCS (Laboratory Control Sample)	This comprises either a standard reference material or a control matrix (such as a blank sand or water) fortified with analytes representative of the analyte class. It is simply a check sample.
Surrogate Spike	Surrogates are known additions to each sample, blank, matrix spike and LCS in a batch, of compounds which are similar to the analyte of interest, however are not expected to be found in real samples.

Australian Drinking Water Guidelines recommend that Thermotolerant Coliform, Faecal Enterococci, & E.Coli levels are less than 1cfu/100mL. The recommended maximums are taken from "Australian Drinking Water Guidelines", published by NHMRC & ARMC 2011.

The recommended maximums for analytes in urine are taken from "2018 TLVs and BEIs", as published by ACGIH (where available). Limit provided for Nickel is a precautionary guideline as per Position Paper prepared by AIOH Exposure Standards Committee, 2016.

Guideline limits for Rinse Water Quality reported as per analytical requirements and specifications of AS 4187, Amdt 2 2019, Table 7.2

Laboratory Acceptance Criteria

Duplicate sample and matrix spike recoveries may not be reported on smaller jobs, however, were analysed at a frequency to meet or exceed NEPM requirements. All samples are tested in batches of 20. The duplicate sample RPD and matrix spike recoveries for the batch were within the laboratory acceptance criteria.

Filters, swabs, wipes, tubes and badges will not have duplicate data as the whole sample is generally extracted during sample extraction.

Spikes for Physical and Aggregate Tests are not applicable.

For VOCs in water samples, three vials are required for duplicate or spike analysis.

Duplicates: >10xPQL - RPD acceptance criteria will vary depending on the analytes and the analytical techniques but is typically in the range 20%-50% – see ELN-P05 QA/QC tables for details; <10xPQL - RPD are higher as the results approach PQL and the estimated measurement uncertainty will statistically increase.

Matrix Spikes, LCS and Surrogate recoveries: Generally 70-130% for inorganics/metals (not SPOCAS); 60-140% for organics/SPOCAS (+/-50% surrogates) and 10-140% for labile SVOCs (including labile surrogates), ultra trace organics and speciated phenols is acceptable.

In circumstances where no duplicate and/or sample spike has been reported at 1 in 10 and/or 1 in 20 samples respectively, the sample volume submitted was insufficient in order to satisfy laboratory QA/QC protocols.

When samples are received where certain analytes are outside of recommended technical holding times (THTs), the analysis has proceeded. Where analytes are on the verge of breaching THTs, every effort will be made to analyse within the THT or as soon as practicable.

Where sampling dates are not provided, Envirolab are not in a position to comment on the validity of the analysis where recommended technical holding times may have been breached.

Where matrix spike recoveries fall below the lower limit of the acceptance criteria (e.g. for non-labile or standard Organics <60%), positive result(s) in the parent sample will subsequently have a higher than typical estimated uncertainty (MU estimates supplied on request) and in these circumstances the sample result is likely biased significantly low.

Measurement Uncertainty estimates are available for most tests upon request.

Analysis of aqueous samples typically involves the extraction/digestion and/or analysis of the liquid phase only (i.e. NOT any settled sediment phase but inclusive of suspended particles if present), unless stipulated on the Envirolab COC and/or by correspondence. Notable exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, total recoverable metals and PFAS where solids are included by default.

Samples for Microbiological analysis (not Amoeba forms) received outside of the 2-8°C temperature range do not meet the ideal cooling conditions as stated in AS2031-2012.

Report Comments

VOCs in water - The PQL for 330763-4 has been raised due to the sample matrix having sediment thereby requiring a dilution.

vTRH & BTEXN in Water NEPM - The PQL for 330763-4 has been raised due to the sample matrix having sediment thereby requiring a dilution.



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

SAMPLE RECEIPT ADVICE

Client Details	
Client	JK Environments
Attention	Katrina Taylor

Sample Login Details	
Your reference	E34300PT2, Warrawong
Envirolab Reference	330763
Date Sample Received	17/08/2023
Date Instructions Received	17/08/2023
Date Results Expected to be Reported	24/08/2023

Sample Condition	
Samples received in appropriate condition for analysis	Yes
No. of Samples Provided	9 Water
Turnaround Time Requested	Standard
Temperature on Receipt (°C)	14
Cooling Method	Ice
Sampling Date Provided	YES

Comments Nil

Please direct any queries to:

Aileen Hie	Jacinta Hurst
Phone: 02 9910 6200	Phone: 02 9910 6200
Fax: 02 9910 6201	Fax: 02 9910 6201
Email: ahie@envirolab.com.au	Email: jhurst@envirolab.com.au

Analysis Underway, details on the following page:



Envirolab Services Pty Ltd ABN 37 112 535 645 12 Ashley St Chatswood NSW 2067 ph 02 9910 6200 fax 02 9910 6201 customerservice@envirolab.com.au www.envirolab.com.au

Sample ID	VOCs in water	vTRH(C6-C10)/BTEXN in Water	svTRH (C10-C40) in Water	PAHs in Water	HM in water - dissolved	Hq	Electrical Conductivity
MW4	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	✓
MW5	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	✓
MW204	\checkmark	✓	✓	✓	\checkmark	√	✓
MW223	\checkmark	✓	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	✓
MW224	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	✓	✓
GWDUP201	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
GWDUP202	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
TS-W201		\checkmark					
TB-W201		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		

The ' \checkmark ' indicates the testing you have requested. THIS IS NOT A REPORT OF THE RESULTS.

Additional Info

Sample storage - Waters are routinely disposed of approximately 1 month and soils approximately 2 months from receipt.

Requests for longer term sample storage must be received in writing.

Please contact the laboratory immediately if observed settled sediment present in water samples is to be included in the extraction and/or analysis (exceptions include certain Physical Tests (pH/EC/BOD/COD/Apparent Colour etc.), Solids testing, Total Recoverable metals and PFAS analysis where solids are included by default.

TAT for Micro is dependent on incubation. This varies from 3 to 6 days.

SAMPLE AND CHAIN OF CUSTODY FORM

,,

<u>TO:</u> ENVIROLAB S 12 ASHLEY ST CHATSWOOD	ERVICES PTY LTD JKE Job E34300PT2 REET Number: NSW 2067				FROM	JKEnvironments											
P: (02) 99106 F: (02) 99106	200 201		Date Results Required:		STANDARD	-+ Î				REAR OF 115 WICKS ROAD MACQUARIE PARK, NSW 2113 P: 02-9888 5000 F: 02-9888 5001							
Attention: Ail	leen		Page:		1 of 1]	!			Atter	tion:	ktay	lor@	<u>kenvir</u> a	onmer	its.cor	- n.au
Location:	Warraw	vong							Sam	iple Pr	'eserv	ed in 1	Esky o	n ice			
Sampler:	K. Taylo	<u>pr</u>	·		<u> </u>				. 	<u>т</u>	ests R	equire	ed				
Date Sampled	Lab Ref:	Sample Number	Sample Containers	PID	Sample Description	Cambo 3L	vocs	pH / EC	ткн/втех								
17#/8	1	MW4	G1, V, H, PVC		Water	x	x	x									
17/08/2023	2	MW5	G1, V, H, PVC		Water	×	x	x									
17/08/2023	3	MW203	G1, V, H, PVC		Water	×	×	×							 +		
17/08/2023	<u>lr</u>	MW223	G1, V, H, PVC		Water	×	x	x					ļ			 +	-
17/08/2023	5	MW224	G1, V, H, PVC		Water	×	x	x									
17/08/2023	6	GWDUP201	G1, V, H, PVC	-	Water	×	x										
17/08/2023	7	GWDUP202	al, V, LI, PVC	-	Water	×	x		 								
17/08/2023	8	TS-W201	, v	-	Water				x	<u> </u>		ļ	<u> </u>	ļ'			
17/08/2023	<u>q.</u>	TB-W201	v	-	Water	×			 	ļ		<u> </u>					
	ļ		Enviroizo Servi	Pas	ļ							 			! ! !		
	<u> </u>	ENVIROLAE	12 Ashle Chatswood NSW 2 Ph: (02) 9910 (/ St 067													
		Job No:	330763														
		Time Rece	ived: 1440		1	Ī			[Ţ	T .			Γ !	· '	 	
		Received B	V: Cirace.	<u> </u>											$\lfloor _'$		L
	Ţ	Tertip: Coa	Ambient	[Γ					1 I		
		Cooling <u>Cice</u>	Picepack	ł					1				ļ				i I
Remarks (con	nments/	detection limits	required):		<u> </u>	Samp	ale Cor	ntaine	rs:		<u> </u>	L	<u> </u>			<u> </u>	L
A	il analysi:	s PQLs to ANZEC	C (2000) Detection Li	imits Ple	ase	G1 - 5 V - B	500mL TEX Vi	. Ambo ial 5 Olast	er Gla H - H	iss Boti INO3 V	tle (Vash i	52 - 11 PVC	. Amb	er Gla	ss Boti	tle	
Relinguished	By: K. T:	avlor	Date: 17.08.23			Time	<u>- Mur</u> l	: Plasu	IC DUL	Rece	ived B				Date	:	
		•				1	44	-DE	6	c	<i>ira</i>	, Γ.φ			17	107	5
									•	-		~ C				1 2	

. 7



Air Monitoring Laboratory Documents



Air Monitoring Certificate



		Clears	afe Environmental Solutions Pty Ltd				
Report Number:	20-15055-01-AM	9 Ind	ustrial Road, Unanderra NSW 2526				
Monitoring Date:	31/7/2023		info@clearsafe.com.au				
Received Date:	31/7/2023		1300 042 962				
Analysis Date:	31/7/2023						
Report Date:	31/7/2023						
Site Address:	85-91 Cowper Street						
	Warrawong NSW 2505	Client Contact:	Katrina Taylor				
Client Name:	Jeffery & Katauskas Services Pty	Sampled By:	Kristian Zajec-Tingle				
	Ltd ATF The Trustee for Jeffery Katauskas Walker Unit Trust	Approved Counter:	Luke Heckenberg				
Client Address:	PO Box 976	Approved Signatory:	Luke Heckenberg				
	North Ryde BC NSW 1670						
Test Method:	Airborne fibre monitoring in accordance with the Guidance Note on the Membrane Filter Method for Estimating Airborne Asbestos Fibres [NOHSC:3003(2005)] and Clearsafe method SOP.AM.01.						
Notes:	The results contained within this republic copied, presented or reviewed ex	ort relate only to the san cept in full.	nples tested. This report should not				

Fibre count by Joel Spittles checked by Luke Heckenberg.

Sample Number	Location	Code*	Tiı On	me Off	Airf On	low Off	Fibres	Fields	Conc.**
20-15055/1	Attached to drill rig	5	09:00	15:15	2.11	2.11	1	100	<0.01
20-15055/2	Health care interpreter service, south- eastern side, attached to tree	5	09:04	15:19	2.11	2.11	0	100	<0.01
20-15055/3	Health care interpreter service, north- eastern car park, attached to railing	5	09:08	15:17	2.11	2.11	0	100	<0.01
20-15055/4	Hillview childcare centre, north-western side, attached to fencing	5	09:12	15:21	2.11	2.11	0	100	<0.01
20-15055/5	Main hospital building, north-eastern car park, attached to the railing	5	09:16	15:24	2.11	2.11	0	100	<0.01
20-15055/6	Field Blank	6					0	100	N/A

** Concentration in Fibres/mL of air

* Sample Codes:

- 1 Asbestos removal 5 - Background
- 2 Bag-out
- 6 Blank Sample
- 3 Enclosure dismantling 7 Fibre Count Only
- 4 Clearance
 - 8 Personal monitoring

20-15055-01-AM



NATA Accredited Laboratory No. 18542

Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 17025 - Testing. The results of the tests, calibrations and/or measurements included in this document are traceable to Australian / national standards.

Air Monitoring Certificate



		Clears	afe Environmental Solutions Pty Ltd				
Report Number:	20-15055-02-AM	9 Industrial Road, Unanderra NSW 2526					
Monitoring Date:	1/8/2023	info@clearsafe.com.a					
Received Date:	1/8/2023		1300 042 962				
Analysis Date:	1/8/2023						
Report Date:	1/8/2023						
Site Address:	85-91 Cowper Street						
	Warrawong NSW 2505	Client Contact:	Katrina Taylor				
Client Name:	Jeffery & Katauskas Services Pty	Sampled By:	Toby Williams				
	Ltd ATF The Trustee for Jeffery Katauskas Walker Unit Trust	Approved Counter:	Nathan Crouch				
Client Address:	PO Box 976	Approved Signatory:	Luke Heckenberg				
	North Ryde BC NSW 1670						
Test Method:	Airborne fibre monitoring in accorda Method for Estimating Airborne Asb SOP.AM.01.	nce with the Guidance N estos Fibres [NOHSC:30	lote on the Membrane Filter 003(2005)] and Clearsafe method				
Notes:	The results contained within this rep be copied, presented or reviewed ex	ort relate only to the san cept in full.	nples tested. This report should not				

Sample Number	Location	Code*	Tiı On	ne Off	Airf On	low Off	Fibres	Fields	Conc.**
20-15055/7	Child care carpark, eastern boundary, on fence	1	07:43	13:56	2.02	2.02	0	100	<0.01
20-15055/8	Fairfax Road vehicle entry, South Eastern boundary, in tree	1	07:47	13:58	2.02	2.02	0	100	<0.01
20-15055/9	Child care outdoor play area, Western side of site, on fence	1	07:53	14:00	2.02	2.02	1	100	<0.01
20-15055/10	Main entry driveway, Northern boundary of site, in tree	1	08:00	14:03	2.02	2.02	0	100	<0.01
20-15055/11	Drill rig	1	08:01	13:53	2.02	2.02	0	100	<0.01
20-15055/12	Field blank	6					0	100	N/A

** Concentration in Fibres/mL of air

* Sample Codes:

- 1 Asbestos removal 5 Background
- 2 Bag-out
- 6 Blank Sample
- 3 Enclosure dismantling 7 Fibre Count Only
- 4 Clearance

nce 8 - Personal monitoring





NATA Accredited Laboratory No. 18542

Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 17025 - Testing. The results of the tests, calibrations and/or measurements included in this document are traceable to Australian / national standards.

Air Monitoring Certificate



		Clears	afe Environmental Solutions Pty Ltd
Report Number:	20-15055-03-AM	9 Ind	lustrial Road, Unanderra NSW 2526
Monitoring Date:	2/8/2023		info@clearsafe.com.au
Received Date:	2/8/2023		1300 042 962
Analysis Date:	2/8/2023		
Report Date:	2/8/2023		
Site Address:	85-91 Cowper Street		
	Warrawong NSW 2505	Client Contact:	Katrina Taylor
Client Name:	Jeffery & Katauskas Services Pty	Sampled By:	Kristian Zajec-Tingle
	Ltd ATF The Trustee for Jeffery Katauskas Walker Unit Trust	Approved Counter:	Nathan Crouch
Client Address:	PO Box 976	Approved Signatory:	Luke Heckenberg
	North Ryde BC NSW 1670		
Test Method:	Airborne fibre monitoring in accordant Method for Estimating Airborne Asbe SOP.AM.01.	nce with the Guidance N estos Fibres [NOHSC:30	lote on the Membrane Filter 003(2005)] and Clearsafe method
Notes:	The results contained within this rep be copied, presented or reviewed ex	ort relate only to the san cept in full.	nples tested. This report should not

Sample 15: Air monitor pump moved from designated location.

Sample 16: Air monitor pump moved from designated location.

Sample Number	Location	Code*	Tiı On	me Off	Airf On	low Off	Fibres	Fields	Conc.**
20-15055/13	Health care interpreter service, northeastern car park, attached to railing	5	09:05	12:15	3.14	3.14	0	100	<0.01
20-15055/14	Health care interpreter service, southeastern side, attached to tree	5	09:07	12:11	3.14	3.14	0	100	<0.01
20-15055/15	Attached to open excavator cabin	5	09:10	12:12	3.14	3.14	0	100	Reject
20-15055/16	Hillview childcare centre, south-western side, attached to metal pole	5	09:13	12:13	3.14	3.14	0	100	Reject
20-15055/17	Community mental health rehabilitation service, north-eastern side, attached to tree	5	09:16	12:09	3.14	3.14	1	100	<0.01
20-15055/18	Field Blank	6					0	100	N/A

** Concentration in Fibres/mL of air

* Sample Codes:

- 1 Asbestos removal 5 Background
- 2 Bag-out
- 6 Blank Sample
- 3 Enclosure dismantling 7 Fibre Count Only
 - arance 8 Personal monitoring
- 4 Clearance 8 Perso

20-15055-03-AM



NATA Accredited Laboratory No. 18542

Accredited for compliance with ISO/IEC 17025 - Testing. The results of the tests, calibrations and/or measurements included in this document are traceable to Australian / national standards.



Appendix E: Report Explanatory Notes





QA/QC Definitions

The QA/QC terms used in this report are defined below. The definitions are in accordance with US EPA publication SW-846, entitled *Test Methods for Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods* (1994)¹⁶ methods and those described in *Environmental Sampling and Analysis, A Practical Guide,* (1991)¹⁷. The NEPM (2013) is consistent with these documents.

A. <u>Practical Quantitation Limit (PQL), Limit of Reporting (LOR) & Estimated Quantitation Limit (EQL)</u>

These terms all refer to the concentration above which results can be expressed with a minimum 95% confidence level. The laboratory reporting limits are generally set at ten times the standard deviation for the Method Detection Limit for each specific analyte. For the purposes of this report the LOR, PQL, and EQL are considered to be equivalent.

When assessing laboratory data it should be borne in mind that values at or near the PQL have two important limitations: *"The uncertainty of the measurement value can approach, and even equal, the reported value. Secondly, confirmation of the analytes reported is virtually impossible unless identification uses highly selective methods. These issues diminish when reliably measurable amounts of analytes are present. Accordingly, legal and regulatory actions should be limited to data at or above the reliable detection limit" (Keith, 1991).*

B. <u>Precision</u>

The degree to which data generated from repeated measurements differ from one another due to random errors. Precision is measured using the standard deviation or Relative Percent Difference (RPD).

C. <u>Accuracy</u>

Accuracy is a measure of the agreement between an experimental result and the true value of the parameter being measured (i.e. the proximity of an averaged result to the true value, where all random errors have been statistically removed). The assessment of accuracy for an analysis can be achieved through the analysis of known reference materials or assessed by the analysis of surrogates, field blanks, trip spikes and matrix spikes. Accuracy is typically reported as percent recovery.

D. <u>Representativeness</u>

Representativeness expresses the degree to which sample data accurately and precisely represents a characteristic of a population, parameter variations at a sampling point, or an environmental condition. Representativeness is primarily dependent upon the design and implementation of the sampling program. Representativeness of the data is partially ensured by the avoidance of contamination, adherence to sample handing and analysis protocols and use of proper chain-of-custody and documentation procedures.

E. <u>Completeness</u>

Completeness is a measure of the number of valid measurements in a data set compared to the total number of measurements made and overall performance against DQIs. The following information is assessed for completeness:

- Chain-of-custody forms;
- Sample receipt form;
- All sample results reported;
- All blank data reported;



 ¹⁶ US EPA, (1994). SW-846: Test Methods for Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods. (US EPA SW-846)
 ¹⁷ Keith., H, (1991). Environmental Sampling and Analysis, A Practical Guide



- All laboratory duplicate and RPDs calculated;
- All surrogate spike data reported;
- All matrix spike and lab control spike (LCS) data reported and RPDs calculated;
- Spike recovery acceptable limits reported; and
- NATA stamp on reports.

F. <u>Comparability</u>

Comparability is the evaluation of the similarity of conditions (e.g. sample depth, sample homogeneity) under which separate sets of data are produced. Data comparability checks include a bias assessment that may arise from the following sources:

- Collection and analysis of samples by different personnel; Use of different techniques;
- Collection and analysis by the same personnel using the same methods but at different times; and
- Spatial and temporal changes (due to environmental dynamics).

G. <u>Blanks</u>

The purpose of laboratory and field blanks is to check for artefacts and interferences that may arise during sampling, transport and analysis.

H. <u>Matrix Spikes</u>

Samples are spiked with laboratory grade standards to detect interactive effects between the sample matrix and the analytes being measured. Matrix Spikes are reported as a percent recovery and are prepared for 1 in every 20 samples. Sample batches that contain less than 20 samples may be reported with a Matrix Spike from another batch. The percent recovery is calculated using the formula below. Acceptable recovery limits are 70% to 130%.

(Spike Sample Result – Sample Result) x 100 Concentration of Spike Added

I. <u>Surrogate Spikes</u>

Samples are spiked with a known concentration of compounds that are chemically related to the analyte being investigated but unlikely to be detected in the environment. The purpose of the Surrogate Spikes is to check the accuracy of the analytical technique. Surrogate Spikes are reported as percent recovery.

J. <u>Duplicates</u>

Laboratory duplicates measure precision, expressed as Relative Percent Difference. Duplicates are prepared from a single field sample and analysed as two separate extraction procedures in the laboratory. The RPD is calculated using the formula where D1 is the sample concentration and D2 is the duplicate sample concentration:

```
\frac{(D1 - D2) \times 100}{\{(D1 + D2)/2\}}
```





Appendix F: Data (QA/QC) Evaluation





Data (QA/QC) Evaluation

A. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This Data (QA/QC) Evaluation forms part of the validation process for the DQOs documented in the SAQP attached as an appendix to this report. Checks were made to assess the data in terms of precision, accuracy, representativeness, comparability and completeness. These 'PARCC' parameters are referred to collectively as DQIs and are defined in the Report Explanatory Notes attached in the report appendices.

1. Field and Laboratory Considerations

The quality of the analytical data produced for this project has been considered in relation to the following:

- Sample collection, storage, transport and analysis;
- Laboratory PQLs;
- Field QA/QC results; and
- Laboratory QA/QC results.

2. Field QA/QC Samples and Analysis

The results for the field QA/QC samples are detailed in the laboratory summary tables (Table Q1 and Table Q2 inclusive) attached to the investigation report and are discussed in the subsequent sections of this Data (QA/QC) Evaluation report. A summary of the field QA/QC samples collected and analysed for this investigation is provided in the following table:

Sample Type	Number Analysed	Frequency (of Sample Type)
Intra-laboratory duplicate (soil)	6	Approximately 11% of primary samples
Inter-laboratory duplicate (soil)	1	Approximately 2% of samples
Intra-laboratory duplicate (groundwater)	2	Approximately 40% of samples
Trip spike -		One of each matrix for the investigation to
Soil	2	demonstrate adequacy of preservation, storage and
Water	1	transport methods
Trip blank -		One of each matrix for the investigation to
Soil	1	demonstrate adequacy of preservation, storage and
Water	1	transport methods
Rinsate -		One for the hand auger for the investigation to
Hand auger	1	demonstrate adequacy of decontamination methods



3. Data Assessment Criteria

JKE adopted the following criteria for assessing the field and laboratory QA/QC analytical results:

Field Duplicates

Acceptable targets for precision of field duplicates in this report will be 30% or less, consistent with NEPM (2013). RPD failures will be considered qualitatively on a case-by-case basis taking into account factors such as the concentrations used to calculate the RPD (i.e. RPD exceedance where concentrations are close to the PQL are typically not as significant as those where concentrations are reported at least five or 10 times the PQL), sample type, collection methods and the specific analyte where the RPD exceedance was reported.

Field/Trip Blanks and Rinsates

Acceptable targets for field blank and rinsate samples in this report will be less than the PQL for organic analytes. Metals will be considered on a case-by-case basis with regards to typical background concentrations in soils and published drinking water guidelines for waters.

Trip Spikes

Acceptable targets for trip spike samples in this report will be 70% to 130%.

Laboratory QA/QC

The suitability of the laboratory data is assessed against the laboratory QA/QC criteria which is outlined in the laboratory reports. These criteria were developed and implemented in accordance with the laboratory's NATA accreditation and align with the acceptable limits for QA/QC samples as outlined in NEPM (2013) and other relevant guidelines.

A summary of the acceptable limits adopted by the primary laboratory (Envirolab) is provided below:

RPDs

- Results that are <5 times the PQL, any RPD is acceptable; and
- Results >5 times the PQL, RPDs between 0-50% are acceptable.

Laboratory Control Samples (LCS) and Matrix Spikes

- 70-130% recovery acceptable for metals and inorganics;
- 60-140% recovery acceptable for organics; and
- 10-140% recovery acceptable for VOCs.

Surrogate Spikes

- 60-140% recovery acceptable for general organics; and
- 10-140% recovery acceptable for VOCs.

Method Blanks

• All results less than PQL.

JKEnvironments



B. DATA EVALUATION

1. <u>Sample Collection, Storage, Transport and Analysis</u>

Samples were collected by trained field staff in accordance with our standard sampling procedures. Field sampling procedures were designed to be consistent with relevant guidelines, including NEPM (2013) and other guidelines made under the CLM Act 1997.

Appropriate sample preservation, handling and storage procedures were adopted. Laboratory analysis was undertaken within specified holding times generally in accordance with Schedule B(3) of NEPM (2013) and the laboratory NATA accredited methodologies.

Envirolab noted that the asbestos results were reported to be consistent with the recommendations in NEPM (2013), however this level of reporting is outside the scope of their NATA accreditation. In the absence of other available analytical methods for asbestos, this was found to be acceptable for the purpose of this investigation.

JKE note that the temperature on receipt of soil samples was reported to be up to 14°C. JKE understand that the temperature is measured at the laboratory using an infrared temperature probe by scanning the outside of the sample container (i.e. one sample jar/container at the time of registering the samples). This procedure is not considered to be robust as there is a potential for the outside of the jar to warm to ambient temperature, or at least to increase from that of the internal contents, relatively quickly. On this basis, JKE is of the opinion that the temperatures reported on the Sample Receipts are unlikely to be reliable or representative of the overall batch. Notwithstanding, the trip spike results for the project were all within the acceptable range which indicates that volatile recovery was good and field preservation/transport methods did not adversely impact precision.

It is noted that a typographical error was made on the CoC document and MW204 was listed as MW203. This is not considered to have an impact on the data quality as the sample containers included the correct monitoring well reference and the correct well reference was documented in the laboratory report.

It is noted that the trip spike soil for the initial soil sampling was broken upon placement in the esky and prior to transportation to the laboratory, reference should be made to the note on the CoC for laboratory report 329661. Therefore, a new trip spike soil was transported with the soil samples for the second mobilisation as part of the DSI for assessment of field preservation methods.

Review of the project data also indicated that:

- COC documentation was adequately maintained;
- Sample receipt advice documentation was provided for all sample batches;
- All analytical results were reported; and
- Consistent units were used to report the analysis results.

2. Laboratory PQLs

Appropriate PQLs were adopted for the analysis and all PQLs were below the SAC, with the exception of the groundwater anthracene PQL which was 10 times greater than the ecological SAC and the vinyl chloride PQL which was 3.3 times greater than the adopted recreational SAC and 33.3 times greater than the health-based





SAC. In light of the PAH and VOC concentrations reported for soil and groundwater, JKE is of the opinion that this is not significant, and it does not affect the quality of the dataset as a whole or the outcome of the investigation.

In addition to the above, due to sediment in the MW223 sample, the sample was diluted and this consequently resulted in some of the PQLs being raised for VOCs and BTEX. This is not considered to have adversely affected the dataset as VOCs (other than BTEX) were not CoPC and were only analysed for a precautionary assessment, and all BTEX PQLs except for benzene still remained below the PQLs.

3. Field QA/QC Sample Results

Field Duplicates

The results indicated that field precision was acceptable. RPD non-conformances were reported for some analytes as discussed below:

- Elevated RPDs were reported for mercury in S DUP 2/BH201 (0-0.2m);
- Elevated RPDs were reported for chromium, copper, lead and mercury in S DUP 3/BH202 (0-0.1m);
- Elevated RPDs were reported for lead and mercury in S DUP 5/BH219 (0-0.1m);
- Elevated RPDs were reported for arsenic in S DUP 6/BH1 (0-0.1m); and
- Elevated RPDs were reported for lead, mercury and zinc in SDUP201/BH222 (0-0.2m).

Values outside the acceptable limits have been attributed to sample heterogeneity and the difficulties associated with obtaining homogenous duplicate samples of heterogeneous matrices. As both the primary and duplicate sample results were less than the SAC, the exceedances are not considered to have had an adverse impact on the data set as a whole.

Field/Trip Blanks

During the investigation, two soil trip blanks and one water trip blank were placed in the esky during sampling and transported back to the laboratory.

The soil trip blank analysis results were all less than the PQLs with the exception of chromium, copper, lead and zinc with reported concentrations of between 2mg/kg and 11mg/kg. Low level metals concentrations are typical in washed sand which is utilised as blank material. In JKE's experience, the concentrations reported were consistent with background concentrations in a sand matrix and were not indicative of cross-contamination. On this basis, cross contamination between samples that may have significance for data validity did not occur.

The results for the water field blank were all less than the PQLs, therefore cross contamination between samples that may have significance for data validity did not occur.

Rinsates

The detectable concentration of light fraction TRH is most likely attributed to trihalomethanes. These compounds are breakdown products from the chlorination process and are common in potable water at the concentration reported (the Australian drinking water guideline for total trihalomethanes is 250µg/L).

Trip Spikes





The soil trip spike results ranged from 96% to 97% and indicated that field preservation methods were appropriate.

The water trip spike results ranged from 98% to 104% and indicated that field preservation methods were appropriate.

4. Laboratory QA/QC

The analytical methods implemented by the laboratory were performed in accordance with their NATA accreditation and were consistent with Schedule B(3) of NEPM (2013). The frequency of data reported for the laboratory QA/QC (i.e. duplicates, spikes, blanks, LCS) was considered to be acceptable for the purpose of this investigation. There were no laboratory QA non-conformances for duplicates, spikes, blanks or LCS.

C. DATA QUALITY SUMMARY

JKE is of the opinion that the data are adequately precise, accurate, representative, comparable and complete to serve as a basis for interpretation to achieve the investigation objectives.

Non-conformances were reported for some field QA/QC samples and laboratory QA/QC analysis. These nonconformances were considered to be sporadic and minor, and were not considered to be indicative of systematic sampling or analytical errors. On this basis, these non-conformances are not considered to materially impact the report findings.

There was only one groundwater monitoring event undertaken for the DSI. However, this supplemented an initial monitoring event from a reduced number of locations for the PSI 2022. Due to the limited number of sampling events, there is some uncertainty around the representativeness of the groundwater data, particularly during different climatic conditions and after wet/dry periods. Notwithstanding, given the low contaminant concentrations reported, the reduction in hydrocarbon concentrations in some wells between the initial (PSI 2022) and subsequent (DSI) sampling events, and the relative consistency in some of the heavy metals concentrations which suggested they were consistent with background conditions, the groundwater data is considered to be acceptable to inform the Tier 1 risk assessment.



Appendix G: Field Work Documents





JKE SAQP





REPORT TO NSW HEALTH INFRASTRUCTURE

ON

AT

SAMPLING, ANALYSIS AND QUALITY PLAN (SAQP)

FOR DETAILED SITE INVESTIGATION (DSI)

85-91 COWPER STREET, WARRAWONG, NSW

Date: 26 July 2023 Ref: E34300PT2-SAQP

JKEnvironments.com.au

T: +61 2 9888 5000 JK Environments Pty Ltd ABN 90 633 911 403





CO

Report prepared by:



Katrina Taylor Associate | Environmental Scientist

Report reviewed by:

Brendan Page Principal | Environmental Scientist CEnvP SC

For and on behalf of JKE PO BOX 976 NORTH RYDE BC NSW 1670

DOCUMENT REVISION RECORD

Report Reference	Report Status	Report Date
E34300PT2-SAQP	Final Report	26 July 2023

© Document copyright of JK Environments (JKE)

This Report (which includes all attachments and annexures) has been prepared by JKE for the Client, and is intended for the use only by that Client.

This Report has been prepared pursuant to a contract between JKE and the Client and is therefore subject to:

a) JKE's proposal in respect of the work covered by the Report;

b) The limitations defined in the client's brief to JKE; and

c) The terms of contract between JKE and the Client, including terms limiting the liability of JKE.

If the Client, or any person, provides a copy of this Report to any third party, such third party must not rely on this Report, except with the express written consent of JKE which, if given, will be deemed to be upon the same terms, conditions, restrictions and limitations as apply by virtue of (a), (b), and (c) above.

Any third party who seeks to rely on this Report without the express written consent of JKE does so entirely at their own risk and to the fullest extent permitted by law, JKE accepts no liability whatsoever, in respect of any loss or damage suffered by any such third party.



Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION 1 1 1.1 **PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT DETAILS** 1 1.2 **AIM AND OBJECTIVES** 1 1.3 SCOPE OF WORK 1 2 SITE INFORMATION 3 2.1 PRELIMINARY SITE INVESTIGATION (PSI 2022) 3 2.2 PRELIMINARY SITE INVESTIGATION (PSI 2023) 3 2.3 SITE IDENTIFICATION 4 2.4 SITE DESCRIPTION 4 2.5 SURROUNDING LAND USE 5 2.6 **UNDERGROUND SERVICES** 6 2.7 SUMMARY OF SITE HISTORY INFORMATION 6 2.8 SUMMARY OF GEOLOGY AND HYDROGEOLOGY 6 CONCEPTUAL SITE MODEL 4 9 POTENTIAL CONTAMINATION SOURCES/AEC AND COPC 4.1 9 4.2 MECHANISM FOR CONTAMINATION, AFFECTED MEDIA, RECEPTORS AND EXPOSURE PATHWAYS 9 5 SAMPLING, ANALYSIS AND QUALITY PLAN 11 5.1 **DATA QUALITY OBJECTIVES (DQO)** 11 5.2 SOIL SAMPLING PLAN AND METHODOLOGY 16 **GROUNDWATER SAMPLING PLAN AND METHODOLOGY** 5.3 17 5.4 LABORATORY ANALYSIS 18 5.5 **REPORTING REQUIREMENTS** 19 LIMITATIONS 6 20



List of Tables

Table 2-1: Site Identification 4 Table 2-2: Summary of Historical Land Uses/Activities 6 **Table 2-3: Summary of Subsurface Conditions** 7 8 Table 2-4: Summary of Field Screening Table 4-1: Potential (and/or known) Contamination Sources/AEC and Contaminants of Potential Concern 9 Table 4-2: CSM 9 Table 5-1: Soil Sampling Plan and Methodology 16 Table 5-2: Groundwater Sampling Plan and Methodology 17 19 **Table 5-3: Laboratory Details**

Attachments

Appendix A: JKE SAQP Figures Appendix B: Report Explanatory Notes Appendix C: Guidelines and Reference Documents



Abbreviations

Asbestos Fines/Fibrous Asbestos	AF/FA
Ambient Background Concentrations	ABC
Added Contaminant Limits	ACL
Asbestos Containing Material	ACM
Australian Drinking Water Guidelines	ADWG
Area of Environmental Concern	AEC
Australian Height Datum	AHD
Acid Sulfate Soil	ASS
Above-ground Storage Tank	AST
Below Ground Level	BGL
Benzo(a)pyrene Toxicity Equivalent Factor	BaP TEQ
Benzene, Toluene, Ethylbenzene, Xylene	BTEX
Cation Exchange Capacity	CEC
Contaminated Land Management	CLM
Contaminant(s) of Potential Concern	СоРС
Chain of Custody	сос
Conceptual Site Model	CSM
Detailed Site Investigation	DSI
Ecological Investigation Level	EIL
Ecological Screening Level	ESL
Environment Protection Authority	EPA
Ecological Screening Level	ESL
Health Investigation Level	HILs
Health Screening Level	HSLs
JK Environments	JKE
Map Grid of Australia	MGA
National Association of Testing Authorities	ΝΑΤΑ
National Environmental Protection Measure	NEPM
Organochlorine Pesticides	OCP
Organophosphate Pesticides	OPP
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons	PAH
Polychlorinated Biphenyls	PCBs
Photo-ionisation Detector	PID
Protection of the Environment Operations	POEO
Practical Quantitation Limit	PQL
Remediation Action Plan	RAP
Sampling, Analysis and Quality Plan	SAQP
State Environmental Planning Policy	SEPP
Site Specific Assessment	SSA
Source, Pathway, Receptor	SPR
Standard Sampling Procedure	SSP
Standing Water Level	SWL
Total Recoverable Hydrocarbons	TRH
United States Environmental Protection Agency	USEPA
Underground Storage Tank	UST
Volatile Organic Compounds	VOC
World Health Organisation	WHO
Work Health and Safety	WHS
Units	

Litres Metres BGL Metres L mBGL m



Millivolts Millilitres Milliequivalents micro Siemens per Centimetre Micrograms per Litre mV ml or mL meq μS/cm μg/L



1 INTRODUCTION

NSW Health Infrastructure ('the client') commissioned JK Environments (JKE) to prepare a Sampling, Analysis and Quality Plan (SAQP) for the Detailed Site Investigation (DSI) to be undertaken for the proposed New Warrawong Community Health Centre at 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW ('the site'). The site location is shown on Figure 1 and the SAQP applies to the site area as shown on Figure 2.2 attached in the appendices.

This report has been prepared to support the lodgement of a Development Application (DA) for the proposed Warrawong Community Health Centre development, with regards to Chapter 4 of State Environmental Planning Policy (Resilience and Hazards) 2021¹ (formerly known as SEPP55).

JKE has previously undertaken several phases of investigation at the site and within the wider hospital property. A summary of relevant information from these investigations is included in Section 2.

1.1 Proposed Development Details

The proposed development is in the early planning stages and is likely to include construction of a two storey building and associated carpark, pathways and landscaping in the north-east corner of the wider hospital property. Based on the limited information provided, we understand that the proposed development would likely be constructed on grade, with minimal excavations for services trenches and the building foundations.

1.2 Aim and Objectives

The aim of the DSI is to characterise the soil and groundwater contamination conditions in accessible areas of the site in order to assess site risks in relation to contamination and establish whether remediation is required.

The DSI objectives are to:

- Assess the soil and groundwater contamination conditions in accessible areas;
- Assess the potential risks posed by contamination to the receptors identified in the Conceptual Site Model (CSM); and
- Inform the preparation of a Remediation Action Plan (RAP).

1.3 Scope of Work

The SAQP was prepared generally in accordance with a JKE proposal (Ref: EP58856PTrev1) of 28 June 2023 and written acceptance from Savills acting on behalf of the client of 3 July 2023.

The scope of work included review of the previous reports and preparation of an SAQP with regards to the National Environmental Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure 1999 as amended (2013)²



¹ State Environmental Planning Policy (Resilience and Hazards) 2021 (NSW) (referred to as SEPP Resilience and Hazards 2021)

² National Environment Protection Council (NEPC), (2013). National Environmental Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure 1999 (as amended 2013). (referred to as NEPM 2013)



and other guidelines made under or with regards to the Contaminated Land Management Act (1997)³. A list of reference documents/guidelines is included in the appendices.

³ Contaminated Land Management Act 1997 (NSW) (referred to as CLM Act 1997)



2 SITE INFORMATION

2.1 Preliminary Site Investigation (PSI 2022)

JKE previously undertook a PSI across the site and southern portion of the wider section of the hospital property in 2022⁴. The PSI 2022 included a review of site history information, a site inspection, soil sampling from 37 boreholes and groundwater sampling from three monitoring wells. Of these locations, 19 boreholes and two monitoring wells were located within the site. The following areas of environmental concern (AEC) were identified and are applicable to the site: fill material; use of pesticides; hazardous building materials in former and existing buildings; and fuel storage just south of the site boundary, including two underground storge tanks (USTs) and one above ground storage tank (AST) (see Figure 2).

The boreholes on the site encountered fill materials (i.e. historically imported/placed soils) to depths of approximately 0.3m below ground level (BGL) to 2.6mBGL, underlain by clayey residual soils and/or latite bedrock. The fill contained inclusions of igneous, ironstone, sandstone and siltstone gravel, shale fragments, slag, concrete, brick and metal fragments, coal, ash, and root fibres. There were no fibre cement fragments (FCF)/ asbestos containing materials (ACM) identified in any of the bulk asbestos quantification field screening samples.

Asbestos as ACM was detected in one soil sample on the site at a concentration above the health screening level (HSL) site assessment criteria (SAC). Total recoverable hydrocarbons (TRH) were encountered in groundwater from both monitoring wells on the site at concentrations greater than the site specific assessment criterion. The TRH detections were considered likely to be associated with a medium heavy fuel source such as diesel or kerosene. Copper and zinc were reported above the ecological SAC in groundwater. Figure 3 from the PSI 2022 is included in the appendices.

The PSI 2022 recommended an asbestos management plan (AMP) be prepared and implemented for the current land use/operations, in addition to further investigation via a DSI.

2.2 Preliminary Site Investigation (PSI 2023)

JKE previously undertook a PSI across the western portion of the wider section of the hospital property in 2023⁵. The PSI included a review of site history information, a site inspection, soil sampling from 15 boreholes and two monitoring wells across the western portion of the wider hospital property. The following AEC were identified: fill material; use of pesticides; hazardous building materials in former and existing buildings; and fuel storage in a down-gradient section of the wider hospital property.

None of the PSI 2023 boreholes were positioned on the site. The boreholes encountered fill materials to depths of approximately 0.2mBGL to 4.5mBGL, underlain by clayey residual soils and/or latite bedrock. The fill contained inclusions of igneous, ironstone, sandstone and siltstone gravel, shale fragments, slag, concrete, brick and metal fragments, coal, ash, and root fibres. There was no FCF/ACM identified in any of the bulk asbestos quantification field screening samples.



⁴ JKE, (2022). Report to Health Infrastructure on Preliminary Site Investigation for Proposed New Warrawong Community Health Centre Development at 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW. (Ref: E34300PT2rpt DRAFT, dated 10 November 2022) (referred to as PSI 2022)

⁵ JKE, (2023). Report to Health Infrastructure on Preliminary Site Investigation for Proposed New Warrawong Community Health Centre Development at 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW. (Ref: E34300PT2rpt2 DRAFT, dated 20 March 2023) (referred to as PSI 2023)



Asbestos (as AF/FA) was detected in surface fill/soil at one location, and in deeper fill at two other locations. All asbestos concentrations were below the SAC. Copper and zinc were reported above the ecological SAC in fill/soil, and in groundwater, copper and zinc were reported above the ecological SAC.

As a duty of care, and to meet the requirements under Clause 429 of the Work Health and Safety Regulation (2017), an AMP (for asbestos in/on soil) was recommended to be prepared and implemented for the current land use/operations at the hospital property, in addition to further investigation via a DSI.

2.3 Site Identification

Table 2-1: Site Identification	
Current Site Owner (certificate of title):	Health Administration Board
Site Address:	85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW
Lot & Deposited Plan:	Lots 21 to 26 & Lots 50 to 53 in DP23670 and part of Lots 39 to 41 and 49 in DP23670
Current Land Use:	Hospital
Proposed Land Use:	Continued use as a hospital/community health centre
Local Government Authority:	Wollongong City Council
Current Zoning:	R2: Low density residential
Site Area (m²) (approx.):	8,950
RL (AHD in m) (approx.):	21-30
Geographical Location	Latitude: -34.4863511
(decimal degrees) (approx.):	Longitude: 150.8790082

2.4 Site Description

The site is located in the eastern half of the existing Port Kembla Hospital, in a predominantly residential area of Warrawong and is bound by Cowper Street to the north and Fairfax Road to the east. The site is located approximately 400m to the north-west of Kully Bay (on Lake Illawarra).

The regional topography is characterised by a south-east facing hillside that falls towards Kully Bay. The site is located mid slope, locally sloping to the south-east at approximately 10° to 15°. Parts of the site appear to have been levelled to account for the slope and accommodate the existing development.

The most recent site walkover was undertaken by JKE as part of the most recent fieldwork undertaken for the PSI 2022 on 26 September 2022. Key observations are summarised below:

• The site and wider hospital property was occupied by Port Kembla District Hospital and included buildings, car parks and internal access roads and footpaths as well as landscaped/garden areas;



- On site there were three interconnected buildings of one to three storeys. A childcare centre was located on the western side ground floor of the main site building and included a fenced off play area. The buildings were of an age indicative of housing hazardous building materials (i.e. asbestos and lead containing paint);
- On the north-east side of the main building was an asphaltic concrete car park and access driveway which led to Cowper Street in the centre of the northern boundary;
- The site was entirely unfenced. Surface scouring observed at the site indicated minimal erosion and appeared to be due to surface water and wash away of surface soils at the interface between paved and unpaved sections of the site;
- On the wider hospital property just south of the site boundary, a 1,000L AST containing diesel was observed (refer to Figure 2). No odours or staining on the surrounding ground surface were noted in the vicinity of the AST during the inspection;
- On the wider hospital property south of the site boundary and just to the west of the AST, the area where the abandoned USTs were inferred to be located was observed to comprise a section of asphaltic paved car park and no odours or staining on the surrounding ground surface were noted in this area during the inspection;
- Fill material (igneous gravels, concrete fragments, etc.) were observed at the site surface in areas of scouring indicating that some filling had likely occurred at the site for levelling purposes. In the east of the site, a narrow grass covered soil bund (approximately 0.5m in height) extended in a north-south direction;
- Surface water flows would be expected to flow to the south-east in keeping with the localised fall of the site. Excess surface water would either be expected to infiltrate the unpaved areas or into the stormwater pits observed across the site. These pits would be expected to discharge into the local stormwater system; and
- Outside of building footprints or paved areas the site was generally grass covered, with a number of medium to large trees in the south and north-east section of the site. No obvious signs of vegetation stress or dieback were observed.

2.5 Surrounding Land Use

During the site inspection, JKE observed the following land uses in the immediate surrounds:

- North Residential properties beyond Cowper Street;
- South The wider hospital property and residential properties beyond Fairfax Road;
- East Residential properties beyond Fairfax Road;
- West The wider hospital property, including USTs and AST to the south-west.

JKE is of the opinion that the USTs and AST located on the wider hospital property to the west to south-west of the site may be a potential off-site contamination source due to the proximity of the tanks. We also note that TRH was detected in the onsite groundwater samples collected for the PSI.



2.6 **Underground Services**

The 'Before You Dig Australia' (BYDA) plans were reviewed for the investigation in order to establish whether any major underground services exist at the site or in the immediate vicinity that could act as a preferential pathway for contamination migration. Major services were not identified that would be expected to act as preferential pathways for contamination migration.

2.7 Summary of Site History Information

A time line summary of the historical land uses and activities is presented in the table below. The information presented in the table is based on a weight of evidence assessment of the site history documentation and observations made by JKE during the Desktop.

able 2-2: Summar	y of Historical Land Uses/Activities
Year(s)	Potential Land Use/Activities
1926-1961	On-site: • Vacant land. Surrounding Area: • Predominantly vacant initially; and • Ongoing development for residential use
1961-onwards	 On-site: Ongoing development of site for hospital including construction of buildings, pathways and vehicle access (driveways and car parks); Some filling of the site may have occurred for levelling purposes and around services; Use of pesticides beneath buildings and around site; and Hazardous building materials (i.e. asbestos and lead in paint) may have been used in existing structures.

Tab

Surrounding Area:
 Ongoing development of surrounding area for residential and hospital property;
• Hazardous building materials (i.e. asbestos and lead in paint) may have been used in former
and existing structures. A building was demolished to the south of the site (existing car park
location) between 2012 and 2016;
 Installation of USTs on wider hospital property. Use of AST for diesel storage; and
 Installation/abandonment of petrol USTs and infrastructure. The tanks were reportedly
abandoned circa 2003.

2.8 Summary of Geology and Hydrogeology

2.8.1 **Regional Geology and Soil Landscapes**

Regional geological information reviewed for the previous investigations indicated that the site is underlain by Dapto Latite Member, which typically consists of Mafic basaltic-textured latite, aphanitic to porphyritic with crystalline groundmass, vesticles mostly as elongated stringers parallel to flow, sporadically infilled with carbonate, and sporadic columnar jointing.

A summary of the subsurface conditions encountered during the PSI 2022 (which includes some boreholes located to the south of the site) is presented in the following table:



Profile	Description
Fill	Fill was encountered at the surface or directly beneath the pavement in all boreholes and extended to depths of approximately 0.2mBGL to 2.6mBGL. Boreholes BH1, BH2, BH3, BH12, BH13, BH14, BH31, and BH33, were terminated in the fill at a maximum depth of approximately 1.6mBGL. The borehole logs recorded this as being 'refusal on obstruction in fill', however, it is possible that the refusal occurred at the base of the fill, on-top of the underlying bedrock.
	The fill typically comprised silty clay, sandy gravel, silty sandy clay and gravel with inclusions of igneous, ironstone, sandstone and latite gravel, sand, concrete, asphaltic concrete, terracotta, brick, plastic and metal fragments, geofabric, slag, ash, roots and root fibres. No odours or staining were recorded in the fill material during field work. FCF was
	encountered on the surface at BH26. No FCF/ACM was encountered in the fill material during fieldwork.
Natural Soil	Natural silty sandy clay and silty clay residual soils were encountered beneath the fill material in boreholes BH15 to BH19, and extended to depths of approximately 0,4mBGL to 2.4mBGL. Neither odours nor staining were recorded in the natural soil during fieldwork.
Bedrock	Latite bedrock was encountered beneath the fill material or natural soils in boreholes BH4, BH5 and BH11 at depths of approximately 0.4mBGL to 2.6mBGL Neither odours nor staining were recorded in the bedrock during fieldwork.
Groundwater	All boreholes remained dry during and on completion of drilling.

Table 2-3: Summary of Subsurface Conditions

2.8.2 Acid Sulfate Soil (ASS) Risk and Planning

The site is not located in an ASS risk area according to the risk maps prepared by the Department of Land and Water Conservation.

ASS information presented in the Lotsearch report indicated that the site is located within a Class 5 ASS risk area. Works in a Class 5 risk area that could pose an environmental risk in terms of ASS include works within 500m of adjacent Class 1,2,3,4 land which are likely to lower the water table below 1m AHD on the adjacent Class 1,2,3,4 land.

JKE note that the site is located at an elevation of approximately 21-30m AHD and residual soils were observed during the fieldwork conducted for the PSI 2022. ASS is not usually associated with soil horizons above 5mAHD or residual soil profiles. Based on the available information, it is unlikely that ASS would be disturbed as part of the proposed development, or that the proposed development will likely lower the water table below 1mAHD on adjacent Class 1, 2, 3, or 4 land.

2.8.3 Hydrogeology

Hydrogeological information presented in the PSI 2022 indicated that the regional aquifer on-site and in the areas immediately surrounding the site includes fractured or fissured, extensive aquifers of low to moderate productivity. There was a total of 74 registered bores within the search buffer of 1,000m. In summary:



- The nearest registered bore was located approximately 1,105m to the north-east of the site. This was utilised for monitoring purposes;
- The majority of the bores were registered for monitoring purposes;
- There were no nearby bores (i.e. within 1km) registered for domestic, water supply or irrigation uses; and
- The drillers log information from the closest registered bores typically identified fill and/or clay soil to depths of 12m-14m, underlain by sandstone and shale bedrock. Standing water levels (SWLS) in the bores ranged from 1.2mBGL to 12mBGL.

Table 2-4: Summary of Field Screening

Aspect	Details
Groundwater Depth	SWLs measured in the monitoring wells installed at the site ranged from 1.17mBGL to
& Flow	7mBGL. Groundwater RLs calculated on these measurements ranged from 25.41mAHD to
	27.32mAHD.
	Groundwater flow was inferred to be towards the south-east.
Groundwater Field	Field measurements recorded during sampling were as follows:
Daramotors	nell ranged from 7.06 to 7.96.
Parameters	- pri ranged from 7.06 to 7.86;
	- EC ranged from 568μS/cm to 846μS/cm;
	 Eh ranged from 22.4mV to 24.1mV; and
	- DO was 0.7mg/L in both wells.
LNAPLs petroleum	Phase separated product (i.e. LNAPL) were not detected using the interphase probe during
hydrocarbons	groundwater sampling.

2.8.4 Receiving Water Bodies

Surface water bodies were not identified in the immediate vicinity of the site. The closest surface water body is Kully Bay (on Lake Illawarra) located approximately 400m to the south-east of the site. The bay is considered to support a marine ecosystem and is down-gradient from the site.




4 CONCEPTUAL SITE MODEL

NEPM (2013) defines a CSM as a representation of site related information regarding contamination sources, receptors and exposure pathways between those sources and receptors. An iteration of the CSM for the site is presented in the following table and is based on the site information (including the site inspection information), the review of site history information and previous investigation findings).

4.1 Potential Contamination Sources/AEC and CoPC

The potential contamination sources/AEC and CoPC are presented in the following table:

Fable 4-1: Potential (and/or known) Contamination Sources/AEC and Contaminants of Potential Concern		
Source / AEC	СоРС	
Fill material – The site has been historically filled toachieve the existing levels. The fill may have beenimported from various sources and/or could have beenplaced during earthworks using site-won material fromwithin the wider hospital.ACM was identified in fill/surficial soil during the PSI2022 at one location (BH12 in the south-western section	Heavy metals (arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, nickel and zinc), petroleum hydrocarbons (referred to as total recoverable hydrocarbons – TRHs), benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylene (BTEX), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), organochlorine pesticides (OCPs), organophosphate pesticides (OPPs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and asbestos.	
of the site).		
Use of pesticides – Pesticides may have been used beneath the buildings and/or around the site for typical pest control applications. <u>Hazardous Building Material</u> – Hazardous building materials may be present as a result of former building and demolition activities onsite (not observed in the historical aerial photographs), or on the wider hospital property. These materials may also be present in the existing buildings/structures on site. Bonded ACM was identified in surficial soil as noted above. This may be associated with historical demolition on site.	Heavy metals and OCPs. Asbestos, lead and PCBs.	
Offsite - Fuel storage on Wider Hospital Property – At least two USTs were identified in the Safework NSW search results on the wider hospital property. Records indicated that the USTs were used to store petrol. An AST is also in this vicinity (see Figure 2).	Lead, TRH, BTEX and PAHs.	

4.2 Mechanism for Contamination, Affected Media, Receptors and Exposure Pathways

The mechanisms for contamination, affected media, receptors and exposure pathways relevant to the potential contamination sources/AEC are outlined in the following CSM table:

Table 4-2: CSM

Potential mechanism for	Potential mechanisms for contamination include:	
contamination	 Fill material – importation of impacted material, 'top-down' impacts (e.g. 	
	placement of fill, leaching from surficial material etc), or sub-surface release (e.g.	
	impacts from buried material);	



	 Use of pesticides – 'top-down' and spills (e.g. during normal use, application and/or improper storage); Hazardous building materials – 'top-down' (e.g. demolition resulting in surficial impacts in unpaved areas); and Off-site (fuel storage on wider hospital property) – 'top-down', spills (e.g. during filling of the tanks and/or dispensing activities), or sub-surface release (e.g. from leaking tank or pipework.
Affected media	Soil and groundwater have been identified as potentially affected media. The potential for soil vapour impacts will initially be assessed via the soil and groundwater results. Soil vapour sampling is outside the scope of the DSI.
Receptor identification	 Human receptors include site occupants/users (including adults and children), construction workers and intrusive maintenance workers. Off-site human receptors include adjacent land users and recreational water users in the down-gradient water body (Kully Bay). Ecological receptors include terrestrial organisms and plants within unpaved areas (including the proposed landscaped areas), and marine ecology in Kully Bay. Kully Bay supports a marine ecosystem and is also utilised for recreational purposes.
Potential exposure pathways	Potential exposure pathways relevant to the human receptors include ingestion, dermal absorption and inhalation of dust (all contaminants) and vapours (volatile TRH, naphthalene and BTEX). The potential for exposure would typically be associated with the current uses, proposed construction and excavation works, and future use of the site. Potential exposure pathways for ecological receptors include primary contact and ingestion. Exposure during future site use could occur via direct contact with soil in unpaved areas such as gardens, inhalation of airborne asbestos fibres during soil disturbance, or inhalation of vapours within enclosed spaces such as buildings. Potential exposure pathways to groundwater (for human receptors) would be via vapour intrusion, or potential contact with groundwater entering the bay. Exposure to ecological receptors could also occur in the bay.
Potential exposure mechanisms	 The following have been identified as potential exposure mechanisms for site contamination: Vapour intrusion into the existing or proposed buildings (either from soil contamination or volatilisation of contaminants from groundwater); Contact (dermal, ingestion or inhalation) with exposed soils in landscaped areas and/or unpaved areas; and Migration of groundwater off-site and into nearby water bodies, including aquatic ecosystems and those being used for recreation.
Presence of preferential pathways for contaminant movement	None identified.



5 SAMPLING, ANALYSIS AND QUALITY PLAN

5.1 Data Quality Objectives (DQO)

Data Quality Objectives (DQOs) were developed to define the type and quality of data required to achieve the project objectives outlined in Section 1.2. The DQOs were prepared with reference to the process outlined in Schedule B2 of NEPM (2013). The seven-step DQO approach for this project is outlined in the following sub-sections.

5.1.1 Step 1 - State the Problem

The previous investigations identified potential sources of contamination/AEC at the site that may pose a risk to human health and the environment. Additional investigation data is required to characterise the site, assess the risks posed by the contaminants in the context of the proposed development/intended land use, and facilitate the development of a RAP. This information will be considered by the project team in the design and delivery of the project as well as by the consent authority in exercising its planning functions in relation to the approval of the development consent and issue of construction/occupancy certificates.

The site is an operational hospital and there are constraints associated with access. Most notably, sampling within the building footprints is not practicable as this involves coring concrete and substantial disturbance. A data gap will remain in these areas and this will need to be compensated for via procedures in the RAP.

5.1.2 Step 2 - Identify the Decisions of the Study

The objectives of the investigation are outlined in Section 1.2. The decisions to be made reflect these objectives and are as follows:

- Are any of the laboratory results above the site assessment criteria?
- Do potential risks associated with contamination exist, and if so, what are they?
- Is remediation required?
- Is the site suitable for the proposed development, or can the site be made suitable subject to further characterisation and/or remediation?

5.1.3 Step 3 - Identify Information Inputs

The primary information inputs required to address the decisions outlined in Step 2 include the following:

- Existing site information from the previous investigations, including site observations and site history documentation;
- Sampling of potentially affected media, including soil and groundwater;
- Observations of sub-surface variables such as soil type, photo-ionisation detector (PID) concentrations, odours and staining, and groundwater physiochemical parameters;
- Laboratory analysis of soils, fibre cement and groundwater for the CoPC identified in the CSM; and
- Field and laboratory QA/QC data.



5.1.4 Step 4 - Define the Study Boundary

The sampling will be confined to the site boundaries as shown in Figure 2 and will be limited vertically to maximum sampling depths of approximately 3mBGL (or prior refusal) for soil/bedrock, and approximately 8mBGL for groundwater (spatial boundary). The sampling is expected to be completed between July and August 2023 (temporal boundary).

5.1.5 Step 5 - Develop an Analytical Approach (or Decision Rule)

The laboratory data will be assessed against relevant Tier 1 screening criteria (referred to as SAC), as outlined in Section 5.1.5.1. Exceedances of the SAC do not necessarily indicate a requirement for remediation or a risk to human health and/or the environment. Exceedances are considered in the context of the CSM and valid source-pathway-receptor (SPR) linkages.

For this investigation, the individual results will be assessed as either above or below the SAC. Statistical evaluation of the dataset via calculation of mean values and/or 95% upper confidence limit (UCL) values will likely not be undertaken due to the spatial distribution of the data and the data gaps associated with the access constraints.

Groundwater data will be compared directly to the SAC and evaluated with regards to valid/complete SPRlinkages.

5.1.5.1 Tier 1 Screening Criteria

5.1.5.1.1 Soil

Soil data will be compared to relevant Tier 1 screening criteria in accordance with NEPM (2013). Health Investigation Levels (HILs) will be based on a 'residential with accessible soils, including childcare' land use exposure scenario (HIL-A). These criteria have been adopted to make a preliminary assessment of risks to the most sensitive receptors (i.e. children) and are also suitably protective of adults in a commercial land use scenario such as a hospital. In our opinion, the other generic land-use types in NEPM (2013) are less appropriate for a hospital land use scenario where there are relatively large unpaved/grassed/landscape areas. Health Screening Levels (HSL) for asbestos will also be based on land use Type A.

HSLs for assessing hydrocarbon risks from vapour intrusion will be based on land use Type A/B and will be derived conservatively using a sand soil type and a depth interval of 0-1m for the initial data screening. These may be adjusted for depth and soil type where deemed appropriate.

HSLs for direct contact presented in the CRC Care Technical Report No. 10 – Health screening levels for hydrocarbons in soil and groundwater Part 1: Technical development document (2011). Management limits for petroleum hydrocarbons (as presented in Schedule B1 of NEPM 2013) will also be considered following evaluation of human health and ecological risks, and risks to groundwater.

Regarding the ecological screening criteria, the Ecological Investigation Levels (EIL) will be derived using the Ambient Background Concentration (ABC) from the document titled Trace Element Concentrations in Soils



from Rural and Urban Areas of Australia (1995)⁶ and using site specific physiochemical data for soil pH, clay content and Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC) to select the Added Contaminant Limit (ACL) values in Schedule B(1) of NEPM (2013). NEPM (2013) recommends that ecological SAC are applied to the top 2m of soil in accordance with the recommendations of the NEPM (2013).

5.1.5.1.2 Groundwater

Groundwater data will be compared to relevant Tier 1 screening criteria in accordance with NEPM (2013), following an assessment of environmental values in accordance with the Guidelines for the Assessment and Management of Groundwater Contamination (2007)⁷. Environmental values for this investigation include aquatic ecosystems, human uses (i.e. primary and secondary contact associated with recreational water use in down-gradient water bodies) and human-health risks in non-use scenarios (i.e. exposure to volatile contaminants above groundwater contamination plumes).

Where groundwater is observed to be deeper than 2mBGL and where there is at least 2m of soil above the groundwater and the proposed site level, the HSLs for a 'low-high density residential' exposure scenario (HSL-A/HSL-B) will be applied. HSLs will be calculated based on the soil type and the observed depth to groundwater.

It is noted that groundwater was recorded at depths shallower than 2mBGL during the previous investigation. On this basis, the NEPM (2013) HSLs will not be strictly applicable for some locations. Where these conditions occur and the NEPM (2013) HSLs cannot be applied, a SSA will be undertaken for the Tier 1 screening of human health risks posed by volatile contaminants in groundwater based on the following:

- Australian Drinking Water Guidelines 2011 (updated 2018)⁸ for BTEX compounds and selected VOCs;
- World Health Organisation (WHO) document titled Petroleum Products in Drinking-water, Background document for the development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality (2008)⁹ for petroleum hydrocarbons. A conservative SAC of 100µg/L will be applied to TRH F1 and F2; and
- USEPA Region 9 screening levels for naphthalene (threshold value for tap water) and for any other contaminants reported above the PQLs, where there are no ADWG 2011 guidelines.

ADWG 2011 criteria will be multiplied by a factor of 10 to assess potential risks associated with incidental/recreational-type exposure to groundwater (e.g. incidental exposure during development works, primary and secondary contact with irrigation water or during recreational exposure). These have been deemed as 'recreational' SAC.

Groundwater Investigation Levels (GILs) for 95% protection of freshwater species are to be adopted based on the Default Guideline Values in the Australian and New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality (2018)¹⁰. The 99% trigger values are to be utilised, where required, to account for bioaccumulation.



⁶ Olszowy, H., Torr, P., and Imray, P., (1995), *Trace Element Concentrations in Soils from Rural and Urban Areas of Australia. Contaminated Sites Monograph Series No. 4.* Department of Human Services and Health, Environment Protection Agency, and South Australian Health Commission

⁷ NSW Department of Environment and Conservation, (2007). *Guidelines for the Assessment and Management of Groundwater Contamination*.

⁸ National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC), (2018). *National Water Quality Management Strategy, Australian Drinking Water Guidelines 2011* (referred to as ADWG 2011)

⁹ World Health Organisation (WHO), (2008). Petroleum Products in Drinking-water, Background document for the development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality (referred to as WHO 2008)

¹⁰ Australian and New Zealand Governments (ANZG), (2018). Australian and New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality. Australian and New Zealand Governments and Australian state and territory governments, Canberra ACT, Australia (referred to as ANZG 2018)



Low and moderate reliability trigger values are also to be adopted for some contaminants where high-reliability trigger values do not exist.

5.1.5.2 Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC)

Field QA/QC will include analysis of inter-laboratory duplicates (minimum of 5% of primary samples), intralaboratory duplicates (minimum of 5% of primary samples), and trip spike (for volatiles), trip blank (for volatiles) and rinsate (for volatiles) samples (one for each medium sampled to assess the adequacy of field practices).

The suitability of the laboratory data is to be assessed against the laboratory QA/QC criteria which will be outlined in the laboratory reports. These criteria are developed and implemented in accordance with the laboratory's National Association of Testing Authorities, Australia (NATA) accreditation and align with the acceptable limits for QA/QC samples as outlined in NEPM (2013) and other relevant guidelines.

In the event that acceptable limits are not met by the laboratory analysis, other lines of evidence are reviewed (e.g. field observations of samples, preservation, handling etc) and, where required, consultation with the laboratory will be undertaken in an effort to establish the cause of the non-conformance. Where uncertainty exists, the most conservative concentration reported are to be adopted.

5.1.5.3 Appropriateness of Practical Quantitation Limits (PQLs)

The PQLs of the analytical methods are to be considered in relation to the SAC to confirm that the PQLs are less than the SAC. In cases where the PQLs are greater than the SAC, a discussion of this will be provided.

5.1.6 Step 6 – Specify Limits on Decision Errors

To limit the potential for decision errors, a range of quality assurance processes are adopted. A quantitative assessment of the potential for false positives and false negatives in the analytical results will be undertaken with reference to Schedule B(3) of NEPM (2013) using the data quality assurance information collected.

Decision errors can be controlled through the use of hypothesis testing. The test can be used to show either that the baseline condition is false or that there is insufficient evidence to indicate that the baseline condition is false. The null hypothesis is an assumption that is assumed to be true in the absence of contrary evidence.

We do not anticipate applying statistical tests to the soil data due to the data gaps that will remain in the building footprints and we anticipate that results will be assessed as either above or below the SAC and in the context of valid SPR linkages. However, should statistical analysis be applied, for this investigation, the null hypothesis (H_0) is that the 95% UCL for the CoPC are greater than the SAC. The alternative hypothesis (H_A) is that the 95% UCL for the CoPC (and other considerations for asbestos and groundwater) are less than the SAC.

Potential outcomes include Type I and Type II errors as follows:

• Type I error of determining that the soil is acceptable for the proposed land use when it is not (wrongly rejects true H_0), includes an alpha (α) risk of 0.05; and



Type II error of determining that the soil is unacceptable for the proposed land use when it is (wrongly accepts false H₀), includes beta (β) risk of 0.2.

Statistical analysis will not apply to asbestos, groundwater data, therefore these data will be assessed based on a multiple lines of evidence and a risk-based approach.

Data Quality Indicators (DQI) for field and laboratory QA/QC samples are defined below. An assessment of the DQI's is to be made in relation to precision, accuracy, representativeness, completeness and comparability.

Field Duplicates

Acceptable targets for precision of field duplicates will be 30% or less, consistent with NEPM (2013). RPD failures will be considered qualitatively on a case-by-case basis taking into account factors such as the concentrations used to calculate the RPD (i.e. RPD exceedance where concentrations are close to the PQL are typically not as significant as those where concentrations are reported at least five or 10 times the PQL), sample type, collection methods and the specific analyte where the RPD exceedance was reported.

Field/Trip Blanks and Rinsates

Acceptable targets for trip blank samples will be less than the PQL.

Trip Spikes

Acceptable targets for trip spike samples will be 70% to 130%.

Laboratory QA/QC

The suitability of the laboratory data will be assessed against the laboratory QA/QC criteria. These criteria are developed and implemented in accordance with the laboratory's NATA accreditation and align with the acceptable limits for QA/QC samples as outlined in NEPM (2013) and other relevant guidelines.

A summary of the typical limits is provided below:

RPDs

- Results that are <5 times the PQL, any RPD is acceptable; and
- Results >5 times the PQL, RPDs between 0-50% are acceptable.

Laboratory Control Samples (LCS) and Matrix Spikes

- 70-130% recovery acceptable for metals and inorganics; and
- 60-140% recovery acceptable for organics.

Surrogate Spikes

• 60-140% recovery acceptable for general organics.

Method Blanks

• All results less than PQL.



In the event that acceptable limits are not met by the laboratory analysis, other lines of evidence will be reviewed (e.g. field observations of samples, preservation, handling etc) and, where required, consultation with the laboratory is to be undertaken in an effort to establish the cause of the non-conformance. Where uncertainty exists, we will adopt the most conservative concentration reported.

5.1.7 Step 7 - Optimise the Design for Obtaining Data

The most resource-effective design will be used in an optimum manner to achieve the objectives. For this investigation, the design will be optimised via consideration of the various lines of evidence used to select the sample locations, the media being sampled, and also by the way in which the data will be collected. The sampling plan and methodology are outlined in the following sub-sections.

5.2 Soil Sampling Plan and Methodology

The soil sampling plan and methodology adopted for this investigation is outlined in the table below:

Aspect	Input
Sampling Plan	Samples for the investigation will be collected from a total of 20 borehole locations. The
	proposed sample locations are shown on Figure 2.2 attached in Appendix A.
	Where practicable, samples are to be positioned on a square grid plan. However, this will not be
	achievable in all areas due to access constraints and therefore the plan overall is considered to be
	consideration the previous sampling locations identified AFC and areas that are not easily
	accessible due to onsite obstructions (either above or below ground)
Set-out and	Sampling locations will be set out using a laser range finder or a tape measure, set-out from the
Sampling	existing boundaries and site features. A margin of error in the order of ±1m is expected using the
Equipment	range finder. In-situ sampling locations will be checked for underground services by an external
	contractor prior to sampling.
	Samples will be collected using a combination of a mechanical excavator (from a pendulum auger)
	and a drill rig with spiral augers and standard penetration test (SPT) split spoon sampler. Soil
	samples will be obtained from the SPT sampler as a preference in boreholes, or from the auger
	where the SPT sampler is not effective (e.g. in bedrock)/excavator mounted auger.
	IKE acknowledge that the use of an auger for soil sampling may result in some loss of volatiles
	However, we consider that there is no better alternative when sampling deeper bedrock.
Sample	The locations are to be logged to an appropriate standard in accordance with NEPM (2013) and all
Collection and	samples will be documented on the logs. Soil samples for contamination are to be collected from
Field QA/QC	the fill and natural profiles based on field observations, to depths as noted above.
	Samples for contamination analysis are to be placed in glass jars with plastic caps and Teflon seals
	with minimal headspace. Samples for asbestos analysis will be placed in zip-lock plastic bags.
	During sampling, soil at selected depths will be split into primary and duplicate samples for field
	QA/QC analysis. The splitting procedure will include alternate filling of the jars with soil.

Table 5-1: Soil Sampling Plan and Methodology



Field Screening	 A portable Photoionisation Detector (PID) fitted with a 10.6mV lamp will be used to screen the samples for the presence of volatile organic compounds (VOCs). PID screening for VOCs will be undertaken on soil samples using the soil sample headspace method. VOC data will be obtained from partly filled zip-lock plastic bags following equilibration of the headspace gases. PID calibration records are maintained on file by JKE and are to be included in the DSI report. Fill/spoil from all sampling location will be field screened. The field screening for asbestos quantification from the remaining sampling locations will include the following: A bulk sample will be collected from fill at 1m intervals, or from each distinct fill profile to the extent possible; Each bulk sample will be weighed using an electronic scale; Each bulk sample will be passed through a sieve with a 7.1mm aperture and inspected for the presence of fibre cement. Alternatively, due to the cohesive nature of the soils, the samples may be placed on a contrasting support (blue tarpaulin) and inspected for the presence of fibre cement or any other suspected asbestos materials will be noted on the field records; and If observed, any fragments of fibre cement in the sample will be collected, placed in a ziplock bag and assigned a unique identifier. Calculations for asbestos content will be undertaken based on the requirements outlined in Schedule B1 of NEPM (2013).
Decontami- nation and Sample Preservation	Sampling personnel will use disposable nitrile gloves during sampling activities. Re-usable sampling equipment will be decontaminated using Decon and potable water. Soil samples will be preserved by immediate storage in an insulated sample container with ice or ice bricks. On completion of the fieldwork, the samples will be stored temporarily in fridges in the JKE warehouse before being delivered in the insulated sample container to a NATA registered laboratory for analysis under standard chain of custody (COC) procedures.

5.3 Groundwater Sampling Plan and Methodology

The groundwater sampling plan and methodology is outlined in the table below:

Aspect	Input
Sampling Plan	Where groundwater is present, it is proposed to sample the two existing groundwater wells that were installed during the fieldwork for the PSI 2022. These include MW4 and MW5 as shown on Figure 2.2 in Appendix A.
	One new well, MW213 is also proposed, positioned in the south-west of the site for site coverage and in an attempt to be at the closest point to the off-site AST/USTs (subject to access).
Monitoring Well Installation Procedure	 We propose to install the new groundwater monitoring well using auger drilling methods. The monitoring well construction details will be documented on the appropriate borehole log attached in the appendices. The monitoring wells were installed to depths of approximately 8m below ground level. The wells were generally constructed as follows: 50mm diameter Class 18 PVC (machine slotted screen) installed in the lower section of the well to intersect groundwater; 50mm diameter Class 18 PVC casing installed in the upper section of the well (screw fixed); A 2mm sand filter pack used around the screen section for groundwater infiltration; A hydrated bentonite seal/plug used on top of the sand pack to seal the well; and A gatic cover installed at the surface with a concrete plug to limit the inflow of surface water.

Table 5-2: Groundwater Sampling Plan and Methodology



Aspect	Input
	The proposed well construction is considered to be appropriate for screening purposes to assess general aquifer conditions with regards to the recommended monitoring well installation requirements in Schedule B2 of NEPM 2013. The installation depths and screen intervals may vary depending on observations (i.e. water strike) during drilling.
Monitoring Well Development	Prior to development, the monitoring wells will be checked for the presence of Light Non-Aqueous Phase Liquids (LNAPL) using a new disposable bailer and the water level will be measured using an electronic dip meter. The monitoring well head space will also be checked for VOCs using a calibrated PID unit.
	The monitoring wells will be developed using a submersible electrical pump with single-use tubing. A calibrated water quality meter will be used to measure pH, EC, DO, Eh and temperature. Development will occur until either the well is pumped dry or until steady state conditions are achieved.
	For the DSI, steady state conditions are defined as the pH measurements over a one-minute time interval varying by less than 0.2 units, the difference in EC over the same period varying by less than 10%, and the SWL not being in drawdown.
	The monitoring wells will be allowed to recharge for approximately 2-3 days prior to sampling.
Groundwater Sampling	 Prior to sampling, the monitoring wells will be checked for the presence of LNAPL using an interphase probe electronic dip meter and a new disposable bailer. The monitoring well head space will also be checked for VOCs using a calibrated PID unit. Samples will be obtained using a peristaltic pump, after purging to achieve steady state conditions. Where steady state conditions cannot be achieved, the wells will be sampled whilst the SWL is in drawdown. Groundwater samples will be obtained directly from the single use tubing and placed in the sample containers. Duplicate samples are to be obtained by alternate filling of sample containers. This technique will be adopted to minimise disturbance of the samples and loss of volatile containers associated with mixing of liquids in secondary containers, etc. Groundwater removed from the wells during sampling will be transported to JKE in jerry cans and stored in holding drums prior to collection by a licensed waste water contractor for off-site
	disposal.
Decontaminan t and Sample Preservation	During development (and sampling), the pump will be flushed between monitoring wells with potable water (single-use tubing will be used for each well). The pump tubing will be discarded after each sampling event and replaced.
5	The samples will be preserved with reference to the analytical requirements and placed in an insulated container with ice. On completion of the fieldwork, the samples may be temporarily stored in a fridge at the JKE office, before being delivered in the insulated sample container to a NATA registered laboratory for analysis under standard COC procedures.

5.4 Laboratory Analysis

Samples will be analysed by an appropriate, NATA Accredited laboratory using the analytical methods detailed in Schedule B(3) of NEPM 2013. The laboratory details are provided below:



Table 5-3: Laboratory Details

Samples	Laboratory
All primary samples and field QA/QC samples including (intra-laboratory duplicates, trip blanks, trip spikes, and field rinsate samples)	Envirolab Services Pty Ltd NSW, NATA Accreditation Number – 2901 (ISO/IEC 17025 compliance)
Inter-laboratory duplicates	Envirolab Services Pty Ltd VIC, NATA Accreditation Number – 2901 (ISO/IEC 17025 compliance)

An allowance has been made for the following:

- Up to 10 selected soil samples will be analysed for: heavy metals (arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, nickel and zinc); PAHs; TRHs; BTEX; OCPs and OPPs; and PCBs;
- Up to 20 selected soil samples will be analysed for: heavy metals (arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, nickel and zinc); PAHs; TRH; and BTEX;
- Up to 20 selected soil samples will be analysed for: asbestos (500ml);
- Up to four selected fill/natural soil samples will be analysed for: pH; cation exchange capacity (CEC); and clay content (%);
- Up to two selected fibre cement fragments, if found on or in soil, will be analysed for asbestos;
- Up to three groundwater samples will be analysed for the following: heavy metals; TRH/BTEX; low level PAHs; pH; and electrical conductivity (EC); and
- Collection and analysis of QA/QC samples (including intra- and inter-laboratory duplicates, trip blank, trip spike and field rinsate samples).

The soil analysis will generally be targeted to fill samples. Deeper samples may be analysed based on the results of the fill soils, or if other indicators such as staining or odours are encountered. A staged approach to soil sample analysis will be undertaken to allow for targeting areas based on the results of the initial analysis.

5.5 Reporting Requirements

A DSI report is to be prepared presenting the results of the investigation, generally in accordance with the NSW EPA Consultants Reporting on Contaminated Land, Contaminated Land Guidelines (2020)¹¹.

¹¹ NSW EPA, (2020). Consultants Reporting on Contaminated Land, Contaminated Land Guidelines



6 LIMITATIONS

The report limitations are outlined below:

- JKE accepts no responsibility for any unidentified contamination issues at the site. Any unexpected problems/subsurface features that may be encountered during development works should be inspected by an environmental consultant as soon as possible;
- Previous use of this site may have involved excavation for the foundations of buildings, services, and similar facilities. In addition, unrecorded excavation and burial of material may have occurred on the site. Backfilling of excavations could have been undertaken with potentially contaminated material that may be discovered in discrete, isolated locations across the site during construction work;
- This report has been prepared based on site conditions which existed at the time of the investigation; scope of work and limitation outlined in the JKE proposal; and terms of contract between JKE and the client (as applicable);
- The conclusions presented in this report are based on investigation of conditions at specific locations, chosen to be as representative as possible under the given circumstances, visual observations of the site and immediate surrounds and documents reviewed as described in the report;
- Subsurface soil and rock conditions encountered between investigation locations may be found to be different from those expected. Groundwater conditions may also vary, especially after climatic changes;
- The investigation and preparation of this report have been undertaken in accordance with accepted practice for environmental consultants, with reference to applicable environmental regulatory authority and industry standards, guidelines and the assessment criteria outlined in the report;
- Where information has been provided by third parties, JKE has not undertaken any verification process, except where specifically stated in the report;
- JKE has not undertaken any assessment of off-site areas that may be potential contamination sources or may have been impacted by site contamination, except where specifically stated in the report;
- JKE accept no responsibility for potentially asbestos containing materials that may exist at the site. These materials may be associated with demolition of pre-1990 constructed buildings or fill material at the site;
- JKE have not and will not make any determination regarding finances associated with the site;
- Additional investigation work may be required in the event of changes to the proposed development or landuse. JKE should be contacted immediately in such circumstances;
- Material considered to be suitable from a geotechnical point of view may be unsatisfactory from a soil contamination viewpoint, and vice versa; and
- This report has been prepared for the particular project described and no responsibility is accepted for the use of any part of this report in any other context or for any other purpose.



Important Information About This Report

These notes have been prepared by JKE to assist with the assessment and interpretation of this report.

The Report is based on a Unique Set of Project Specific Factors

This report has been prepared in response to specific project requirements as stated in the JKE proposal document which may have been limited by instructions from the client. This report should be reviewed, and if necessary, revised if any of the following occur:

- The proposed land use is altered;
- The defined subject site is increased or sub-divided;
- The proposed development details including size, configuration, location, orientation of the structures or landscaped areas are modified;
- The proposed development levels are altered, eg addition of basement levels; or
- Ownership of the site changes.

JKE will not accept any responsibility whatsoever for situations where one or more of the above factors have changed since completion of the investigation. If the subject site is sold, ownership of the investigation report should be transferred by JKE to the new site owners who will be informed of the conditions and limitations under which the investigation was undertaken. No person should apply an investigation for any purpose other than that originally intended without first conferring with the consultant.

Changes in Subsurface Conditions

Subsurface conditions are influenced by natural geological and hydrogeological process and human activities. Groundwater conditions are likely to vary over time with changes in climatic conditions and human activities within the catchment (e.g. water extraction for irrigation or industrial uses, subsurface waste water disposal, construction related dewatering). Soil and groundwater contaminant concentrations may also vary over time through contaminant migration, natural attenuation of organic contaminants, ongoing contaminating activities and placement or removal of fill material. The conclusions of an investigation report may have been affected by the above factors if a significant period of time has elapsed prior to commencement of the proposed development.

This Report is based on Professional Interpretations of Factual Data

Site investigations identify actual subsurface conditions at the actual sampling locations at the time of the investigation. Data obtained from the sampling and subsequent laboratory analyses, available site history information and published regional information is interpreted by geologists, engineers or environmental scientists and opinions are drawn about the overall subsurface conditions, the nature and extent of contamination, the likely impact on the proposed development and appropriate remediation measures.

Actual conditions may differ from those inferred, because no professional, no matter how qualified, and no subsurface exploration program, no matter how comprehensive, can reveal what is hidden by earth, rock and time. The actual interface between materials may be far more gradual or abrupt than an investigation indicates. Actual conditions in areas not sampled may differ from predictions. Nothing can be done to prevent the unanticipated, but steps can be taken to help minimise the impact. For this reason, site owners should retain the services of their consultants throughout the development stage of the project, to identify variances, conduct additional tests which may be needed, and to recommend solutions to problems encountered on site.

Investigation Limitations

Although information provided by a site investigation can reduce exposure to the risk of the presence of contamination, no environmental site investigation can eliminate the risk. Even a rigorous professional investigation may not detect all contamination on a site. Contaminants may be present in areas that were not surveyed or sampled, or may migrate to areas which showed no signs of contamination when sampled. Contaminant analysis cannot possibly cover every type of contaminant which may occur; only the most likely contaminants are screened.



Misinterpretation of Site Investigations by Design Professionals

Costly problems can occur when other design professionals develop plans based on misinterpretation of an investigation report. To minimise problems associated with misinterpretations, the environmental consultant should be retained to work with appropriate professionals to explain relevant findings and to review the adequacy of plans and specifications relevant to contamination issues.

Logs Should not be Separated from the Investigation Report

Borehole and test pit logs are prepared by environmental scientists, engineers or geologists based upon interpretation of field conditions and laboratory evaluation of field samples. Logs are normally provided in our reports and these should not be re-drawn for inclusion in site remediation or other design drawings, as subtle but significant drafting errors or omissions may occur in the transfer process. Photographic reproduction can eliminate this problem, however contractors can still misinterpret the logs during bid preparation if separated from the text of the investigation. If this occurs, delays, disputes and unanticipated costs may result. In all cases it is necessary to refer to the rest of the report to obtain a proper understanding of the investigation. Please note that logs with the 'Environmental Log' header are not suitable for geotechnical purposes as they have not been peer reviewed by a Senior Geotechnical Engineer.

To reduce the likelihood of borehole and test pit log misinterpretation, the complete investigation should be available to persons or organisations involved in the project, such as contractors, for their use. Denial of such access and disclaiming responsibility for the accuracy of subsurface information does not insulate an owner from the attendant liability. It is critical that the site owner provides all available site information to persons and organisations such as contractors.

Read Responsibility Clauses Closely

Because an environmental site investigation is based extensively on judgement and opinion, it is necessarily less exact than other disciplines. This situation has resulted in wholly unwarranted claims being lodged against consultants. To help prevent this problem, model clauses have been developed for use in written transmittals. These are definitive clauses designed to indicate consultant responsibility. Their use helps all parties involved recognise individual responsibilities and formulate appropriate action. Some of these definitive clauses are likely to appear in the environmental site investigation, and you are encouraged to read them closely. Your consultant will be pleased to give full and frank answers to any questions.



Appendix A: JKE SAQP Figures





© JK ENVIRONMENTS



© JK ENVIRONMENTS



© JK ENVIRONMENTS



Appendix B: Report Explanatory Notes



QA/QC Definitions

The QA/QC terms used in this report are defined below. The definitions are in accordance with US EPA publication SW-846, entitled *Test Methods for Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods* (1994)¹² methods and those described in *Environmental Sampling and Analysis, A Practical Guide,* (1991)¹³. The NEPM (2013) is consistent with these documents.

A. Practical Quantitation Limit (PQL), Limit of Reporting (LOR) & Estimated Quantitation Limit (EQL)

These terms all refer to the concentration above which results can be expressed with a minimum 95% confidence level. The laboratory reporting limits are generally set at ten times the standard deviation for the Method Detection Limit for each specific analyte. For the purposes of this report the LOR, PQL, and EQL are considered to be equivalent.

When assessing laboratory data it should be borne in mind that values at or near the PQL have two important limitations: "The uncertainty of the measurement value can approach, and even equal, the reported value. Secondly, confirmation of the analytes reported is virtually impossible unless identification uses highly selective methods. These issues diminish when reliably measurable amounts of analytes are present. Accordingly, legal and regulatory actions should be limited to data at or above the reliable detection limit" (Keith, 1991).

B. <u>Precision</u>

The degree to which data generated from repeated measurements differ from one another due to random errors. Precision is measured using the standard deviation or Relative Percent Difference (RPD).

C. <u>Accuracy</u>

Accuracy is a measure of the agreement between an experimental result and the true value of the parameter being measured (i.e. the proximity of an averaged result to the true value, where all random errors have been statistically removed). The assessment of accuracy for an analysis can be achieved through the analysis of known reference materials or assessed by the analysis of surrogates, field blanks, trip spikes and matrix spikes. Accuracy is typically reported as percent recovery.

D. <u>Representativeness</u>

Representativeness expresses the degree to which sample data accurately and precisely represents a characteristic of a population, parameter variations at a sampling point, or an environmental condition. Representativeness is primarily dependent upon the design and implementation of the sampling program. Representativeness of the data is partially ensured by the avoidance of contamination, adherence to sample handing and analysis protocols and use of proper chain-of-custody and documentation procedures.

E. <u>Completeness</u>

Completeness is a measure of the number of valid measurements in a data set compared to the total number of measurements made and overall performance against DQIs. The following information is assessed for completeness:

- Chain-of-custody forms;
- Sample receipt form;
- All sample results reported;
- All blank data reported;



 ¹² US EPA, (1994). SW-846: Test Methods for Evaluating Solid Waste, Physical/Chemical Methods. (US EPA SW-846)
 ¹³ Keith., H, (1991). Environmental Sampling and Analysis, A Practical Guide



- All laboratory duplicate and RPDs calculated;
- All surrogate spike data reported;
- All matrix spike and lab control spike (LCS) data reported and RPDs calculated;
- Spike recovery acceptable limits reported; and
- NATA stamp on reports.

F. <u>Comparability</u>

Comparability is the evaluation of the similarity of conditions (e.g. sample depth, sample homogeneity) under which separate sets of data are produced. Data comparability checks include a bias assessment that may arise from the following sources:

- Collection and analysis of samples by different personnel; Use of different techniques;
- Collection and analysis by the same personnel using the same methods but at different times; and
- Spatial and temporal changes (due to environmental dynamics).

G. <u>Blanks</u>

The purpose of laboratory and field blanks is to check for artefacts and interferences that may arise during sampling, transport and analysis.

H. Matrix Spikes

Samples are spiked with laboratory grade standards to detect interactive effects between the sample matrix and the analytes being measured. Matrix Spikes are reported as a percent recovery and are prepared for 1 in every 20 samples. Sample batches that contain less than 20 samples may be reported with a Matrix Spike from another batch. The percent recovery is calculated using the formula below. Acceptable recovery limits are 70% to 130%.

(Spike Sample Result – Sample Result) x 100 Concentration of Spike Added

I. <u>Surrogate Spikes</u>

Samples are spiked with a known concentration of compounds that are chemically related to the analyte being investigated but unlikely to be detected in the environment. The purpose of the Surrogate Spikes is to check the accuracy of the analytical technique. Surrogate Spikes are reported as percent recovery.

J. <u>Duplicates</u>

Laboratory duplicates measure precision, expressed as Relative Percent Difference. Duplicates are prepared from a single field sample and analysed as two separate extraction procedures in the laboratory. The RPD is calculated using the formula where D1 is the sample concentration and D2 is the duplicate sample concentration:

 $\frac{(D1 - D2) \times 100}{\{(D1 + D2)/2\}}$





Appendix C: Guidelines and Reference Documents





Contaminated Land Management Act 1997 (NSW)

NSW EPA, (2015). Guidelines on the Duty to Report Contamination under Section 60 of the CLM Act 1997

NSW EPA, (2017). Guidelines for the NSW Site Auditor Scheme, 3rd Edition

NSW EPA, (2020). Consultants Reporting on Contaminated Land, Contaminated Land Guidelines

NSW EPA, (2022). Sampling Design Part 1 - application

National Environment Protection Council (NEPC), (2013). National Environmental Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure 1999 as amended (2013)

State Environmental Planning Policy (Resilience and Hazards) 2021





JKE AMP





REPORT TO

NSW HEALTH INFRASTRUCTURE

ON

FOR

AT

ASBESTOS MANAGEMENT PLAN

DETALED (STAGE 2) SITE INVESTIGATION

85-91 COWPER STREET, WARRAWONG, NSW



Date: 26 July 2023 Ref: E34300PT2-AMP

JKEnvironments.com.au

T: +61 2 9888 5000 JK Environments Pty Ltd ABN 90 633 911 403





Report prepared by:



Katrina Taylor Associate | Environmental Scientist Licenced Asbestos Assessor (LAA1025)

Report reviewed by:

Brendan Page Principal | Environmental Scientist

JKE PO BOX 976 NORTH RYDE BC NSW 1670

DOCUMENT REVISION RECORD

Report Reference	Report Status	Report Date
E34300PT2rpt-AMP	Final Report	26 July 2023

© Document copyright of JK Environments (JKE)

This Report (which includes all attachments and annexures) has been prepared by JKE for the Client, and is intended for the use only by JKE, JK Geotechnics (JKG) and that Client.

This Report has been prepared pursuant to a contract between JKG and the Client and is therefore subject to:

- a) JKG's proposal in respect of the work covered by the Report;
- b) The limitations defined in the client's brief to JKG; and
- c) The terms of contract between JKG and the Client, including terms limiting the liability of JKG/JKE.

If the Client, or any person, provides a copy of this Report to any third party, such third party must not rely on this Report, except with the express written consent of JKE/JKG which, if given, will be deemed to be upon the same terms, conditions, restrictions and limitations as apply by virtue of (a), (b), and (c) above.

Any third party who seeks to rely on this Report without the express written consent of JKE/JKG does so entirely at their own risk and to the fullest extent permitted by law, JKE/JKG accepts no liability whatsoever, in respect of any loss or damage suffered by any such third party.

JKEnvironments



Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION 1 1 1.1 **AIMS/OBJECTIVES** 1 1.2 SCOPE OF WORK 1 SITE DETAILS 2 2 2.1 SITE IDENTIFICATION 2 2 3 ASBESTOS CONTAMINATION INFORMATION 4 **APPLICATION OF THE AMP AND RESPONSIBILITIES** 3 4.1 **APPLICATION OF THE AMP** 3 4.2 **ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES** 3 5 LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENTS 3 5.1 LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENTS AND REGULATIONS/GUIDELINES 3 5.2 4 **NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE AMP** 5.3 SAFEWORK NSW NOTIFICATION 4 6 MANAGEMENT 4 6.1 **AIRBOURNE ASBESTOS FIBRE MONITORING** 4 6.2 FINDING OF ACM - CONTINGENCY MANAGEMENT PLAN 5 **DOCUMENTATION REQUIREMENTS** 7 7 8 LIMITATIONS 7



List of Tables

Table 2-1: Site Identification

Attachments

Appendix A: Report Figures

2



ACM

AMP

NATA

JKE

PPE

Abbreviations

Asbestos Containing Material Asbestos Management Plan JK Environments National Association of Testing Authorities Personal Protective Equipment Protection of the Environment Operations Work Health and Safety

Units

Fibres per millilitre Kilogram Micron POEO WHS Fibres/mL kg μm



1 INTRODUCTION

NSW Health Infrastructure ('the client') commissioned JK Environments (JKE) to carry out an intrusive environmental investigation for the proposed new Warrawong Community Centre development at 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW. JK Environments (JKE) has prepared this Asbestos Management Plan (AMP) exclusively to manage asbestos-related risks during the intrusive drilling works. This AMP is not intended to be used for the day-to-day management of asbestos at the site during the typical site operations and is not to be used in relation to managing any asbestos materials associated with the buildings or structures on site.

The proposed scope of intrusive field works at the site includes the drilling of boreholes for environmental purposes. This AMP includes management requirements for working, handling, temporary storage, removal, transportation and disposal procedures, and visual clearance inspections. The AMP has been prepared generally in accordance with the requirements of SafeWork NSW.

1.1 Aims/Objectives

The aim of the AMP is to outline the procedures to be implemented in order to effectively manage asbestosimpacted material at the site during intrusive drilling works, in accordance with relevant Codes of Practice and Work Health and Safety (WHS) legislation. The objectives of the AMP are to:

- Outline the applicability of the AMP and the various roles and responsibilities;
- Provide a protocol for managing the drilling works, including the identification of safe work procedures to minimise potential health effects to site workers/contractors and adjacent land users; and
- Document procedures for potential asbestos waste handling and transport.

1.2 Scope of Work

The scope of work included preparation of the AMP which provides:

- Details of roles and responsibilities;
- Methodologies for protecting workers during intrusive field works, including personal protective equipment (PPE), decontamination and visual surface clearance requirements; and
- Procedures and protocols to manage the asbestos related risks, minimise potential asbestos exposure risks to personnel/workers involved in the field works, safe handling of asbestos containing materials and minimisation of potential asbestos exposure risks to the general public/site users in the vicinity of the proposed work areas on site.

The scope of work was undertaken with reference to the WHS Regulation 2017 and the Safe Work Australia Codes of Practice: How to Manage and Control Asbestos in the Workplace (2020)¹; and How to Safely Remove Asbestos (2020)². Other guidelines and legislation/regulations have been referenced throughout the AMP where applicable.

1



¹ Safe Work Australia (2020). *Code of Practice How to Manage and Control Asbestos in the Workplace*. (referred to as CoP How to Manage and Control Asbestos in the Workplace) (July 2020)

² Safe Work Australia (2020). Code of Practice How to Safely Remove Asbestos. (referred to as CoP How to Safely Remove Asbestos) (July 2020)



2 SITE DETAILS

2.1 Site Identification

Table 2-1: Site Identification

Site Address:	85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW
Lot & Deposited Plan:	Lots 21 to 26 & Lots 50 to 53 in DP23670 and part of Lots 39 to 41 and 49 in DP23670
Current Land Use:	R2: Low density residential
Site Area (m²) (approx.):	8,950
Geographical Location (decimal degrees) (approx. centre of site):	Latitude: -34.4863511 Longitude: 150.8790082
Site Plans:	Appendix A

3 ASBESTOS CONTAMINATION INFORMATION

For the purpose of this AMP, it is assumed that the fill/soil may contain bonded (non-friable) asbestos containing material (ACM). Previous investigation at the site and wider hospital by JKE have identified asbestos in fill. A single fragment of ACM has been identified on the site in surficial soil during an investigation in 2022.

The exposure pathway for asbestos is via inhalation of airborne asbestos fibres. Exposure to asbestos fibres poses a potential risk to human health. The potential for release and transport of asbestos fibres via disturbance of soil containing asbestos has the potential to increase during the proposed mechanical drilling works. The human receptors most at risk of asbestos fibre release during field works and soil disturbance activities include the drilling crew, field engineer and nearby land users (e.g. site workers, contractors and visitors). Risks to these receptors will be mitigated under this AMP.

Asbestos fibres can range in size from 0.1 to 10 microns (μ m) (one tenth the size of a grain of sand) and are a potential particulate respiratory hazard. The small fibres gain relatively easy access to the lung airways and air sacs. Damage to the respiratory tract generally tends to be time/dose dependent. An individual exposed to high doses of asbestos for long periods of time will have an increased risk of developing asbestos related diseases. In addition, the effects of asbestos related diseases are usually not detectable for 1 to 30 years after the initial exposure. This is called the latency period, and is a distinguishing feature of asbestos related diseases.



4 APPLICATION OF THE AMP AND RESPONSIBILITIES

4.1 Application of the AMP

This AMP shall apply from the commencement of soil/fill disturbance works at each borehole location, until disturbance of the fill ceases and the borehole is reinstated. The AMP is not intended to be a long-term management plan and as such it will cease to apply on completion of the field works.

Given the extent of previous investigation at the site and wider hospital property, this document has been prepared as a precautionary plan with the intent that normal works will occur/be undertaken unless ACM is encountered. The occurrence of suspected ACM in soils will trigger the need to implement management procedures as outlined in Section 6.

4.2 Roles and Responsibilities

JKE is primarily responsible for the implementation of this AMP and will be responsible for the work area, arranging air monitoring during the works, implementing risk mitigation measures (as required) and managing any occurrences of asbestos encountered during drilling.

The JKE field scientist is deemed to be a competent person and will be responsible for:

- Coordinating airborne asbestos monitoring (subcontracted to Clear Safe);
- Undertaking asbestos clearance inspections (as required);
- Undertaking asbestos sampling and assessment (as required);
- Providing advice and recommendations arising from monitoring and/or inspections during drilling;
- Examining and providing comment on WHS documentation with respect to asbestos assessment, management and control (as required); and
- Notifying the JKE Project Manager, and the client if required, of any observed or documented noncompliance with this AMP.

In the event that friable asbestos is observed, JKE has a Licenced Asbestos Assessor on staff to provide advice and any necessary clearances.

5 LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENTS

5.1 Legislative Requirements and Regulations/Guidelines

All works must be undertaken with regards to (but not limited to) the following:

- Protection of the Environment Operations (POEO) Act 1997 (NSW);
- POEO (Waste) Regulation 2014 (NSW);
- Work Health and Safety Act 2011 (NSW);
- Work Health and Safety Regulation 2017 (NSW);
- Contaminated Land Management Act 1997 (NSW);
- CoP How to Manage and Control Asbestos in the Workplace;
- CoP How to Safely Remove Asbestos;



- National Occupational Health and Safety Commission (NOHSC), (2005). Guidance Note on the Membrane Filter Method for Estimating Airborne Asbestos Fibres 2nd Edition (NOHSC:3003 [2005]);
- NOHSC, (2005). Guidance Note on the Interpretation of Exposure Standards for Atmospheric Contaminants in the Occupational Environment 3rd Edition (NOHSC:3008 [1995]);
- AS/NZS 1715:2009 Selection, Use and Maintenance of Respiratory Protective Devices; and
- AS/NZS 1716:2012 Respiratory Protective Devices.

5.2 Non-Compliance with the AMP

Where a non-compliance with this AMP is identified, JKE's project manager is to be notified. Where a noncompliance cannot be rectified, site works should cease, the AMP and asbestos controls reviewed, and revisions made as required.

5.3 SafeWork NSW Notification

Asbestos removal works triggering notification to SafeWork NSW is not required.

6 MANAGEMENT

This section outlines the requirements for managing the intrusive field works which we understand will broadly include:

- 1) Mechanical drilling using spiral augers mounted on an excavator/drill rig; and
- 2) Environmental soil sampling and field assessment for asbestos in soil.

6.1 Airbourne Asbestos Fibre Monitoring

During the intrusive field works (drilling with auger mounted excavator/drill rig), airborne asbestos fibre monitoring (referred to herein as air monitoring) will be undertaken by the subcontractor (Clear Safe) using calibrated portable air sampling pumps. Monitoring locations will be determined by Clear Safe and shall include two locations surrounding each borehole/work area. At the end of each day, the pumps and attached filters will be collected and analysed at a NATA-accredited laboratory.

Air monitoring works shall be conducted in accordance with NOHSC Guidance Note on the Membrane Filter Method for Estimating Airborne Asbestos Fibres 2nd Edition (NOHSC:3003 [2005]). The results of air monitoring are to be provided to the JKE. The following action levels will be applied upon receipt of results:

- Reading of less than 0.01 fibres/mL control measures implemented were appropriate and no action required; and
- Reading greater than 0.02 fibres/mL control measures implemented may not have been appropriate, further action/site rectification may be required. SafeWork may need to be notified.

6.1.1 General Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)

PPE for site personnel is to include

• Steel-capped boots (preferably lace-less);



- Hard hat meeting relevant standards;
- High visibility clothing;
- Gloves; and
- P2 rated disposable dust mask, or a half-face respirator fitted with an appropriate particulate filter in compliance with the relevant standards. Respiratory Protective Devices and be used in accordance with AS/NZS 1715:2009.

6.2 Finding of ACM – Contingency Management Plan

As previously stated, this document has been designed as a precautionary plan with the intent that normal works will occur/be undertaken unless suspected ACM is encountered. The occurrence and finding of suspected ACM will trigger the need to initially stop work, assess the circumstances, then implement the contingency management procedures as outlined below:

6.2.1 Field Work Procedures

The following actions are to be implemented:

- To minimise the release of fibres into the air the soil will be kept damp at all times (but not flooded). This will include the use of water sprays where necessary. If it is safe to do so, the surface area around the borehole location will be covered with plastic sheeting;
- The JKE field scientist will inspect the ground surface following drilling and reinstatement of the borehole to confirm there is not visible asbestos material; and
- The air monitoring subcontractor (Clear Safe) will be conducting air monitoring throughout the works.

6.2.2 General Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)

Additional PPE for site personnel in the asbestos work area is to include

- Disposable coveralls that prevent tearing and penetration of asbestos fibres (e.g. coveralls type 5, category 3 per EN ISO 13982–1 or equivalent); and
- Disposable boot covers made of a material consistent with the disposable coveralls or:
 - Gumboots (steel toed) may be worn in the asbestos removal area if they are decontaminated upon exiting the asbestos removal area; or
 - A separate set of work boots may be maintained in the asbestos work area.

Disposable items of PPE are to be bagged prior to being removed from the asbestos work area. The bagged PPE will be deemed asbestos waste and will be transported back to the JKE office where there is a designated asbestos waste bin.

6.2.3 Isolation, Barricading and Signage

JKE is to take reasonable steps so the necessary measures are in place for the effective exclusion of unauthorised persons to asbestos work areas. Use of signage is not proposed considering the site is not accessible by the general public and we are not expecting to be in the vicinity of others during the work.



6.2.4 Restriction of Access to Asbestos Work Area / Zone

Access to the asbestos- work area(s) will be restricted only to:

- Workers engaged for the intrusive field works, including JKE's field scientist, and the excavator operator/drillers;
- Other persons associated with the intrusive field works such as the Licensed Asbestos Assessor (where required); and
- Anyone allowed under the WHS Regulation or another law to be in the asbestos works area.

6.2.5 Wet Methods

A low-pressure water spray is to be available and utilised as required for wetting down asbestos-impacted soils. This will be the primary control for dust generation and is considered adequate given the small-scale nature of the disturbance.

6.2.6 Decontamination

A decontamination zone is to be established adjacent to a single entry/exit point to the asbestos work area. Personal decontamination will include:

- Wiping down boots and coveralls with a wet rag and scraping off any soil clods; and
- Removing coveralls, gloves and then respirator/mask and placing in appropriate plastic asbestos waste bags within the provided disposal bin located at the entry/exit point.

Decontamination of the drilling equipment will include wiping down of the augers and any other equipment that comes into contact with the fill/soil.

6.2.7 Waste Management

6.2.7.1 Asbestos Waste (consumables and visible ACM)

Disposable items of PPE are to be bagged prior to being removed from the asbestos work area. The bagged PPE will be deemed asbestos waste and will be transported back to the JKE office where there is a designated asbestos waste bin. Asbestos waste shall not be allowed to accumulate excessively within the work area and shall be bagged or placed in appropriate receptacles as the work proceeds.

Sporadic fragments of ACM may be identified during the works and it is anticipated that this material will be sampled for further laboratory analysis. Sampling is to occur in accordance with our standard field practices.

6.2.7.2 Loading, Transport and Disposal of Asbestos Waste

The quantity of asbestos waste (i.e. the consumable PPE items) does not trigger a need to track or register the disposal. It is noted that Part 7 of the POEO Waste Regulation set outs the requirements for the transportation and management of asbestos waste and Clause 79 of the POEO Waste Regulation requires waste transporters to provide information to the NSW EPA regarding the movement of any load in NSW of more than 10m² of asbestos sheeting, or 100 kilograms of asbestos waste. To fulfil these legal obligations,





asbestos waste transporters must use WasteLocate. However, it is noted that these thresholds will not be met for the proposed work.

A person must not cause or permit asbestos waste in any form to be re-used or recycled.

6.2.8 Clearance

JKE field staff will visually check the ground surface and clear any visible fibre cement/suspected ACM prior to moving to the next location.

6.2.9 Significant Finds Contingency

In the event that the JKE scientists considers that there is a substantial amount of ACM in the soil, or if the material is suspected of being friable asbestos, all works must cease and the JKE licenced asbestos assessor must be contacted to provide further advice.

7 DOCUMENTATION REQUIREMENTS

JKE will maintain records in relation to the works and implementation of the AMP. This will include but will not be necessarily limited to the following:

- Air monitoring report;
- Waste disposal dockets (noting this docket may not be available for some time as JKE transports relatively small quantities of asbestos waste to licenced facilities sporadically);
- Incident reports.

8 LIMITATIONS

- JKE accepts no responsibility for any unidentified contamination issues at the site. Any unexpected problems/subsurface features that may be encountered during future development or maintenance works should be inspected by an environmental consultant as soon as possible;
- Previous use of this site may have involved excavation for the foundations of buildings, services, and similar facilities. In addition, unrecorded excavation and burial of material may have occurred on the site. Backfilling of excavations could have been undertaken with potentially contaminated material that may be discovered in discrete, isolated locations across the site during future work;
- The preparation of this report has been undertaken in accordance with accepted practice for environmental consultants, with reference to applicable environmental regulatory authority and industry standards, guidelines and the assessment criteria outlined in the report;
- Where information has been provided by third parties, JKE has not undertaken any verification process, except where specifically stated in the report;
- JKE has not undertaken any assessment of off-site areas that may be potential contamination sources or may have been impacted by site contamination, except where specifically stated in the report;
- JKE have not and will not make any determination regarding finances associated with the site;


- Material considered to be suitable from a geotechnical point of view may be unsatisfactory from a soil contamination viewpoint, and vice versa; and
- This report has been prepared for the particular project described and no responsibility is accepted for the use of any part of this report in any other context or for any other purpose.

E34300PT2rpt-AMP Warrawong

JKEnvironments



Appendix A: Report Figures





© JK ENVIRONMENTS



© JK ENVIRONMENTS



Groundwater & Calibration Field Sheets



Client:	Health Infrastructu	Ire		Jc	b No.:	E34300PT2
Project:	Proposed New W	arrawong Community H	lealth Centre	W	etl No.:	Jun 4
Location:	85-91 Cowper Stre	eet, Warrawong, NSW		De	epth (m):	~ 6m
WELL FINI	SH DETAILS					
	Missine rood	1 gati				2 a
WELL DEV	ELOPMENT DETA		Standpipe		Other (des	scribe)
Method:		Developm. De	SWL	- Before (m):	1	1 28
Date:		31/7/23	Time	- Before:	******	11.50
Undertaker	n By:	CB	SWL	- After (m):		5.88
Total Vol. F	Removed:	451	Time	- After:		12.16
PID Readin	g (ppm):	0.2				
Comments		ENTS				
Volu	Ime Removed	Temp (°C)	DO	EC	. nł	
0	7 5	19.10	(mg/L)	(µS/cr	n) pr	
	5	19.20	10 6	139	7.04	-41.6
1	6	19.19	8.2	224	1.0	2 -(12 9
1	5	19.22	6.6	7 22	2.0	0 10.0
70	2	19.23	5.2	200	2 13	7 - 45 +
25	-	19,34	16,1	101	7.30	-112 2
30)	19.33	12,5	703	2.3	- 43 5
35)	19.37	9.9	704	7.32	-43.1
40	2	19.66	82.6	765	7.66	- 34.1
45	5	2004	82.1	762	7.98	- 32.8
				2		
We	ally .	a/14 456				
	<i>\</i>					
			-	•••••		
	******		-	•••••		
		•••	•			
***********	******		1			
			1			
			1			
comments:	Odours (YES / 🕅	O), NAPL/PSH (YES	/ NO), Sheen (YE	S /(NO), Steady	State Achieved (res (NO)
SI Used:	Hanna Instrum	nente			W	ell is dry
	H198194					
ested By:	CI	3 Remark	(5:			
		- Stead	state conditions			
)ate ⊤ested:	31/	2 123 - Differe	ince in the pH less t	nan 0.2 units, diff down	erence in the condu	uctiveity less than 10%
hecked By:	KT	- Minimi	and a monitoring wel	volumes purged	, uniess well purged	a until it is effectively dry
ato:						

d,

Project: proposed New Warrawong. Community Health Centre Well No.: //L/J 5. Location: 85-81 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW Depth (m): ~ , 1, 45 r WELL FINISH DETAILS Gatic Cover [] Standpipe Other (describe)	Client: Health Inf	rastructure			Job No	4	E34300PT2	
occation: Bit Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW Depth (m): \.\	Project: Proposed	New Warrawong Corr	munity Health Cent	re	Well No). ;	HW 5	
VELL FINISH DETAILS Standpipe Other (describe) VELL DEVELOPMENT DETAILS Identify and the stand standard stand	ocation: 85-91 Co	wper Street, Warrawor	ig, NSW		Depth	m):	~7.451	m
Gatic Cover Standpipe Other (describe) //ELL DEVELOPMENT DETAILS ////////////////////////////////////	ELL FINISH DETAIL	S					1	
VELL DEVELOPMENT DETAILS Distribution Distresteasteasteasteasteasteasteasteasteaste		Gatic Cover	Stando			Other (de		
Invulage During SWL - Before (m): 2.38 /rg ate: 31 / 03 /25 Time - Before: 10.12 arg ndertaken By: CB SWL - After (m): 7.1 /rg odd Vol. Removed: 13.0 (Time - Before: 11.31 ID Reading (ppm): 0.1 Time - After: 11.31 omments: EVELOPMENT MEASUREMENTS EVELOPMENT MEASUREMENTS EVELOPMENT MEASUREMENTS Volume Removed (L) Temp (°C) 00 (mg/L) (µS/cm) pH Eh (m) 55 2.0 · 58 241 ·41 7.4 ·9 6.94 - 54. 25.5 2.1 ·27 30.1 7.1 /5 2.0 - 34.6 35 2.1 ·29 38.7 7.444 7.41 - 48. 55 2.1 ·29 39.7 7.444 7.41 - 48. 60 2.1 ·29 7.0 ·2.2 ·3. 6.9 - 2.9 ·3. 6.0 ·4 6.93 - 2.9 ·3. 60 2.1 ·29 7.0 ·2.2 ·6.3 ·6 6.9 ·1 ·6.9 ·2.2 ·6.3 ·6 - 2.9 ·7. 7.0 ·7.2 ·7. ·7. ·7. ·7. ·7. ·7. ·7.	ELL DEVELOPMEN	T DETAILS	Istanop			Tonier (de		-
ate: 3//02/25 Time - Before: 10.12 an indertaken By: CB SWL - After (m): 7.1 m. otal Vol. Removed: 13.0 L Time - After: 11.31 DR Reading (ppm): 0.1 Time - After: 11.31 omments: 2.1 Time - After: 11.31 Structure Removed: 0.1 CB CB PH Eh (m) 5 2.2 · 5.8 2.4 · 4 7.4 · 9 6.94 - 5.4 · 2.5 2.5 2.1 · 71 30.1 7.15 2.0 - 34 · 5 2.5 2.1 · 72 30.1 7.15 2.0 - 34 · 5 3.5 2.1 · 99 3.8 · 7 7.44 7.41 - 4.4 5.5 2.1 · 85 6.0 · 6 6.85 6.9.9 - 2.9 · 7 46.0 2.1 · 94 6.6 · 1 6.92 - 2.9 · 7 - 2.9 · 7 5.5 2.1 · 85 6.0 · 6 6.85 6.9.9 - 2.9 · 7 4.5 2.1 · 94 6.0 · 1 6.92 -	lethod:	Develo	om. puting	SWL - Before) (m):		2.98 m	
Indertaken By: C.B. SWL - After (m): 7.1 / m Otal Vol. Removed: 12.0.1 Time - After: 11.31 ID Reading (ppm): 0.1 Time - After: 11.31 Tomments: EVELOPMENT MEASUREMENTS Time - After: 11.31 Volume Removed: Temp (*C) DO EC pH Eh (m 5 2.0.5 & 2/4.44 7.40 6.94 - 5.47 25 2.1.27 30.1 7.15 2.0 - 34.4 35 2.1.82 4.6.4 7-01 6.98 - 31.0 4/5 2.1.92 3.2.7 7.44 7.11 - 4.47 55 2.1.85 6.0.6 6.855 6.93 - 2.9.7 6.0 2.1.94 60.1 4.92 7.0 - 2.8.5 7.5 2.1.85 6.0.4 6.857 6.93 - 2.9.7 6.0 2.1.94 60.4 6.97 6.93 - 2.9.7 9.0 2.1.94 6.7.4 6.97 6.93	ate:	31/0	7/23	Time - Before):		10.12 am	
Otal Vol. Removed: /3.0.1 Time - After: //.3/ ID Reading (ppm): 0.1 0.1 0.1 ionments:	ndertaken By:	CB		SWL – After (m):		7.1m	
Di Reading (ppm): 0.1 Jorments: DO EC pH Eh (m) 5 2.2.5.% 2.4.4.4 2.4.9 6.9.4.5.4.5.4.5.4.5.4.5.4.5.4.5.4.5.4.5.4	otal Vol. Removed:	1301		Time – After:			11.31	
isoments: EVELOPMENT MEASUREMENTS Volume Removed (L) Temp (°C) DO (mgL) EC (µS/cm) pH Eh (m 5 22.23 21.47 30.1 7.15 7.00 -54.2 25 21.97 30.1 7.15 7.00 -34.4 35 21.82 48.4 7-01 6.98 -31.0 45 21.92 21.47 30.1 7.15 7.00 -34.4 45 21.92 32.7 7.144 7.01 6.98 -31.0 45 21.94 66.1 6.92 7.02 -29.7 60 21.94 66.1 6.92 7.02 -29.7 65 21.82 70.2 6.97 -28.6 70 21.94 67.4 6.97 -29.7 90 21.94 67.4 6.97 -27.2 90 21.94 67.4 6.93 -27.2 90 21.92 70.5 6.90 <td>ID Reading (ppm):</td> <td>0.1</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1000000</td>	ID Reading (ppm):	0.1						1000000
EVELOPMENT MEASUREMENTS Volume Removed (L) Temp (°C) DO (mg/L) EC (µS/cm) pH Eh (m 5 22 · 58 24 · 4 24 · 9 6.94 54 / 25 7.1.2 · 1 2.7.5 7.2.0 34 · 6 7.2.0 54 / 25 7.1.32 48 · 4 7.01 6.98 31 · 0 45 2.1.32 48 · 4 7.01 6.98 45 2.1.32 48 · 4 7.01 6.98 60 2.1.99 38 · 7 7.44 7.01 48 · 70 2.1.91 60.4 6.85 6.99 2 71 20 21.82 2 4.92 4.93 2 70 21.94 60.4 69.4 6.99 2 70 21.95 21.92 6.7.4 6.91 2 9	omments:	AUDENENIZA						_
L) Temp (°C) (mgL) (µS/cm) pH Eh (m 5 2 ∂ · S 2 (· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Volume Remo	Ved I	1	DO I	EC	T		
5 2 2 3 5 8 2 4 4 2 4 9 6 94 - 5 4 15 12 0 1 2 7, 6 720 7, 15 - 5 2 25 21 77 30, 1 7 15 2 0 - 34, 6 25 21 77 30, 1 7 15 2 0 - 34, 6 25 21 77 30, 1 7 15 2 0 - 34, 6 25 21 85 60, 6 685 6 9 - 29, 7 60 21 85 60, 6 685 6 9 - 29, 7 60 21 94 66, 1 (32, 7, 02, -29, 7) - 29, 7 65 21 89 702 697 - 28, 7 70 21 94 66, 1 (32, 7, 02, -29, 7) - 29, 7 75 21 92 693 6 39 - 29, 7 70 21 9 60 7.4 693 6 39 - 29, 7 90 21 9 67.6 688 6 36 - 28, 7 90 21 9 67.6 688 6 36 - 28, 7 90 21 30 67.6 630 6 31	(L)	Tem	p (°C)	(mg/L)	(µS/cm)	р	0H Eh (m	nV)
$/5$ $22 \cdot 01$ $27 \cdot 6$ 727 715 20 -34.4 35 21.97 30.1 715 20 -34.4 35 21.97 38.7 7444 7.01 6.98 -31.0 415 21.97 38.7 7444 7.01 -48.6 55 21.97 66.1 6.92 29.7 -29.7 60 21.94 66.1 6.92 29.7 -29.7 60 21.94 66.1 6.92 29.7 -29.7 60 21.94 66.1 6.92 4.95 -29.7 70 21.91 60.4 69.7 6.95 -29.7 75 21.92 67.6 682 6.96 -29.7 90 21.90 67.6 682 6.96 -29.7 90 21.92 70.1 6.90 6.91 -28.7 100 21.38 70.5 6.30 6.91 -28.5 100	5	22	,58 2	4.4	749	6.9	34 - 54,	5
25 21 77 30.1 7 15 2.0 - 34.4 35 21.82 48.4 7-01 6.98 - 31.0 415 21.99 38.7 744 7.11 - 48.4 55 21.85 6.0.6 685 6.99 - 29.7 60 21.94 66.1 6.92 7.0.2 -29.7 65 21.89 70.2 6.92 7.99 -28.8 70 21.94 66.7 6.93 -29.7 65 21.94 60.4 6.87 6.99 -28.8 70 21.94 60.4 6.87 6.99 -28.8 70 21.94 60.4 6.87 6.99 -28.8 70 21.94 60.4 6.93 -29.5 -29.5 80 21.95 67.4 69.9 -29.7 -29.5 85 21.83 67.4 69.4 6.91 -28.5 90 21.95 67.6 682 6.96 -28.5 90 21.95 70.1 69.2 6.91<	15	22.	01 2	7.6	727	2	15 -52.	2
35 21.22 48.4 $7-01$ 6.98 -31.0 45 21.99 32.7 744 7.11 -48.5 55 21.85 60.6 685 6.99 -29.7 60 21.94 66.1 492 7.02 -29.7 65 21.89 70.2 492 7.02 -29.7 70 21.94 66.1 492 7.02 -29.7 70 21.94 62.4 693 -29.7 70 21.94 62.4 693 -29.7 70 21.94 67.4 693 -29.7 80 21.94 67.4 694 6.99 -30.7 80 21.96 67.6 682 6.96 -27.2 90 21.90 67.6 628 6.96 -28.7 90 21.92 70.5 630 6.91 -28.7 90 21.92 70.1 6.90 6.91 -28.7	25	21	77 30	0,1	715	2.0	- 34.	4
4/5 $2/.99$ $3g.7$ 744 7.11 $-4g.$ 55 21.85 60.6 685 6.93 -29.7 60 21.94 66.1 692 7.02 -29.7 65 21.89 702 697 -29.7 70 21.31 60.4 $6g7$ 6.97 -29.7 70 21.31 60.4 $6g7$ 6.97 -29.7 75 21.94 67.4 693 -29.7 80 21.94 67.4 693 -29.7 80 21.94 67.4 693 -29.7 90 21.90 67.6 682 6.96 -28.7 90 21.92 70.5 630 4.97 -27.9 100 22.01 69.2 683 6.94 -28.1 100 22.01 69.2 683 6.94 -28.5 1105 21.95 70.1 690 6.91 -28.5 <td< td=""><td>35</td><td>21.2</td><td>32 48</td><td>2.2</td><td>2-01</td><td>6.9</td><td>8 -31.0</td><td>,)</td></td<>	35	21.2	32 48	2.2	2-01	6.9	8 -31.0	,)
55 21.85 60.6 685 6.99 - 29.7 60 21.94 66.1 692 7.02 - 29.7 65 21.89 702 692 6.99 - 29.7 70 21.91 60.4 687 6.99 - 29.7 75 21.94 60.4 687 6.99 - 29.7 70 21.91 60.4 687 6.99 - 29.7 75 21.96 67.6 693 6.99 - 29.7 90 21.96 67.6 688 6.96 - 29.7 90 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 - 29.7 90 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 - 29.7 90 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 - 29.7 90 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 - 29.7 90 21.95 70.1 690 6.91 - 28.5 100 21.95 70.1 690 6.91 - 28.5 120 21.95 60.5 631	4.5	21.9	9 38	,7	744	7.11	- 4.2.	3
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	55	21.8	5 60	6	685	6.99	- 29,)
$\delta 5$ $21, 23$ $90, 2$ 697 6.99 -28.2 70 21.91 60.44 68.7 6.93 -29.7 75 21.94 62.3 693 6.99 -28.2 80 21.94 62.3 693 6.99 -29.5 80 21.94 67.4 694 6.99 -29.5 85 21.83 67.4 694 6.99 -29.5 85 21.83 67.6 688 6.96 -28.5 90 21.92 70.5 630 6.95 -27.5 90 22.01 69.2 683 6.96 -28.5 100 22.01 69.2 683 6.91 -28.5 100 21.93 70.1 690 6.91 -28.5 100 21.93 56.8 69.3 6.91 -28.5 120 21.97 56.8 683 6.91 -29.5 120 22.06 60.3 <td>60</td> <td>21,0</td> <td>66</td> <td>,]</td> <td>692</td> <td>2.0</td> <td>2 - 29,</td> <td>T</td>	60	21,0	66	,]	692	2.0	2 - 29,	T
30 21.31 60.4 68.7 6.93 $-29.$ 35 21.96 67.6 693 6.99 -30.7 80 21.96 67.6 693 6.97 -29.2 85 21.89 67.6 688 6.96 -28.7 30 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 -28.7 95 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 -28.7 95 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 -28.7 100 22.01 69.2 683 6.91 -28.7 105 21.95 70.1 690 6.91 -28.7 105 21.95 70.1 690 6.91 -29.7 105 21.95 22.01 60.5 691 6.91 -29.7 125 $21.92.66$ 60.5 691 6.91 -29.5 125 22.06 60.3 6.85 6.91 -29.1 $198/9/9/9/9/9/9/9/9/9/9/9/9/9/$	65	21,5	39 70	2	697	6.90	9 - 28.8	3
$\frac{1}{25}$ 21.94 62.3 693 6.99 -30.5 80 21.96 67.6 693 6.99 -29.5 90 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 $-2.7.5$ 90 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 $-2.8.5$ 95 21.98 70.5 6.90 6.35 $-2.7.5$ 100 22.01 69.2 6.89 6.94 $-2.8.1$ 105 21.95 70.1 6.90 6.91 $-2.8.1$ 105 21.95 70.1 6.90 6.91 $-2.8.1$ 105 21.95 70.1 6.90 6.91 $-2.8.1$ 105 21.97 56.8 $6.90.5$ 6.91 $-2.9.1$ 120 21.97 56.9 6.83 6.92 -29.1 120 21.97 56.9 6.93 6.93 -29.9 120 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 -29.1 30 22.05 <td>70</td> <td>21.</td> <td>31 60</td> <td>.4</td> <td>687</td> <td>6.90</td> <td>1 - 29.</td> <td>1</td>	70	21.	31 60	.4	687	6.90	1 - 29.	1
go gl	75	21.9	62.	3	693	6.90	9 - 30.	2
35 $21, 89$ 67.4 632 6.97 -27.9 90 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 -28.9 95 21.90 70.5 630 6.95 -28.9 100 22.01 69.2 683 6.94 -28.9 100 22.01 69.2 683 6.94 -28.9 100 21.95 70.1 900 6.91 -28.9 100 21.95 70.1 900 6.91 -28.9 110 21.95 70.1 900 6.91 -28.9 110 21.97 56.8 630 6.91 -28.9 110 21.97 56.8 630 6.91 -29.9 120 22.01 60.2 683 6.91 -29.9 120 22.06 60.3 683 6.91 -29.1 30 92.05 60.3 683 6.91 -29.1 -198.9194	80	21.9	6 67.	6	69.4	6.99	- 29.	8
90 21.90 67.6 688 6.96 - 2.8. 95 21.98 70.5 6.90 6.95 - 2.7.9 100 22.01 69.2 6.89 6.94 - 2.8.1 105 21.95 70.1 690 6.91 - 2.8.1 105 21.95 70.1 690 6.91 - 2.8.1 105 21.97 56.8 6.90 6.91 - 2.8.1 100 21.98 60.5 6.91 6.91 - 2.8.1 110 21.97 56.8 6.80 6.93 - 2.8.5 115 21.97 56.8 6.80 6.93 - 29.5 120 22.01 60.2 683 6.91 - 29.5 125 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.1 comments:Odours (YES / (NO)) NAPL/PSH (YES (NO), Sheen (YES / (NO)) Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) Steady state conditions H198/94 - Steady state conditions - Difference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	85	21.8	67.	4	6.9.2	6.97	-27.	1
g_5 21.38 70.5 6.90 6.35 $-2.7.2$ 100 22.01 $6.9.2$ 6.89 6.94 -28.1 105 21.35 70.1 6.90 6.91 -28.5 110 21.38 60.5 6.91 -28.5 110 21.38 60.5 6.91 -28.5 110 21.38 60.5 6.91 -28.5 110 21.38 60.5 6.91 -28.5 110 21.38 60.5 6.91 -28.5 115 21.97 56.8 6.80 6.92 -29.5 120 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.92 -29.5 125 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 -29.1 comments:Odours (YES / (NO) NAPL/PSH (YES (NO), Sheen (YES / NO) Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) steady state conditions H198/394 ested By: C/3 interence in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference	90	21.90	5 67.	6	688	6.96	- 28	,0
100 22.01 69.2 689 6.94 - 28.1 105 21.35 70.1 690 6.91 - 28.5 110 21.38 60.5 631 6.91 - 28.5 110 21.38 60.5 631 6.91 - 28.5 110 21.38 60.5 631 6.91 - 28.5 115 21.97 56.8 6.80 6.93 - 30.0 120 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.92 - 29.5 125 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.1 30 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.1 30 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.1 30 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.1 Gomments:Odours (YES / NO) NAPL/PSH (YES (NO), Sheen (YES / NO), Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) rsteady state conditions H198/94 - Steady state conditions - Difference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	.95	21.98	3 20	5 6	690	6 95	- 77.	9
105 21,35 70.1 690 6.91 - 28.5 110 21.38 60.5 631 6.91 - 28.5 115 21.97 56.8 680 6.93 - 30.0 120 22.01 60.2 683 6.92 - 29.5 125 22.01 60.3 6.85 6.92 - 29.5 125 22.06 60.3 6.85 6.92 - 29.5 30 22.05 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.1 comments:Odours (YES / NO) NAPL/PSH (YES / NO), Sheen (YES / NO); Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) Stused: Hanne. Instruments H198/34 Steady state conditions ested By: Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan="2">Olspan= 2"Olspan="2">Olspan="2"Olspa	100	22.0	1 69	2	689	6.94	- 28.	
110 21.98 60.5 631 6.91 - 28.5 115 21.97 56.8 680 6.93 - 30.0 120 22.01 60.2 683 6.92 - 29.5 125 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.92 - 29.5 125 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.5 125 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.1 30 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.1 30 22.05 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.1 30 22.05 60.3 6.83 6.91 - 29.1 comments:Odours (YES / NO) Automents H198/94 Steady state conditions Steady state conditions Difference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	105	21.3	5 70		6 90	6.91	- 28.	3
115 21, 37 56.8 6.80 6.33 - 30.0 120 22.01 60.2 683 6.92 -29.5 125 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.92 -29.5 30 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.92 -29.5 30 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.92 -29.1 30 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 -29.1 30 22.05 60.3 6.83 6.91 -29.1 Boomments:Odours (YES / NO) NAPL/PSH (YES (NO), Sheen (YES / NO), Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) 'Steady state conditions Filedy state conditions Ofference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	110	21, 9	8 60.	5	631	6.91	- 28	5
120 12.01 60.2 68.3 6.9.2 -29.5 125 22.06 60.3 6.85 6.9.2 -29.4 30 22.05 60.3 6.85 6.9.2 -29.4 30 22.05 60.3 6.83 6.91 -29.1 Comments:Odours (YES / (NO)) NAPL/PSH (YES (NO), Sheen (YES / (NO)) Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) 'Steady state conditions - Steady state conditions - Steady state conditions - Difference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	115	21.9	7 56.	8 0	5 80	693	- 30 0	inere S
125 22.06 60.3 6.85 6.92 -29.4 30 22.06 60.3 6.85 6.92 -29.4 30 22.06 60.3 6.85 6.92 -29.4 30 22.06 60.3 6.85 6.92 -29.4 30 22.06 60.3 6.83 6.91 -29.1 comments:Odours (YES / NO) NAPL/PSH (YES (NO), Sheen (YES / NO), Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) rsituments H198/94 Steady state conditions Steady state conditions Date Tested: 1 21/2./23 Particle in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	120	22.0	1 60.	2	683	692	- 29.5	
30 22.05 60.3 6.83 6.91 -29.1 Comments:Odours (YES / NO) Somments:Odours (YES / NO) Somments: H138/34 Steady state conditions - Steady state conditions - Difference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	125	22 06	60	3	25	692	-29,4	
comments:Odours (YES / (NO)) NAPL/PSH (YES / NO), Sheen (YES / NO), Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) Somments:Odours (YES / (NO)) NAPL/PSH (YES / NO), Sheen (YES / (NO)), Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) 'SI Used: Hanna Instruments H198/94 H198/94 'ested By: CB Remarks: Date Tested: 1 21/2 / 23 Note Tested: 21/2 / 23 Difference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	20	22.00	60.	3	583	6.91	-29.1	
Remarks: Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) SI Used: Hanna Instruments H198/94 Hight and the struments ested By: CB Remarks: ate Tested: 1 21/2 / 23 Bill Subscription State Conditions Bill Subscription - Steady state conditions Bill Subscription - Bill Subscription Bill Subscrin - Bill Subscription								
Remarks: ate Tested: / 21/2-/23 Remarks: NO Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) Steady State Achieved (YES / NO) St Used: Hanna Instruments H198/94 H198/94					••••••			
SI Used: Hanna Instruments H198/94 H198/94 ested By: CB Remarks: ate Tested: 1 21/2-/23 Billion Comparison Difference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	omments:Odours ()	ES / (NO)) NAPL/F	SH (YES / NO), S	heen (YES /(NC)) Steady Sta	te Achieved	(YES / NO)	
St Used: ////////////////////////////////////	aund llaga	Lastrumente	<u> </u>					
ested By: CI3 Remarks: - Steady state conditions - Difference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	510sed: Hanne H1981	94						
- Steady state conditions - Difference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown	ested By:	CB	Remarks:					
ate Tested: / 21/2/23 - Difference in the pH less than 0.2 units, difference in the conductiveity less than 10% and SWL stable/not in drawdown		1	- Steady state co	nditions				
SULT ICS and SWL stable/not in drawdown	ate Tested: /	21/2/22	- Difference in the	e pH less than 0.2	units, differer	ce in the con	ductiveity less than 10%	6
		SITTICS	and SWL stable/r	not in drawdown				
		112 0192						

Client:	Health Infrastructur	e			Job No.:		E34300PT2
Project:	Proposed New Wa	rrawong Community	Health Centre		Well No.:	Vell No.:	
Location:	85-91 Cowper Stre	et, Warrawong, NSV	/		Depth (m):		8m
WELL FINI	SH DETAILS						
	Gatic		Standpipe			(deseribe)	
WELL DEV	ELOPMENT DETAIL	_S	Jotanupipe			r (describe)	
Method:		Developm	pu-p	SWL – Before (m):		1.8	34
Date:		31/7/23		Time – Before:		12.	45
Undertaker	By:	CB		SWL – After (m):		7.	93
Total Vol. F	lemoved:	301		Time – After:		1.	10 pm
PID Readin	g (ppm):	0,3					
Comments	~ 30 m	inutes aller	well ho	s been put	in		
Volu	me Removed				C I	_	1
	(L)	Temp (°C)	(mg	/L) (µS	/cm)	рН	Eh (mV)
	0.5	19.17	91.5	12	5	9.41	- 50.4
	5	19, K	91,4	126		9,40	- 50,4
	0	19.18	91,3	127		9.41	-50.1
	15	19.18	90,2	128		3,38	-49,4
	20	19.24	89.5	130	6	1,38	-49.1
	5	19,43	86,6	134	9	1,35	-48.0
	0	19.83	92.8	7 138	0	1.28	-44.7
	Well a	y after 30	N/				
	[A					
•••••							

ommenter	Dours /VES / / /						
			, (ind)' allee	I (I LO / NO, Stel	uy state Achié	Ved (TES K	
'SI Used:	tanna Instru H1981gy	ments					
ested By:		3 Rema	rks:		_		
Date Tested	31/2	/23 - Stea	dy state condition rence in the pH	ons less than 0.2 units,	difference in the	conductiveity	less than 10%
		and S	will stable/not in	Iarawdown			
becked P.		- Minir	num 3 monitorir	ng well volumes purc	jed, unless well	purged until it	is effectively dry

Client:	Health Infrastructure	5 THE O		Job No.	e.	E34300PT2
Project:	Proposed New Warraw	ong Community He	alth Centre	Well No	.: j)	MW223
Location:	85-91 Cowper Street, W	/arrawong, NSW		Depth (m):	81-1
WELL FINI	SH DETAILS				1	1
	Gatic Cov	er 🗵 🔹	Standpipe	-14 -14	Other (descri	be)
WELL DEV	ELOPMENT DETAILS		3 3		Territ Incom	
Method:		Der Pupis	SWL	- Before (m):	S. 6	0.65m
Date:		14.8.0	3 Time	e – Before:		3.20
Undertaker	n Bv:	VTa.la	SWL	– After (m):		7.77~
Total Vol. 6	Removed.	000	Time	– After		1.30
		000				7 0~
Comments	ia (hhui):	0.0	31.			
DEVELOP	MENT MEASUREMENTS		and the second			
Volu	ume Removed	_	DO	EC	1	
	(L)	Temp (°C)	(mg/L)	(µS/cm)	pH	Eh (mV)
	5	18.2	10.5	242.8	. 8.81	× 200.
	10	12.17	0.9	29.2.14	1.2.7	1 - 196.11
	11	10.0	7.18	122,0	22	5 - 262
	2	10.7	1 4	DUGE	8 7	-210
	9.2	17 1	4.4	241.5	S T	5 -2101
Sec. 1	61.1	17.6	7.1	244.4	8.71	0 -215.5
1	221	1618	7.5	2410.5	1 8.7	5 - 217+6
	Strate Land				Sec. Ma	A STATE A
				and the		1 1 No. C
		1JOLAI	oliver	La welly du	UNA CON	
				Contraction of the second		•••••••••••••••••••••
					- C	·····
			+			
					2	
		2				
	-		i i i i		· · · ·	1
			1			
	7016	~				1 8
						·····
			<u> </u>			
			1 16			
			110	1.2.2		
1	-	A	d	0	b	EN
Comments	:Odours (YES /(NO),	NAPL/PSH (YES	NO)) Sheen ((ES (NO), Steady Sta	te Achieved (YE	S (NO)

¥ .

Client:	Health Infr	astructure						Job No.			E34300PT2	
Project:	Proposed	New Warra	vong Comr	nunity He	alth Centre			Well No.	:		MW221	
Location:	tion: 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong			, NSW				Depth (r	n):		7.5	
WELL FIN	SH DETAIL	S						A				
		Gatic Co	ver 🗵		Standpip	e 🗖			Other (d	escribe)		
WELL DE	ELOPMEN	DETAILS							41			
Method:			Dev 1	mil		SWL - B	efore (m):			4.0	6M -	
Date:			15.8	23		Time – B	efore:			1001	- <u>-</u>	
Undertake	n By:	<u> </u>	KT.			SWL - A	iter (m):			6.9	4-11	
Total Vol.	Removed:	********				Time – A	fter:			10.	45	
PID Readir	ig (ppm):	100	0.	0.								_
Comments	MENT MEAS	SUREMENT	S			_				_		
Vol	ume Remov	ved	Temp	(°C)		00	Ι.	EC	1	рH	Eh (mV)
	<u>(L)</u>	1.00	10.0		(17	1g/L)	(µ;	s/cm)	-	10	0.0	1
*******	10		10	1	1	T	20	2.2		ND OL	-207.	<u>V</u>
	10.		10.5	T	6	2	21	1	4	22	- 2000 1	1
	12		10 1	E	01	h	222	2' T	7	16	-105	1
S						2	- 200			<u>)</u>	190 2	
				tige	top.	- hi	1.	2 AM	/			
				North	161LC	CUR	4-17-1-		{			
*****									,	******		
							•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••					
					+			••••••				
					+					*********		
			******		1		+					*****
*********					1		1			•••••		
			••••••		100000					•••••		
	*****		******	*******	1		-	••••••				
*********	************		••••••		1							
					1							
*********				•••••				•••••	+			*****
*****				******	*********			•••••				
					1	•••••	1					
	••••••				1			••••••				
••••••	********	********	•••••	*******	1	*******	1					
••••••					1	••••••	1	•••••				
Comments	:Odours (Y	ES / (NO)	NAPL/PS	SH (YES	/ (NO)) She	en (YES	(NO), Ste	ady State	Achieved	I (YES //	NO)	
/8 111 ²	5	U			\bigcirc					6		
i al USED:	×	18										
fested By:		Kitad	Del. 1	Remark	<u>s:</u>		_					_
			-	- Steady	state cond	itions						

Client:	Health Infr	rastructure				Job No.:	E3430	OPT2
Project:	Proposed	New Warr	awong Community Health	Centre		Well No.:	TN	ALAY/L
Location:	85-91 Cov	voer Street	Warrawong, NSW		Depth (m);			1
			, mananeng, men				6	141.0
X Gatic C	over		Standpipe	•		- r	Other (descri	be)
WELL PURGE DET	AILS:							
Method:		Perist	altic		SWL – Be	fore:	1.1	
Date:		12.8	.23		Time – Be	fore:	Dan	
Undertaken By:		KITO	ylor		Total Vol	Removed:	39	
Pump Program No:	*****************		J		PID (ppm)	:	0,1	
PURGING / SAMPLI	NG MEASUR	EMENTS						
Time (min)	SWL (m)	Vol (L)	Notes	Temp (°C)	DO (mg/L)	EC (µS/cm)	ρН	Eh (mV)
5	1.32	3		17.0	7.1	306.1	6.05	-213.4
10	1.68	6		17.0	2.9	200.6	6.04	-216-2
15	1.97	9		12.3	2.1	308.4	6.03	-218.0
20	212	12	******	12.5	1.9	309.8	h:03	-212 11
25	250	12	********	121-	1.2	2095	6.00	217.9
20	2.00	10		170	17	20518	6.02	1219.1
20	2.01	10		17')	<i>PT</i>	203.0	6.01	2187
	3.06	21		17:5	1.2	30.3	601	-210.2
40	3.27	24		14.)	1.8	304.5	6.01	-218.3
45	3.6+	27		14.5	1.7	304.0	6.01	-219.1
50	4.00	30		175	1.7	304.7	6.00	-222.
55	4.43	33		12.5	1.6	305.6	6.01	-223.5
60	4.78	36	*****	17.5	1.7	305.9	6-01	-223.6
65	5.02	39		17.5	14	3057	6.01	-223.7
				_				
		91-		Lat S				
		Jt0	NVER San	proc	-1			
					J			
				_				

				Γ				[
Comments: Odours	(YES / NO	NAPL/P	SH (YES (NO)) Sheen (YE	s /(NO), S	teady State	Achieved (YE	S I(NO)	
Sampling Conta	niners Used:	2x glass a	mber, ↓x BTEX vials, / x	HNO3 plast	lic, Øx H2S	O4 plastic, 1 x	unpreserved	plastic
YSI used: 5			(CW	DUP20	2		
Tested By: Katrina T	aylor		Remarks:	0				
Date Tested	0 00		- Steady state conditions	5				
	···8·25	>	- difference in the pH les	s than 0.2	units, diffe	rence in condu	ictivity less that	an 10%
Jnecked By:		(110% and SWL stable/no	ot in drawdo	wn			

.

b-2m

JKE	Ξn	/ir	onme	ent	ts	ŝ		人
Client:	Health Info	rastructure	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			Job No.:	E3430	PT2
Project:	Proposed	New Warra	wong Community Health	Centre		Well No.:	1	INC
Location:	85-91 Cov	vper Street,	Warrawong, NSW			Depth (m):	8	ISM
WELL FINISH								
Gatic Co	over		Standpipe	9			Other (descri	be)
Method:	AILS:	Thid			CIA/I De	fa	0.00	
Date:		tensia	anc		SWL - Be	iore:	2.00	1
		14.7	5.25		l ime – Be	tore:	11.100	am
Undertaken By:		KI	ayer			Removed:	60 -	
Pump Program No:		MENTO			PID (ppm)		0-1	
Time (min)	SWL (m)	Vol (L)	Notes	Temp (°C)	DO (mg/l)	EC (µS/cm)	pН	Eh (mV)
5	2.67	3		20.5	2.1	- 252	hiss	-1620
10	2.86	10		20.2	2.8	777	6.56	-1720
15	2.02	15		21.2	10	978	6.55	-1901
20	2.71	20	*****	21.2	17	= 011	1.CO	101
25	2.11	25		21.1-	1.7	784	6.50	19214
20	2110	20				785	0:30	-1-16·T
20	3.00	30		210	<u> </u>	782	6.5 t	-19-4
30	5.81	20		20.7	1.0	102	6.62	-197.8
40	4.07	40		21.5	1.3	03	6 45	-202.2
43	4.21	45		21:5	1.2	822	6.45	-204.2
50	4.21	50		21.5	0.9	823	6.44	-205-7
	4.21	55		21.5	0.9	823	6.44	-2064
60	4.21	60	1	21.5	0.8	82.3	6.44	206.4
			Started	San	pline		*****************	
					$ \sim$			
				[••••••	
		1						
Comments: Odours Sampling Conta YSI used: 5	I (YES / (NO), NAPL/PS	SH (YES (NO)) Sheen (YE nber, $4 \times BTEX$ vials, 1×10^{-10}	S /(NO)) Si	ic, Ox H2S	Achieved (YES	NO) unpreserved p	plastic
Tested By: Katrina Ta	aylor		Remarks:					
Date Tested: こう	.8.23) >	- Steady state conditions - difference in the pH les	s s than 0.2	units, differ	rence in condu	ctivity less tha	ın 10%
Checked By: Date:			10% and SWL stable/no	ot in drawdo	wn		-	

7.94

JKE	n١	/ir	onme	ent	S			×
Client:	Health Infr	astructure				Job No.:	E34300	PT2
Project:	Proposed I	New Warra	wong Community Health	Centre		Well No.:	M	W204
Location:	85-91 Cow	per Street,	Warrawong, NSW			Depth (m):	8	M
WELL FINISH								
Gatic Cov	er		Standpipe		_	Other (describe)		
WELL PURGE DETAIL	LS:	0	1	Ļ	OM/L Def	aral	1 91	
Method:		pensta	the purp		JWL - Del		1.00	<u>M1</u>
Date:		17.8	23		Time - Del	ore.	51001	1
Undertaken By:		Lilay	jev			(emoved.	250	
Pump Program No:					PID (ppm):		0.2.	
PURGING / SAMPLIN	G MEASUR	EMENIS			DO	50 (الم	EL () 0
Time (min)	SWL (m)	Vol (L)	Notes	Temp (°C)	(mg/L)	EC (µS/cm)	рн	En (mV)
5	2:38	3		19.0	7.9	591	6.9	-221.6
10	2.99	6		19.2	1.6	595	6.89	-219.7
15	3.47	9		19.2	1.4	596	6.89	-220.9
20	3.92	12		19.0	1.2	594	6.89	-214.4
25	4.44	15		19.2	1.0	602	6.89	-217.4
20	4.97	18		19.2	1.1	601	6.88	-215.2
35	5.43	21		19.2	1.1	603	6.88	-217.7
40	5.98	24		19.2	1.1	603	6.88	-218.1
42	10:45	25		19.1	1.1	boy	6.88	-218.1
	0.0							
			Started so	<u>n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n n </u>	9			
	-							
Comments: Odours Sampling Conta YSI used: 5	(YES / NO), NAPL/P 2x glass a	sH (YES /(NO), Sheen (YI mber, 4 x BTEX vials, 1 x GWD	ES / NO), S (HNO3 plas UP201	L Steady State	L e Achieved (YE 604 plastic, (1	x unpreserved	plastic
Tested By: Katrina Ta	aylor		Remarks:	15	5			
Date Tested: 17 Checked By: Date:	- 8.23		- difference in the pH le 10% and SWL stable/n	ess than 0.2 not in drawd	2 units, diffe Iown	erence in cond	uctivity less th	an 10%

Client:	Health Infr	astructure				Job No.:	E3430	0PT2	
Project:	Proposed	New Warr	awong Community Health	Centre		Well No.:	1	10223	
Location:	85-91 Cov	vper Street	, Warrawong, NSW			Depth (m):		8M	
WELL FINISH									
Gatic C	over		Standpipe	9			Other (descr	ibe)	
WELL PURGE DET	AILS:	0 1							
		Darla	X		SWL – Be	fore:	6.56		
		1+1	5.25		Time – Be	fore:	12.30		
Undertaken By:		KI	ayer		Total Vol	Removed:	L	*****	
Pump Program No:		MENTO			PID (ppm)	:	0.3		
Time (CIAL /	LINENIS	Nata		DO	504.04		1	
i ime (min)	SWL (m)	Vol (L)	Notes	Temp (°C)	(mg/L)	EC (µS/cm)	pH	Eh (mV)	
	7.01	11-		19-2	+.5	66	4.15	-198.8	
	••		Startee se	hepa	vg				
					<u> </u>				
	**********					*****			

				 		******		+	
		••••••	******					+	
						••••••			
				+					

		•••••							
								·····	

Comments: Odours Sampling Conta	(YES NO)) NAPL/P	SH (YES /(NO),)Sheen (YE mber,	S (NO), Si HNO3 plast	ieady State	Achieved (YES	s (100) unpreserved	plastic	
rSI used: 5			,			ſ			
Fested By: Katrina T	aylor		Remarks:						
Date Tested: 1-7	0 22		- Steady state conditions						

Project:	Proposed	New Warra	awong Community He	alth Cantra		JOD NO.:	E3430	UP I
Location:	i ioposed	New warra				MAInII Man		1.
Location:						Well NO.:		-11
Second 4 FILLIOLD	85-91 Cov	vper Street	, Warrawong, NSW			Depth (m):	-].
WELL FINISH								
	over	_	Stan	dpipe			Other (descri	be)
Method:	41L3,	Poinct	altic		SWL - Bet	ore	6.47	-
Date:	*******	17.9	22		Time – Be	fore:	12,500N	~
Undertaken By:		KT	andon		Total Vol F	Removed:	1000FF	
Pump Program No:		(Jury		PID (ppm)			
PURGING / SAMPLI	NG MEASUR	EMENTS						
Time (min)	SWL (m)	Vol (L)	Notes	Temp (°C)	DO (mall)	EC (µS/cm)	pН	E
	6.99	11	1	20.3	3.1	1333	7.10	-
·····			*****					1.00
								t
		************	***********************					
								1
		*********			************	***************		1
								t
								t
-	2							1
	1							t
********************	,							t
	<u>i</u> .		*************************		***********			1
6 - 18 - D	j.				***********			t
	•	-						
1.								İ.

								[]
- h								
2								
	NO DESCRIPTION OF STREET, STRE	0.000000000000000000000000000000000000						



PID FIELD CALIBRATION FORM

Client:	Health Infrastructure						
Project:	Proposed New Warrawong	Community Health Centre					
Location:	85-91 Cowper Street, War	rawong, NSW					
Job Number:	E34300PT2						
		PID					
Make: Min Rae	Model: PID -3	Unit: 2	Date of last factory calibration:				
Date of calibration: 3	17/23	Name of Calibrator: CR					
Calibration gas: Iso-butyle	ne	Calibration Gas Concentrati	on: 100.0 ppm				
Measured reading: 100.	3 ppm	Error in measured reading:	± 0.3 ppm				
Measured reading Accepta	ble (Yes/No):						
		PID					
Make: Ral	Model: Minikal Lite	Unit: 4	Date of last factory calibration: $13.1 \cdot 23$				
Date of calibration: 14	8.23	Name of Calibrator: KT					
Calibration gas: Iso-butyle	ne	Calibration Gas Concentrati	on: 100.0 ppm				
Measured reading: 100	ppm	Error in measured reading:	± 🗢 3 ppm				
Measured reading Accepta	ble (Yes/No): Yes						
	Р	PID					
Make: Rae	Model: Minikal Lite	Unit: 4	Date of last factory calibration: 3.1223				
Date of calibration:	8.23	Name of Calibrator: KS					
Calibration gas: Iso-butyle	ne	Calibration Gas Concentration: 100.0 ppm					
Measured reading:	20.2 ppm	Error in measured reading: ± 0 2 ppm					
Measured reading Accepta	ble (Yes/No): Yes						
	P	ID					
Make:	Model:	Unit:	Date of last factory calibration:				
Date of calibration:		Name of Calibrator:					
Calibration gas: Iso-butyler	ne	Calibration Gas Concentration	on: 100.0 ppm				
Measured reading:	ppm	Error in measured reading:	± ppm				
Measured reading Acceptat	ole (Yes/No):	ppm					
	Р	ID					
Mako			Date of last factory				
Date of calibration	Iviodei:	Unit:	calibration:				
Calibration gast loo butuloo	0	Name of Calibrator:					
Measured reading:		Calibration Gas Concentration: 100.0 ppm					
Measured reading Assartak	ppm	Error in measured reading:	± ppm				
reasoned reading Acceptac	ne (res/No):						



WATER QUALITY METER CALIBRATION FORM

Client: Health Infrastr	ucture
Project: Proposed New	Warrawong Community Health Centre
Location: 85-91 Cowper	Street, Warrawong, NSW
Job Number: E34300PT2	
C	DISSOLVED OXYGEN f_{a_f}
Make: Hanna Instruments	Model: 4198194
Date of calibration: 31 / 7 / 23	Name of Calibrator: CB
Span value: 70% to 130%	
Measured value: 105.5	
Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No):	
	pH
Make: Hanna Instruments	Model: 198 194
Date of calibration: 31/7/23	Name of Calibrator: CB
Buffer 1: Theoretical pH = 7.01± 0.01	Expiry date: 19/12/23 Lot No: 10K100123
Buffer 2: Theoretical pH = 4.01± 0.01	Expiry date: 08 / 27 Lot No: 8014
Measured reading of Buffer 1: 6, 96	
Measured reading of Buffer 2: $4,02$	
Slope:	Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No):
	EC
Make: Janna Instruments	Model: 11198194
Date: 3/ /7 /23 Name of Calibr	rator: CR Temperature: 20,75 °C
Calibration solution: AR- Conductivity Solution	Expiry date: 02 /25 Lot No: CJ2 0223
Theoretical conductivity at temperature (see solution	on container): 1,305 µS/cm
Measured conductivity: 1.603 µS/cm	Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No):
	REDOX
Make: Hanna Instruments	Model: H198194
Date of calibration: 3// 3/23	Name of Calibrator: CB
Calibration solution: Hannoh Instruments lorp	Expiry date: 8/69 Lot No: 09/27
Theoretical redox value: 240m	/
Measured redox reading: 228,8 mV	Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No):



WATER QUALITY METER CALIBRATION FORM

Client: Health Infrast	ructure	
Project: Proposed New	v Warrawong Community Health Centre	
Location: 85-91 Cowper Street, Warrawong, NSW		
Job Number: E34300PT2		
DISSOLVED OXYGEN		
Make: MS1	Model: Professional Mus	
Date of calibration: 14.8.23	Name of Calibrator: KT	
Span value: 70% to 130%		
Measured value: 1021/-		
Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No): Yec		
рН		
Make: ` \{S\	Model: Videssional thus	
Date of calibration: $14.8 \cdot 23$	Name of Calibrator:	
Buffer 1: Theoretical $pH' = 7.01 \pm 0.01$	Expiry date: Dec 73 Lot No: DLOO 12	
Buffer 2: Theoretical pH = 4.01± 0.01	Expiry date: May 24 Lot No: 398 32 1	
Measured reading of Buffer 1: 2.01		
Measured reading of Buffer 2: 3.910		
Slope: -	Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No):	
EC		
Make: 451	Model: Marchenal Mue	
Date: 143.23 Name of Calib	rator: Temperature: 21.7 °C	
Calibration solution:	Expiry date: Sen 23 Lot No: 386922	
Theoretical conductivity at temperature (see solution container): 1332 µS/cm		
Measured conductivity: 121γ μS/cm	Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No):	
REDOX		
Make: 451	Model: Professional plue.	
Date of calibration: 14.8.23	Name of Calibrator: KT	
Calibration solution: Of Test Soluhon	Expiry date: Sept 127 Lot No: 8169	
Theoretical redox value: 240mV		
Measured redox reading: 236, \ mV	Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No):	



WATER QUALITY METER CALIBRATION FORM

Client: Health Infrastr	nt: Health Infrastructure	
Project: Proposed New	ct: Proposed New Warrawong Community Health Centre	
Location: 85-91 Cowper	Street, Warrawong, NSW	
Job Number: E34300PT2	4	
DISSOLVED OXYGEN		
Make: YSI	Model:	
Date of calibration: 17.8-23	Name of Calibrator:	
Span value: 70% to 130%		
Measured value: 10411,		
Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No): Yes		
pH		
Make:	Model:	
Date of calibration: 17 8 23	Name of Calibrator: KT	
Buffer 1: Theoretical pH = 7.01± 0.01	Expiry date: Dec 123 Lot No: DC 00123	
Buffer 2: Theoretical pH = 4.01± 0.01	Expiry date: Maul 14 Lot No: 348366	
Measured reading of Buffer 1: 2,09		
Measured reading of Buffer 2: 4.01		
Slope:	Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No):	
EC		
Make: SI	Model:	
Date: 12.8.23 Name of Calib	rator: 147 , Temperature: 20 °C	
Calibration solution: Cenduchin h slaverd.	Expiry date: Sell 173 Lot No: 356762	
Theoretical conductivity at temperature (see solution container): 1035µS/cm		
Measured conductivity: 1202 µS/cm	Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No):	
REDOX		
Make: (S)	Model: Reference Plus.	
Date of calibration: 17-8-23	Name of Calibrator;	
Calibration solution: Off Test Solutions	Expiry date: Self427 Lot No: 8169	
Theoretical redox value: 240m	/ //	
Measured redox reading: 256 mV	Measured reading Acceptable (Yes/No):	



Appendix H: Guidelines and Reference Documents





Australian and New Zealand Environment Conservation Council (ANZECC), (2000). Australian and New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and Marine Water Quality

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, (1999). Canadian soil quality guidelines for the protection of environmental and human health: Benzo(a)Pyrene (1997)

CRC Care, (2011). Technical Report No. 10 – Health screening levels for hydrocarbons in soil and groundwater Part 1: Technical development document

Contaminated Land Management Act 1997 (NSW)

Department of Land and Water Conservation, (1997). 1:25,000 Acid Sulfate Soil Risk Map Series

Managing Land Contamination, Planning Guidelines SEPP55 – Remediation of Land (1998)

National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC), (2021). National Water Quality Management Strategy, Australian Drinking Water Guidelines 2011

NSW Department of Environment and Conservation, (2007). Guidelines for the Assessment and Management of Groundwater Contamination

NSW EPA, (2015). Guidelines on the Duty to Report Contamination under Section 60 of the CLM Act 1997

NSW EPA, (2017). Guidelines for the NSW Site Auditor Scheme, 3rd Edition

NSW EPA, (2020). Consultants Reporting on Contaminated Land, Contaminated Land Guidelines

NSW EPA, (2022). Sampling design part 1 - application, Contaminated Land Guidelines

National Environment Protection Council (NEPC), (2013). National Environmental Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure 1999 as amended (2013)

Olszowy, H., Torr, P., and Imray, P., (1995). Trace Element Concentrations in Soils from Rural and Urban Areas of Australia. Contaminated Sites Monograph Series No. 4. Department of Human Services and Health, Environment Protection Agency, and South Australian Health Commission

Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 (NSW)

State Environmental Planning Policy (Resilience and Hazards) 2021 (NSW)

World Health Organisation (WHO), (2008). Petroleum Products in Drinking-water, Background document for the development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality

Western Australia Department of Health, (2021). Guidelines for the Assessment, Remediation and Management of Asbestos-Contaminated Sites in Western Australia

